

# WebSphere Application **Server V8.5 Migration Guide**



ibm.com/redbooks



International Technical Support Organization

## WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Migration Guide

November 2012

**Note:** Before using this information and the product it supports, read the information in "Notices" on page xxi.

#### First Edition (November 2012)

This edition applies to the following IBM products:

- ► IBM WebSphere Application Server V8.5
- ► IBM Rational Application Developer V8.5
- ► IBM WebSphere Application Server Migration Toolkit V3.5
- ► IBM DB2 Express Edition V10.1.

#### © Copyright International Business Machines Corporation 2012. All rights reserved.

Note to U.S. Government Users Restricted Rights -- Use, duplication or disclosure restricted by GSA ADP Schedule Contract with IBM Corp.

## Contents

	Figures	xi
	Tables	xvii
	Examples	xix
	Notices	xxi
	Irademarks	XXII
	Preface	. xxiii
	The team who wrote this book	. xxiii
	Now you can become a published author, too!	. xxvi
	Comments welcome	. xxvi
	Stay connected to IBM Redbooks	. xxvi
Part 1. WebS	phere Application Server V8.5: Concepts and architecture	1
	Chapter 1 Overview of WebSphere Application Server V8 5	2
	1.1 Overview of WebSphere Application Server	3
	1.2 WebSphere Application Server packaging	4
	1.3 WebSphere Application Server concepts	4
	1.3.1 Servers	6
	1.3.2 Nodes and node groups	8
	1.3.3 Cells, a deployment manager, and node agents.	8
	1.3.4 Administrative agents	10
	1.3.5 Job managers	11
	1.4 Containers	12
	1.5 Applications	13
	1.5.1 Java EE applications.	13
	1.5.2 Portlet applications	14
	1.5.3 SIP applications	14
	1.5.4 Business-level applications	14
	1.5.5 WebSphere Batch applications	15
	1.5.6 OSGi applications	16
	1.5.7 Communications enabled applications	16
	1.5.8 Service Component Architecture	16
	1.5.9 XML	17
	1.5.10 WebSphere Application Server Web 2.0 and Mobile Toolkit	17
	1.5.11 Development and testing of applications	1/
	1.5.12 Deploying, maintaining, and upgrading applications	10
	1.0 Prolites	19
		20
	1 7 2 DMZ nroxy servers	20
	1 7 3 Clusters	· · 21
	1.8 High availability	22
	1.9 Intelligent management.	. 24
	1.9.1 Intelligent routing and dynamic operations	. 25
	1.9.2 Application edition management.	26
	-	

	1.10 Health management	27
	1.11 Administration and problem determination	27
	1.11.1 Administration	27
	1.11.2 Problem determination	29
	1.12 Messaging	30
	1.13 Service integration	30
	1.14 Security	31
	1.15 Liberty profile	34
	1.15.1 Liberty profile architecture	35
	1.15.2 Liberty profile configuration	35
	1.15.3 Liberty profile administration	36
	1.15.4 Liberty profile application development and deployment	36
		~-
Part 2. Migrat	ing methodology and common issues for migration	37
	Chapter 2. Migration strategy and planning	39
	2 1 Migration process overview	40
	2 1 1 Types of migrations	41
	2.1.2 Important aspects and considerations	41
	2.2 Migration assessment	42
	2.2.1 Migration questionnaires	43
	2.2.2 Migration questionnaire review meeting	43
	2.2.3 Migration assessment report	43
	2.3 Migration planning	44
	2.3.1 Roles and responsibilities	44
	2.3.2 Migration project plan	44
	2.4 Migration implementation	45
	2.4.1 Implementation considerations	45
	2.4.2 Implementation phases	45
	2.4.3 Application migration	40 47
	2.4.4 IDE migration	48 48
	2.4.5 Buntime migration	52
	2.5. Post deployment	52
	2.5.1 Performance tuning and ontimization	53
	2.5.2 Gatting help	53
	2.6.2 Gotting holp	55
	2.0 Summary	55
	Chapter 3. Common migration issues.	57
	3.1 Java EE application server compatibility	58
	3.1.1 Differences in Java EE implementations.	58
	3.1.2 Classloader related problems	58
	3.1.3 Using vendor-specific features	65
	3.1.4 Deployment descriptors	65
	3.2 Application portability	68
	3.2.1 Application packaging	68
	3.2.2 Java source code and JSP file issues.	71
	3.2.3 Usage of native code	71
	3.2.4 Database-related issues	72
	3.2.5 Java EE application clients	73
	3.3 J2EE to Java EE migration considerations	75
	3.3.1 Java Message Service	78
	3.3.2 JavaServer Pages.	78
	3.3.3 Servlets	79
	3.3.4 JavaServer Faces	79

3.3.5 W	/eb services	79 81
3.0.0 Je	a migration issues	01
3.4 1 M	igrating other products at the same time	02 92
342 8		02 83
3/3 0		00
3.4.3 D	orability and integrations	05
3.5 Interop		05
Part 3. Migrating your app	plications to WebSphere Application Server V8.5	87
Chapter 4.	Installation and configuration of the Application Migration Tools	89
4.1 IBM W	ebSphere Application Server Migration Toolkit overview	90
4.1.1 M	Igration I ooikit basics.	92
4.2 Installir	ig the Application Migration Tools on Eclipse	96
4.3 Installir	ig the Application Migration Tools on Rational Application Developer V8.5 .	
4.4 Comma		
4.5 Configu		. 100
4.5.1 Ri		. 101
4.5.2 C	onfiguring and running the analysis	. 102
4.5.3 G		. 107
4.6 Trouble	eshooting	. 109
Chantar E	Differences between Folince and Dational Application Developer	
E 1 Eastur	Differences between Eclipse and Rational Application Developer	. 111
5.1 Feature		112
5.2 ECIIPSE	here Application Server Developer Teals for Edines	. 110 110
5.3 WebSp	stelling Web Schere Developer Tools for Eclipse	. 113
5.3.1 IN	Stalling WebSphere Developer Tools for Eclipse	. 114
5.3.2 IB	WebSphere Application Server Developer Tools for Eclipse capabilities .	. 11/
5.4 Rationa		. 118
5.4.1 Ja	ava EE Specifications Upgrade wizard	. 119
5.4.2 VI		. 119
5.4.3 PC		. 119
5.4.4 iW		. 120
5.4.5 Ja	ava EE Connector Architecture	. 120
5.4.6 Se		. 121
5.4.7 Ja	avaServer Faces	. 121
5.4.8 C	ommunications Enabled Applications	. 122
5.4.9 Se	ession Initiation Protocol.	. 122
5.4.10 N	Vlodern Batch Tools	. 122
5.4.11 /	Analysis	. 123
5.4.12 F	Profiling	. 123
5.4.13 (	Cloud	. 123
5.4.14	Feam Debug	. 124
5.4.15 (	Code Review (static analysis)	. 124
5.4.16	Feam Code Coverage.	. 124
5.4.17 >	KML tools	. 126
Chapter 6.	Migrating from Oracle WebLogic	. 127
6.1 Introdu	ction	. 128
6.1.1 C	omparison of WebLogic Domain and WebSphere Cell	. 128
6.1.2 C	omparison of the JMS Providers	. 129
6.1.3 M	igrating sample applications from Oracle WebLogic Server 10.3.6	. 130
6.2 Prereq	uisites and assumptions	. 131
6.3 Oracle	WebLogic Server 10.3.6 installation	. 132

6. 6.	.4 Application Migration Tool - WebLogic to WebSphere         .5 Migrating Trade 3.1 for Oracle WebLogic Server 10.3.6.         .5.1 Migration approach         .6.5.2 Configuring the initial environment         .6.5.3 Migrating the Trade application         .6.5.4 Summary         .6.6.1 Migration approach         .6.2 Migrating the MVC application         .6.3 Adding the MVC application         .6.4 Summary	<ul> <li>. 133</li> <li>. 133</li> <li>. 134</li> <li>. 134</li> <li>. 140</li> <li>. 194</li> <li>. 194</li> <li>. 194</li> <li>. 195</li> <li>. 209</li> <li>. 219</li> </ul>
C 7. 7. 7. 7. 7. 7.	<ul> <li>chapter 7. Migrating from Oracle Application Server</li> <li>1 Introduction</li> <li>2 Prerequisites and assumptions</li> <li>3 Application Migration Tool - Oracle AS to WebSphere</li> <li>4 Comparison of WebSphere Application Server V8.5 and Oracle Application Server terminology</li> <li>5 Installing Oracle Application Server 10.1.2</li> <li>6 Migrating the sample application.</li> <li>7.6.1 Migration approach</li> <li>7.6.2 Configuring the initial environment</li> <li>7.6.3 Importing the sample application into Rational Application Developer V8.5</li> <li>7.6.4 Running the Application Migration Tool</li> <li>7.6.5 Deploying the application in to WebSphere Application Server V8.5</li> <li>7.6.6 Summary.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>221</li> <li>222</li> <li>222</li> <li>222</li> <li>10.1</li> <li>223</li> <li>224</li> <li>235</li> </ul>
8. 8.	<ul> <li>Anapter 6. Migrating from older versions</li></ul>	. 235 . 236 . 236
8. 8. 8.	<ul> <li>3 Preparing the environment</li></ul>	<ul> <li>237</li> <li>237</li> <li>238</li> <li>238</li> <li>239</li> <li>239</li> <li>240</li> <li>241</li> <li>244</li> <li>244</li> <li>244</li> <li>248</li> <li>249</li> <li>253</li> <li>254</li> <li>255</li> <li>255</li> <li>258</li> <li>261</li> </ul>
с	hapter 9. Migrating from Apache Tomcat	. 273

9.1 Introduction	274
9.1.1 Comparison of Apache Tomcat 7.0.27 and WebSphere Application Server V8.	5
Liberty profile terminology	275
9.2 Application Migration Tool - Apache Tomcat to WebSphere.	275
9.3 Prerequisites and assumptions	275
9.3.1 Installation of Apache Tomcat 7.0.27	276
9.3.2 Installing the developer tools	277
9.3.3 Creating a Liberty profile server	278
9.3.4 Installing the Application Migration Tool	279
9.4 IBM Redbooks Publications Sample Application	280
9.4.1 Migration approach	280
9.4.2 Configuring the initial environment	280
9.4.3 Deploying the application in Tomcat	282
9.4.4 Testing the application in Tomcat	282
9.4.5 Migrating the application	282
9.4.6 Configuring the target environment.	287
9.4.7 Deploying the application in the Liberty profile	290
9.4.8 Testing the application in the Liberty profile	290
9.5 MvnForum migration	291
9.5.1 Migration approach	291
9.5.2 Configuring the source environment	292
9.5.3 Deploying the application in Tomcat	294
9.5.4 Testing the application in Tomcat	296
9.5.5 Migrating the MvnForum application	296
9.5.6 Configuring the target environment.	300
9.5.7 Deploying the application in the Liberty profile	301
9.5.8 Testing the application in the Liberty profile	302
9.6 Easy JSP Forum migration	302
9.6.1 Migration approach	303
9.6.2 Configuring the source environment	303
9.6.3 Deploying the application in Tomcat	306
9.6.4 Testing the application in Tomcat	306
9.6.5 Migrating the Easy JSP Forum application to the Liberty profile	306
9.7 Summary	312
Chapter 10. Application Framework migration.	313
10.1 Migrating a Seam Framework application.	314
10.1.1 Migration approach	315
10.1.2 Installing the Seam Framework.	315
10.1.3 Preparing the database schema	315
10.1.4 Generating a Seam application using seam-gen	317
10.1.5 Importing the EAR file and source code to Rational Application Developer	319
10.1.6 Analyzing and fixing problems	323
10.1.7 Summary	338
10.2 Migrating a Spring Framework application	338
10.2.1 Migration approach	339
10.2.2 Installing Spring Roo	339
	339
10.2.4 Generating a sample application using Spring Roo	340
10.2.5 Importing the EAR file and source code to Rational Application Developer	342
	343
10.2.7 Summary	352

Part 4. Migrating from earlier versions of WebSphere Application Server	355
Chapter 11. Installation and configuration of the Application Migration Tool - WebSphere Version to Version	357
11.1 Application Migration Tool - WebSphere Version to Version overview	358
11 1 1 Application Migration Tool V3 5	358
11.1.2 WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile	359
11.2 Installing Application Migration Tool on Eclineo	350
11.2.1. Installing Application Migration Tool using Folipse Markotolago	250
11.2.2. Installing Application Migration Tool using Eclipse Markelplace	261
11.2.2 Installing Application Migration Tool using the OLI	oion
	362
	002
Chapter 12. Migrating from earlier versions of webSphere Application Server	365
	300
12.1.1 The overall migration process	300
	369
12.1.3 Known issues	369
12.2 Plants by WebSphere sample application migration	380
12.2.1 Overview of the application	381
12.2.2 Modifying and rebuilding the Plants by WebSphere sample.	384
12.2.3 Removing and reinstalling the PlantsByWebSphere.ear file	385
12.2.4 Installing Plants By WebSphere from the administrative console	386
12.2.5 Running the sample application	388
12.3 Migration of Plants By WebSphere	390
12.3.1 Exporting PlantsByWebSphere.ear and importing it into Eclipse for analysis .	390
12.3.2 Configuring and running the Application Migration Tool - WebSphere Version	to
	394
12.3.3 Fixing errors that are reported by Application Migration Tool.	399
12.3.4 Other migration problems not detected by Application Migration Tool	402
12.3.5 Exporting the fixed Plants By WebSphere application and running the applicat	ion
on WebSphere Application Server V8.5	403
12.4 Probability Distribution Sample	404
12.4.1 Importing the application into Rational Application Developer V8.5	404
12.4.2 Installing the application on WebSphere Application Server V6.1	405
12.4.3 Testing the application on WebSphere Application Server V6.1	405
12.4.4 Running the Application Migration Tool - WebSphere Version to Version	405
12.4.5 Resolving the reported migration problems	406
12.4.6 Preparing the application in Rational Application Developer for installation on	
WebSphere Application Server V8.5	408
12.4.7 Installing the application on WebSphere Application Server V8.5	408
12.4.8 Testing the application on WebSphere Application Server V8.5.	409
12.4.9 Options for upgrading the application after migration	409
12.5 Web services Axis 2 stock quote	410
12.5.1 Overview	410
12.5.2 Installation on WebSphere Application Server V6.1	410
12.5.3 Testing on WebSphere Application Server V6.1	412
12.5.4 Importing the source of the application into Eclipse	413
12.5.5 Running the Application Migration Tool - WebSphere Version to Version	413
12.5.6 Preparing to install on WebSphere Application Server V8.5.	414
12.5.7 Installing on WebSphere Application Server V8.5	416
12.5.8 Configuring WebSphere Application Server V8.5 to support the application	416
12.5.9 Testing the application on WebSphere Application Server V8.5.	417
12.5.10 Summary of migrating the Web services Axis 2 stock quote application	418

Part 5. Appen	dixes	419
	Appendix A. Migration guestionnaires	421
	Business requirements.	422
	General information	422
	Application architecture	422
		423
	Persistence	423
	National language	423
	Code	424
	Java	424
	EJB usage	424
	Servlets and JSPs.	424
	Web services	425
	Database access	425
	JMS	426
	JNDI naming	426
	Application trace and logging	426
	Struts	427
	Transactions	427
	Threads	427
	Sockets	427
	XMI	428
	Development migration questionnaire	428
	Workstation configuration	428
	Integrated development environment	428
	Development test configuration	428
	Software development skills	428
	Development methodology	429
	Build and packaging	429
	Ant.	429
	Runtime migration questionnaire	430
	General	430
	Current hardware	430
	Software	431
	HTTP Server	431
	Network edge	431
	Availability	432
	Rollout issues	432
	Administration	432
	Security	433
	Testing migration questionnaire	433
	Hardware	433
	Practices and tools	434
	Appendix B. Additional material	435
		435
	Using the web material.	435
	System requirements for downloading the web material	436
	Downloading and extracting the web material	436
	Related publications	רנו
	IBM Redbooks	437
	Other publications	407
		407

Online resources	437
Help from IBM	439

# **Figures**

1-1 WebSphere Application Server V8.5 editions	5
1-2 Stand-alone application server environment.	9
1-3 Network Deployment environment	9
1-4 Administrative agent in a stand-alone configuration	10
1-5 Job manager architecture	11
1-6 WebSphere Application Server V8.5 container services	12
1-7 Business-level applications	15
1-8 Files in WebSphere Application Server	19
1-9 Application server cluster	21
1-10 Dynamic cluster	22
1-11 Conceptual diagram of a core group	23
1-12 Dynamic cluster	26
1-13 Overview of WebSphere security service	32
1-14 Liberty profile architecture.	35
2-1 Migration process overview	40
2-2 Migration key activities	46
2-3 Select an import source window	49
2-4 Select the EAR file	. 49
2-5 Selecting target run time	50
2-6 Select the JAB file	50
2-7 Existing project into workspace	51
2-8 Browse and select the root directory or archive file	52
3-1 Java classionaders hierarchy	59
3-2 A typical Java FE classloader	60
3-3 WebSphere Application Server classloader hierarchy	61
3-3 Application server classicader settings	01
3-5 WAR classicador policy softings	02
2.6 Proferred packaging structure of a lava EE application	00
2.7 Clients that are provided for WebSphere Application Server	09
2.9 Java EE Specifications Migration wizard 12EE Version selection	74
3-6 Java EE Specifications inigration wizard - JZEE version selection	//
3-9 increases the version level of the project facet - before migration	//
3-10 increases the version level of the project facet - after migration	/0
3-11 Converts .xmi files to .xmi files - before migration	/8
3-12 Converts .xmi mes to .xmi mes - after migration	/8
3-13 Typical initiasiructure for web services applications	80
4-1 Steps for planning and implementation for migrating an application.	90
4-2 Migration aspects	91
4-3 Example configuration for migrating from webLogic to webSphere	92
4-4 Modules with red Xs indicating that there are one or more errors	
4-5 A high-level flow of how the Migration Toolkit works.	
4-6 Software Analyzer Reporting pane for creating analysis reports	94
4-7 Sample HTML report	95
4-8 Help view	96
4-9 Add Repository window for adding the Application Migration Tool as a repository	97
4-10 Plug-in selection in the Install window	98
4-11 Application server settings	99
4-12 Analysis option	. 101
4-13 Software Analyzer	. 102

4-14 Software Analyzer	102
4-15 Creating a Software Analyzer configuration	103
4-16 Software Analyzer Configurations	103
4-17 New configuration	104
4-18 WebLogic Application Migration rules	105
4-19 Rule set configuration	106
4-20 Software Analysis Results view	106
4-21 Generating reports	107
4-22 Create a report	108
4-23 Sample report	109
5-1 Feature portfolio for Eclipse and Rational Application Developer	112
5-2 Eclipse Marketplace results window	114
5-3 Security warning when installing WebSphere Application Server Version 8.5 Develop	ber
Tools	115
5-4 Adding a server.	115
5-5 Servers view	116
5-6 Mobile Browser Simulator	118
5-7 J2C wizards on Rational Application Developer	120
5-8 SCA diagram	121
5-9 Code Coverage properties	125
5-10 Code Coverage	125
6-1 Comparison of components between Webl ogic and WebSphere	128
6-2 Comparison of JMS Providers	129
6-3 Trade3.J2FE components	134
6-4 Existing Project Import	142
6-5 Trade Module Selections	143
6-6 Workshace Migration	143
6-7 Project resource file in workspace	1//
6-8 Define Server Buntime	1/5
6-9 Migration Validation	1/5
6-10 Application Migration Tool configuration	140
6.11 Migration tool workspace scope settings	140
6.12 Migration Tool rule acttings	147
6.12 Migration Tool Tule Settings	140
6-13 Rule Set Configuration	149
6.15 Java Code Poview teb	149
6-15 Java Code Review lab	150
0-10 Problems view.	151
6-17 Setting Java Bullo Path	152
	152
6-19 Log.java	153
6-20 Project Clean dialog box.	154
	155
	156
	156
	157
6-25 TradeBean.java	157
6-26 Vendor-specific deployment descriptors	158
6-2/ XML File Review tab	158
6-28 Quick Fix Preview	159
6-29 EJB JNDI Quick Fix	159
6-30 WebSphere Binding file	160
6-31 XML File Review tab.	161
6-32 Convert the CMP Mappings file	162

6-33	CMP mapping file	163
6-34	Database schema files	164
6-35	Create and map database elements to the database table	164
6-36	Show unmapped objects.	165
6-37	Class-Path Review tab	166
6-38	Quick Fix View of the MANIFEST.MF file	166
6-39	WebLogic EJB deployment descriptors	167
6-40	WebLogic web deployment descriptor	167
6-41	J2EE Migration wizard	168
6-42	J2EE version selection	169
6-43	Migration Completion dialog box.	170
6-44	Creating a Service Integration Bus	172
6-45	Service Integration Bus.	173
6-46	WebSphere scope selection	175
6-47	MDB activation specification configuration	179
6-48	Project J2EE specification	179
6-49	Add and Remove Projects	185
6-50	Enable application security	186
6-51	Creating a user	187
6-52	Manage Users	187
6-53	Creating a group	188
6-54	Group properties	188
6-55	Adding member into the group	189
6-56	Testuser properties	189
6-57	Project facets of the trade3wls FAB file	190
6-58	Checking the security role name	190
6-59	Mapping group in Bational Application Developer	191
6-60	Authentication window	192
6-61	Trade Application welcome page	192
6-62	Trade Application Configuration options	193
6-63	Import the FAR file	195
6-64	Enterprise Explorer View	196
6-65	XMI File Review	198
6-66	XML file Quick Fix Preview	198
6-67	The contents of ibm-eih-iar-bnd xmi	199
6-68	Java Code Review	199
6-69	The Problems Category	200
6-70	The Java Build Path of MVCWeb Application	200
6-71	Ouick Fix Preview of MVCController java	200
6-72	The code changes that the Migration Tool finds	201
6-73		201
6-74	Create New IDBC Provider	202
6-75	The database classnath information	200
6-76	Selecting the existing IDBC Provider	204
6-77	The database properties	205
6 70	Specifying IAAS 19C outbontiestion date	200
6 70	New authentication clica	200
6 00		200
0-00	Test connection	207
0-01		207
0-02		207
0-03		208
0-84		208
0-82		210

6-87       XML File Review tab.       211         6-88       Generate Map.       212         6-89       Database Connection definition       213         6-90       Edit Jar List.       214         6-91       The database table selection       215         6-92       Match By Name       216         6-93       Backend ID in ejb-jar.xml       217         6-94       Backend ID in ejb-jar.xml       217         6-95       Defining the JNDI Name in ejb-jar.xml       217         6-96       Creating an EJB object.       218         6-97       Use the set and get methods       219         7-10       The remaining problems after the target run time is set       227         7-3       Stetting the Java compliance level.       228         7-4       Rule set configuration for migrating from Oracle AS.       230         7-5       The Java Code Review results.       231         7-4       Rule set configuration for migrating from Oracle AS.       230         7-5       The Java Code Review results.       231         7-4       Rule set configuration for migrating from Oracle AS.       233         7-5       Addiang missing JAF files       234         1-1       moring is Map	6-86 EJB Application	210
6-88       Generate Map.       212         6-89       Database Connection definition       213         6-90       Edit Jar List.       214         6-91       Match By Name       216         6-92       Match By Name       216         6-93       Mapped EJB objects.       216         6-94       Backend ID in ejb-jar.xml       217         6-95       Defining the JNDI Name in ejb-jar.xml       217         6-96       Creating an EJB object.       218         6-97       Use the set and get methods       219         7-1       The Markers view in Rational Application Developer after you import all the EAR files         that make up the sample application       226         7-2       There maining problemes after the target run time is set       227         7-3       Setting the Java compliance level.       228         7-4       Rule set configuration for migrating from Oracle AS.       230         7-5       The Java Code Review results.       231         7-7       XML Code Review results.       231         7-7       XML Code Review results.       231         7-8       Adding floor Kitchensink application using the import wizard       241         8-1       Importing the VAS flife	6-87 XML File Review tab	211
6-89       Database Connection definition       213         6-90       Edit Jar List.       214         6-91       The database table selection       215         6-92       Mapped EJB objects.       216         6-93       Mapped EJB objects.       216         6-94       Backend ID in ejb-jar xml       217         6-95       Object.       218         6-97       Use the set and get methods       218         6-97       Use the set and get methods       219         7-1       The Markers view in Rational Application Developer after you import all the EAR files         that make up the sample application       226         7-3       Setting the Java compliance level.       228         7-4       Rule set configuration for migrating from Oracle AS.       230         7-5       The Java Code Review results from the Application Migration Tool.       230         7-6       Applying a quick fix to resolve the Java serialization warning.       231         7-7       Mating missing JAR files       234         8-11       Importing the WAR file for Kitchensink application using the import wizard       241         8-2       Perioect structure after the initial import       242         8-3       Removing the shinit/warp libraries from	6-88 Generate Map	212
6-90       Edit Jar List       214         6-91       The database table selection       215         6-92       Match By Name       216         6-93       Match By Dojects       216         6-94       Backend ID in ejb-jar xml       217         6-95       Defining the JNDI Name in ejb-jar xml       217         6-96       Creating an EJB object       218         6-97       Use the set and get methods       219         7-1       The Markers view in Rational Application Developer after you import all the EAR files       144         7-1       The Markers view in Rational Application Developer after you import all the EAR files       226         7-2       The remaining problems after the target run time is set       227         7-3       Setting the Java compliance level.       228         7-4       And Code Review results from the Application Migration Tool.       230         7-5       The Java Code Review results.       231         7-7       Setting missing JAR files       233         7-8       Add and Remove Projects       233         7-9       Adding missing JAR files       234         8-1       Importing the WAR file for Kitchensink application using the import wizard       241         8-2 <td< td=""><td>6-89 Database Connection definition</td><td>213</td></td<>	6-89 Database Connection definition	213
6-91       The database table selection       215         6-92       Match By Name       216         6-93       Mapped EJB objects       216         6-94       Backend ID in ejb-jar.xml       217         6-96       Creating an EJB object       218         6-97       Defining the JND Name in ejb-jar.xml       217         6-96       Creating an EJB object       218         6-97       Use the set and get methods       219         7-1       The Markers view in Rational Application Developer after you import all the EAR flies that make up the sample application       226         7-2       The remaining problems after the target run time is set       227         7-3       Setting the Java compliance level.       228         7-4       Rule set configuration for migrating from Oracle AS       230         7-5       The Java Code Review results.       231         7-6       Applying a quick fix to resolve tha Java serialization warning.       231         7-8       Add and Remove Projects       233         7-9       Adding missing JAR files       234         8-1       Importing the WAR file for Kitchensink application using the import wizard       241         8-2       Project structure after the initial import       242      <	6-90 Edit Jar List	214
6-92       Match By Name       216         6-93       Mapped EJB objects.       216         6-94       Backend ID In ejb-jar.xml       217         6-96       Creating an EJB object.       218         6-97       Use the set and get methods       219         6-97       Use the set and get methods       219         7-1       The Markers view in Rational Application Developer after you import all the EAR files       226         7-2       The remaining problems after the target run time is set       227         7-3       Setting the Java compliance level.       228         7-4       Rule set configuration for migrating from Oracle AS.       230         7-5       The Java Code Review results from the Application Migration Tool.       230         7-6       Add and Remove Projects       233         7-7       ML Code Review results.       234         7-1       Importing the WAR files       234         8-1       Importing the WAR files for Kitchensink application using the import wizard       241         8-2       Project structure after the initial import       242         8-3       Heplacing the class file with the respective source files in the web module       244         8-4       Replacing the class file with the respective source files in th	6-91 The database table selection	215
6-93       Mapped EJB objects.       216         6-94       Backend ID in ejb-jar.xml       217         6-95       Defining the JNDI Name in ejb-jar.xml       218         6-97       Use the set and get methods       218         6-97       Use the set and get methods       218         7-1       The Markers view in Rational Application Developer after you import all the EAR files       114         that make up the sample application       226         7-2       The remaining problems after the target run time is set       227         7-3       Setting the Java compliance level.       228         7-4       Aule set configuration for migrating from Oracle AS.       230         7-5       The Java Code Review results from the Application Migration Tool.       230         7-6       Applying a quick fix to resolve the Java serialization warning.       231         7-8       Add and Remove Projects       234         8-9       Add and Remove Projects       243         8-9       Veb module.       244         8-1       Importing the WAR file for Kitchensink application using the import wizard.       241         8-2       Removing the shirinkwrap libraries from the project.       243         8-6       Adding a serviet mapping to the Faces Servlet	6-92 Match By Name	216
6-94       Backend ID in ejb-jar.xml       217         6-95       Defining the JNDI Name in ejb-jar.xml       217         6-96       Creating an EJB object       218         6-97       Use the set and get methods       219         7-1       The Markers view in Rational Application Developer after you import all the EAR files that make up the sample application       226         7-1       The remaining problems after the target run time is set       227         7-3       Setting the Java compliance level.       228         7-4       Rule set configuration for migrating from Oracle AS.       230         7-5       The Java Code Review results from the Application Migration Tool.       230         7-6       Applying a quick fix to resolve the Java serialization warning.       231         7-7       ML Code Review results.       231         7-8       Adding missing JAR files       233         7-9       Adding the KAR file for Kitchensink application using the import wizard       241         8-1       Importing the WAR file for Kitchensink application using the import wizard       241         8-2       Removing the shirinkwrap libraries from the project       242         8-3       Removing the Faces Servlet       245         8-4       Adding a servlet mapping to the Faces Servlet	6-93 Mapped EJB objects	216
6-95       Defining the JNDI Name in ejb-jar.xml       217         6-96       Creating an EJB object       218         6-97       Use the set and get methods       219         7-1       The Markers view in Rational Application Developer after you import all the EAR files that make up the sample application       226         7-2       The remaining problems after the target run time is set       227         7-3       Setting the Java compliance level.       228         7-4       Alue set configuration for migrating from Oracle AS.       230         7-5       The Java Code Review results from the Application Migration Tool.       230         7-6       Applying a quick fix to resolve the Java serialization warning.       231         7-7       RAd and Remove Projects       233         7-9       Adding missing JAR files       234         7-1       Importing the WAR file for Kitchensink application using the import wizard       241         8-2       Project structure after the initial import       242         8-3       Removing the shirinkwrap libraries from the project.       243         8-4       Adding a servlet mapping to the Faces Servlet       246         8-5       Selecting the Faces Servlet       246         8-5       Software Analyzer configuration with JBoss migration rule set.	6-94 Backend ID in ejb-jar.xml	217
6-96 Creating an EJB object       218         6-97 Use the set and get methods       219         7-1 The Markers view in Rational Application Developer after you import all the EAR files that make up the sample application       226         7-1 The remaining problems after the target run time is set       227         7-3 Setting the Java compliance level.       228         7-4 Rule set configuration for migrating from Oracle AS.       230         7-5 The Java Code Review results from the Application Migration Tool.       230         7-6 Applying a quick fix to resolve the Java serialization warning.       231         7-7 XML Code Review results.       231         7-8 Adding missing JAR files       233         7-9 Adding missing JAR files       233         7-9 Adding missing JAR files       233         7-9 Adding the WAR file for Kitchensink application using the import wizard       241         8-1 Importing the WAR file for Kitchensink application using the import wizard       242         8-3 Removing the shirinkwrap libraries from the project       244         8-5 Selecting the Faces Servlet       245         8-6 Adding a servlet mapping to the Faces Servlet       246         8-7 Software Analyzer configuration with JBoss migration rule set.       247         8-8 Application Migration Tool XML file review       248         9-10	6-95 Defining the JNDI Name in ejb-jar.xml	217
6-97       Use the set and get methods       219         7-1       The Markers view in Rational Application Developer after you import all the EAR files that make up the sample application       226         7-2       The remaining problems after the target run time is set       227         7-3       Setting the Java compliance level.       228         4-       Rule set configuration for migrating from Oracle AS       230         7-5       The Java Code Review results from the Application Migration Tool.       230         7-6       Applying a quick fix to resolve the Java serialization warning.       231         7-8       Add and Remove Projects       233         7-9       Adding missing JAR files       234         2-1       Importing the WAR file for Kitchensink application using the import wizard       241         2-1       Project structure after the initial import       242         2-3       Removing the shirinkwrap libraries from the project       243         3-4       Replacing the class file with the respective source files in the web module       244         4-5       Selecting the Faces Servlet       246         4-5       Selecting the Faces Servlet       246         4-7       Software Analyzer configuration with JBoss migration rule set       247         5-6       Adding a	6-96 Creating an EJB object	218
7-1       The Markers view in Rational Application Developer after you import all the EAR files that make up the sample application       226         7-2       The remaining problems after the target run time is set       227         7-3       Setting the Java compliance level.       228         7-4       Rule set configuration for migrating from Oracle AS       230         7-5       The Java Code Review results from the Application Migration Tool.       230         7-6       Applying a quick fix to resolve the Java serialization warning.       231         7-7       ML Code Review results.       231         7-8       Add and Remove Projects       233         7-9       Adding missing JAR files       234         8-1       Importing the WAR file for Kitchensink application using the import wizard       241         8-2       Removing the shirinkwrap libraries from the project       243         8-3       Removing the shirinkwrap libraries from the project       244         8-5       Selecting the Faces Servlet       246         8-7       Software Analyzer configuration with JBoss migration rule set.       247         8-8       Web module after you import more dependencies       249         9-10       Enabling the JPA Project Tacet       250         8-11       Interprise Explorer after y	6-97 Use the set and get methods	219
that make up the sample application       226         7-2 The remaining problems after the target run time is set       227         7-3 Setting the Java compliance level.       228         7-4 Rule set configuration for migrating from Oracle AS.       230         7-5 The Java Code Review results from the Application Migration Tool.       230         7-6 Applying a quick fix to resolve the Java serialization warning.       231         7-7 XML Code Review results.       233         7-9 Adding missing JAR files       233         7-9 Adding missing JAR files       234         2-1 Importing the WAR file for Kitchensink application using the import wizard       241         2-1 Repicet structure after the initial import       242         2-3 Removing the shirinkwrap libraries from the project       243         8-4 Replacing the class file with the respective source files in the web module       244         4-5 Selecting the Faces Servlet       246         8-5 Adding a servlet mapping to the Faces Servlet       246         8-7 Botware Analyzer configuration with JBoss migration rule set.       247         8-8 Web module after you import more dependencies       249         8-10 Enabling the JPA Project Facet       250         8-11 Interprise Explorer after you enable the JPA project facet       251         8-12 Configuring JPA validation	7-1 The Markers view in Rational Application Developer after you import all the EAR file	S
7-2       The remaining problems after the target run time is set       227         7-3       Setting the Java compliance level.       228         7-4       Rule set configuration for migrating from Oracle AS.       230         7-5       The Java Code Review results from the Application Migration Tool.       230         7-5       The Java Code Review results.       231         7-7       XML Code Review results.       233         7-8       Add and Remove Projects       233         7-9       Adding missing JAR files       234         8-1       Importing the WAR file for Kitchensink application using the import wizard       241         8-2       Project structure after the initial import       242         8-3       Removing the shirinkwrap libraries from the project       243         8-4       Replacing the Cass file with the respective source files in the web module.       244         8-5       Selecting the Faces Servlet       245         8-6       Adding a servlet mapping to the Faces Servlet       246         8-7       Software Analyzer configuration with JBoss migration rule set.       247         8-8       Application Migration Tool XML file review       248         8-9       Web module after you import more dependencies       249         8-10<	that make up the sample application	226
7-3       Setting the Java compliance level.       228         7-4       Rule set configuration for migrating from Oracle AS.       230         7-5       The Java Code Review results from the Application Migration Tool.       230         7-6       Applying a quick fix to resolve the Java serialization warning.       231         7-7       XML Code Review results.       231         7-8       Add and Remove Projects       233         7-9       Adding missing JAR files       234         8-1       Importing the WAR file for Kitchensink application using the import wizard       241         8-2       Project structure after the initial import       242         8-3       Removing the shirinkwrap libraries from the project.       243         8-4       Replacing the class file with the respective source files in the web module.       244         8-5       Selecting the Faces Servlet       245         8-6       Adding a servlet mapping to the Faces Servlet       246         8-7       Software Analyzer configuration with JBoss migration rule set.       247         8-8       Application Migration Tool XML file review       248         8-9       Web module after you import more dependencies.       249         8-10       Enabling the Matabase for the sample application       253	7-2 The remaining problems after the target run time is set	227
7-4       Rule set configuration for migrating from Oracle AS.       230         7-5       The Java Code Review results from the Application Migration Tool.       230         7-6       Applying a quick fix to resolve the Java serialization warning.       231         7-7       XML Code Review results.       233         7-9       Add and Remove Projects.       233         7-9       Adding missing JAR files       234         8-1       Importing the WAR file for Kitchensink application using the import wizard.       241         8-2       Project structure after the initial import.       242         8-3       Removing the shirinkwrap libraries from the project.       243         8-4       Replacing the class file with the respective source files in the web module.       244         8-5       Selecting the Faces Servlet       245         8-6       Adding a servlet mapping to the Faces Servlet       246         8-7       Software Analyzer configuration with JBoss migration rule set.       247         8-8       Application Migration Tool XML file review       248         8-9       Web module after you import more dependencies.       249         8-10       Enabling the metamodel generation       253         8-12       Configuring JPA validation warnings       251	7-3 Setting the Java compliance level.	228
7-5       The Java Code Review results from the Application Migration Tool.       230         7-6       Applying a quick fix to resolve the Java serialization warning.       231         7-7       XML Code Review results.       233         7-8       Add and Remove Projects       233         7-9       Adding missing JAR files       234         8-1       Importing the WAR file for Kitchensink application using the import wizard       241         8-2       Project structure after the initial import       242         8-3       Removing the shirinkwrap libraries from the project.       243         8-4       Replacing the class file with the respective source files in the web module       244         8-5       Selecting the class file with the respective source files in the web module       244         8-5       Software Analyzer configuration with JBoss migration rule set.       247         8-6       Adding fastion Tool XML file review       248         8-7       Software Analyzer configuration warnings       250         8-10       Enabling the JPA Project Facet       251         8-11       Enterprise Explorer after you enable the JPA project facet       251         8-12       Configuring JPA validation warnings       251         8-13       Adding factory class path for annotation proces	7-4 Rule set configuration for migrating from Oracle AS.	230
7-6       Applying a quick fix to resolve the Java serialization warning.       231         7-7       XML Code Review results.       231         7-8       Add and Remove Projects       233         7-9       Adding missing JAR files       234         8-1       Importing the WAR file for Kitchensink application using the import wizard       241         8-2       Project structure after the initial import       242         8-3       Removing the shirinkwrap libraries from the project       243         8-4       Replacing the class file with the respective source files in the web module       244         8-5       Selecting the Faces Servlet       245         8-6       Adding a servlet mapping to the Faces Servlet       246         8-7       Software Analyzer configuration with JBoss migration rule set       247         8-9       Web module after you import more dependencies       249         8-10       Enabling the JPA Project Facet       250         8-11       Enterprise Explorer after you enable the JPA project facet       251         8-12       Configuring JPA validation warnings       251         8-13       Adding factory class path for annotation processing at compile time       252         8-14       Enabling the metamodel generation       253	7-5 The Java Code Review results from the Application Migration Tool.	230
7-7       XML Code Review results.       231         7-8       Add and Remove Projects       233         7-9       Adding missing JAR files       234         8-1       Importing the WAR file for Kitchensink application using the import wizard       241         8-2       Project structure after the initial import       242         8-3       Removing the shirinkwrap libraries from the project       243         8-4       Replacing the class file with the respective source files in the web module       244         8-5       Selecting the Faces Servlet       245         8-6       Adding a servlet mapping to the Faces Servlet       246         8-7       Software Analyzer configuration with JBoss migration rule set.       247         8-8       Application Migration Tool XML file review       248         8-9       Web module after you import more dependencies.       249         8-10       Enabling the JPA Project Facet       250         8-11       Enterprise Explorer after you enable the JPA project facet       251         8-12       Configuring JPA validation warnings       251         8-13       Adding factory class path for annotation processing at compile time       252         8-14       Enabling the metamodel generation       253         8-15	7-6 Applying a quick fix to resolve the Java serialization warning.	231
7-8       Add and Remove Projects       233         7-9       Adding missing JAR files       234         8-1       Importing the WAR file for Kitchensink application using the import wizard       241         8-2       Project structure after the initial import       242         8-3       Removing the shirinkwrap libraries from the project       243         8-4       Replacing the class file with the respective source files in the web module       244         8-5       Selecting the Faces Servlet       245         8-6       Adding a servlet mapping to the Faces Servlet       246         8-7       Software Analyzer configuration with JBoss migration rule set.       247         8-8       Application Migration Tool XML file review       248         8-9       Web module after you import more dependencies       249         8-10       Enabling the JPA Project Facet       250         8-11       Enterprise Explorer after you enable the JPA project facet       251         8-13       Adding factory class path for annotation processing at compile time       252         8-14       Enabling the metamodel generation       253         8-17       Importing source code files to brokerage_WEB module       259         8-18       Java Code Review section       260	7-7 XML Code Review results	231
7-9       Adding missing JAR files       234         8-1       Importing the WAR file for Kitchensink application using the import wizard       241         8-2       Project structure after the initial import       242         8-3       Removing the shirinkwrap libraries from the project       243         8-4       Replacing the class file with the respective source files in the web module       244         8-5       Selecting the Faces Servlet       245         8-6       Adding a servlet mapping to the Faces Servlet       246         8-7       Software Analyzer configuration with JBoss migration rule set.       247         8-8       Web module after you import more dependencies       249         8-10       Enabling the JPA Project Facet       250         8-11       Enterprise Explorer after you enable the JPA project facet       251         8-12       Configuring JPA validation warnings       251         8-13       Adding factory class path for annotation processing at compile time       252         8-14       Enabling the metamodel generation       253         8-15       Creating the brkrgdb database for the sample application       257         8-16       brokerage_WEB module before and after the source code import       258         8-17       Importing source code files to broke	7-8 Add and Remove Projects	233
8-1       Importing the WAR file for Kitchensink application using the import wizard       241         8-2       Project structure after the initial import       242         8-3       Removing the shirinkwrap libraries from the project       243         8-4       Replacing the class file with the respective source files in the web module       244         8-5       Selecting the Faces Servlet       245         8-6       Adding a servlet mapping to the Faces Servlet       246         8-7       Software Analyzer configuration with JBoss migration rule set.       247         8-8       Application Migration Tool XML file review       248         8-9       Web module after you import more dependencies       249         8-10       Enabling the JPA Project Facet       250         8-11       Enterprise Explorer after you enable the JPA project facet       251         8-12       Configuring JPA validation warnings       251         8-13       Adding factory class path for annotation processing at compile time       252         8-14       Enabling the metamodel generation       253         8-15       Creating the brkrgdb database for the sample application       257         8-16       brokerage_WEB module before and after the source code import       258         8-17       Importing brease s	7-9 Adding missing JAR files	234
8-2       Project structure after the initial import       242         8-3       Removing the shirinkwrap libraries from the project       243         8-4       Replacing the class file with the respective source files in the web module       244         8-5       Selecting the Faces Servlet       245         8-6       Adding a servlet mapping to the Faces Servlet       246         8-7       Software Analyzer configuration with JBoss migration rule set.       247         8-8       Application Migration Tool XML file review       248         8-9       Web module after you import more dependencies       249         8-10       Enabling the JPA Project Facet       250         8-11       Enterprise Explorer after you enable the JPA project facet       251         8-12       Configuring JPA validation warnings       253         8-13       Adding factory class path for annotation processing at compile time       252         8-14       Enabling the metamodel generation       253         8-15       Creating the brkrgdb database for the sample application       257         8-16       brokerage_WEB module before and after the source code import       258         8-17       Importing source code files to brokerage_WEB module       259         8-18       Java Code Review section	8-1 Importing the WAR file for Kitchensink application using the import wizard	241
8-3       Removing the shirinkwrap libraries from the project       243         8-4       Replacing the class file with the respective source files in the web module       244         8-5       Selecting the Faces Servlet       245         8-6       Adding a servlet mapping to the Faces Servlet       246         8-7       Software Analyzer configuration with JBoss migration rule set.       247         8-8       Application Migration Tool XML file review       248         8-9       Web module after you import more dependencies       249         8-10       Enabling the JPA Project Facet       250         8-11       Enterprise Explorer after you enable the JPA project facet       251         8-12       Configuring JPA validation warnings       251         8-13       Adding factory class path for annotation processing at compile time       252         8-14       Enabling the metamodel generation       253         8-15       Creating the brkrgdb database for the sample application       257         8-16       brokerage_WEB module before and after the source code import.       258         8-17       Importing source code files to brokerage_WEB module.       259         8-18       Java Code Review section       260         8-20       Adding a dependency to HAR resources       262	8-2 Project structure after the initial import	242
8-4 Replacing the class file with the respective source files in the web module       244         8-5 Selecting the Faces Servlet       245         8-6 Adding a servlet mapping to the Faces Servlet       246         8-7 Software Analyzer configuration with JBoss migration rule set.       247         8-8 Application Migration Tool XML file review       248         8-9 Web module after you import more dependencies       249         8-10 Enabling the JPA Project Facet       250         8-11 Enterprise Explorer after you enable the JPA project facet       251         8-12 Configuring JPA validation warnings       251         8-13 Adding factory class path for annotation processing at compile time       252         8-14 Enabling the metamodel generation       253         8-15 Creating the brkrgdb database for the sample application       257         8-16 brokerage_WEB module before and after the source code import.       258         8-17 Importing source code files to brokerage_WEB module.       259         8-18 Java Code Review section       260         8-20 Adding a dependency to HAR resources       262         8-21 JDBC provider settings       265         8-22 Data Source details.       266         8-23 Data Source so for brokerage_WEB       268         8-25 Creating a utility module       269	8-3 Removing the shirinkwrap libraries from the project	243
8-5       Selecting the Faces Servlet       245         8-6       Adding a servlet mapping to the Faces Servlet       246         8-7       Software Analyzer configuration with JBoss migration rule set.       247         8-8       Application Migration Tool XML file review       248         8-9       Web module after you import more dependencies       249         8-10       Enabling the JPA Project Facet       250         8-11       Enterprise Explorer after you enable the JPA project facet       251         8-12       Configuring JPA validation warnings       251         8-13       Adding factory class path for annotation processing at compile time       252         8-14       Enabling the metamodel generation       253         8-15       Creating the brkrgdb database for the sample application       257         8-16       brokerage_WEB module before and after the source code import       258         8-17       Importing source code files to brokerage_WEB module       259         8-18       Java Code Review section       260         8-20       Adding a dependency to HAR resources       262         8-21       JDBC provider settings       265         8-22       Data Source details       266         8-23       Data Source files in to the ut	8-4 Replacing the class file with the respective source files in the web module	244
8-6       Adding a servlet mapping to the Faces Servlet       246         8-7       Software Analyzer configuration with JBoss migration rule set.       247         8-8       Application Migration Tool XML file review       248         8-9       Web module after you import more dependencies       249         8-10       Enabling the JPA Project Facet       250         8-11       Enterprise Explorer after you enable the JPA project facet       251         8-13       Adding factory class path for annotation processing at compile time       252         8-14       Enabling the metamodel generation       253         8-15       Creating the brkrgdb database for the sample application       257         8-16       brokerage_WEB module before and after the source code import.       258         8-17       Importing source code files to brokerage_WEB module.       259         8-18       Java Code Review section       260         8-20       Adding a dependency to HAR resources       262         8-21       JDBC provider settings       265         8-22       Data Source details       266         8-23       Data Source soft brokerage_WEB       268         8-25       Creating a utility module       267         8-26       Importing the source files in to t	8-5 Selecting the Faces Servlet	245
8-7       Software Analyzer configuration with JBoss migration rule set.       247         8-8       Application Migration Tool XML file review       248         8-9       Web module after you import more dependencies       249         8-10       Enabling the JPA Project Facet       250         8-11       Enterprise Explorer after you enable the JPA project facet       251         8-12       Configuring JPA validation warnings       251         8-13       Adding factory class path for annotation processing at compile time       252         8-14       Enabling the metamodel generation       253         8-15       Creating the brkrgdb database for the sample application       257         8-16       brokerage_WEB module before and after the source code import.       258         8-17       Importing source code files to brokerage_WEB module.       259         8-18       Java Code Review section       260         8-20       Adding a dependency to HAR resources       262         8-21       JDBC provider settings       265         8-22       Data Source details       266         8-23       Data Sources window of the WebSphere Application Server deployment       267         8-24       Resource references for brokerage_WEB       268         8-25	8-6 Adding a servlet mapping to the Faces Servlet	246
8-8       Application Migration Tool XML file review       248         8-9       Web module after you import more dependencies       249         8-10       Enabling the JPA Project Facet       250         8-11       Enterprise Explorer after you enable the JPA project facet       251         8-12       Configuring JPA validation warnings       251         8-13       Adding factory class path for annotation processing at compile time       252         8-14       Enabling the metamodel generation       253         8-15       Creating the brkrgdb database for the sample application       257         8-16       brokerage_WEB module before and after the source code import.       258         8-17       Importing source code files to brokerage_WEB module.       259         8-18       Java Code Review section       260         8-20       Adding a dependency to HAR resources       262         8-21       JDBC provider settings       265         8-22       Data Source details       266         8-23       Data Sources window of the WebSphere Application Server deployment       267         8-24       Resource references for brokerage_WEB       268         8-25       Creating a utility module       270         8-26       Importing the source files in t	8-7 Software Analyzer configuration with JBoss migration rule set	247
8-9       Web module after you import more dependencies       249         8-10       Enabling the JPA Project Facet       250         8-11       Enterprise Explorer after you enable the JPA project facet       251         8-12       Configuring JPA validation warnings       251         8-13       Adding factory class path for annotation processing at compile time       252         8-14       Enabling the metamodel generation       253         8-15       Creating the brkrgdb database for the sample application       257         8-16       brokerage_WEB module before and after the source code import.       258         8-17       Importing source code files to brokerage_WEB module.       259         8-18       Java Code Review section       260         8-19       XML File Review section       260         8-20       Adding a dependency to HAR resources       262         8-21       JDBC provider settings       265         8-22       Data Source details       266         8-23       Data Source so for brokerage_WEB       268         8-25       Creating a utility module       269         8-26       Importing the source files in to the utility project       270         8-27       Utility module contents       270	8-8 Application Migration Tool XML file review	248
8-10       Enabling the JPA Project Facet       250         8-11       Enterprise Explorer after you enable the JPA project facet       251         8-12       Configuring JPA validation warnings       251         8-13       Adding factory class path for annotation processing at compile time       252         8-14       Enabling the metamodel generation       253         8-15       Creating the brkrgdb database for the sample application       257         8-16       brokerage_WEB module before and after the source code import.       258         8-17       Importing source code files to brokerage_WEB module.       259         8-18       Java Code Review section       260         8-19       XML File Review section       260         8-20       Adding a dependency to HAR resources       262         8-21       JDBC provider settings       266         8-22       Data Source details       266         8-23       Data Source swindow of the WebSphere Application Server deployment       267         8-26       Importing the source files in to the utility project       270         8-27       Utility module       270         8-28       Module dependencies of web module       271         8-27       Utility module contents       270 <td>8-9 Web module after you import more dependencies</td> <td>249</td>	8-9 Web module after you import more dependencies	249
8-11       Enterprise Explorer after you enable the JPA project facet       251         8-12       Configuring JPA validation warnings       251         8-13       Adding factory class path for annotation processing at compile time       252         8-14       Enabling the metamodel generation       253         8-15       Creating the brkrgdb database for the sample application       257         8-16       brokerage_WEB module before and after the source code import       258         8-17       Importing source code files to brokerage_WEB module       259         8-18       Java Code Review section       260         8-19       XML File Review section       260         8-20       Adding a dependency to HAR resources       262         8-21       JDBC provider settings       265         8-22       Data Source details       266         8-23       Data Sources window of the WebSphere Application Server deployment       267         8-24       Resource references for brokerage_WEB       268         8-25       Creating a utility module       270         8-26       Importing the source files in to the utility project       270         8-27       Utility module contents       270         8-28       Module dependencies of web module       2	8-10 Enabling the JPA Project Facet	250
8-12       Configuring JPA validation warnings       251         8-13       Adding factory class path for annotation processing at compile time       252         8-14       Enabling the metamodel generation       253         8-15       Creating the brkrgdb database for the sample application       257         8-16       brokerage_WEB module before and after the source code import       258         8-17       Importing source code files to brokerage_WEB module       259         8-18       Java Code Review section       260         8-19       XML File Review section       260         8-20       Adding a dependency to HAR resources       262         8-21       JDBC provider settings       265         8-22       Data Source details       266         8-23       Data Source swindow of the WebSphere Application Server deployment       267         8-24       Resource references for brokerage_WEB       268         8-25       Creating a utility module       270         8-26       Importing the source files in to the utility project       270         8-27       Utility module contents       270         8-28       Module dependencies of web module       271         9-1       The developer tools for operating a Liberty profile server from Eclipse	8-11 Enterprise Explorer after you enable the JPA project facet	251
8-13       Adding factory class path for annotation processing at compile time       252         8-14       Enabling the metamodel generation       253         8-15       Creating the brkrgdb database for the sample application       257         8-16       brokerage_WEB module before and after the source code import.       258         8-17       Importing source code files to brokerage_WEB module.       259         8-18       Java Code Review section       260         8-19       XML File Review section       260         8-20       Adding a dependency to HAR resources       262         8-21       JDBC provider settings       265         8-22       Data Source details       266         8-23       Data Sources window of the WebSphere Application Server deployment       267         8-24       Resource references for brokerage_WEB       268         8-25       Creating a utility module       269         8-26       Importing the source files in to the utility project       270         8-27       Utility module contents       270         8-28       Module dependencies of web module       271         9-1       The developer tools for operating a Liberty profile server from Eclipse       278         9-2       The security warning when you install t	8-12 Configuring JPA validation warnings	251
8-14Enabling the metamodel generation2538-15Creating the brkrgdb database for the sample application2578-16brokerage_WEB module before and after the source code import2588-17Importing source code files to brokerage_WEB module2598-18Java Code Review section2608-19XML File Review section2608-20Adding a dependency to HAR resources2628-21JDBC provider settings2658-22Data Source details2668-23Data Source details2668-24Resource references for brokerage_WEB2688-25Creating a utility module2698-26Importing the source files in to the utility project2708-27Utility module contents2708-28Module dependencies of web module2719-1The developer tools for operating a Liberty profile server from Eclipse2789-3Creating a Software Analyzer configuration283	8-13 Adding factory class path for annotation processing at compile time	252
8-15       Creating the brkrgdb database for the sample application       257         8-16       brokerage_WEB module before and after the source code import.       258         8-17       Importing source code files to brokerage_WEB module.       259         8-18       Java Code Review section       260         8-19       XML File Review section       260         8-20       Adding a dependency to HAR resources       262         8-21       JDBC provider settings       265         8-22       Data Source details       266         8-23       Data Sources window of the WebSphere Application Server deployment       267         8-24       Resource references for brokerage_WEB       268         8-25       Creating a utility module       269         8-26       Importing the source files in to the utility project       270         8-27       Utility module contents       270         8-28       Module dependencies of web module       271         9-1       The developer tools for operating a Liberty profile server from Eclipse       278         9-2       The security warning when you install the developer tools       278         9-3       Creating a Software Analyzer configuration       283 <td>8-14 Enabling the metamodel generation</td> <td>253</td>	8-14 Enabling the metamodel generation	253
8-16       brokerage_WEB module before and after the source code import.       258         8-17       Importing source code files to brokerage_WEB module.       259         8-18       Java Code Review section       260         8-19       XML File Review section.       260         8-20       Adding a dependency to HAR resources       262         8-21       JDBC provider settings       265         8-22       Data Source details.       266         8-23       Data Sources window of the WebSphere Application Server deployment       267         8-24       Resource references for brokerage_WEB       268         8-25       Creating a utility module       269         8-26       Importing the source files in to the utility project       270         8-27       Utility module contents       270         8-28       Module dependencies of web module       271         9-1       The developer tools for operating a Liberty profile server from Eclipse       278         9-2       The security warning when you install the developer tools       278         9-3       Creating a Software Analyzer configuration       283	8-15 Creating the brkrgdb database for the sample application	257
8-17 Importing source code files to brokerage_WEB module2598-18 Java Code Review section2608-19 XML File Review section2608-20 Adding a dependency to HAR resources2628-21 JDBC provider settings2658-22 Data Source details2668-23 Data Sources window of the WebSphere Application Server deployment2678-24 Resource references for brokerage_WEB2688-25 Creating a utility module2698-26 Importing the source files in to the utility project2708-27 Utility module contents2708-28 Module dependencies of web module2719-1 The developer tools for operating a Liberty profile server from Eclipse2789-3 Creating a Software Analyzer configuration283	8-16 brokerage_WEB module before and after the source code import	258
8-18 Java Code Review section2608-19 XML File Review section2608-20 Adding a dependency to HAR resources2628-21 JDBC provider settings2658-22 Data Source details2668-23 Data Sources window of the WebSphere Application Server deployment2678-24 Resource references for brokerage_WEB2688-25 Creating a utility module2698-26 Importing the source files in to the utility project2708-27 Utility module contents2708-28 Module dependencies of web module2719-1 The developer tools for operating a Liberty profile server from Eclipse2789-3 Creating a Software Analyzer configuration283	8-17 Importing source code files to brokerage_WEB module	259
8-19XML File Review section.2608-20Adding a dependency to HAR resources2628-21JDBC provider settings2658-22Data Source details.2668-23Data Sources window of the WebSphere Application Server deployment2678-24Resource references for brokerage_WEB2688-25Creating a utility module2698-26Importing the source files in to the utility project2708-27Utility module contents2708-28Module dependencies of web module2719-1The developer tools for operating a Liberty profile server from Eclipse2789-3Creating a Software Analyzer configuration283	8-18 Java Code Review section	260
8-20 Adding a dependency to HAR resources2628-21 JDBC provider settings2658-22 Data Source details2668-23 Data Sources window of the WebSphere Application Server deployment2678-24 Resource references for brokerage_WEB2688-25 Creating a utility module2698-26 Importing the source files in to the utility project2708-27 Utility module contents2708-28 Module dependencies of web module2719-1 The developer tools for operating a Liberty profile server from Eclipse2789-2 The security warning when you install the developer tools2789-3 Creating a Software Analyzer configuration283	8-19 XML File Review section.	260
8-21 JDBC provider settings2658-22 Data Source details2668-23 Data Sources window of the WebSphere Application Server deployment2678-24 Resource references for brokerage_WEB2688-25 Creating a utility module2698-26 Importing the source files in to the utility project2708-27 Utility module contents2708-28 Module dependencies of web module2719-1 The developer tools for operating a Liberty profile server from Eclipse2789-2 The security warning when you install the developer tools2789-3 Creating a Software Analyzer configuration283	8-20 Adding a dependency to HAR resources	262
8-22 Data Source details.2668-23 Data Sources window of the WebSphere Application Server deployment2678-24 Resource references for brokerage_WEB2688-25 Creating a utility module2698-26 Importing the source files in to the utility project2708-27 Utility module contents2708-28 Module dependencies of web module2719-1 The developer tools for operating a Liberty profile server from Eclipse2789-2 The security warning when you install the developer tools2789-3 Creating a Software Analyzer configuration283	8-21 JDBC provider settings	265
8-23 Data Sources window of the WebSphere Application Server deployment2678-24 Resource references for brokerage_WEB2688-25 Creating a utility module2698-26 Importing the source files in to the utility project2708-27 Utility module contents2708-28 Module dependencies of web module2719-1 The developer tools for operating a Liberty profile server from Eclipse2789-2 The security warning when you install the developer tools2789-3 Creating a Software Analyzer configuration283	8-22 Data Source details	266
8-24 Resource references for brokerage_WEB2688-25 Creating a utility module2698-26 Importing the source files in to the utility project2708-27 Utility module contents2708-28 Module dependencies of web module2719-1 The developer tools for operating a Liberty profile server from Eclipse2789-2 The security warning when you install the developer tools2789-3 Creating a Software Analyzer configuration283	8-23 Data Sources window of the WebSphere Application Server deployment	267
8-25 Creating a utility module2698-26 Importing the source files in to the utility project2708-27 Utility module contents2708-28 Module dependencies of web module2719-1 The developer tools for operating a Liberty profile server from Eclipse2789-2 The security warning when you install the developer tools2789-3 Creating a Software Analyzer configuration283	8-24 Resource references for brokerage_WEB	268
8-26 Importing the source files in to the utility project2708-27 Utility module contents2708-28 Module dependencies of web module2719-1 The developer tools for operating a Liberty profile server from Eclipse2789-2 The security warning when you install the developer tools2789-3 Creating a Software Analyzer configuration283	8-25 Creating a utility module	269
8-27 Utility module contents2708-28 Module dependencies of web module2719-1 The developer tools for operating a Liberty profile server from Eclipse2789-2 The security warning when you install the developer tools2789-3 Creating a Software Analyzer configuration283	8-26 Importing the source files in to the utility project	270
<ul> <li>8-28 Module dependencies of web module</li></ul>	8-27 Utility module contents	270
<ul> <li>9-1 The developer tools for operating a Liberty profile server from Eclipse</li></ul>	8-28 Module dependencies of web module	271
9-2 The security warning when you install the developer tools	9-1 The developer tools for operating a Liberty profile server from Eclipse	278
9-3 Creating a Software Analyzer configuration	9-2 The security warning when you install the developer tools	278
	9-3 Creating a Software Analyzer configuration	283

9-4 Setting the rules for an Apache Tomcat migration	284
9-5 Settings for the configuration of the target WebSphere version, and the source and	
target JVM levels	284
9-6 Results of running the Software Analyzer	287
9-7 The location of the View menu	293
9-8 Software Analyzer new configuration	298
9-9 Files selection - do not select the forum folder itself	304
9-10 Creating a package in the src directory	304
9-11 Files selection from beans directory - do not select the beans directory itself	305
9-12 Software Analyzer new configuration	309
10-1 FAB import wizard	320
10-2 Importing myproject ear	321
10-3 Selecting FAB Modules during import	322
10.4 EIR module structure before and after source code import	222
10.5 Importing source files	222
10-6 Defers and offer librarias in EAD mayed to a charad library	020
10-6 Delore and alter libraries in EAR moved to a shared library	324
10-7 Snared library properties	325
	326
	327
	328
10-11 Java Code Review	328
10-12 ClassPath review	329
10-13 Previewing a quick fix	329
10-14 JDBC provider settings	332
10-15 Selecting provider for data source	333
10-16 Data source details	334
10-17 Resource properties for data source	335
10-18 Resource properties for a data source	336
10-19 Web module dependencies	337
10-20 WAR import wizard	342
10-21 Importing a sample application WAR file	343
10-22 Shared library properties.	344
10-23 Framework migration rules	345
10-24 XML File review	346
10-25 JDBC provider settings	348
10-26 Selecting a provider for a data source	349
10-27 Data Source details.	350
10-28 Resource properties for data source	351
11-1 Eclipse Marketplace	360
11-2 Select the features	361
11-3 Install the Migration Toolkit using Rational Application Developer V8.5	362
11-4 Available Software window	363
12-1 Migration process	366
12-2 Plants by WebSphere application bigh-level architecture	382
12-3 Step 1: Select installation options	387
12.4 Stop 2: Map modules to convers	207
12.5 Index page of Plants By WebSphere sample	200
12-5 Index page of Plants by WebSphere sample	209
12-6 Login/negisination page of Plants by WebSphere Sample	309
12-7 Shopping Carl of Plants By WebSphere	390
12-0 Exporting the PlantsBywebSphere.ear the from the WebSphere Application Server	004
	391
	392
12-10 Select the EAR file to import	393

12-11	EAR modules and Utility JAR projects during application import 394
12-12	Software Analyzer configuration 395
12-13	Setting up a new Software Analyzer configuration 396
12-14	Setting rules for the Software Analyzer configuration
12-15	Rule set configuration dialog box 397
12-16	A ready Software Analyzer configuration 398
12-17	Software Analyzer results 398
12-18	Java Code Review 399
12-19	XML File Review
12-20	View Java Code Review results 400
12-21	Clean Java Code Review results 401
12-22	Fixing XML file review results 402
12-23	Configuring the Application Migration Toolkit for the Probability Distribution Sample
a	pplication
12-24	Installing the Axis 2 application on WebSphere Application Server V6.1 411
12-25	Configuring the Application Migration Toolkit for the Stock Quote Axis2 application414
12-26	Selecting the "parent last" option for class loader order 417

# **Tables**

3-1 Java and vendor deployment descriptors and configuration files	. 67
3-2 Java EE version numbers	. 75
4-1 Application Migration Tools and installIU	100
6-1 Explanation of the cell and domain components	128
6-2 Explanation of the JMS components	129
6-3 Explanation of JMS extensions	130
6-4 Data source values	136
6-5 Database connection properties values	136
6-6 JMS Server values	137
6-7 JMS queue values	137
6-8 JMS topic values	138
6-9 JMS Topic values	138
6-10 Queue connection factory values	138
6-11 Topic connection factory values	138
6-12 Explanation of WebLogic specific file names	161
6-13 JMS gueue connection factory configuration	175
6-14 JMS topic connection factory configuration	176
6-15 JMS gueue configuration	176
6-16 JMS queue configuration	176
6-17 JMS topic configuration	177
6-18 JMS activation specification configuration	177
6-19 JMS activation specification configuration	178
6-20 OrderProcessor MDB's WebSphere binding configuration	178
6-21 Mailer MDBs WebSphere binding configuration	180
6-22 IDBC provider configuration	180
6-22 JDBC data source configuration	181
6-24 I2C authentication alias configuration	181
6.25 WebSphere bindings for the Account E IP	101
	102
6.07 FID reference nomes	102
0-27 EJD reference rightes	100
6-28 Default data source configuration	183
6-29 Trade web application reference JNDI names	184
6-30 The contents of the MVC projects.	196
6-31 The contents of the EJB projects	211
7-1 Terminology comparison.	223
7-2 Creating the data source.	225
8-1 Terminology comparison.	237
8-2 Required libraries	262
9-1 Terminology comparison.	275
9-2 Parameters for the Fileset Service	300
9-3 Parameters for the Properties for DB2 JCC	301
9-4 Parameters for the Fileset Service	310
9-5 Parameters for the Properties for DB2 JCC	311
10-1 Shared dependencies to be copied	325
12-1 EJB changes	371
12-2 JAX-WS changes	372
12-3 JCA enhancements	372
12-4 JPA changes	372

12-5	JSP changes	373
12-6	OSGi changes	373
12-7	SIP changes	373
12-8	Support for security custom properties	377
12-9	Miscellaneous classes that are removed	378
12-10	MustGather table	379

# **Examples**

3-1 Web.xml excerpt	66
3-2 WebSphere Application Server V8.5 deployment descriptor excerpt	66
3-3 Thin client looking up an EJB deployed on a single server.	73
4-1 Installing the Migration Toolkit through the command line	99
4-2 Uninstalling the Application Migration Tools through the command line	. 100
6-1 Basic authentication definition in web.xml	. 139
6-2 Mapping definition in weblogic.xml	. 139
6-3 org.eclipse.wst.common.project.facet.core file	. 144
6-4 WebLogic Query Language construct.	. 161
6-5 The basic authentication settings in web.xml	. 185
6-6 Table.ddl file	. 209
7-1 The corrected peristence.xml file	. 229
8-1 Warning message	. 252
8-2 Command area code snippet	. 256
8-3 Changes to the file	. 263
9-1 Required configuration of the required global data source	. 281
9-2 The configuration that is required to add a user and a Test role	. 282
9-3 The commands that are required to create the necessary DB2 databases	. 288
9-4 Database creation commands	. 294
9-5 Changing the mvncore.xml file code snippet	. 294
9-6 Define data source in mvncore.xml	. 297
9-7 Define paths and trusted domains in mvncore.xml	. 297
9-8 Updating mvnforum.xml with the location of the mvnforum_home directory	. 298
9-9 Contents of a Liberty profile server configured to run the MvnForum application	. 302
9-10 Creating the EasyJSP database	. 306
9-11 Creating the data structure and sample data of the EasyJSP database	. 307
9-12 Adding the required packages to access the data source	. 308
9-13 Changing the connection parameters	. 308
9-14 Remove the square brackets in the following SQL syntaxes	. 308
9-15 The resource reference to add to the deployment descriptor	. 310
10-1 Code snippet	. 316
10-2 Seam setup command interactive output	. 317
10-3 Code snippet	. 330
10-4 Roo script file for generating a sample application	. 340
10-5 Overriding hashCode and equals methods	. 341
11-1 Installation	. 361
11-2 Uninstall	. 361
12-1 Command to build the sample application	. 385
12-2 Command to uninstall the PlantsByWebSphere sample application on Windows .	. 385
12-3 Command to uninstall the PlantsByWebSphere sample application on Linux	. 386
12-4 Command to install the PlantsByWebSphere sample application on Windows	. 386
12-5 Command to install the PlantsByWebSphere sample application on Linux	. 386
12-6 Java code to be analyzed	. 400
12-7 Usage of the equals method of Duration class leading to a flag	. 401
12-8 Usage of equals method of Duration class leading to a flag	. 401
12-9 A snippet from the error.jsp file included in the PlantsByWebSphere	. 403
12-10 The manifest mf file for the jsf-ibm.jar in the Probability Distribution Sample	. 407
12-11 The EnableChildFirstClassLoading property in the axis2.xml file	. 415

12-12	The META-INF/MANIFEST.MF file in the WebContent of stock_quote_e	xample_	axis2
pr	oject		. 415

# Notices

This information was developed for products and services offered in the U.S.A.

IBM may not offer the products, services, or features discussed in this document in other countries. Consult your local IBM representative for information on the products and services currently available in your area. Any reference to an IBM product, program, or service is not intended to state or imply that only that IBM product, program, or service may be used. Any functionally equivalent product, program, or service that does not infringe any IBM intellectual property right may be used instead. However, it is the user's responsibility to evaluate and verify the operation of any non-IBM product, program, or service.

IBM may have patents or pending patent applications covering subject matter described in this document. The furnishing of this document does not grant you any license to these patents. You can send license inquiries, in writing, to:

IBM Director of Licensing, IBM Corporation, North Castle Drive, Armonk, NY 10504-1785 U.S.A.

The following paragraph does not apply to the United Kingdom or any other country where such provisions are inconsistent with local law: INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS MACHINES CORPORATION PROVIDES THIS PUBLICATION "AS IS" WITHOUT WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF NON-INFRINGEMENT, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. Some states do not allow disclaimer of express or implied warranties in certain transactions, therefore, this statement may not apply to you.

This information could include technical inaccuracies or typographical errors. Changes are periodically made to the information herein; these changes will be incorporated in new editions of the publication. IBM may make improvements and/or changes in the product(s) and/or the program(s) described in this publication at any time without notice.

Any references in this information to non-IBM websites are provided for convenience only and do not in any manner serve as an endorsement of those websites. The materials at those websites are not part of the materials for this IBM product and use of those websites is at your own risk.

IBM may use or distribute any of the information you supply in any way it believes appropriate without incurring any obligation to you.

Any performance data contained herein was determined in a controlled environment. Therefore, the results obtained in other operating environments may vary significantly. Some measurements may have been made on development-level systems and there is no guarantee that these measurements will be the same on generally available systems. Furthermore, some measurements may have been estimated through extrapolation. Actual results may vary. Users of this document should verify the applicable data for their specific environment.

Information concerning non-IBM products was obtained from the suppliers of those products, their published announcements or other publicly available sources. IBM has not tested those products and cannot confirm the accuracy of performance, compatibility or any other claims related to non-IBM products. Questions on the capabilities of non-IBM products should be addressed to the suppliers of those products.

This information contains examples of data and reports used in daily business operations. To illustrate them as completely as possible, the examples include the names of individuals, companies, brands, and products. All of these names are fictitious and any similarity to the names and addresses used by an actual business enterprise is entirely coincidental.

#### COPYRIGHT LICENSE:

This information contains sample application programs in source language, which illustrate programming techniques on various operating platforms. You may copy, modify, and distribute these sample programs in any form without payment to IBM, for the purposes of developing, using, marketing or distributing application programs conforming to the application programming interface for the operating platform for which the sample programs are written. These examples have not been thoroughly tested under all conditions. IBM, therefore, cannot guarantee or imply reliability, serviceability, or function of these programs.

## **Trademarks**

IBM, the IBM logo, and ibm.com are trademarks or registered trademarks of International Business Machines Corporation in the United States, other countries, or both. These and other IBM trademarked terms are marked on their first occurrence in this information with the appropriate symbol (® or ™), indicating US registered or common law trademarks owned by IBM at the time this information was published. Such trademarks may also be registered or common law trademarks in other countries. A current list of IBM trademarks is available on the Web at http://www.ibm.com/legal/copytrade.shtml

The following terms are trademarks of the International Business Machines Corporation in the United States, other countries, or both:

AIX 5L™	IBM SmartCloud™
AIX®	IBM®
CICS®	IMS™
DB2 Universal Database™	MQSeries®
DB2®	MVS™
developerWorks®	Passport Advantage®
GDDM®	Rational Team Concert™
Global Technology Services®	Rational®

Redbooks® Redbooks (logo) @ ® System p® System x® System z® WebSphere® z/OS®

The following terms are trademarks of other companies:

Intel, Intel logo, Intel Inside logo, and Intel Centrino logo are trademarks or registered trademarks of Intel Corporation or its subsidiaries in the United States and other countries.

ITIL is a registered trademark, and a registered community trademark of The Minister for the Cabinet Office, and is registered in the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office.

Linux is a trademark of Linus Torvalds in the United States, other countries, or both.

Microsoft, Windows, and the Windows logo are trademarks of Microsoft Corporation in the United States, other countries, or both.

Java, and all Java-based trademarks and logos are trademarks or registered trademarks of Oracle and/or its affiliates.

UNIX is a registered trademark of The Open Group in the United States and other countries.

Other company, product, or service names may be trademarks or service marks of others.

## Preface

This IBM® Redbooks® publication helps you plan and execute the migration of J2EE applications that are developed for Oracle WebLogic Server, Oracle Application Server, JBoss, and Apache Tomcat, so that they run on IBM WebSphere® Application Server V8.5. In addition, this book covers migration from earlier versions of WebSphere Application Server to WebSphere Application Server V8.5.

This book provides detailed information to plan migrations, suggested approaches for developing portable applications, and migrating working examples for each of the platforms from which we migrated in our examples. The primary tool that is used in the migration scenarios that are covered in this book is the IBM WebSphere Application Server Migration Toolkit V3.5.

It is not our intention to provide a feature-by-feature comparison of these application servers versus WebSphere Application Server, but to produce practical technical advice for developers who must migrate applications from these vendors to WebSphere Application Server V8.5.

This publication is an update of *WebSphere Application Server V7: Competitive Migration Guide*, SG24-7870.

The book is intended as a migration guide for IT specialists who are working on migrating applications that are written for other application servers or earlier versions of WebSphere Application Server to WebSphere Application Server V8.5.

## The team who wrote this book

This book was produced by a team of specialists from around the world working at the IBM Office in Istanbul, Turkey.

**Ersan Arik** is an IT Specialist working for Akbank in Turkey acting as Solution Architect Job Role with WebSphere Application Server products. He has nine years of professional experience in IT and banking industries, the last five years of which were dedicated to implementing integrated solutions using WebSphere Application Server and IBM WebSphere MQ. His areas of expertise include infrastructure architecture, capacity planning, clustering and high availability architecture for mission-critical environments, and performance tuning on cross platforms. He also specializes in Document Management Systems products, such as IBM Content Management and OnDemand Server. He holds a Bachelor's degree in Computer Engineering from Istanbul Technical University.

**Burak Cakil** is an IT Specialist and has six years of IT experience. He is the Team Leader of Web Middleware Enablement Service Line Component in Integrated Technology Delivery (ITD) SSO in Turkey, and has four years of experience in implementation, design, and administration of WebSphere Application Server, IBM Content Manager, and J2EE technologies. He is certified in WebSphere Application Server administration and IBM Content Manager solution design. He designs J2EE applications for the internal needs of ITD SSO Turkey. He gave lectures about WebSphere Application Server, IBM DB2®, and J2EE components in several universities in Turkey. He has a Bachelor of Science degree in Computer Engineering from Yildiz Technical University, and is studying for a Master of Science degree in the same program.

**Kurtcebe Eroglu** works for Sade Yazilim Ve Danismanlik as an IT specialist. He has over 10 years of experience in IT, focusing on application integration middleware and enterprise software development. He has a Bachelor of Science degree in Environmental Engineering, a Master of Science degree in Computer Engineering, a Master of Science degree in Engineering Management from Middle East Technical University, and is studying for a degree in Philosophy.

**Vasfi Gucer** is a Project Leader at the IBM International Technical Support Organization. He has been with the ITSO since January 1999. He has more than 12 years of experience in the areas of Systems Management, networking hardware, and software on mainframe and distributed platforms. He writes extensively and teaches IBM classes worldwide on IBM products. Vasfi is also an IBM Certified Senior IT Specialist, PMP, and ITIL Expert.

**Rispna Jain** is a Technical Software Deployment Manager for the WebSphere suite of products in IBM Global Technology Services® and works with clients in North America. She has seven years of experience with WebSphere Application Server product development at IBM Software Group in various roles, such as development, Level 3 support, and testing. Rispna has also been a technical speaker for WebSphere Application Server related topics at various WebSphere conferences. She is an IBM Certified SOA associate and holds a Master of Technology degree in Computer Science.

**Levent Kaya** is an IT Specialist working for IBM Software Services for WebSphere (ISSW) in Turkey for two years. He has five years of experience in the IT industry. He has two years of development experience with IBM WebSphere Process Server. He has a Bachelor of Science degree in Computer Engineering from Yildiz Technical University

**Sinan Konya** is the Chief Architect and founder of eteration a.s. He is an object mentor and an educator. He is a founding member of ObjectLearn and wrote ObjectWeb Lomboz in 2000, which is open source software for JavaEE development. Before he worked at eteration, Sinan was with BEA Systems Inc. and The Object People as a Mentor. He has more than 17 years of experience in designing and implementing enterprise-wide and mission-critical systems. He has been involved in teaching object technology and enterprise software development using Java and JavaEE technologies for over 15 years in various industries. He has a Master of Science degree in Control and Computer Engineering from Istanbul Technical University. He was involved as a committer in the Eclipse WTP.

**Hatice Meric** is a Technical Consultant working for IBM Istanbul Innovation Center in Turkey. In her previous IBM role, she was an IT Specialist in Software Services at IBM Turkey. She has a Bachelor of Science degree in Computer Engineering from Yildiz Technical University.

**Ross Pavitt** is a Software Engineer at IBM Hursley in the United Kingdom. He joined the WebSphere Application Server Liberty profile team in 2012 as a test lead, focusing on customer scenario testing. Before that position, he was part of the IBM CICS® Transaction Gateway team. Ross joined IBM in 2008 and focused on functional verification and other automated testing for multiple platforms, including IBM System z®, IBM System x® and IBM System p®.

**Dave Vines** is an IBM Master Inventor and Senior Software Engineer at the IBM Hursley Laboratory in the United Kingdom working in WebSphere Application Server Development specializing in the Liberty profile and IBM Workload Deployer. He joined the laboratory in 1984 and has worked on various IBM licensed programs, including GDDM®, IBM MQSeries®, LANDP and, since 1998, on Component Broker and WebSphere Application Server. He received a Bachelor of Science degree from the University of Exeter, England, in 1984. **Hakan Yildirim** is a Senior Specialist in Platforms and Application Management at Garanti Teknoloji, Turkey. Hakan has over 14 years of experience, mainly in the financial sector. He graduated from Yildiz Technical University and studied in their Electronics & Communication Engineering department. He started his professional carrier at Emlak Bank in 1998. He worked as engineer, specialist, and senior specialist in Istanbul, Turkey. He worked extensively with the WebSphere suite of products, such WebSphere Application Server, WebSphere Portal Server, WebSphere Process Server, and WebSphere ESB. His core areas of skill are WebSphere Application Server administration and the planning and design of WebSphere Application Server environments. He joined Garanti Teknoloji in 2009 as a senior platforms and application management specialist. He gained his experience by working with developers to debug Java applications. He participated in many large banking projects, primarily internet banking, and e-commerce solutions. Currently, Hakan is in charge of managing Java application servers, such as WebSphere and WebLogic.

**Tayfun Yurdagul** is a Solution Architect at VBT Vizyon Information Technologies. He has more than nine years of experience in IBM WebSphere, IBM Rational® products, DB2, and Java technologies. He worked for large and mission-critic software projects. Tayfun also has DB2, WebSphere, and Rational product certificates.

Thanks to the following people for their contributions to this project:

David Bennin, Emma Jacobs, Wade Wallace, Erica Wazewski International Technical Support Organization

Dana Duffield, Surya Duggirala, Cindy High, Roman Kharkovski, Tom Kristek, Dr. Alex Mulholland, Mike Morin, Rengan Sundararaman, Donald Vines, Nathan Ziemann **IBM USA** 

Graham Hopkins and Ian Robinson **IBM UK** 

Jale Akyel, Gulsun Emuler, Yesim Mutlu, Serkan Sahin, Engin Turpcular, Kivanc Uslu **IBM Turkey** 

Andrea Bauer and Tim deBoer IBM Canada

Ping Shao IBM China

The team would like to express special thanks to the project's Executive Sponsor Richard Baird, IBM VP, WebSphere Foundation Development for his continuous support throughout the project.

Thanks to the authors of the previous editions of this book:

Authors of the first edition, WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Migration Guide, SG24-7870 published in July 2010, were:

Joao Emilio Santos Bento da Silva, Kurtcebe Eroglu, Kiran Mantripragada, Hamdy Eed, Fabio Xavier Albertoni

### Now you can become a published author, too!

Here's an opportunity to spotlight your skills, grow your career, and become a published author—all at the same time! Join an ITSO residency project and help write a book in your area of expertise, while honing your experience using leading-edge technologies. Your efforts will help to increase product acceptance and customer satisfaction, as you expand your network of technical contacts and relationships. Residencies run from two to six weeks in length, and you can participate either in person or as a remote resident working from your home base.

Find out more about the residency program, browse the residency index, and apply online at:

ibm.com/redbooks/residencies.html

### **Comments welcome**

Your comments are important to us!

We want our books to be as helpful as possible. Send us your comments about this book or other IBM Redbooks publications in one of the following ways:

► Use the online **Contact us** review Redbooks form found at:

ibm.com/redbooks

Send your comments in an email to:

redbooks@us.ibm.com

Mail your comments to:

IBM Corporation, International Technical Support Organization Dept. HYTD Mail Station P099 2455 South Road Poughkeepsie, NY 12601-5400

## Stay connected to IBM Redbooks

Find us on Facebook:

http://www.facebook.com/IBMRedbooks

- Follow us on Twitter: http://twitter.com/ibmredbooks
- ► Look for us on LinkedIn:

http://www.linkedin.com/groups?home=&gid=2130806

Explore new Redbooks publications, residencies, and workshops with the IBM Redbooks weekly newsletter:

https://www.redbooks.ibm.com/Redbooks.nsf/subscribe?OpenForm

 Stay current on recent Redbooks publications with RSS Feeds: http://www.redbooks.ibm.com/rss.html

# Part 1

# WebSphere Application Server V8.5: Concepts and architecture

This part provides an overview of WebSphere Application Server V8.5, including the lightweight Liberty profile. If you are new to WebSphere Application Server or to the Liberty profile that is introduced in V8.5, read this part first.

# 1

# **Overview of WebSphere Application Server V8.5**

IBM WebSphere Application Server helps drive business agility with an innovative and performance-based foundation to build, reuse, run, integrate, and manage service-oriented architecture (SOA) applications and services. From business critical enterprise-wide applications to the smallest departmental level applications, WebSphere Application Server offers reliability, availability, security, and scalability.

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 addresses the needs of today's agile enterprises and developers. For the enterprise, it provides a choice of application server solutions with fidelity for the available editions. It also provides increased scalability, resiliency, and security for critical applications and the flexibility to deploy new offerings quickly and efficiently. It includes a lightweight and powerful, yet simple, application server to satisfy multiple requirements around a simplified "low-end" application environment. For the developer, it provides an improved developer experience and a simplified server configuration that can be versioned and maintained in source control along with the applications.

This chapter provides an overview of WebSphere Application Server V8.5, including the lightweight Liberty profile. This chapter describes the following topics:

- Overview of WebSphere Application Server
- WebSphere Application Server packaging
- WebSphere Application Server concepts
- Containers
- Applications
- ► Profiles
- Workload management
- High availability
- Health management
- Administration and problem determination
- Messaging

- Service integration
- Security
- ► Liberty profile

## 1.1 Overview of WebSphere Application Server

WebSphere Application Server is the industry's leading standards-based, high performance, proven, and trusted application foundation that is optimized for developer and operational productivity. WebSphere Application Server V8.5 is a major step forward in several areas, especially resiliency and developer productivity.

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 builds on over a decade of leadership for Java application servers by expanding its programming model portfolio to allow more flexibility in application development and by improving administrator productivity, increasing security robustness, and delivering new functions for added resiliency.

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 provides the following enhancements:

- Rapid delivery of new applications and services
- Improved operational efficiency and reliability
- Increased security and control

For a full description of the new features of WebSphere Application Server V8.5, see *WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Concepts, Planning, and Design Guide*, SG24-8022.

## 1.2 WebSphere Application Server packaging

Because different application scenarios require different levels of application server capabilities, WebSphere Application Server is available in multiple packaging options and on a range of platforms. WebSphere Application Server also serves as the base for other WebSphere products and many other IBM software products. In addition to the application server component, each package contains an appropriate combination of complementary products, for example, IBM HTTP Server, IBM Assembly and Deploy Tools for WebSphere Administration, Edge components, and other products. As the business grows, the WebSphere Application Server family provides a migration path to more complex configurations.

Figure 1-1 illustrates the various WebSphere Application Server editions.



Figure 1-1 WebSphere Application Server V8.5 editions

WebSphere Application Server is available in as the following packages:

WebSphere Application Server—Express

The WebSphere Application Server—Express V8.5 package provides a ready-to-go application foundation for single server and small scale deployments of dynamic web applications. When your business needs grow, this package can be easily integrated in to more advanced versions of the WebSphere Application Server family.

For more information about WebSphere Application Server—Express V8.5, see:

http://www.ibm.com/software/webservers/appserv/express/

WebSphere Application Server—Base

The WebSphere Application Server V8.5—Base package is the next level of server infrastructure in the WebSphere Application Server family. Although the WebSphere Application Server package is functionally equivalent to WebSphere Application Server—Express (single-server environment), this package differs in packaging and licensing. This package is ideal for lightweight application solutions where cost and simplicity are key.

For more information about WebSphere Application Server- Base V8.5, see:

http://www.ibm.com/software/webservers/appserv/was/

WebSphere Application Server Network Deployment

WebSphere Application Server Network Deployment V8.5 provides enterprises with advanced performance, management, and high-availability for mission-critical applications. It extends the base package of WebSphere Application Server to include key features that tend to be more important in larger enterprises, where applications tend to service a larger client base and where more elaborate performance and high availability requirements are in place. These features include various functions for high availability and high scalability, to ensure responsiveness to application requests.

For more information about WebSphere Application Server Network Deployment V8.5, see:

http://www.ibm.com/software/webservers/appserv/was/network/

WebSphere Application Server for z/OS®

IBM WebSphere Application Server for z/OS V8.5 provides the same functions of WebSphere Application Server Network Deployment but adds key functions that use z/OS qualities of service. The z/OS qualities of service allow the user to optimize performance and provide continuous availability for mission critical applications.

For more information about WebSphere Application Server for z/OS V8.5, see:

http://www.ibm.com/software/webservers/appserv/zos os390/

WebSphere Application Server for Developers

The WebSphere Application Server for Developers V8.5 package is functionally equivalent to the Base and Express packages, but it is licensed for development use only. It provides simplified and no-charge access to enable developers to build and test in the same environment that ultimately supports their applications.

For more information about WebSphere Application Server for Developers V8.5, see:

http://www.ibm.com/software/webservers/appserv/developer/index.html

WebSphere Application Server Liberty profile

The Liberty profile is a small (less than 50 MB download) and fast (less than a five second start) profile of the WebSphere Application Server focused on web, OSGi, and mobile applications. The Liberty profile can be installed using Installation Manager from any of the WebSphere Application Server editions or can be downloaded separately.

For more information about WebSphere Application Server Liberty profile V8.5, see:

https://www.ibm.com/developerworks/mydeveloperworks/blogs/wasdev/entry/download \_wlp

### **1.3 WebSphere Application Server concepts**

WebSphere Application Server is organized based on the concept of cells, nodes, and servers. All of these elements are present in each configuration. However, cells and nodes are largely hidden from view until the features of Network Deployment are used. These cells, nodes, and servers can be managed by a combination of deployment managers, administrative agents, and job managers.

#### 1.3.1 Servers

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 provides the infrastructure and capabilities that are required to host applications and proxy servers that distribute work to the application servers.

It also defines generic external servers to the administration process and to associate web servers for routing purposes.

When you use WebSphere Application Server V8.5, you can have the following types of servers:

- Application servers
- Proxy servers
- Generic servers

#### **Application servers**

The *application server* is the core of the WebSphere Application Server product and is the runtime environment in which business applications run. It provides containers and services, such as database connectivity, threading, and workload management, that can be used by applications. Each application server runs in its own Java virtual machine (JVM) and can have one or many applications that are deployed to it.

Because each application server runs in a single JVM, you can deploy applications using one of the following options, which are based on machine resources and risk:

- A model that uses one application per application server can reduce the risk of JVM issues that are caused by one application that affects other applications. However, more machine resource impact for each JVM can occur. So, there is a trade-off.
- A model that uses multiple applications per application server optimizes system resources by minimizing the JVM machine resource impact. However, poorly written applications can cause negative impacts to other applications within the same JVM.

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 introduces the concept of the *Liberty profile*. The Liberty profile is a composable and dynamic application server runtime environment. It is a subset of the functionality of the Base and Express packages and is installed separately, using either Installation Manager or a downloadable compressed file format. It is a stand-alone server, similar to the stand-alone Base or Express application servers, that uses an easy-to-configure XML configuration file format.

The Liberty profile is a simplified and lightweight run time for web applications. The small footprint and low impact, along with a simplified configuration, makes the WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile a good option for developers who are building web applications that do not require the full Java EE environment of traditional enterprise application server profiles.

The Liberty profile provides a lightweight development and application-serving environment for web and OSGi applications that is configured with the correct level of capabilities that are required for the individual applications. You can use the Liberty profile to specify only those features that are required for the applications that are deployed, reducing the memory footprint and increasing performance.

The Liberty profile is optimized for developer and operational productivity. You can use it in both development and production environments. Within the development environment, the Liberty profile supports the same platforms as the base application server and Mac OSX. In addition, enterprise qualities of service, such as security and transaction integrity, are enabled as required.

For details about the Liberty profile, see 1.15, "Liberty profile" on page 34.

#### **Proxy servers**

A *proxy server* is a specific type of application server that routes requests to content servers that perform the work. The proxy server is the initial point of entry, after the protocol firewall, for requests that enter the environment.

You can use WebSphere Application Server to create the following types of proxy servers:

- The WebSphere Application Server Proxy classifies, prioritizes, and routes HTTP and Session Initiation Protocol (SIP) requests to servers in the enterprise and to cache content from servers.
- The DMZ Secure Proxy Server comes in a separate installation package and provides security enhancements to allow deployments inside of a DMZ. It improves security by minimizing the number of external ports that are opened and running as an unprivileged user when you bind to well-known ports.
- The on-demand router (ODR) is an intelligent Java based HTTP proxy server and SIP proxy server that is built on the WebSphere run time. The ODR manages the flow of requests to application servers based on a set of configurable routing rules. It is asynchronous, high performing, scalable, and can be clustered for high availability.

#### **Generic servers**

A *generic server* is a server that can be managed as part of the administrative domain of WebSphere Application Server, but it is not supplied by WebSphere Application Server. With the generic servers function of WebSphere Application Server, a generic server can be defined as an application server instance within the WebSphere Application Server administration and associate it with a non- WebSphere Application Server or process.

#### 1.3.2 Nodes and node groups

A *node* is an administrative grouping of application servers for configuration and operational management within one operating system instance. Virtualization allows multiple operating systems on one machine. You can create multiple nodes inside one operating system instance, but a node cannot leave the operating system boundaries. A stand-alone application server configuration has only one node. With Network Deployment, you can configure a distributed server environment that consists of multiple nodes, which are managed from one central administration server.

A *node group* is collection of nodes within a cell that have similar capabilities, in terms of installed software, available resources, and configuration. A node group is used to define a boundary for server cluster formation so that the servers on the same node group host the same applications. A node group validates that the node can perform certain functions before it allows them. A DefaultNodeGroup is created automatically. This DefaultNodeGroup contains the deployment manager and any new nodes with the same platform type. A node can be a member of more than one node group.

#### 1.3.3 Cells, a deployment manager, and node agents

A *cell* is a group of nodes in a single administrative domain that encompasses the entire management domain. In the Base, Developer, and Express packages, a cell contains one node and that node contains one server, which is largely hidden from view. Each cell contains at least one node, at least one application server, and an administration console. The configuration and application files for all nodes in the cell are centralized into the *master repository*.
Multiple stand-alone application servers can exist on a system, either through independent installations of WebSphere Application Server binary files or by creating multiple application server profiles within one installation (Figure 1-2).



Figure 1-2 Stand-alone application server environment

In a Network Deployment and WebSphere Application Server for z/OS environments, a cell can consist of multiple nodes and node groups, which are all administered from a single point, the *deployment manager* (using GUI or scripting) (Figure 1-3).



Figure 1-3 Network Deployment environment

Cells can contain nodes that are running any of the supported operating systems or platforms, including spanning z/OS Sysplex environments and other operating systems. For example, z/OS nodes, Linux nodes, UNIX nodes, and Windows system nodes can exist in the same WebSphere Application Server cell.

The deployment manager is used to administer the cell from a single point. It communicates with the *node agents* of the cell to manage the applications servers within each node. A node is federated into the cell and can be managed only by the deployment manager that is managing that cell. The node agent is an administrative server that is running in the node. It monitors the application servers on that node and routes administrative requests from the deployment manager to those application servers.

The master repository is managed by the deployment manager and regularly synchronized with local copies that are held on each of the nodes.

# 1.3.4 Administrative agents

An *administrative agent* (Figure 1-4) is a component that provides enhanced management capabilities for stand-alone (Express and Base) application servers. All configurations that are related to the application server are connected directly to the administrative agent that provides services to administrative tools.



Figure 1-4 Administrative agent in a stand-alone configuration

An administrative agent can manage multiple stand-alone server instances on a single system or z/OS image. When you use an administrative agent, because the number of application server instances increases, the redundancy of the administration footprint (for each application server) is eliminated. The administrative agent acts as the main component for the expanded multiple node remote management environment that is provided with the job manager.

# 1.3.5 Job managers

The *job manager* (Figure 1-5) is available with WebSphere Application Server Network Deployment and WebSphere Application Server for z/OS. It provides centralized management capabilities for multiple stand-alone application servers, administrative agents, and deployment managers. From a daily task perspective, the job manager can run daily tasks in one step for multiple installations, including such tasks as starting and stopping servers, and distributing and deploying applications. These jobs can be submitted and run asynchronously to application server environments and topologies and to any number of servers over a geographically dispersed area.

From an installation perspective, you can use a job manager to provide enhanced multiple node installation options for your environment by submitting centralized installation manager jobs to multiple cells and server topologies. Job Manager can submit jobs to stand-alone application servers and WebSphere Application Server Liberty profiles.



Figure 1-5 Job manager architecture

# **1.4 Containers**

Figure 1-6 illustrates applications that run in different containers inside the JVM.

*Containers* provide runtime support for applications. They are specialized to run specific types of applications and can interact with other containers by sharing session management, security, and other attributes.



Figure 1-6 WebSphere Application Server V8.5 container services

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 includes the following logical containers:

- ► The *Web container* processes servlets, JSPs, and other types of server-side objects. Each application server run time has one logical web container. Requests are received by the web container through the web container *inbound transport chain*.
- The Enterprise JavaBeans (EJB) container provides all of the runtime services that are needed to deploy and manage enterprise beans. This container is a server process that handles requests for both session and entity beans. A single container can host more than one JAR file.
- The Batch container, new in WebSphere Application Server v8.5, is where the batch scheduler runs jobs that are written in XML job control language (xJCL). The batch container provides an execution environment for the execution of Java EE -based batch applications. Batch applications are deployed as EAR files and follow either the transactional batch or compute-intensive programming models.

The following containers can be considered as logical extensions of the web container main functionality:

► The *Portlet container* provides the runtime environment to process JSR 286-compliant portlets. The portlet container is an extension to the web container. A simple portal framework is built on top of the container to render a single portlet into a full browser page.

- ► The SIP container processes applications that use at least one SIP servlet that is written to the JSR 289 specification. It provides network services over which it receives requests and sends responses. It determines which applications to start and in what order. The container supports UDP, TCP, and TLS/TCP protocols.
- ► The OSGi Blueprint container processes OSGi applications that are based on the OSGi framework. Blueprint is separated from Java EE technology, but it can be mixed in to deploy modular applications that use both Java EE 6/7 and OSGi R4 V4.2 technologies.

# **1.5 Applications**

At the heart of WebSphere Application Server is its ability to run *applications*. WebSphere Application Server V8.5 supports multiple technologies and programming models that can be used within enterprise applications. In addition to the programming models and technologies, applications can use either the Java 6 or Java 7 Java runtime environment (JRE). Java 6 is installed with the product and used by default. WebSphere Application Server V8.5 supports IBM WebSphere SDK Java Technology Edition Version 7.0 as a pluggable JDK that can be optionally installed and enabled by using the **managesdk** tool.

For more information, see the IBM SDK Java Technology Edition Version 7 Information Center at:

#### http://publib.boulder.ibm.com/infocenter/java7sdk/v7r0/index.jsp

The following programming models and technologies are supported in WebSphere Application Server V8.5:

- Java EE applications
- Portlet applications
- SIP applications
- Business-level applications
- WebSphere Batch applications
- OSGi applications
- Communications enabled applications
- Service Component Architecture
- ► XML
- ▶ WebSphere Application Server Web 2.0 and Mobile Toolkit

# 1.5.1 Java EE applications

The Java EE specification is the standard for developing, deploying, and running enterprise applications. WebSphere Application Server V8.5provides full support for the Java EE 6 specification. The Java EE programming model has multiple types of application components:

- Enterprise beans
- Servlets and JavaServer Pages
- Application clients

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 includes IBM Assembly and Deploy Tools for WebSphere Administration. This tool replaces the previously available IBM Rational Application Developer Assembly and Deploy Tool.

For information about the Java EE specification, see:

http://www.oracle.com/java

# 1.5.2 Portlet applications

The portlet container in WebSphere Application Server provides the runtime environment for Java Specification Request (JSR) 286 compliant portlets. Portlet applications are intended to be combined with other portlets collectively to create a single page of output. Portlets are packaged in web archives (WAR files). The portlet run time does not provide the advanced capabilities of WebSphere Portal, such as portlet aggregation and page layout, personalization and member services, or collaboration features.

For more information about JSR 286, see:

http://jcp.org/en/jsr/detail?id=286

# 1.5.3 SIP applications

SIP applications are Java programs that use at least one SIP servlet that is written to the JSR 116 specification. WebSphere Application Server V8.5 also supports SIP Servlet Specification 1.1, also referred to as *JSR 289*. SIP is used to establish, modify, and terminate multimedia IP sessions. SIP negotiates the medium, the transport, and the encoding for the call. After the SIP call is established, the communication takes place over the specified transport mechanism, independent of SIP. Examples of application types that use SIP include voice over IP (VOIP), click-to-call, and instant messaging.

In the application server, the web container and SIP container are converged and can share session management, security, and other attributes. In this model, element of an application that includes SIP servlets, HTTP servlets, and portlets can interact, regardless of the protocol. High availability of these converged applications is made possible because of the integration of HTTP and SIP in the base application server.

For more information about SIP applications, see the following resources:

► JSR 289 SIP Servlet API 1.1 Specification:

http://www.jcp.org/aboutJava/communityprocess/final/jsr289/index.hml

► JSR 116:

http://jcp.org/en/jsr/detail?id=116

▶ RFT 3261:

http://www.ietf.org/rfc/rfc3261.txt

# 1.5.4 Business-level applications

A *business-level application* (BLA) expands the definition of an application beyond the Java EE definition. Typically, a business thinks of the pieces that make up an application, including both WebSphere and non- WebSphere artifacts, such as SCA packages, libraries, and proxy filters, as being under a single application definition that is stored in the product configuration repository. Business-level applications do not introduce new programming, runtime, or packaging models. Thus, application business logic or runtime settings do not need to change.

Figure 1-7 illustrates business-level applications.



Figure 1-7 Business-level applications

Business-level applications have the following characteristics:

- Contain one or more composition units (CUs) that represent the application binary files.
- Can span several WebSphere Application Server deployment target run times, such as a proxy server, a web server, and WebSphere Application Server Community Edition.
- Provide installation, distribution, activation, monitor, update, and removal management features for applications.
- Support application service provider (ASP) scenarios by allowing single application binary files to be shared between multiple deployments.
- ► Align WebSphere applications closer with the business rather than IT configuration.

# 1.5.5 WebSphere Batch applications

Batch applications can perform long running bulk transaction processing and compute-intensive work. They run as background jobs, described by a job control language, and are supported by infrastructure components that are aimed at supporting batch workloads. WebSphere Batch provides both a transactional batch programming model and a compute-intensive programming model. Both models are implemented as Java objects, which are packaged in an enterprise archive (EAR file), and deployed into the application server environment. The individual programming models provide details about how the lifecycle of the application and jobs that are submitted to it are managed by WebSphere Application Server V8.5.

The XML job control language provides a method to describe the steps that are involved in the batch jobs. This application runs in batch containers that also run at the same time in designated WebSphere Application Server environments. A job scheduler determines the appropriate container to run the job and maintains job histories to support job visibility and control.

# 1.5.6 OSGi applications

OSGi applications are modular applications that use both Java EE and OSGi technologies. With this design, you can improve control and flexibility by designing and building applications and groups of applications from coherent, multiversion, and reusable OSGi bundles.

WebSphere Application Server support for OSGi applications includes the capability of deploying web applications that use the Java Servlet 3.0 Specification. Additionally, you can update a running application and impact only those bundles that are affected by the update. You can use this method to extend and scale running applications as your business demands change.

You can use OSGi applications to compose isolated enterprise applications using multiple, and multiversion bundles that have dynamic lifecycles. Application maintenance and upgrades can be simplified using standard OSGi mechanisms to simultaneously load multiple versions of classes in the same application. Existing web archives (WAR files) can be reused and deployed as OSGi web application bundles.

For more information about OSGi applications, see:

http://www.osgi.org/About/WhatIsOSGi

#### 1.5.7 Communications enabled applications

Communications enabled applications (CEA) allow developers to add dynamic web communications to any application or business process. CEA provides Representational State Transfer (REST) and web service interfaces to enable existing applications to take advantage of communication features that involve phone calls and web collaboration.

CEA applications do not require developers to have extensive knowledge of telephony or SIP to implement this type of applications. CEA capabilities deliver call control, notifications, and interactivity, providing the platform with more complex communications.

#### 1.5.8 Service Component Architecture

The Service Component Architecture (SCA) programming model supports the principles of service-oriented architecture (SOA) through application flexibility and agility. Service implementation and access method details are moved out of business application logic and into metadata that can be operated on by middleware. As service details or locations change, the application can remain unaffected. SCA helps application developers maximize productivity through focus on solving business problems with application code rather than protocols and locations.

Service compositions can be created by using the following protocols:

- Plain Object Java Objects (POJOs)
- EJB 2.1, 3.0, and 3.1
- OSGi applications
- Spring components

- Java servlets
- JavaScript for Asynchronous JavaScript and XML (Ajax)

#### 1.5.9 XML

Since first being standardized in 1999, XML usage in application development environments grew to include the following types of scenarios:

- A simplified programming model for building presentation flexible web applications using end-to-end declarative XML that can be adapted to various platform types from mobile to desktop
- Access, search, retrieval, and presentation of data or documents that are stored in native XML
- Filter for XML data sets, such as web feeds in Java applications
- XML data transformations for application development scenarios

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 provides XML support to work with web applications that process data by using standard XML technologies such as Extensible Stylesheet Language Transformation (XSLT) 2.0, XML Path Language (XPath) 2.0, and XML Query Language (XQuery) 1.0. You can use XQuery 1.0 to query large amounts of data that is stored in XML outside of a database. All together, this technologies offer the benefit of simplifying application development and improving its performance and reliability

# 1.5.10 WebSphere Application Server Web 2.0 and Mobile Toolkit

The WebSphere Application Server Web 2.0 and Mobile Toolkit simplifies the addition of Asynchronous JavaScript and XML (Ajax) rich desktop and mobile user interfaces and REST web services to Java web applications. Web 2.0 capabilities, such as Ajax and REST, help application developers create more connected and interactive applications, that result in higher customer satisfaction, user productivity, and enhanced decision making. Mobile Ajax components enable developers to create mobile web applications that run on mobile devices, such as smartphones and tablets.

# 1.5.11 Development and testing of applications

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 provides several features for application development and testing.

The IBM WebSphere Application Server Developer Tools for Eclipse Version 8.5 provides a development environment for developing, assembling, and deploying Java EE, OSGi, Web 2.0, and mobile applications, and supports multiple versions of WebSphere Application Server. When combined with Eclipse SDK and Eclipse Web Tools Platform, WebSphere Application Server Developer Tools for Eclipse provides a lightweight environment for developing Java EE applications.

IBM Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software Version 8.5 provides a development environment for building applications that run on WebSphere Application Server V8.5. This tool supports all Java EE artifacts that are supported by WebSphere Application Server V8.5, such as servlets, JavaServer Pages (JSP), JavaServer Faces (JSF), Enterprise JavaBeans (EJB), Extensible Markup Language (XML), SIP, Portlet, and web services. It also includes integration with the Open Services Gateway initiative (OSGi) programming model. The workbench contains wizards and editors that help in building standards-compliant, business-critical Java EE, Web 2.0, and service-oriented architecture applications.

Code quality tools help teams find and correct problems before they escalate into expensive problems.

For developers not using one of the development environments that are based in WebSphere Application Server, WebSphere Application Server for Developers provides a runtime environment for development and testing. This runtime environment is identical to the production runtime environment on which the applications eventually run. It provides for efficient development and aids in reducing testing effort.

The Liberty profile supports web applications, OSGi applications, and Java Persistence API. Associated services, such as transaction and security, are supported for these application types and for Java Persistence API. It is lightweight, easy to install, and allows for dynamic updates to the runtime environment, making the Liberty profile a good platform for developing and testing web and OSGi applications. This platform is beneficial when you are developing an application to run on the WebSphere Application Server Full profile, because any application that runs on the Liberty profile also runs on the Full profile.

# 1.5.12 Deploying, maintaining, and upgrading applications

Companies commonly use a build and deployment process while an application moves from development to production. As changes are made to the application, multiple versions are created and deployed.

The WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Intelligent Management functionality makes it possible to store these application versions in the system management repository and then deploy them as needed.

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 includes the monitored (or "dropins") directory feature, which increases developer productivity by installing, updating, and uninstalling applications automatically as they are moved in and out of the monitored directory. If you add an enterprise archive (EAR file), Java archive (JAR file), web archive (WAR file), or store archive (SAR file) to any monitored directory, the application is installed and started automatically.

The monitored directory works with both the Liberty profile and the Full profile runtime environments for applications that do not require more configuration, such as security role mapping.

In addition to the monitored directory support, you can also deploy or remove an application in the Liberty profile by modifying the server configuration file. When the configuration file is saved, WebSphere Application Server dynamically determines the applications that must be deployed or uninstalled. You can also use the developer tools that are supported by WebSphere Application Server V8.5 to add an application to the server and run it.

Using application edition management, you can validate a new edition of an application in the production environment without affecting users, and you can upgrade applications without incurring outages to users. The application edition management feature provides an application versioning model that supports multiple deployments of the same application in a cell. You can choose which edition to activate on a cluster, enabling you to either roll out an application update or revert to a previous level.

IBM Assembly and Deploy Tools for WebSphere Administration is the application assembly and deployment tool that is shipped with WebSphere Application Server V8.5. With IBM Assembly and Deploy Tools for WebSphere Administration, developers can accomplish key assembly and deployment needs, including editing of deployment artifacts, script development and testing, and application deployment and debugging. This tool is not intended for general application development.

# **1.6 Profiles**

WebSphere Application Server runtime environments are built by creating a set of configuration files, named *profiles*, that represent a WebSphere Application Server configuration. The following categories of WebSphere Application Server files are available (Figure 1-8):

- Product files are a set of read-only static files or product binary files that are shared by any instances of the WebSphere Application Server product.
- Configuration files (profiles) are a set of user-customizable data files. This file set includes WebSphere configuration, installed applications, resource adapters, properties, log files, and so on.



Figure 1-8 Files in WebSphere Application Server

Administration is greatly enhanced when you use profiles instead of multiple product installations. Disk space is saved and updating the product is simplified when you maintain a single set of product core files.

You can use the Customization Toolbox to create separate environments, such as for development or testing, without having to perform a separate product installation for each environment. Different profile templates are available in WebSphere Application Server V8.5 through the Customization Toolbox - Profile Management Tool (PMT), including:

Cell

A Cell template contains a federated application server node and a deployment manager.

Deployment manager

The Network Deployment profile provides the necessary configuration for starting and managing the deployment manager server.

Default profile (for stand-alone servers)

This server default profile provides the necessary configuration file for starting and managing an application server, and all the resources that are required to run enterprise applications.

Administrative Agent

This profile is used to create the administrative agent to administer multiple stand-alone application servers.

Default secure proxy

This profile is available when you install the DMZ secure proxy server feature.

Job manager

This profile is useful for coordinating administrative actions among multiple Deployment Managers, administering multiple stand-alone application servers, asynchronously submitting jobs to start servers, and completing various other tasks.

Custom

This profile, also known as *Empty Node* because it has no application server inside, can be *federated* to a deployment manager cell later. It is used to host application servers, clusters, an ODR, or other Java processes.

# 1.7 Workload management

Workload management is the concept of sharing requests for multiple instances of a resource. Workload management techniques are implemented expressly to provide scalability and availability within a system. These techniques allow the system to serve more concurrent requests.

Workload management encompasses the following main concepts:

- Load balancing is the ability to send the requests to alternative instances of a resource. Workload management allows for better use of resources by distributing loads evenly. Components that are overloaded, and therefore a potential bottleneck, can be routed around with workload management algorithms. Workload management techniques also provide higher resiliency by routing requests around failed components to duplicate copies of that resource.
- Affinity is the ability to route concurrent requests to the same component that served the first request. A web client can establish session affinity for requests to be routed to a particular application server.

In WebSphere Application Server, workload management is achieved by sharing requests for one or more application servers, where each server is running a copy of the application. In more complex topologies, workload management is embedded in load balancing technologies that can be used in front of web servers.

The Workload Manager (WLM) for WebSphere Application Server for z/OS works differently from the Workload Manager for distributed platforms. With z/OS, the workload management structure is integrated with the workload management feature of the z/OS MVS<sup>™</sup>.

#### 1.7.1 HTTP servers

An IP sprayer, similar to IBM WebSphere Edge Component Load Balancer or a network appliance, can perform load balancing and workload management functionality for incoming web traffic. There are several routing techniques, including static and dynamic weighting. In static weighting, as the name implies, each HTTP server that is being handled by the IP sprayer has a weight and the IP sprayer routes requests based on this weight. It does not take into account the workload of the HTTP server itself. Dynamic weighting, alternatively, calculates the load of each HTTP server and dynamically routes requests to a server that is not as busy.

In addition, the WebSphere plug-in provides workload management capabilities for applications that are running in an application server.

# 1.7.2 DMZ proxy servers

As with HTTP servers, you can use an IP sprayer component, such as Edge Component Load Balancer, to perform load balancing and workload management functionality for incoming web traffic. In addition, the DMZ proxy server provides workload management capabilities for applications that are running in an application server.

### 1.7.3 Clusters

A *cluster* is a collection of servers that is managed together. With clusters, enterprise applications can scale beyond the amount of throughput that can be achieved with a single application server. Also, enterprise applications can be highly available because requests are automatically routed to the running servers if there is a failure. The servers that are members of a cluster can be on different host machines. A cell can include no clusters, one cluster, or multiple clusters.

An *application server cluster* (Figure 1-9) is a logical collection of application server processes that provides workload balancing and high availability. It is a grouping of application servers that run an identical set of applications that are managed so that they behave as a single application server (parallel processing). WebSphere Application Server Network Deployment or WebSphere Application Server for z/OS is required for clustering.



Figure 1-9 Application server cluster

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 provides integrated support for dynamic clusters. A *dynamic cluster* (Figure 1-10) is an application deployment target that can expand and contract depending on the workload in the environment. Dynamic clusters work with autonomic managers, including the application placement controller and the dynamic workload manager to maximize the usage of computing resources. A dynamic cluster uses weights and workload management. This management is used to balance the workloads of its cluster members dynamically, and is based on performance information that is collected from the cluster members.



Figure 1-10 Dynamic cluster

Dynamic workload management is a feature of the ODR that applies the same principles as workload management, such as routing based on a weight system, which establishes a prioritized routing system. With dynamic workload management, the system can dynamically modify the weights to stay current with the business goals, compared to manually setting static weights in workload management. It also balances requests across the available nodes to regulate response times.

# 1.8 High availability

High availability is also known as *resiliency*. High availability is the ability of a system to tolerate an number of failures and remain operational. It is achieved by adding redundancy in the infrastructure to support failures. It is critical that your infrastructure continues to respond to client requests regardless of the circumstances and that you remove any single points of failure. Planning for a highly available system takes planning across all components of your infrastructure, because the overall infrastructure is only available when all of the components are available. As part of the planning, you must define the level of high availability that is needed in the infrastructure.

WebSphere Application Server Network Deployment uses a high availability manager (HA manager) to address these single points of failure within the WebSphere Application Server environment. An HA manager instance runs on every application server, proxy server, node agent, and deployment manager in a cell. A cell can be divided into multiple high availability domains that are known as *core groups* (Figure 1-11).



Figure 1-11 Conceptual diagram of a core group

Each HA manager instance establishes network connectivity with all other high availability manager instances in the same core group, using a specialized, dedicated, and configurable transport channel. The transport channel provides mechanisms that allow the HA manager instance to detect when other members of the core group start, stop, or fail.

Within a core group, HA manager instances are elected to coordinate high availability activities. An instance that is elected is known as a *core group coordinator*. The coordinator is highly available, so that if a process that is serving as a coordinator stops or fails, another instance is elected to assume the coordinator role, without loss of continuity.

The HA manager provides a specialized messaging mechanism that enables processes to exchange information about their current state. Each process sends or posts information that is related to its current state, and can register to be notified when the state of the other processes changes.

The Data Replication Service (DRS) that is provided with WebSphere Application Server V8.5 is used to replicate stateful EJB sessions, HTTP session data, and dynamic cache information among cluster members. When DRS is configured for memory-to-memory replication, the transport channels that are defined for the HA managers are used to pass this data among the cluster members. The ODR is an intelligent Java based HTTP proxy server and SIP proxy server that is built on the WebSphere run time that can manage the flow of requests into both WebSphere and non WebSphere environments. The ODR is asynchronous, high performing, scalable, and can be clustered for high availability.

You can use the ODR to set up a highly available deployment manager using a hot-standby model for availability. For example, you can have two or more deployment managers, where one deployment manager is active (known as the *primary* deployment manager) and one or more deployment managers are backup managers in standby mode. The primary deployment manager hosts the cell's administrative function, and if the active manager is stopped or fails, a standby manager takes over and is designated the new active deployment manager.

Although the deployment manager process is not considered a single point of failure (SPOF) for applications and application server functionality, using a highly available deployment manager eliminates the deployment manager as a SPOF for cell administration. This type of high availability is especially important in environments that rely on automated operations, including application deployment and server monitoring.

The WebSphere Application Server V8.5 default messaging engine, the service integration bus (bus), provides high availability to the messaging system process. By creating the messaging engine within the cluster, it can fail over to any other server in the cluster. To achieve a seamless failover, the queue information and message data must be stored in a shared location that is accessible by all members of the cluster. This shared location can be an external database or shared disk environment.

High availability also means ensuring that you have adequate resources to meet the changing demands. By using Intelligent Management capabilities in WebSphere Application Server V8.5, applications are mapped to dynamic clusters that are spread throughout hardware pools. Each node in the dynamic cluster can run one or more instances of an application server that cluster's applications. By deploying applications to dynamic clusters, requests to the application can be managed autonomically. The dynamic cluster can expand and contract with application server virtualization. By deploying applications to dynamic cluster can expand contract with application virtualization.

# 1.9 Intelligent management

Intelligent management is the integration of WebSphere Virtual Enterprise into WebSphere Application Server Network Deployment V8.5. Intelligent Management features extend the quality of service that is provided by the middleware environment. Total cost of ownership (TCO) is decreased through server consolidation and less administrative effort, and you experience lower response times and increased availability.

With Intelligent Management, virtualization, autonomic computing, and cloud computing are integrated into the single architectural model of WebSphere Application Server V8.5:

Virtualization

By configuring application infrastructure virtualization in WebSphere Application Server with the Intelligent Management functionality, resources are pooled. This pool accommodates the fluctuations of workload in the environment, increasing the quality of service. Workloads are then dynamically placed and spread across a pool of application server resources, which allows the infrastructure to adapt and respond to business needs.

The static relationships of an application with the server to which it is deployed is replaced with a dynamic relationship. Instead of statically binding applications to servers or clusters, you deploy applications to dynamic clusters.

You can combine the advantages that infrastructure virtualization provides with the advantages of hardware virtualization by using both in the same infrastructure.

Autonomic computing

Autonomic computing refers to the self-managing characteristics of distributed computing resources that adapt to unpredictable changes while hiding intrinsic complexity from operators and users. Using Intelligent Management in WebSphere Application Server V8.5, you can create a self-managing environment that serves applications. It can help you overcome the complexity of systems management and reduce the barrier that complexity poses to further growth. An autonomic system makes decisions on its own, using high-level policies. It constantly checks and optimizes the status of the system, and automatically adapts it to changing conditions.

Cloud computing

Virtualization and autonomic computing are steps toward cloud computing. By building a virtualization foundation, you put the secure, scalable, and efficient system in place in which to build a cloud.

Intelligent management includes the primary features of intelligent routing, dynamic operations, performance management, health management, and application edition management, which are described in the following sections.

#### 1.9.1 Intelligent routing and dynamic operations

Intelligent routing improves business results by ensuring priority is given to business critical applications. The ODR in WebSphere Application Server V8.5 is used to intelligently route requests. The ODR can momentarily queue requests for less important applications so that requests from more important applications are handled more quickly. Dynamic operations allow an application environment to scale as needed by virtualizing WebSphere resources and by using a goals-directed infrastructure. To take advantage of dynamic operations, a dynamic cluster is used.

*Dynamic cluster* is a server cluster that uses weights and workload management to balance the workloads of its cluster members dynamically. It balances based on performance information that is collected from the cluster members. Dynamic clusters consist of a number of servers that can stop or start in response to changing workload.

These clusters are application deployment targets that can expand and contract, depending on the workload in the environment. After you deploy applications to dynamic clusters, the placement of the applications is determined by the operational policies that you define. Autonomic managers control the placement of the server instances and how workload is routed to each application. If workload increases for a specific application, the number of server instances for the dynamic cluster that is hosting the application can increase. The application can also use available resources from other applications that are not experiencing increased workload. Figure 1-12 illustrates how the workload increases for a specific application. The number of server instances for the dynamic cluster that is hosting the application can increase by using available resources from other applications. In this example, *New Application Server 3* contributes bandwidth to satisfy higher workload requests. The ODR manages this dynamic cluster growth and sends requests to the new server.



Figure 1-12 Dynamic cluster

The *ODR* is an intelligent Java based HTTP proxy server and Session Initiation Protocol (SIP) proxy server that is built on the WebSphere run time. It is responsible for managing the flow of requests into the WebSphere environment and non WebSphere environment. The ODR, similar to the web server plug-in for WebSphere Application Server, uses session affinity to route work requests. The ODR is asynchronous, high performance, and scalable. It can be clustered for high availability.

The ODR can be used to set up a *highly available deployment manager*. It can then route to an active deployment manager and possibly a hot-standby deployment manager.

*Dynamic workload management* is a feature of the ODR. It applies the same principles as Workload Manager (WLM), such as routing based on a weight system, which establishes a prioritized routing system. The dynamic workload controller autonomically sets the routing weights in WLM. With workload management, you manually set static weights in the administrative console. The system can dynamically modify these weights to stay current with the business goals.

# 1.9.2 Application edition management

With the Intelligent Management functionality, you can store multiple application versions in the *system management repository* and deploy them as needed. While source control systems typically store the source code, the system management repository stores the compiled code.

Using application edition management, you can validate a new edition of an application in your production environment. This process does not affect users, so you can upgrade your applications without causing outages for your users. You can also run multiple editions of a single application concurrently, directing different users to different editions.

The application edition management feature also provides an application versioning model that supports multiple deployments of the same application in a cell. You can choose which edition to activate on a cluster, so you can roll out an application update or revert to a previous level.

# 1.10 Health management

Another important key to business success is the ability to autonomically manage the health of your servers and quickly respond to potential issues, preferably before they impact your environment. The Intelligent Management capabilities in WebSphere Application Server V8.5 provides several health management features to monitor the status of application servers to sense and respond to problem areas before an outage occurs, similar to preventive medicine. You can manage the health of an application serving environment with a policy-driven approach that enables specific actions to occur when monitored criteria is met. For example, when memory usage exceeds a percentage of the heap size for a specified time, health actions can run to correct the situation.

Health monitoring can help with unexpected issues and with unanticipated problems in your environment. It can help you bypass problems that would otherwise disrupt operations and affect the performance and availability of your applications. With WebSphere Application Server V8.5, you can automatically detect and handle application health problems without requiring administrator intervention, or in a supervisor mode that requires administrator approval before an autonomic action is performed. Health monitoring intelligently handles heath issues in a way that maintains continuous availability and allows you to configure how the system should handle individual applications and requests.

You can have the system monitor for various conditions, such as high response timeout rates, excessive response times, or high memory usage, and proactively run certain actions in an attempt to correct these issues.

# 1.11 Administration and problem determination

An enterprise must be able to efficiently and effectively manage the WebSphere Application Server environment. The combination of administrative tools that you employ depend on the size and complexity of the runtime environment. Automation and scripting can also be valuable in situations where the same tasks must be performed multiple times in a consistent and repeatable fashion. In addition, after your system is operational, you must be able to determine problems when something goes wrong.

# 1.11.1 Administration

In the WebSphere Application Server Express and Base packages, you can administer stand-alone server instances individually and administer multiple stand-alone server instances on a single system using an administrative agent. In WebSphere Application Server Network Deployment, you can administer an entire cell of application servers using a deployment manager.

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 provides the following administrative tools that you can use to configure and manage a runtime environment:

WebSphere scripting client (wsadmin)

The **wsadmin** client provides a non-graphical scripting and interactive interface that you can use to administer WebSphere Application Server from a command-line prompt. By connecting the client to an application server instance, you can run commands using either the Jython or Jacl scripting languages.

Administrative console

The administrative console is a browser-based client that allows administrators to monitor, update, and configure the WebSphere Application Server environment, except for the Liberty profile. Unfederated application servers, administrative agents, deployment managers, and job managers can have their own administrative consoles.

For actions run in the administrative console, you can use command assistance to view the **wsadmin** scripting commands in Jython for the last action that was run. This assistance provides a way to develop automation using **wsadmin** scripting by first stepping through the tasks that you need in the administrative console.

Command-line utilities

Administrative utilities can help to manage the environment from the command line. These utilities include the ability to perform common administrative tasks, such as starting and stopping application server instances and backing up the configuration. The utilities are run on and act against the local server or node, including the deployment manager.

WebSphere Customization Toolbox

The WebSphere Customization Toolbox includes the following tools for customizing various parts of the WebSphere Application Server environment:

- You can use the Web Server Plug-ins Configuration Tool to configure web server plug-ins for any operating system on which the WebSphere Customization Toolbox can be installed.
- You can use the WebSphere Customization Toolbox command-line utility to start the command-line version of the Plug-ins Configuration Tool (PCT).
- The Profile Management Tool (z/OS only) can be started on an Intel based Windows or Linux operating system to generate jobs and instructions for creating profiles for WebSphere Application Server on z/OS systems.
- The z/OS Migration Management Tool generates definitions for migrating WebSphere Application Server for z/OS profiles from an Intel based Windows or Linux operating system.
- Job manager

You can use the job manager to manage multiple WebSphere Application Server domains (multiple deployment managers and administrative agents) through a single administration interface. It also provides a centralized interface for asynchronous job submissions.

In WebSphere Application Server V8.5, you can use the job manager to package the Liberty profile runtime environments, configurations, and applications to distribute and deploy a Liberty profile server and applications and to start embedded profile packages.

Centralized installation manager

You can use the centralized installation manager to consolidate and simplify the required steps in installing and applying maintenance. With the centralized installation manager, you can install, update, uninstall, and apply maintenance to WebSphere Application Server remotely.

You access the centralized installation manager functions through the job manager or deployment manager. Because the functions are implemented as jobs, the process also supports job scheduling. Using the centralized installation manager with the job manager, you can manage multiple product offerings in an agentless manner for multiple cells.

Administrative applications

With WebSphere Application Server Version V8.5, you can develop custom Java applications using Java Management Extensions (JMX) to perform any of the administrative features of the WebSphere Application Server administrative tools. For example, you can prepare, install, uninstall, edit, and update applications through programming.

#### 1.11.2 Problem determination

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 includes the following modes of logging for problem determination:

Basic logging and tracing is the default mode.

WebSphere Application Server writes system messages into several general-purpose logs. These logs are plain-text files, and you can view them from the administrative console (including logs for remote systems) or from a text editor on the system where the log files are stored.

The SystemOut.log and SystemErr.log files contain system output and error messages. For processes that are running native code, native\_stdout.log and native\_stderr.log are used. The IBM service log (activity.log) is a special log file that is written in a binary format. You cannot view the log file directly with a text editor, but you can view the log file using one of the following methods:

- The Log Analyzer tool provides interactive viewing and analysis capabilities that help in identifying problems.
- You can use the Showlog tool to convert the contents of the service log to a text format.
- High Performance Extensible Logging (HPEL) stores log and trace data in a proprietary binary format. Log and trace performance is enhanced with HPEL because of the following factors:
  - Log and trace events are stored only in one place and not redundantly in several locations. Log events, System.out, and System.err information is stored in the log data repository. Trace events are stored in the trace data repository.
  - Repositories are not shared across processes. Each server process has its own repositories and text log file. The server environment, therefore, does not need to synchronize with other processes when it writes data.
  - Data is not formatted until it is viewed. Log and trace data is stored in a proprietary binary format in the repositories rather than being formatted at run time. The log and trace data is not formatted until it is viewed by using the LogViewer tool.
  - Log and trace data is buffered before it is written to disk.

The HPEL LogViewer is a simple command-line tool for HPEL users to work with the log and trace data repositories. The LogViewer provides filtering and formatting options that make finding important content in the log and trace data repositories easy. For example, a user can filter any errors or warnings and then filter all log and trace entries that occurred within 10 seconds of a key error message. This filtering can be done on the same thread. WebSphere Application Server V8.5 provides the **server dump** command for problem diagnosis for a Liberty profile server. The result file that is obtained from this command contains server configuration, log information, and details of the deployed applications in the work area directory.

Usually, a dump of a running Liberty profile server includes the following information:

- State of each OSGi bundle in the server
- Wiring information for each OSGi bundle in the server
- A component list that is managed by the Service Component Runtime (SCR)
- Detailed information about each component from SCR

# 1.12 Messaging

Generically, the term *messaging* describes communication or the exchange of information between two or more interested parties. Messaging is a facility for exchanging data between applications and clients of different types. It is also an excellent tool for communication between heterogeneous platforms.

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 implements a powerful and flexible messaging platform within the WebSphere Application Server environment that is called the *service integration bus* (SIBus). WebSphere Application Server applications run asynchronous messaging services, using the Java Messaging Service (JMS) application programming interface (API), to interface with a messaging provider. The messaging provider can be the WebSphere MQ messaging provider, the default messaging provider (bus), or a third-party messaging provider.

Applications can use one of the following styles of asynchronous messaging:

- Point-to-point applications typically use queues to pass messages to each other. An application sends a message to another application by identifying a destination queue. The underlying messaging and queuing system receives the message from the sending application and routes the message to its destination queue, where the receiving application retrieves it.
- In *publish/subscribe* messaging, the subscriber is the consumer of the information and specifies the topics of interest by submitting a subscription request. The publisher supplies information in the form of messages, which contain both a topic and the actual information. A message broker sits between the subscriber and the publisher, and as it receives published messages, it forwards those messages to the subscribers who requested messages in the topic that is given in each individual message.

# 1.13 Service integration

*Service integration* is a set of technologies that provides asynchronous messaging services. In asynchronous messaging, producing applications do not send messages directly to consuming applications. Instead, producing applications send messages to *destinations*. Consuming applications then receive messages from these destinations. A producing application can send a message and continue processing without waiting until a consuming application receives the message.

Service integration bus capabilities are fully integrated into WebSphere Application Server V8.5, enabling it to take advantage of WebSphere security, administration, performance monitoring, trace capabilities, and problem determination tools. A service integration bus (SIBus) is a group of one or more *bus members* in a WebSphere Application Server cell that cooperate to provide asynchronous messaging services. A cell requires only one bus, but a cell can contain any number of buses. A messaging engine is a component that is responsible for processing messages, sending and receiving requests, and hosting destinations.

A destination is defined within a bus and represents a logical address to which applications can attach as message producers, consumers, or both. Destinations are associated with a messaging engine by using a *message point*.

Service integration has the following types of bus destinations, each with a different purpose:

- ► A *queue* destination is used for point-to-point messaging.
- ► A *topic space* destination is used for publish/subscribe messaging.
- A foreign destination is a destination that is defined on another bus (called a foreign bus) and that is also used in point-to-point messaging.
- ► An *alias* destination is an alternative name for either a queue destination or a topic space destination.

# 1.14 Security

WebSphere Application Server provides a security infrastructure and mechanisms to protect sensitive resources and to address enterprise end-to-end security requirements. From a broad perspective, a WebSphere security service runs locally in each process (deployment manager, node agent, and application server).

This architecture (Figure 1-13) distributes the security workload so that one process does not act as a bottleneck for the entire environment. If a security service failure occurs, then only a single process is affected. The authentication mechanism and user registry are separated.



Figure 1-13 Overview of WebSphere security service

You can secure the environment at various levels, from the physical security of the location where the server hardware is, to the security within the application itself.

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 security includes the following levels:

Java virtual machine (JVM) security

The JVM provides a set of standards-based security services for Java applications and an installation layer between Java applications and the various services within the operating system. It provides an isolated environment to the Java application that is running in it, which in this case is WebSphere Application Server. In addition, the JVM protects memory from unrestricted access, creates exceptions when errors occur within a thread, and defines array types.

Java 2 security

The Java 2 security model offers access control to system resources, including file system, system property, socket connection, threading, class loading, and so on. Application code must explicitly grant the required permission to access a protected resource. Java 2 uses security policy files, which can control the access to the resources by applications. A WebSphere Application Server application has its own policy files, so that it can use files and directories on the host operating system.

Java EE security API

The Java EE standard API describes methods with which the application can obtain the logged in user's name and role membership. WebSphere Application Server never returns the password of any user using the API methods.

The Java EE security policy describes how application resources are accessed. The developer, when creating the application, has no information about real users of the application. Instead, the developer defines *user roles*, and during development the user roles are mapped to access rights. The rule set is stored in the descriptor files of the application. Then, when the application is deployed, the deployer is responsible for mapping users and groups to the security roles.

CSIv2 security

CSIv2 is an IIOP-based, three-tiered, security protocol that is developed by the Object Management Group (OMG). This protocol provides message protection, interoperable authentication, and delegation. Any calls that are made among secure Object Request Brokers (ORBs) are started over the CSIv2 security protocol, which sets up the security context and the necessary quality of protection. After the session is established, the call is passed up to the enterprise bean layer.

WebSphere security

WebSphere security enforces security policies and services with regard to access to its resources. It covers a wide range of features. It begins with the administrator user management in the administrative console, controlling which administrative user is allowed to do what on the administrative console. Administrative security is enabled by default.

The WebSphere Application Server security infrastructure provides a set of services. These services are integrated with the underlying operating system, the runtime environment, and other servers and server components. The WebSphere Application Server security infrastructure includes the following key security areas:

- Authentication
- Authorization
- ► Key and certificate management
- Auditing
- Flexible configuration option

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 provides the capability to use security domains. Each security domain can have its own, separately configured Virtual Member Manager (VMM) instance. WebSphere Application Server V8.5 provides the following options and combinations to select the best user registry setting for an application environment:

Security domains

WebSphere *security domains* provide the flexibility to use several security configurations within a single WebSphere Application Server cell. With security domains, you can configure several security attributes, such as the user registry, for various applications in the same cell. The global security configuration applies to all administrative functions, naming resources, and Mbeans, and is the default security configuration for user applications. You must define a global security configuration before you can create the security domains. If you do not configure security domains, the applications use information from the global security configuration.

When you create a security domain and associate it with a scope, only the user applications in that scope use the security attributes that are defined in the security domain. The administrative applications and the naming operations in that scope use the global security configuration. Each security domain must be associated with a scope (cell, or specific clusters, servers, and service integration buses) where it is applied. User registries

Information about users and groups are in a *user registry*. In WebSphere Application Server, a user registry authenticates a user. It contains information about users and groups so that security-related functions, including authentication and authorization, can be performed. Although WebSphere Application Server supports several types of user registries, only one user registry can be active in a certain scope.

WebSphere Application Server supports the following types of user registries:

- Local operating system
- Stand-alone Lightweight Directory Access Protocol (LDAP)
- Federated repository (a combination of a file-based registry and one or more LDAP servers in a single realm)
- Custom registry

# 1.15 Liberty profile

The Liberty profile is a dynamic and composable profile of WebSphere Application Server V8.5 that enables WebSphere Application Server to provision only the features that are required by the application (or set of applications) that are deployed to the server. For example, if an application requires just a servlet engine, a Liberty profile can be configured to start only the WebSphere Application Server kernel, the HTTP transport, and the web container. Thus, the Liberty profile is quick to start and has a small footprint.

The Liberty profile provides a simplified and lightweight development and application-serving environment that is optimized for developer and operational productivity. This profile is intended for use as a development environment and as a production environment for running web applications that do not require a full Java Platform, Enterprise Edition (Java EE) stack. The Liberty profile provides enterprise qualities of service, such as security and transaction integrity.

The Liberty profile includes the following key features:

- A dynamic and flexible run time to load only what the application needs
- A quick startup time (under five seconds with simple web applications)
- A simplified configuration that uses a single configuration file or modular configuration
- Support for deploying applications that are developed in the Liberty profile to run in the full profile
- Support of web applications, OSGi applications, and Java Persistence API
- Support for LDAP registry
- Ability to deploy an application and configured server as a package
- Managed and centralized deployment to many nodes of a packaged application and server
- Availability of WebSphere Application Server Developer Tools as Eclipse plug-ins for broad tooling support
- Support for z/OS platform native features like System Authorization Facility (SAF), Resource Recovery Service (RRS), and z/OS workload management (WLM)

The Liberty profile provides a development and a test environment and a production environment on all WebSphere Application Server V8.5 supported platforms. Additionally, the Liberty profile provides a development environment on the Macintosh operating system.

# 1.15.1 Liberty profile architecture

As shown in Figure 1-14, the Liberty profile is built on OSGi technologies. The server process runs as OSGi bundles and consists of a single Java virtual machine (JVM), the Liberty profile kernel, and any number of optional features.



Figure 1-14 Liberty profile architecture

A functional server is produced by starting the runtime environment with a configuration that includes a list of features that are to be used. *Features* are the units of capability, by which the runtime environment is defined and controlled.

By default, a server runs no features. You can use the feature manager to add the features that are needed. The feature manager maps each feature name to a list of bundles that provide the feature. When a feature configuration is changed, the feature manager recalculates the list of required bundles, stops and uninstalls those bundles that are no longer needed, and then installs and starts any additions. All features are designed to cope with other features that are added or removed dynamically.

# 1.15.2 Liberty profile configuration

A Liberty profile server configuration consists of a server.xml and an optional bootstrap.properties file and any (optional) files that are included by these files. The server.xml file is the primary configuration file for the server, and the file that users work with the most. The bootstrap.properties file specifies properties that need to be available before the main configuration is processed and these properties are kept to a minimum.

In a Liberty profile configuration, the features of the profile provide the configuration default values. Thus, user-specified configuration is kept to a minimum. Any property can be overridden in a user-specific server configuration, and any changes that are made to the configuration are dynamically injected into the contributing feature immediately. There is no need to restart the server.

# 1.15.3 Liberty profile administration

The Liberty profile runtime environment is designed for easy administration and operates from a set of built-in configuration defaults. There is no administrative console for the Liberty profile. However, administrators and developers can use the Liberty profile developer tools or a text editor to edit the configuration files.

The include functionality for the server.xml file can be useful in managing multiple Liberty profile environments. The server.xml file can point to (include) one or more local or remote XML files. When you change values in the included XML file, that change takes effect in all of the Liberty profile runtime environments that include that remote XML file. For example, if an application and its data sources are defined in thousands of Liberty profile runtime environments, using the remote include functionality, an administrator can change one value for a data source, and have that change reflected in all of the runtime environments without changing each server.xml file individually. Included files that are on the local file system are monitored for changes while the server is running, so those changes can be applied dynamically to the running server. Changes to remote included files require a server restart to take effect.

A server.env file can be used for specifying environment variables, and a jvm.options file can be used for customizing JVM options.

# 1.15.4 Liberty profile application development and deployment

A Liberty profile supports web applications, OSGi applications, and Java Persistence API. Associated services, such as transaction and security, are supported for these application types. With its lightweight and easy installation, and quick to use features, the Liberty profile provides a convenient and capable platform for developing and testing web and OSGi applications, and the Java Persistence API. This platform is beneficial when you are developing an application to run on the WebSphere Application Server full profile because any application that runs on the Liberty profile also runs on the full profile.

The Liberty profile provides the following options to deploy an application:

Dropping the application into a previously defined "dropins" directory

You can use the "dropins" directory for applications that do not require additional configuration, such as security role mapping.

► Adding an application entry to the server configuration file

For applications that are not in a "dropins" directory, you can specify the location of the application as an entry in the server configuration file. The location of the server configuration file can be either a file system path or a URL.

You can use the developer tools that are supported by WebSphere Application Server V8.5 to add an application to the server and run it. For more information, see 9.3.2, "Installing the developer tools" on page 277.

# Part 2

# Migrating methodology and common issues for migration

In this part, we describe the migrating methodology and common issues for migration. These topics are applicable to migrations from any Java Enterprise Edition (EE) platform to WebSphere Application Server V8.5, and are not tied into a specific product.

# 2

# **Migration strategy and planning**

This chapter provides relevant information that you can use to build a migration process plan. The information in this chapter is not intended to be a final methodology, but to help you organize the migration process, address people about certain tasks, know where you need help or not, and decide how to go through the project.

It provides guidance for you to start the migration and build a project plan and a few artifacts that can be used as input to effect a successful migration.

This chapter describes the following topics:

- Migration process overview
- Migration assessment
- Migration planning
- Migration implementation
- Post deployment
- Summary

# 2.1 Migration process overview

There are several factors that influence the decision to perform a migration, including business decisions and technical assessments that lead companies to adapt in a constantly changing and challenging IT environment.

Migration of Java EE applications is not just a change from one application server to another or just changing source code. Migration is a process that involves many phases and people from various areas and with various skills. When you migrate to a new application server, you are likely doing it because you want to take advantage of new capabilities, improve the way that you manage your applications, refactor your code, improve performance, or decrease downtime.

Although every migration is complex, the best approach is to follow a formal process that is aimed at evaluating an application development environment, source code, design consideration, and so on, and make a recommendation about how an application is migrated to a WebSphere environment. You should make these changes in an ordered environment, avoiding issues that can be prevented by appropriately planning and implementing strategies to execute the plan.



Figure 2-1 shows the migration process overview.

Figure 2-1 Migration process overview

# 2.1.1 Types of migrations

There are many approaches to take when you decide how the migration occurs. This chapter identifies three approaches that cover most types of application migrations alternatives. It is a case-by-case decision on which approach to adopt. Runtime migration is done regardless of type. In each of these approaches, a migration assessment might be done. (Migration assessment is described in 2.2, "Migration assessment" on page 42).

Depending on your scenario, it might be possible that you decide to create a program to manage projects.

#### Sample migration

A sample migration is defined by a migration of a single application that is representative of the other applications. A representative application is one that has architectural and implementation similarities with most of the applications that are migrated within the enterprise.

This process can be repeated for more applications after the first one is complete. This migration is the most common type of application migration because it lays a foundation for future migrations that are based on challenges that are encountered in migrating the sample application. You can also determine how quickly a migration can be done and highlight all the problems that are faced so that you can build a concise plan.

#### **Partial migration**

Partial migration consists of migrating multiple or a few applications at a time in a phased approach where the schedule can cover them until the project is completed. It is a good choice when you have teams that own applications in a shared environment or when one team owns multiple applications, which makes it impossible to migrate every application at the same time because of time conflicts.

Applications that are written based on that same architecture and modularized can also be used with this type of migration (for example, moving user interface modules before business components or vice versa).

#### **Full migration**

Full migration is obvious, but has its own set of characteristics. When you decide to go with this option, either you have a dedicated environment for an application or you must migrate the entire environment because of certain reasons, such as end of support, impossible interoperability of certain applications, and other possible issues.

# 2.1.2 Important aspects and considerations

This section describes the considerations that are involved with a Java EE applications migration. It assumes that migrations are done to get benefits from newer versions of code, compilers, new feature availability, runtime administration, and performance improvements.

It is important to understand the challenges that you are facing during migration. You can avoid many issues by making informed decisions. Every migration is different. It can vary in terms of complexity, sizing, and other factors. To help you in this process, here is a list of considerations we discovered with our migrations experiences and when writing this book:

- ► It is impossible to create a migration roadmap that works for all environments.
- ► Keep the migration as simple as you can, avoiding multiple changes at once.
- ► Do not forget environments other than production, such as development, QA, and testing.

- Get the applications migrated with the smallest number of changes and as quickly as possible.
- Do not skip the migration assessment before you begin, whether it is considered a simple or complex migration.
- In the assessment, review the code and evaluate how compatible your code is with a new platform's Java SE.
- In the assessment, review the code and evaluate how applications are following or deviating from Java EE specifications.
- ► Do not forget Integrated Development Environment (IDE) migration.
- Although both the application code and application servers (old and new) comply with Java EE specifications, each vendor can implement their code in their own way and can also provide extensions to the specification that must be migrated.
- Do not change too much at a time. Use an iterative approach. Migrate a small portion of code and test it, then go back and repeat the process. It is easier to find problems when you have a small controlled environment.
- Keep change variables small. For example, freeze code changes other than the changes that are migration-related. Evaluate the changes that are needed for build scripts and required runtime configurations.
- Determine how to deal with Java SE and Java EE specifications. Should you compile using compatibility with an earlier version or upgrade?
- Do not replicate your performance tuning from a previous application server. Make specific performance tuning decisions by using WebSphere.
- Get interested parties to discuss the migration and make them interact with each other to learn from previous implementations.
- Never forget that there are tools to help in the migration process.
- WebSphere Application Server V8 provides compatibility with an earlier version as far back as J2EE 1.2. However, most of the older application codes include third-party libraries, use vendor-specific extensions, and use non-public APIs. These codes must be redesigned, replaced, and reimplemented.
- There are cases where we face external factors that contribute to migration complexity and requires attention from all interested parties. These external factors are integrations with existing systems and interoperability between migrated applications that are dependent of other applications functionality or services.
- Always include a rollback plan. A rollback plan is critical to the business to ensure that the migration does not include any unplanned downtime. It is also important to practice the rollback plan before you attempt migration of the production system. In addition, make a backup copy of your code before you start a migration.

# 2.2 Migration assessment

Sometimes you are tempted to jump into an implementation and planning without enough information to do so, which sooner or later causes undesirable, but predictable, problems. These problems are anticipated and mitigated by performing a migration assessment.

The migration assessment is the starting point of a migration. There is no other way to know the scope, expectations, current environment, teams that are involved, and all other relevant information to the migration team except by research. The information that is gathered during the assessment phase provides an understanding of the application environment. This information can be used during the planning stage.

This section describes how the assessment can be conducted and the artifacts that can be produced during this stage.

# 2.2.1 Migration questionnaires

Because the assessment is one of the first steps in a migration, and you sometimes have no previous experience from the actual customer. You must know which information is required to start the project and determine the roles and responsibilities of interested parties. Stakeholders must be committed to the project to effect a successful migration.

To build this knowledge base, use migration questionnaires, which are a set of questions to gather necessary information about the migration, business requirements and decisions, hardware and software, topology, architecture, application code, and so on. During this step, remember to ensure that all questions are answered appropriately without generic answers such as "yes" and "no".

The IBM WebSphere Application Server Migration Toolkit can be used when you gather information for the questionnaires. For sample migration questionnaires, see Appendix A, "Migration questionnaires" on page 421.

The Migration Toolkit has a reporting feature that discovers known Java issues that can be exported to a PDF report file. XML, JSP, and classpath results can be exported to an XML file.

#### 2.2.2 Migration questionnaire review meeting

After you collect the required information, typically from separate teams, it is important to discuss it with interested parties. Make this review regularly, and have the stakeholders come together to discuss the responses that are received, resolve issues, and initiate related activities, such as code review and proof of concepts. These meetings can be done through calls, web conferences, and in-person consultations.

#### 2.2.3 Migration assessment report

At the end of the cycle of questions and answers, put together all the information received in a report where everyone can see the key indicators that drive decision making. The contents of this report should include sections such as Introduction, Education, Sizing, Topology, Application Migration, Runtime (Server) migration, Testing, Deployment, Tuning and performance, Risks, and anything else that you feel is relevant to the project plan.

This report can minimize risks and positively affect the success of the project. It answers several questions that you might not have considered:

- ► What is the goal of the project?
- Which benefits does the project bring to the business?
- Are developers and administrators familiar with IBM WebSphere Application Server V8.5?
- Do testers know important areas of testing?
- ► How many resources and what skills are necessary to execute migration activities?
- ► How long it can take?

- What is the topology that we are planning to use?
- What other environments are involved?
- What are the recommendations for application code migration?
- What configurations must be done in the runtime migration process?
- Will you create the deployment and administration scripts?

These examples are ones of how the report assessment helps the migration, as the better the report, the better the project plan and the implementation.

# 2.3 Migration planning

The next step is to plan the migration itself. The assessment report is ready, and you know who the stakeholders are and the size of the work to be accomplished. Use the migration assessment as the basis to create a formal project plan.

#### 2.3.1 Roles and responsibilities

In a migration process, a key decision is to define who does what. One of the first roles to be assigned is the project manager. The project manager plans and executes the project. Other roles are application owners, developers, testers, administrators, and decision makers. Assign the appropriate resources to be responsible for certain activities and make them accountable for the tasks that are assigned to that role.

Usually, the definition of who does the migration is decided in advance, but after the assessment report is created, the plans can change based on what is found. The assigned team influences the project plan. For example, depending on who does the migration, more or less time and resources are needed because of education issues or previous experiences and the complexity of the project.

#### 2.3.2 Migration project plan

A project plan for the migration is based on the assessment report. From there, you can decide which activities are dependent upon each other, which activities can run in parallel, and the complexity of each piece that is migrated. Decisions that are taken and decisions that still must be taken are all part of a list of activities.

A project manager that is assigned to any project should know exactly how to deal with activities, but as the audience in this book is flexible, here are the sections that a good migration project plan should contain:

- Dates (rollout and milestones)
- Tasks
- Number of resources assigned
- Test plans
- Dependencies
- Risks
- Production rollout
- Meetings and check points
- Education activities
- Critical path

Some tasks can be done in parallel (education, setup, testing, and so on).
This list is not final, so you can add or remove sections that fit your needs. Documenting findings from migration implementation is helpful for future migrations.

Production rollout resources may be different from migration resources.

# 2.4 Migration implementation

An implementation and plan are closely related. In an iterative project, the final phases of an iteration are input for coming iterations. This approach helps adjust any issues that are encountered in the project plan, make it more accurate, and set expectations for future rollouts.

There are decisions to be made at the planning phase (for example, which application gets migrated first and which type of migration is used (sample, partial, or full)). You also must make implementation decisions, which are more likely technical, that can be addressed now.

## 2.4.1 Implementation considerations

Consider migrating the run time (server) and applications in parallel. This way, your environment is ready to deploy after you finish code changes and adjustments. Use the assessment report to accomplish the following tasks:

- Identify possible changes in the environment.
- Engage interested parties and communicate with them.

Study the run time and integration questionnaires to see how those answers can help you make the implementation a success. For example:

- Check for topologies and network answers.
- Identify firewall rules that might prevent your application from running appropriately.
- Check if interoperability of servers is required or if integration with existing systems is being addressed.
- Ensure that test plans cover functional and non-functional requirements.
- Try specific scenarios and separate sources of review to avoid issues when you move your application to production environments.

## 2.4.2 Implementation phases

Earlier in this chapter, we pointed out that the iterative process is a good option for migration projects. It helps reduce risk by successfully navigating critical paths between phases and providing feedback to future iterations. More on common issues are described in Chapter 3, "Common migration issues" on page 57.



Consider the five phases that are shown in Figure 2-2.

Figure 2-2 Migration key activities

Prepare phase

During this phase, check for product and application prerequisites. You should have hardware, software, and people available. Set up development environments, schedule meetings, provide education, and get help if needed.

Migrate phase

Start migrating both application code, runtime environments, and the Integrated Development Environment (IDE). Always remember that the assessment report is your reference; you can find important information regarding the decisions that are taken and sometimes even code review feedback that states the challenging areas of the migration.

You must decide about the migration type, so document everything that is happening and you benefit from your feedback immediately. If you are a project manager or a delegate, your role is important in addressing issues that are raised when everyone is together or interfacing with other parties, such as software and hardware vendors or third-party service providers.

The migration and test phases are closely integrated. It might be useful to test small pieces of functionality until you have everything migrated. This approach helps in two ways:

- Challenges of first migrated functionality serve as input to other migrations and speeds up the process.
- Tests run in parallel with code migration and are prepared for QA and load tests after migration is complete.
- Test phase

The test phase is dynamic and has intersections with the migrate and rollout phases. There are three main types of tests that are welcome in a migration process:

- Hands on testing, which is done together with application migration

- Functional/regression testing to make sure that all functions are working as expected
- Load tests to assess whether the application/server is performing equal or better than the previous environment
- Rollout phase

The rollout phase starts after all previous tests are completed and you ensured that the application is ready to provide the same or better responses than the previous environment. We know that there are issues that are only raised during production, which is why you have plans and the other previous phases to prevent or nullify chances of rollout back outs.

Deploy the application into the production environment, run the tests again, and if everything is okay, then decide whether to proceed. Usually, these rollouts require a detailed plan with milestones, owners, and check points to put the team together and address any problems or initiate the backout plan.

Rollouts with interoperability and interfaces are much harder to implement because of the potential compatibility problems with the existing applications. Be mindful about these challenges and prepare plans to prevent these issues. A good approach is to have this migration occur during a maintenance window so that you can stop external inputs to the systems affected and test integration and interoperability, to minimize the risks of having tests that are mixed with actual valid requests. A cleanup of databases or message queues might also be needed.

Cleanup phase

This phase starts when you successfully deploy the migrated application into production. There are tools that help monitor performance and system stability that are useful in this phase. Assign specialists to make the appropriate tuning of settings that might be required. Make the changes in the non-production environments before you make them in the production environment and run through the test plans again.

# 2.4.3 Application migration

There are three distinct migrations:

- The server run time from the application server to IBM WebSphere Application Server V8.x.
- The development environment migration from vendor-specific IDE to WebSphere Application Server V8.x Developer Tools for Eclipse or Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software.
- The application that is running on top of the application server.

Migrations of Java EE applications vary in complexity, depending on a series of factors that might be identified during the migration assessment:

- ► Source and target Java SE specification (JRE 1.4 to JRE 1.6)
- ► Source and target Java EE specifications (J2EE 1.4 to Java EE 6)
- ► Usage of specific Java components (EJB, JSPs, and Taglibs)
- Usage of proprietary code that is specific for an application server
- Vendor-specific deployment descriptors
- Extended capabilities
- ► Vendor-specific server configurations (JMS providers and JDBC connection pooling)
- Class loading issues
- Integration with complex external systems such as a CRM or SAP.

These changes can be done manually or by using tools to speed migration. IBM Rational Application Developer V8.5 has extended functions to help you in that matter. Additionally, a new Migration Toolkit is released that helps you migrate applications from Oracle WebLogic, Oracle Application Server, JBoss, Tomcat, and previous versions of WebSphere application servers to IBM WebSphere Application Server V8.x. For applications that use annotations, Rational Application Developer can provide them through WRD tags to build and maintain applications that are using EJB 3.x, web services, and other components. Other tools are also available to provide you with guidance in code reviews.

Application migration has common steps to be followed. Details about the technical activities are covered in the following chapters:

- Chapter 3, "Common migration issues" on page 57
- Chapter 6, "Migrating from Oracle WebLogic" on page 127
- Chapter 8, "Migrating from JBoss" on page 235
- Chapter 9, "Migrating from Apache Tomcat" on page 273

## 2.4.4 IDE migration

If you are using vendor-specific IDE, which provides tools and wizards for its application server and includes its own project structure, you must migrate it to WebSphere Application Server Tools for Eclipse or Rational Application Developer. Most of the Eclipse based IDEs (such as Oracle Workshop for Weblogic and JBoss Tools) are based on Eclipse WTP that makes it easy to migrate.

WebSphere Application Server Tools for Eclipse contains tools for managing the server, publishing to a local or remote server, and for controlling incremental publishing. The tools include a Rich Page Editor, and a WYSIWYG editor that makes it easy to edit HTML files, add Dojo widgets to HTML pages, and create and edit web pages for mobile devices.

Rational Application Developer V8.5 provides a complete suite for enterprise application developers from design to deployment. Rational Application Developer V8.5 helps Java developers rapidly design, develop, assemble, test, profile, and deploy high quality Java/Java EE, Portal, Web/Web2.0, OSGi, Web Services, and SOA applications.

The tool that is chosen in this book that helps the most with the migration samples is Rational Application Developer V8.5. Look at how Rational Application Developer V8.5 can help you improve and migrate from previous Java EE specifications and also take advantage of WebSphere Application Server V8.x new features. For more information, see:

- Experience JEE Using Rational Application Developer V7.5, SG24-7827
- Getting Started with WebSphere Application Server Feature Pack for Service Component Architecture, REDP-4633

#### How to import code into Eclipse

You can import an individual EAR file to a project or import a project (with multiple EAR files or WAR files) into the Eclipse platform. They are all based on the same logic.

#### Importing an EAR file to a project

If you want to import an EAR file to a project, complete the following steps:

From the Java EE Eclipse Enterprise Explorer tab, right-click and select Import → EAR file (Figure 2-3).

Enterprise	E 🛛 📌 Services	- 8			
	□ \$	. 😤 ▽			
	New		ļ	1	
	Show In	Alt.	+ Shift+W N		
	Game	Alt	Challe C		
	Copy Copy Qualified Name		CIII+C		
	Paste		Ctrl+V		
×	Delete		Delete		
	Import		×	8	App Client JAR file
2	Export			ē,	EAR file
8	Refresh		F5	G.	EJB JAR file
_			0 items		Java EE Utility Jar RAR file
			Descriptio	Ē	Shared EAR file
				6	WAR file

Figure 2-3 Select an import source window

2. Select the EAR file, for example, sampleEJB.ear (Figure 2-4).



Figure 2-4 Select the EAR file

3. While you are importing your project, if you have not added WebSphere Application Server into the workspace, you must click **New** in the Enterprise Application Import window to select the target run time (Figure 2-5).

New Server Runtime Environment	
WebSphere Application Server Runtime Environment Specify the WebSphere Application Server installation directory.	
Name:	
WebSphere Application Server v8.5 Beta	
Installation directory:	
\\192.168.19.135\c\$\Program Files\IBM\WebSphere\AppServer	Browse
(For example, /opt/WebSphere/AppServer) JRE for the runtime environment:	
WebSphere Application Server JRE 1.6, 32 bit	
JRE location:	
\\192.168.19.135\c\$\Program Files\JBM\WebSphere\AppServer\java\jre	
Kext > Finish	Cancel

Figure 2-5 Selecting target run time

4. Click Finish. In the next window, select the JAR file to be imported (Figure 2-6).

Import 🖂 🖂 🔀
Enterprise Application Import
amport an Enterprise Appreadon project based on selected resources.
Utility JARs and web libraries
Select the utility JARs from the list to be imported as utility projects. Unselected JARs will be imported as utility JARs in the EAR.
🔲 🗍 webapp1.war#WEB-INF/lib/adf-faces-api.jar
webapp1.war#WEB-INF/lib/adf-faces-impl.jar
🔲 🦲 webapp1.war#WEB-INF/lib/commons-beanutils.jar
🔲 🗍 webapp1.war#WEB-INF/lib/commons-collections.jar
🔲 🦲 webapp1.war#WEB-INF/lib/commons-digester.jar
🔲 🦲 webapp1.war#WEB-INF/lib/commons-logging-api.jar 👻
Select All Deselect All
Project locations
This is the parent directory for all referenced projects. A subdirectory will be created for each project.
Module root location: C:\Users\IBM_ADMIN\workspace2
? < Back Next > Finish Cancel

Figure 2-6 Select the JAR file

**Importing the Java source code:** Importing the EAR file builds the project structure for the application, web modules, and EJB modules. Usually, the EAR file does not include the Java source code, and it must be imported as an additional step.

#### Importing an existing project into Eclipse

You can also import an existing project into Eclipse by completing the following steps:

- 1. From the Eclipse main menu, click **File**  $\rightarrow$  **Import**.
- In the Select an import source window, enter "Existing project into workspace" and click Next. Alternatively, you can click General → Existing project into workspace and click Next (Figure 2-7).

Import	
Select Create new projects from an archive file or directory.	Ľ
Select an import source:	
type filter text	
<ul> <li>a between the betwee</li></ul>	A H
Sack Next > Finish	Cancel

Figure 2-7 Existing project into workspace

3. Browse and select **Select root directory** or **Select archive file**, then select the projects that you want to add (Figure 2-8).

Import	
Import Projects Select a directory to search for existing Eclipse projects.	
Select root directory:     Select archive file:     Projects:	Browse Browse
	Select All Deselect All Refresh
Copy projects into workspace Working sets Add project to working sets Working sets:	Select
Kext > Finish	Cancel

Figure 2-8 Browse and select the root directory or archive file

4. Click Finish.

## 2.4.5 Runtime migration

Sometimes we focus and concentrate only on code changes, and when we realize that there are also migration challenges in other areas, it might be too late. In a complex or simple environment, there is always something to change, implement, or migrate. Specifically, with the migration of Java EE application servers, though compliant with specifications, each vendor has its own way to implement and provide services and improve capabilities.

Considering that the application server is a product that runs under an operating system that can also be part of the migration, be mindful about the changes and configurations that are made at both the OS and application server levels. Migrations of run time can include the following elements:

- Administrative scripts changes or replacement
- ► Resources configuration to support application server functionality
- Operating system prerequisites
- Firewall rules
- Security configurations and authentication databases
- Deployment bindings
- Start/Stop scripts
- JVM special or additional configurations
- Classloader configurations
- Libraries
- Pooling and thread configurations

Migration also includes specific tasks from product-to-product. We try to cover those task in our product-specific chapters.

# 2.5 Post deployment

The new environment at least performs as well as the previous one, but you always expect more. To achieve this goal, you have work to do. This work is done on two fronts: application and run time.

Regarding code changes, avoidance of unnecessary modifications is prudent. Get your applications migrated with the smallest number of changes. After the application is migrated, revisit the application to improve it and make the application and the new environment clean, right, and fast.

# 2.5.1 Performance tuning and optimization

Performance tuning and optimization are activities that require expertise and information that support your decisions. This information has two sources: application code review and load test results. With these results in hand, the experts have enough information to make the necessary adjustments. Again, an iterative process is ideal. Take small pieces of code or specific configurations and focus on those elements until you get the expected results. This way, you pass through critical paths that lead to better performance for the entire application or environment.

This process of having better performance must be conducted carefully by following the project plan. Try to stay at least with what you had before, then after the migration is deployed in production, you can see how much you can improve performance. There are tools that help you to get there. IBM provides help through separate channels. Check the WebSphere Application Server V8 Information Center web page to get started:

http://www14.software.ibm.com/webapp/wsbroker/redirect?version=phil&product=was-nd -mp&topic=welc\_howdoi\_tprf

# 2.5.2 Getting help

There are teams ready to help you in the migration process:

- ► IBM Business Partners
- ► IBM Business Partner Services Practice
- ► IBM Software Services for WebSphere Migration Practice (ISSW)
- WebSphere Competitive Migration Team
- Third-party sources

IBM migration specialists have been working in these environments for a long time. Expertise in migrations and in the target implementation environment is important and, in a few cases, crucial to minimizing disruption during implementation.

#### Get support from IBM

Use the channels that are described in the following sections to get support and assistance from IBM.

#### IBM WebSphere Developer Services

IBM WebSphere Developer Services provides developer-to-developer technical assistance to IBM Business Partners when you are developing applications or building solutions that involve IBM WebSphere products. If you require any assistance, you can raise a ticket that is called a *problem management record (PMR)*. A PMR can be raised at the following web page:

http://www.ibm.com/isv/tech/remoteEmail/entryForm.jsp

#### IBM Passport Advantage

IBM Passport Advantage® provides support for production issues and product bugs. To open PMRs (or a service request) with Passport Advantage, go to:

http://www-01.ibm.com/software/support/probsub.html

#### IBM Software Services for WebSphere (ISSW)

IBM Software Services for WebSphere provides hands-on support and skill-transfer activities to help you successfully deploy your new WebSphere software solution. For more information about ISSW, go to:

http://www3.software.ibm.com/ibmdl/pub/software/dw/wes/pdf/services/DevelopDeployF
inal.pdf

#### WebSphere education

WebSphere education helps you build and enhance our WebSphere skills. It has more than 250 courses across both the WebSphere software portfolio and SOA. It provides flexible classroom, online, and private courses. The courses are designed by award winning instructors with first-hand product knowledge.

The role-based training path in WebSphere education assists you by defining a path to acquiring skills for specific WebSphere product offerings. For a list of WebSphere education offerings, go to:

http://www-01.ibm.com/software/websphere/education/

#### WebSphere Competitive Migration Team

WebSphere Competitive Migration Team is composed of migration specialists around the world who can provide the services that are described in the following sections.

#### Migration Discoveries

Helps customers understand the value proposition that is provided by WebSphere and the advantages to be gained over the competitive application servers.

#### Migration Assessments

Provides thorough application analysis with specific recommendations about the steps and methodology to be used to migrate competitive application server-based applications. In addition, provides implementation assistance to clients and ISVs to accelerate time-to-value and mitigate risk.

#### Mentoring and Skill Transfer

Creates more value by helping customers navigate and fully use the wealth of capabilities that are offered with WebSphere.

#### Who to contact to get started

To get started, contact your local IBM marketing representative, or send an email to wascmt@us.ibm.com.

You might qualify for some or all of the following services at no additional charge:

- An IBM migration expert to give you a high-level estimate of to what it takes to migrate (requires 2 - 3 hours.)
- An IBM migration expert to come on-site for a deep evaluation of your environment and applications and provide a full migration assessment at no additional charge.
- A Migration Workshop, in which several of your company's technical personnel or management attend a 1 - 3 day training course to get an introduction to WebSphere Application Server V8.5 and do hands-on labs to learn about the business value and migration process.
- A Proof of Concept (PoC) where an IBM migration expert comes on-site to migrate 1 or 2 of your applications to WebSphere Application Server on your test environment using the IBM proven methodology and automation tools.

# 2.6 Summary

This process and activities are not supposed to be a final methodology or even the only way to go through a migration project. Instead, it helps you to be prepared and anticipate challenges to come. Following this process as a base for your own projects definitely helps. As you can see, there are several factors that influence your planning, but basically two things are essential:

- A migration assessment with the assessment report used as the input to the project plan
- Using an iterative process where first waves or iterations serve as a knowledge base for future ones

Another thing that is important to note is that the approach of migrate first and improve later is a good way to separate pitfalls of both activities, although they are related.

# **Common migration issues**

This chapter describes some of the common migration issues that the reader might come across when migrating from other Java Enterprise Edition (EE) platforms to WebSphere Application Server V8.5.

Java EE defines a framework for applications that can be deployed independently by different vendors. This configuration provides enterprise users with the assurance that they can write applications in a way that does not depend on a single vendor's solution. Although the main idea behind Java and Java EE is portability and *Write Once, Run Anywhere (WORA)*, or sometimes *Write Once, Run Everywhere (WORE)* functionality, the unique way in which each vendor implements the Java EE specification often leads to problems when you migrate a Java EE application.

Vendors also implement features that are not included in the Java EE specification, which is why Oracle provides a list of vendors with Java EE-compatible products. Testing is used by Oracle to verify that a Java EE application server complies with the specification. This testing ensures that applications deployed on one Java EE application server are also run on another vendor's application server.

Java EE applications can also conflict with the Java EE specification. The Java EE specification is so complex that it is difficult for developers to know all the details in the lifecycle. Tools, such as Rational Application Developer V8.5, can be used to verify that an application is written according to the specifications.

This chapter describes the following topics:

- Java EE application server compatibility
- Application portability
- ► J2EE to Java EE migration considerations
- Runtime migration issues
- Interoperability and integrations

# 3.1 Java EE application server compatibility

Although the Java EE specification covers an increasingly wider spectrum of enterprise applications development, there is still the need for vendor-specific features.

If the vendor-specific features are used without proper planning, they cause migration problems. Small differences or bugs in the vendor's implementation of the Java EE specification might also cause compatibility problems. These issues are summarized in the following sections:

- Differences in Java EE implementations
- Classloader related problems
- Using vendor-specific features
- Deployment descriptors

# 3.1.1 Differences in Java EE implementations

This section describes the differences that the authors encountered during the migration process and which are differences about how the Java EE specification is implemented by vendors. The Java EE specification leaves room for interpretation, which leads to issues when you migrate the application to a new application server. These interpretations are also subject to discussion and affected by updates to the specification.

A few of the problems that are faced during migration are not predictable by the developers. Other problems are more likely a bug or resiliency of the application server or web container implementation. For example, a regular request for a JSP or Servlet using a duplicate slash "/", as with the URL http://localhost:8080//testapp/index.jsp, works in Apache Tomcat 7, but does not work in WebSphere Application Server V8.5.

These problems require much testing to catch, but after you find the first problem, the search for other similar codes is easier. The IBM WebSphere Application Server Migration Toolkit detects many of these problems. Document your findings. Use a common repository, so they can be brought to light and shared across the entire team. Most likely, these implementation issues are discussed in a regular meeting.

# 3.1.2 Classloader related problems

Generally, the main migration issue is classloader implementations when you migrate to a new application server because the Java EE specification does not completely cover classloaders. Each vendor has its own way to implement the classloader. WebSphere Application Server V8.5 is compliant with Java EE specifications and has sophisticated techniques for structuring and loading classes for the applications using various versions of the same library.

Another problem is that vendors use open source libraries (Apache Commons, log4j, axis, and so on). JBoss, for example, has an implementation of classloader that does not differentiate classes from applications and the server itself. So, for example, an application that uses log4j does not need to deploy a log4j library. The best solution in that case is to use the exact same version of log4j that it is shipped with JBoss to avoid problems. You might face problems, such as a ClassNotFound error, when deploying JBoss-migrated applications. In these cases, you have a couple of options. WebLogic Server and Apache Tomcat Server use a similar parent-child classloader hierarchy as WebSphere Application Server, so we did not face this problem when you migrate sample applications from these servers.

If you want to avoid such problems, you must understand the fundamental mechanism of class loading and classloaders within WebSphere Application Server. The following section includes an explanation of configuration options for the classloader and how they can be used with the WebSphere Application Server V8.5.

The classloader hierarchy and delegation model are common between WebSphere Application Server V6.1, V7.0, and V8.x. There is one additional feature, which is called the *isolated shared library*, which is introduced with Version 7.

## Brief introduction to Java classloaders

Classloaders are part of the Java virtual machine (JVM) code and are responsible for finding and loading class files. In the Java platform, there are three classloaders:

- The bootstrap classloader is responsible for loading only the core Java libraries in the Java\_home/jre/lib directory. This classloader, which is part of the core JVM, is written in native code.
- The extensions classloader is responsible for loading the code in the extensions directories (Java\_home/jre/lib/ext or any other directory that is specified by the java.ext.dirs system property).
- The application classloader is responsible for loading code that is found on java.class.path, which ultimately maps to the system CLASSPATH variable.

The *classloader delegation model* passes loading requests to each other. Each classloader is a child of the parent classloader (Figure 3-1). The bootstrap classloader is at the top of this hierarchy. By default, when a resource must be loaded, a classloader delegates class loading to its parent before it tries to load the class itself. The parent classloader can be either another custom classloader or the bootstrap classloader. If it cannot be found, the resource is loaded by the child classloader. If none of the classloaders can find the resource, you receive a ClassNotFoundException error. But what is important is that a classloader can delegate requests only to its parent classloader, never to its child classloaders (it can go up the hierarchy but never down).



Figure 3-1 Java classloaders hierarchy

## WebSphere Application Server V8.5 classloader

WebSphere Application Server 8.5 is compliant with Java EE specifications and also has more features to suit your particular application using various versions of the same library.

When you work with Java EE applications, two additional types of classloaders are involved with WebSphere Application Server:

- ► The *application server* classloaders, which load all the classes that are needed for the application server in which the enterprise applications are running.
- The application classloaders, which load the application classes that are defined in the web.xml file.



Figure 3-2 A typical Java EE classloader



WebSphere provides several custom delegated classloaders (Figure 3-3).

Figure 3-3 WebSphere Application Server classloader hierarchy

The top box in Figure 3-3 represents the Java classloaders (bootstrap, extensions, and application). WebSphere loads the just the components that it needs to bootstrap itself and to initialize the WebSphere extensions classloader.

Information about the other components in this hierarchy is covered in the following sections.

#### WebSphere extensions classloader

This component loads the WebSphere Application Server V8.5 runtime classes and all of classes in the ws.ext.dirs class path are added to this classloader.

WebSphere is packaged as a set of OSGi bundles with each OSGi bundle loaded separately by its own classloader. This network of OSGi classloaders is then connected to the extensions classloader and the remainder of the classloader hierarchy through an OSGi gateway classloader. Beginning with WebSphere V6.1, extensions began using OSGi packaging and the runtime classes are stored in the install\_root/plugins directory.

#### Application and web module classloaders

Java EE 6 applications consist of the following primary elements:

- Web modules
- EJB modules
- Resource adapter archives (RAR files)
- Utility JAR files
- Application client modules

The *application classloader* is responsible for loading resources that are part of an EAR module, for example, utility JAR, EJB modules, resource adapter files, and shared libraries. Depending on the classloader policy, this classloader can be shared by multiple applications (EAR files) or can be unique for each application, which is the default.

The class-loading behavior of an installed enterprise application can be configured at the application server level. For each application server in the system, you can set the classloader policy to either Single or Multiple. From the administrative console, click **Servers**  $\rightarrow$  **Server Types**  $\rightarrow$  **WebSphere application servers** and click the correct server. Then, on the Configuration tab under the "Server-specific Application Settings" section, select the appropriate classloader policy (Figure 3-4).

Application servers   Use this page to configure an application server. An application server is a server that   Runtime   Configuration     General Properties   Name   server1   Node name   WAS-v8Node01   Run in development mode   Ø   Parallel start   Start components as needed   Access to internal server classes   Allow   Classloader policy   Multiple   Classe loaded with parent class loader first	Analization comment
Use this page to configure an application server. An application server is a server that          Runtime       Configuration         General Properties       Name         Server1       Node name         WAS-v8Node01       Name         Run in development mode       Parallel start         Start components as needed       Access to internal server classes         Allow       Server-specific Application Settings         Classloader policy       Multiple         Multiple       Classe loaded with parent class loader first	Application servers > server1
Runtime       Configuration         General Properties         Name         server1         Node name         WAS-v8Node01         Run in development mode         Parallel start         Start components as needed         Access to internal server classes         Allow         Classloader policy         Multiple         Classes loaded with parent class loader first	Use this page to configure an application server. An application server is a server that
General Properties         Name         server1         Node name         WAS-v8Node01         Run in development mode         Run in development mode         Parallel start         Start components as needed         Access to internal server classes         Allow         Class to policy         Multiple         Class loading mode         Classes loaded with parent class loader first	Runtime Configuration
Seneral Properties         Name         server1         Node name         WAS-v8Node01         Run in development mode         Parallel start         Start components as needed         Access to internal server classes         Allow         Server-specific Application Settings         Classloader policy         Multiple         Classe loaded with parent class loader first	
Seneral Properties         Name         server1         Node name         WAS-v8Node01         Run in development mode         Parallel start         Start components as needed         Access to internal server classes         Allow         Server-specific Application Settings         Classloader policy         Multiple         Classe loading mode         Classes loaded with parent class loader first	
Name          server1         Node name         WAS-v8Node01         Run in development mode         Parallel start         Start components as needed         Access to internal server classes         Allow         Server-specific Application Settings         Classloader policy         Multiple         Class loading mode         Classes loaded with parent class loader first	General Properties
server1         Node name         WAS-v8Node01         Run in development mode         Parallel start         Start components as needed         Access to internal server classes         Allow         Server-specific Application Settings         Classloader policy         Multiple         Class loading mode         Classes loaded with parent class loader first	Name
Node name WAS-v8Node01 Run in development mode Parallel start Start components as needed Access to internal server classes Allow Server-specific Application Settings Classloader policy Multiple Class loading mode Classes loaded with parent class loader first	server1
Node name WAS-v8Node01 Run in development mode Parallel start Start components as needed Access to internal server classes Allow Server-specific Application Settings Classloader policy Multiple Class loading mode Classes loaded with parent class loader first	361/611
WAS-v8Node01         Run in development mode         Parallel start         Start components as needed         Access to internal server classes         Allow         Server-specific Application Settings         Classloader policy         Multiple         Class loading mode         Classes loaded with parent class loader first	Node name
<ul> <li>Run in development mode</li> <li>Parallel start</li> <li>Start components as needed</li> <li>Access to internal server classes</li> <li>Allow </li> <li>Server-specific Application Settings</li> <li>Classloader policy Multiple </li> <li>Class loading mode</li> <li>Classes loaded with parent class loader first </li> </ul>	WAS-v8Node01
<ul> <li>Run in development mode</li> <li>Parallel start</li> <li>Start components as needed</li> <li>Access to internal server classes</li> <li>Allow </li> <li>Server-specific Application Settings</li> <li>Classloader policy</li> <li>Multiple </li> <li>Class loading mode</li> <li>Classes loaded with parent class loader first </li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Parallel start</li> <li>Start components as needed</li> <li>Access to internal server classes</li> <li>Allow          Server-specific Application Settings     </li> <li>Classloader policy         Multiple      </li> <li>Class loading mode</li> <li>Classes loaded with parent class loader first </li> </ul>	Run in development mode
<ul> <li>Start components as needed</li> <li>Access to internal server classes         <ul> <li>Allow</li> <li>Server-specific Application Settings</li> <li>Classloader policy</li> <li>Multiple</li> <li>Class loading mode</li> <li>Classes loaded with parent class loader first</li> <li>V</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	Parallel start
<ul> <li>Start components as needed</li> <li>Access to internal server classes</li> <li>Allow</li> <li>Server-specific Application Settings</li> <li>Classloader policy</li> <li>Multiple</li> <li>Class loading mode</li> <li>Classes loaded with parent class loader first</li> </ul>	
Access to internal server classes          Allow         Server-specific Application Settings         Classloader policy         Multiple         Class loading mode         Classes loaded with parent class loader first	Start components as needed
Allow  Server-specific Application Settings Classloader policy Multiple Class loading mode Classes loaded with parent class loader first	Access to internal server classes
Server-specific Application Settings Classloader policy Multiple Class loading mode Classes loaded with parent class loader first	Allow 🖵
Server-specific Application Settings Classloader policy Multiple Class loading mode Classes loaded with parent class loader first	
Classloader policy Multiple Class loading mode Classes loaded with parent class loader first	Server-specific Application Settings
Multiple  Class loading mode Classes loaded with parent class loader first	Classloader policy
Class loading mode Classes loaded with parent class loader first	Multiple 💌
Classes loaded with parent class loader first	Class leading mode

Figure 3-4 Application server classloader settings

When the application server classloader policy is set to Single, a single application class loader is used to load all EJB, utility JAR files, and shared libraries within the application server (JVM). If the WAR classloader policy is set to use the "Single classloader for application" option, the web module contents for this particular application are also loaded by this single classloader.

There are limitations when you use this mode, such as for JSF applications. For more information, see:

http://www14.software.ibm.com/webapp/wsbroker/redirect?version=phil&product=was-nd
-mp&topic=cwebjavaserverfaces

When the application server classloader policy is set to Multiple, which is the default, each application receives its own classloader for loading EJB, utility JAR files, and shared libraries. Depending on whether the WAR classloader policy is set to use the "Classloader for each WAR file in application" option or the "Single classloader for application" option, the web module might or might not receive its own classloader.

The *web module classloader* loads the contents of the WEB-INF/classes and WEB-INF/lib directories. By default, web modules receive their own classloader, a WAR classloader, to have a classloader for each WAR file in the application. It is possible to modify the default behavior by changing the application's WAR classloader policy. You can find this policy setting in the administrative console by clicking **Applications**  $\rightarrow$  **WebSphere Enterprise Applications**, select the application, and click **Class loading and update detection**  $\rightarrow$  **WAR class loader policy**, which opens the window that is shown in Figure 3-5.

Enterprise Applications > ClassLoaderTest_war > Class loader
Use this page to configure the reloading of classes when application files are updated.
Configuration
General Properties
Class reloading options
Override class reloading settings fcr Web and EJB modules
Polling interval for updated files
0.0000
Class loader order
Classes loaded with parent class loader first
<ul> <li>Classes loaded with local class loader first (parent last)</li> </ul>
WAR class loader policy
Class loader for each WAR file in application
Single class loader for application
Apply OK Reset Cancel

Figure 3-5 WAR classloader policy settings

If the WAR classloader policy is set to the "Single classloader for application" option, the web module contents are loaded by the application classloader in addition to the EJB, RAR files, utility JAR files, and shared libraries. The application classloader is the parent of the WAR classloader.

**Tip:** During the authors' migration experiences, we encountered clients that require enterprise applications to communicate across various WebSphere cells. In this case, a CORBA style and an explicit JNDI name are specified. For more information about this topic, see:

http://www14.software.ibm.com/webapp/wsbroker/redirect?version=phil&product=was
-nd-mp&topic=cejbbindingsejbfp

#### WebSphere class loading and delegation mode

The WebSphere application classloader and WAR classloader both have a setting that is called the *classloader order*. This setting determines whether the classloaders should follow the normal Java classloader delegation mechanism or override it.

There are two possible options for the class loading mode:

Classes that are loaded with the parent classloader first

This mode is the default mode for all classloaders. It is the Java EE and Java standard. The loading of the resources is first delegated to the parent classloader. If the parent classloader is unable to find the resource, the child classloader tries to handle it.

Classes that are loaded with the application classloader firs

Using the parent last class loading policy makes the classloader work opposite of the parent first mode. The resource is loaded from the application or web module classloader first. If the resource is not found, the loading is delegated to the parent classloader.

In previous WebSphere releases, these settings were called PARENT\_FIRST and PARENT\_LAST.

#### Shared libraries

*Shared libraries* are files that are used by multiple applications. Examples of shared libraries are commonly used frameworks, such as Apache Struts or log4j. You use shared libraries typically to point to a set of JAR files and associate those JAR files to an application, a web module, or the classloader of an application server. Shared libraries are useful when you have different versions of the same framework that you want to associate to different applications.

Shared libraries are configured using the administration console and can be defined at the cell, node, server, or cluster level. Before you use shared libraries, they must be associated with an application, a web module, or the classloader of an application server level.

#### **Bundled libraries**

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 contains open source libraries that are in the server class path. If you are using the same libraries and there is a version mismatch, you might receive one of the following errors:

- java.lang.NoSuchMethodError
- java.lang.ClassCastException
- java.lang.NoClassDefFoundError

To fix these errors, you can try to experiment with various class loading policies, such as parent last instead of parent first.

The following list details the common libraries that might create problems:

 WebSphere Application Server V8.5 includes the Jakarta Commons Logging (JCL), which is known to cause problems when you migrate.

The following topics describe how to solve JCL problems on WebSphere:

- http://www14.software.ibm.com/webapp/wsbroker/redirect?version=phil&product=w as-nd-mp&topic=ctrb\_classload\_jcl
- http://www.ibm.com/support/docview.wss?uid=swg27004610
- JDom is also bundled with WebSphere Application Server V8.5.

#### Problem determination for classloader exceptions

Classloader problems normally appear as an exception in the JVM SystemOut log file. When faced with problems, you can use a Classloader viewer service to collect classloader specific traces and other diagnostic data. You can use this information to identify possible root causes of the problem.

For more information, see *WebSphere Application Server V6.1: Classloader Problem Determination*, REDP-4307.

# 3.1.3 Using vendor-specific features

When faced with the choice of using a vendor-specific feature, you have the option of not using it and accepting the limitations of the Java EE specification. This is a good idea from a portability and migration point of view.

You can also use the vendor-specific feature and accept the risk and potential future migration costs. If you decide to proceed with this option, ensure that you make the implementation details abstract, for example, by designing interfaces, not concrete classes.

Vendors have various additional features:

- Startup and shutdown tools
- Timer services
- Automatic primary key generation
- JDBC connection pooling

#### 3.1.4 Deployment descriptors

The Java EE specification does not cover all the aspects of application deployment and configuration, which is why there are vendor-specific deployment descriptors. Table 3-1 on page 67 lists both the Java EE and vendor-specific deployment descriptors. Each application server uses a separate set of files because they are implemented differently and have separate feature sets.

The migration of a Java EE application using previous specifications such as J2EE 1.4 come with one of the biggest problems that are associated with deployment descriptors when you migrate to WebSphere Application Server V8.5. The problem and solutions to the problem are summarized as follows:

Container-Managed Persistence (CMP) to database schema mapping

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 uses another way of mapping CMPs to the database schema, compared to the other application servers covered in this publication. The better way to create these mappings is to use Rational Application Developer V8.5. You can use the EJB to Relational Database Synchronization (RDB) mapping in Rational Application Developer V8.5 to create your back end and map your entity beans to the corresponding database table. This wizard also creates the necessary JDBC code that is used for accessing the database at run time.

**ELB 3.0:** The EJB 3.0 or later specification does not support the usage of container-managed persistence (CMP) or bean-managed persistence (BMP). JPA is used for data persistence instead. The EJB 2 or later specification and earlier modules continue to support CMP and BMP as per the J2EE specifications. WebSphere Application Server V8.5 also supports CMP and BMP.

The Java EE standard deployment descriptors are mapped to the WebSphere Application Server V8.5 specific deployment descriptors with IDs, as illustrated in Example 3-1 and Example 3-2. The ID in the WebSphere Application Server V8.5 specific deployment descriptor must match the one in the Java EE standard deployment descriptor.

Example 3-1 Web.xml excerpt

Example 3-2 WebSphere Application Server V8.5 deployment descriptor excerpt

- WebSphere Application Server V8.5 validates the deployment descriptors more strictly than, for example, JBoss and Oracle Weblogic, which leads to the following problems when migrating:
  - Deployment descriptors fail validation because the elements are not in the correct order or the DTD is incorrect.
  - JSPs do not compile.
- Use web.xml to map JNDI references that are placed on vendor-specific deployment descriptors. If you are migrating to Java EE 6, you are likely using annotations that simplify references using embedded dependency injection that is implemented by WebSphere Application Server V8.5, such as @EJB.
- The switch JNDI reference mapping since WebSphere Application Server V8.5 JNDI standards is different than in other vendors. It is usually different in all other vendors, so it is actually a migration issue for almost every application server to another.

Next, we show an example of how the standard Java EE web.xml deployment descriptor and WebSphere Application Server V8.5 are mapped with IDs. In the example, a resource reference, with the ResourceRef\_2 ID, is mapped to a JNDI name that points to a resource that is managed by WebSphere Application Server V8.5. See Example 3-1 and Example 3-2.

Table 3-1 lists the Java EE standard and vendor-specific deployment descriptors.

Description	Java EE specification	WebSphere Application Server V8.5	Apache Tomcat	JBoss	Oracle Application Server	Oracle WebLogic
EAR application	application.x ml	ibm-application-b nd.xmi ibm-application-e xt.xmi	N/A	jboss-app .xml	orion-applicat ion.xml	weblogic- application .xml
WAR application	web.xml	ibm-web-bnd.xmi ibm-web-ext.xmi	context.xml <sup>1</sup>	jboss-web .xml	orion-web.xml	weblogic. xml
EJB application	ejb-jar.xml	ibm-ejb-jar-bnd. xmi ibm-ejb-jar-ext. xmi ibm-ejb-access- bean.xml	N/A	jboss.xml jaws.xml jbosscmp- jdbc.xml	orion-ejb-jar. xml	weblogic-ej b-jar.xml weblogic- cmp-rdbms -jar.xml persistence -configurat ion.xml
J2EE client application	application- client.xml	ibm-application- client-bnd.xmi ibm-application- client-ext.xmi	N/A	jboss- client. xml	orion-applicat ion.xml oracle- application- client. xml	client- application .runtime. xml
Server configuration	Not covered by the Java EE specification	Mainly in <was_home>\profil es\<profile_name> \config\ cells</profile_name></was_home>	Mainly in the <tomcat_ home&gt;\conf directory and <web_app>\ META-INF/ context.xml</web_app></tomcat_ 	Mainly in the <jboss_ho me&gt;\serve r directory</jboss_ho 	Mainly in ORACLE_HOME\j2 ee\ <server_nam e&gt;\config directory</server_nam 	Mainly in <domain_ home&gt;\confi g.xml</domain_ 

Table 3-1 Java and vendor deployment descriptors and configuration files

1. The context.xml file can have JNDI names and a configuration that would normally be in web.xml.

WebSphere Application Server binding and extension files that are defined in Table 3-1 can be in XMI or XML format depending on the Java EE version of the application. XMI formatted files are used with a J2EE version of 1.4 and earlier. Starting with Java EE 5, binding and extension definitions support files with the suffix of XML for EJB 3.x and Web 2.5 and later modules. During migrating an application, it is important to include the correct file format with the application. If an application is developed with Java EE 5 or later, bindings and extensions are expected in the XML file format.

**New in V8.5:** WebSphere Application Server V8.5 supports the Java EE 6 and the EJB 3.1 specifications, which allow developers to use annotations in their source code. These annotations contain information about how the application should be deployed, making much of the packaging and deployment tasks. Annotations can also reduce the number of classes and interfaces that the developer needs to manage within the project.

In previous Java EE versions, deployment descriptors are necessary to tell the application server how to deploy the modules and how clients should locate EJB interfaces. In Java EE 6 applications, the use of deployment descriptors is optional. If the code is correctly annotated, the EAR file or modules do not need to contain any deployment descriptors when you migrate to WebSphere Application Server V8.5.

# 3.2 Application portability

This section describes the migration issues that affect application portability. Application portability is perhaps the most important issue from a migration point of view.

# 3.2.1 Application packaging

Enterprise applications (Java EE applications) can consist of EJB modules, web modules, resource adapters, SIP modules, utility JARs, and application client modules. There may be differences because of the need for vendor-specific features when you package an application for various platforms. This situation, combined with the classloader implementations in each application server, can potentially create problems when you migrate. The application might run in the source environment but not in WebSphere Application Server V8.5.

It is important to follow the Java EE specifications from a portability and migration point of view.

Java EE applications are usually packaged in an enterprise archive (EAR) file, which can consist of the following modules:

EJB Module

The module contains the EJB class files and deployment descriptors. The EJB module depends on utility classes and JARs. Each dependency is declared in the META-INF/MANIFEST.MF file.

**EJB interfaces:** The way you package the application might be different, depending on whether you are using Local or Remote EJB interfaces. If you use Local EJB interfaces, the client must have access to all EJB classes. If you use Remote interfaces, you can optionally create a JAR containing only the client view of the EJBs. Rational Application Developer V8.5 usually creates a separate project with EJB interfaces.

WAR (web application) Module

A web module can contain deployment descriptors, servlet code, JSPs, static HTML pages, images, JavaScript, style sheets, and so on.

A common challenge when you work with web modules is to make sure that the correct version of a required Java library is loaded. Often, web application developers need to include specific third-party libraries, such as log4j or Xalan/Xerces, and must ensure that the correct version of a library is loaded for an application.

The web application module depends on the utility library and the EJBmodule. Each dependency is declared in the META-INF/MANIFEST.MF file.

**application.xml descriptor:** If an application.xml deployment descriptor is not included in the EAR file, the context root for a web module defaults to the web module's name without the .war extension.

Utility JARs

Common utility JAR (Java ARchive) or class files are common application code and are also used by other modules and deployment descriptors for a Java EE application client. Every application is unique and its requirements are different; it is not simple to determine where best to place a utility file.

To use the utility JARs that come with your packages, it is important to determine where these files should be included in the WebSphere Application Server environment and which classloader policy settings should be used. If the utility JARs are shared by more than one enterprise application, you can configure a shared library at the server, node, or cell scope, depending on where the applications using these shared libraries are, and associate it with all the applications that use it.

If multiple modules within the application need this utility file, you can place the utility file in the root directory of the EAR, and modify the manifest.mf file to reference the utility JAR. After you place the utility file in the correct location, you can alter the classloader settings to use a utility file that is already included with WebSphere Application Server.

For example, Apache Log4j is a popular logging implementation to perform logging from both the EJB module and the web modules. It is tempting to configure log4j as a utility JAR so you have only a single copy of it in your EAR or keep the JAR file in each EJB and web module. For more information about this topic, see *WebSphere Application Server V6.1: Classloader Problem Determination*, REDP-4307.

RAR (Resource Adapter)

A resource adapter is a system-level software driver, also called a *connector module*, that a Java application uses to connect to a back-end enterprise information system (EIS), such as CICS, SAP, and PeopleSoft. RAR files are packaged as a standard Java archive with a .rar file extension. It also contains a mandatory deployment descriptor file named ra.xml that is in the module's META-INF directory.

Figure 3-6 illustrates the preferred way of packaging an application.

EAF	ł					
	META-INF/application.xml					
	Log4j.jar					
		utility.jar				
	EJB					
		META-INF/MANIFEST.MF				
		Manifest-Version: 1.0 Class-Path: log4j.jar utility.jar				
	10/0	D				
	VVA	ĸ				
		META-INF/MANIFEST.MF Manifest-Version: 1.0 Class-Path: log4j.jar utility.jar ejb.jar				

Figure 3-6 Preferred packaging structure of a Java EE application

The migration and creation of the package can be better accomplished by using Rational Application Developer V8.5. When you use Rational Application Developer V8.5, you can look for any potential migration problems easily, and it assists you with the creation of the configuration of the server.

**Tip:** If you are moving a project into Rational Application Developer, export the project from your source Eclipse as an EAR file that includes the source, and then import this file into Rational Application Developer. If you choose to import the file as an existing project, you must manually enable the Project Facets for WebSphere (co-existence) and WebSphere (extended).

#### **Migration problems**

In Java EE 6 applications, EJB 3.1 content can be packaged and deployed as part of a WAR file. A bean that is packaged inside a WAR module has the same behavior as a bean that is packaged inside an EJB JAR module.

**Tip:** Always include the version number of libraries, frameworks, and applications in either the MANIFEST.MF or the name of the file. During our migration process, we were unable to identify the version of many frameworks. Knowing the version number is critical when you need support.

During the migration of the sample applications that contain a previous Java EE specification, we discovered the following packaging-related problems:

► EJB module references classes in the WAR module

The application worked on JBoss because of the JBoss Unified classloader flat hierarchy. It stops working when deployed to WebSphere Application Server V8.5, because the EJB cannot view what the WAR module contains.

**Tip:** The EJB module should not depend on classes in the web module. This situation creates a dependency that does not work on platforms other than JBoss. Extract these classes from the web application module and put them in a utility JAR. Use the META-INF/MANIFEST.MF file to declare the dependency.

► EJB module references libraries that are in the WAR module

In one application, EJBs imported classes from both Apache Axis and Apache Struts. The required JAR files are in the web modules WEB-INF/1ib folder and are only visible to that module.

**Tip:** Dependencies on libraries that are shared between Java EE modules in an application are in the root of the EAR file. The modules that have the dependencies should declare the dependency by using the META-INF/MANIFEST.MF file.

You can place common JARs in a shared library in WebSphere and set the scope to **Application**. All modules in the EAR file are able to use such libraries. Shared libraries can also be set at the server scope.

# 3.2.2 Java source code and JSP file issues

Many of the issues that are related to the Java source code are related to specific vendor's implementations of specifications. Here is a list of changes that you might need to perform:

- ► JNDI-related:
  - Context Factory that is provided by WebSphere:

com.ibm.websphere.naming.WsnInitialContextFactory

- Provider URL, for example, corbaloc:iiop:<hostname>:2809 (or other if changed)
- Discard other JNDI properties specific to other application servers, such as in JBoss: java.naming.factory.url.pkgs
- Avoid using a .jsp extension for JSP fragments. Use .jspf instead. Every .jsp must compile.
- ► Use the correct case for tag/attribute names. Tag/attribute names are case-sensitive.

## 3.2.3 Usage of native code

Java allows the usage of native code. If your application code uses the Java Native Interface (JNI) code, be aware that the JNI allows Java code that runs in a virtual machine to operate with applications and libraries that are written in other languages, such as C, C++, and assembly. Using native code can cause problems when you migrate to a new operating system.

During migration assessment, discover whether an application is using native code. For example:

- Libraries in windows to manage services through WMI
- ► Usage of shell scripts capabilities in an UNIX environment
- Integration with a device
- Any other library that makes usage of native code

Sometimes migration happens in many areas, including operating systems, so make the code portable after you move to the new server. Migrating applications that make usage of native code might also require the native code to be recompiled, for example, in a migration from a 32-bit environment to a 64-bit environment. In addition, changes in the Java code that call the JNI API might be needed as the JNI specifications can change from version to version.

Additionally, when you define shared libraries, if a native path for loading JNI libraries is set, check it as well.

# 3.2.4 Database-related issues

In our migration examples, we used applications that were developed for and running on various databases, including HSQL and MySQL. We migrated these databases to IBM DB2 Universal Database<sup>™</sup> V10.1 Express Edition. This section describes the issues that we encountered and the solutions to them:

Migrating database schemas

Most issues with migrating database schemas are easy to solve either by manually editing the DDL or SQL scripts or by running them through a tool.

For more information about MySQL migration to DB2, see *MySQL to DB2 Conversion Guide*, SG24-7093.

In our example, the following problems were the most difficult:

- Data type overflow

When you move one database to DB2 from MySQL, we changed the data type of one column from DATE to TIMESTAMP, because the application was inserting TIMESTAMP.

- Automatic primary key generation

MySQL supports AUTO\_INCREMENT columns. The DB2 equivalent for this column is the *identity* column. We changed the schema to use identity columns.

Migrating J2EE 1.4 CMPs

In our migration examples, we mapped CMPs to the existing database schemas. We used the Rational Application Developer V8.5 EJB to RDB mapping tool, which supports the following options:

Top down

This option creates a database schema from existing CMPs.

- Bottom up

By using the bottom up approach, you can generate CMPs from an existing database schema.

Meet-in-the-middle

You can use this option to map the CMPs to database tables and columns automatically. The tool tries to match column and table names to the CMP. If the column or table names do not match, you can create the mapping manually with the Mapping Editor.

Primary key generation

Both JBoss and Oracle WebLogic contain vendor-specific EJB extensions that provide support for automatic primary key generation, as described in 3.1.3, "Using vendor-specific features" on page 65.

**Migrating from Oracle to DB2:** If you are migrating your application from Oracle to DB2, see *Oracle to DB2 Conversion Guide: Compatibility Made Easy*, SG24-7736.

# 3.2.5 Java EE application clients

A Java EE application client is a stand-alone client that runs in a separate process from the application server. The client is given access to resources in the WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Java EE Client Container. The Java EE application client can be used to communicate with EJBs or other resources that are deployed on the application server. For example, you can use a graphical Swing application that calls EJB beans on an application server. There are several use cases where Java EE application clients are appropriate:

- As an alternative user interface for the application
- Running unit tests
- Administrative tasks

Migrating Java EE application clients is not covered in this book. This book provides only an overview of the options that are provided by WebSphere Application Server V8.5.

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Java EE application clients are run by running the following command:

<was\_home>/bin/launchClient.bat client.ear

The script sets up all the necessary class path and configuration variables and runs the Java EE application client, which must be packaged as an EAR file.

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 supports several different application client environments. The following application client environments are available:

Java EE client

This client is a Java application program that accesses EJB beans, JDBC databases, and JMS queues using the Java EE client container.

The Java EE application client provides the following components:

- XML deployment descriptors
- Java EE naming (java:comp/env), including EJB references and resource references
- Thin clients

Thin application clients provide a more lightweight alternative to Java EE application clients. Thin clients do not support a Client Container, and to communicate with the WebSphere Application Server, the RMI-IIOP protocol is used. They do not have access to all the services provided by WebSphere.

For example, JNDI lookups do not have access to java:comp/env. Instead, the thin client must provide the fully qualified path, including the physical location (Example 3-3).

Example 3-3 Thin client looking up an EJB deployed on a single server

```
...
context = new InitialContext(env);
remote =
(CustomerServiceRemote)context.lookup("com.ibm.itso.CustomerServiceRemote");
...
```

To run thin clients, you need to install the Java EE and Java thin application client, which is part of the WebSphere Application Server V8.5 installation package and can be installed separately.

For more information about how to run and develop thin clients, see the WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Information Center:

http://www14.software.ibm.com/webapp/wsbroker/redirect?version=phil&product=was
-nd-mp&topic=welc6tech\_cli\_dev

Applet application client

The Applet application client provides a browser-based Java run time capable of interacting with enterprise beans directly, instead of indirectly through a servlet. A Java applet that is embedded in an HTML document runs in a web browser.

ActiveX to EJB Bridge application client

The ActiveX application client allows ActiveX programs to access enterprise beans through a set of ActiveX automation objects. The ActiveX application client uses the Java Native Interface (JNI) architecture to programmatically access the Java virtual machine (JVM) API. The ActiveX to EJB Bridge is supported on Windows systems only.

For detailed capabilities about each client container, search on "Client Application" at the Information Center, or go to the following website:

http://www14.software.ibm.com/webapp/wsbroker/redirect?version=phil&product=was-nd
-mp&topic=tcli developactivex

Several types of clients are installed either with WebSphere Application Server or, optionally, with the Application Client for WebSphere Application Server (Figure 3-7).



Figure 3-7 Clients that are provided for WebSphere Application Server

# 3.3 J2EE to Java EE migration considerations

Java EE is growing and evolving for the first release of specifications and new features are defined periodically with a new Java EE specification.

J2EE 1.4 solved many of the problems of the previous versions. The main change to the J2EE 1.4 platform was the strong integration of web services. J2EE components could interact with web services and implement them in a standard by using Java API for XML Remote Procedure Calls (JAX-RPC) and SOAP with Attachments API for Java (SAAJ 1.1). Other than web services, the major changes in EJB 2.1 include important enhancements to EJB-QL, a new timer service, and the extension of Message-Driven Beans (MDBs) to support any type of messaging system (not just JMS).

It was a significant transformation from J2EE to Java EE. EJB 3.0 was introduced as a new business component development model, the old EJB 2.x Entity Bean model was replaced by JPA as the persistence module, JAX-RPC was replaced by JAX-WS 2.0 as the SOAP web services API, and JSF was introduced as the standard presentation tier framework.

Java EE 5 clearly focused on reducing complexity by using annotations, POJO programming, zero-configuration systems, and freedom from XML complexity. Java language annotations simplify development of Java EE applications. By using annotations, many applications can avoid deployment descriptors. Java EE 5 succeeded because of these changes.

Java EE 6 is another major step and includes a rich set of innovations, such as new APIs, Contexts and Dependency Injection (CDI) 1.0, WebBeans 1.0, JAX-RS1.1, and Java Servlet 3.0. The main themes of Java EE 6 are pruning and profiles. Java EE 6 begins the elimination of APIs that are outdated, not well supported, or not widely deployed to make the platform more lightweight. Small to medium range Java web applications do not need the full Java EE functionality. For example, the SOA applications that would use features like transactions, persistence, messaging, and web services, but have no need for presentation layers like JSF or JSP. Profiles are designed to address this issue. A subset of Java EE APIs is collected as a profile that is used to better organize the increasingly complex world of web services standards. The Liberty profile that is part of WebSphere Application Server 8.5 is built based on this concept.

Table 3-2 shows more module version details.

Specification/API	J2EE	Java EE 5	Java EE 6
Web	2.2	2.5	3.0
EJB	1.1 You can migrate EJB 1.1 to EJB 3 or EJB 3.1, providing that there are no CMP or BMP beans (EJB 1. x and 2. x projects with CMP or BMP beans can be left as is in a Java EE EAR).	3.0	3.1
JDBC	3.0	4.0	4.1

Table 3-2Java EE version numbers

Specification/API	J2EE	Java EE 5	Java EE 6
JCA	1.0	1.5	1.6
JPA	n/a	2.0	2.0
JMS	1.1	1.1	1.1
Java Servlet	2.4	2.5	3.0
JSP	2.0	2.1	2.1
JSF	1.0	1.2	2.0
CDI	n/a	n/a	1.0
JAX-RPC	1.1	1.1	1.1
JAX-WS	n/a	2.1	2.2
JAX-RS	n/a	n/a	1.1
Bean Validation	n/a	n/a	1.0
SIP	n/a	1.1	1.1
EAR	1.2	5.0	6.0
Application Client	1.2	5.0	6.0

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 supports applications that are written to Java EE 6 and supports portable applications that are written for the previous Java EE versions, specifically Java EE 5, Java 2 Platform, Enterprise Edition (J2EE) 1.4, and J2EE 1.3.

If you plan to maintain your applications, consider migrating them to Java EE 6. This way, you are up to date, and the changes in the next Java EE specifications are easier to carry out.

For more information about Java EE 6 new opportunities, see *Experience JEE Using Rational Application Developer V7.5*, SG24-7827.

## **Specifications level migration**

**Important:** Upgrading your version of Java SE either manually or by using the Migration Toolkit does not change the Java EE specification requirements of your application. If you are migrating your application from other Java EE application servers to WebSphere Application Server, the suggested approach is to first perform the platform migration, ensure that the application runs on WebSphere Application Server without any problems, and then proceed with the Java EE specification migration. Specification migration should be done *after* the platform migration, because WebSphere Application Server is compatible with earlier versions of Java EE.

If you decide to upgrade the Java EE level of your application, you can use the Java EE specifications upgrade wizard within the Rational Application Developer. We are going to explain how this upgrade is done in this section. You can use the Migration Toolkit for Java SE level migration, not for Java EE level migration.

The Java EE upgrade wizard supports migration from J2EE 1.2, 1.3, and 1.4 specifications to the Java EE 5.0 specification level for all Java EE module types. The wizard also supports migration from Java EE 5.0 to the Java EE 6.0 specification level for all Java EE module types.

Using the Java EE specifications upgrade wizard within the Rational Application Developer V8.5, complete the following steps:

- 1. In the Enterprise Explorer view, right-click the project that you want to upgrade, and select Java EE → Specifications Upgrade wizard.
- Follow the instructions on the Java EE Specifications Upgrade wizard Welcome Page and click Next.
- 3. In the J2EE version field, select the Java EE version level that you want to upgrade to and click **Next**.
- 4. Select the modules that you want to upgrade, and click Finish (Figure 3-8).

🕽 Java EE Specifications Migration Wizard
Enterprise Application The following enterprise application project will be migrated.
Enterprise Application Project: trade3wls
🔁 trade3wls
J2CE Version J1.4
All EJB, web, and application client modules referenced by the enterprise application are automatically selected for migration.
Select the Finish button to accept the default migration options for all module projects, or customize the migration options for each type of module project on the following pages.
Omega         Mext >         Einish         Cancel

Figure 3-8 Java EE Specifications Migration wizard - J2EE Version selection

Figure 3-9 through Figure 3-12 on page 78 show the modifications done by the Rational Application Developer Jmigration process automatically. The specification level of modules before and after the migration (Figure 3-9 and Figure 3-10 on page 78) and descriptors file in the application package before and after the migration (Figure 3-11 on page 78 and Figure 3-12 on page 78) are seen within the Rational Application Developer V8.5 as follows.

Project Facet	Version
Add WebSphere XDoclet support	6.1
EJB Module	2.1 -
EJBDoclet (XDoclet)	1.2.3 -
Java	1.4 🔹

Figure 3-9 Increases the version level of the project facet - before migration

Project Facet	Version	
Add WebSphere XDoclet support	6.1	
EJB Module	3.1 -	
EJBDodet (XDodet)	1.2.3 -	
	1.1	
🐨 🗹 Java	1.6 •	

Figure 3-10 Increases the version level of the project facet - after migration

🖻 🗁 META-INF	
🦥 🧶 ejb-jar.xml	
🛛 🗴 ibm-ejb-jar-bnd.xmi	
MANIFEST.MF	

Figure 3-11 Converts .xmi files to .xml files - before migration

 🚊 🔁 META-INF
📑 ejb-jar.xml
💿 ibm-ejb-jar-bnd.xml
MANIFEST.MF

Figure 3-12 Converts .xmi files to .xml files - after migration

# 3.3.1 Java Message Service

Java Message Service messaging is a common issue when you migrate from other vendors to WebSphere Application Server V8.5. Each vendor has its own way to implement specifications and there are many approaches on how to use messaging in applications.

Changes in the JMS 1.1 should preserve compatibility with JMS 1.0.2b and simplify and unify the programming API. Check your old application to see if you can use these new JMS 1.1 functions.

Most of the issues that are related to JMS are ensuring that all resource configurations available in the old environment are set up in WebSphere Application Server V8.5. The systems administrator should take on that assignment, as he is likely receiving education about maintaining and supporting this new environment. 3.4, "Runtime migration issues" on page 82 describes more about runtime migration and resource configurations.

## 3.3.2 JavaServer Pages

JavaServer Pages (JSPs) might vary from vendor to vendor. WebSphere Application Server V8.5 is more restricted about validating DTDs and schemas and does not allow deviations (such as case-sensitive names).

Another common issue with migrating JSP pages is that a few containers have implicit importation of classes in packages, such as java.util, and requires updating JSPs with import statements. Otherwise, the migration is straightforward.

The Java EE 6 platform requires JSP 2.2.

# 3.3.3 Servlets

Servlets are as old as Java EE implementations, which is why no issues were raised during our migration. Because you are going to a new Java EE implementation with great improvements in code maintainability, you might not want to lose the annotations.

The usage of new annotations (such as @servlet) helps avoid problems for teams that face issues in updating deployment descriptors. If you do not want to maintain XDoclet, this situation is a good opportunity to get rid of it.

Here are the new Java Servlet technology features that are included with the Java EE 6 platform:

- Annotation support
- Asynchronous support
- ► Ease of configuration
- Enhancements to existing APIs
- Pluggability

The Java EE 6 platform requires Servlet 3.0.

# 3.3.4 JavaServer Faces

JavaServer Faces application migrations that were done during our labs did not present any issues other than the ones related to JSP pages for Java EE 6 applications. This situation does not mean that there are no issues with migrating JSF applications. Each vendor has its own implementation of JSF for Java EE 6.

In previous versions of WebSphere Application Server and with other vendors, JSF applications had to import JARs into web modules or place them in the class path, such as in the JBoss 1 ib directory. For more information about how to handle those issues, see the appropriate vendor-specific chapters in this book.

Here are the new features of JavaServer Faces that are included with the Java EE 6 platform:

- The ability to use annotations instead of a configuration file to specify managed beans and other components
- Facelets, a display technology that replaces JavaServer Pages (JSP) technology using XHTML files
- Ajax support
- Composite components
- Implicit navigation

The Java EE 6 platform requires JavaServer Faces 2.0 and Expression Language 2.2.

#### 3.3.5 Web services

Migrating web services involve several areas of expertise and resource skills. During our migrations, we found that there are multiple approaches for web services migrations. There are three main areas of changes to be performed:

- Development environment and migration of IDEs
- Web services clients
- Web services deployment

One of the most important considerations when you migrate a web services application is the URL you use because you might need to update references to these services (in the WSDL file).

You must consider the various approaches, depending upon your environment:

The first approach is to update and redeploy the application clients (the consumers for your web services, represented by number 1 in Figure 3-13). For this approach, you must rewrite the application client and the references that point to the new WSDL provider. Depending on how many consumers use the service, it can take too much software development and deployment effort. If the web service is published on the Internet, this approach is not viable.



Figure 3-13 Typical infrastructure for web services applications

- If your web service is developed and installed over a three tier infrastructure, you can also make changes only on the upper tier, such as a Load Balancer, NAT, or Reverse Proxy devices (see number 2 in Figure 3-13). In this case, you must reconfigure these devices to point to the new URL for the web service.
- Looking to the first tier in your architecture (see 3a and 3b in Figure 3-13), you probably have web servers as front-end devices for static pages, and another web application and proxy for the application server itself. For example, if you use IBM HTTP Server, you can use the HTTP modules to replace the old URLs with the new ones. For more information, visit the Apache HTTP Modules (mod\_redirect, mod\_proxy, mod\_rewrite, and mod\_alias) web page at the Apache HTTP website:

http://httpd.apache.org/docs/2.2/mod/
Because you are likely moving from one application server to another (layer 4 in Figure 3-13 on page 80), you should consider development issues when you build it on Rational Application Developer. If possible, try to avoid changes on the URLs (server name and server port) and path names (context root and servlet mappings). If you do not change these items, it is easier to migrate and keep connectivity with other client applications. It is not possible to keep the same URLs because you might need to move to other servers or even to another infrastructure. In these cases, you should consider the other options to remap the URLs.

#### 3.3.6 Java Persistence API

Persistence is vital to enterprise applications because of the required access to relational databases. The Java Persistence API (JPA) provides a mechanism for managing persistence and object-relational mapping and functions for the EJB 3.0 and EJB 3.1 specifications. JPA standardizes the important task of object-relational mapping by using annotations or XML to map objects into one or more tables of a database. To further simplify the persistence programming model:

- ► The EntityManager API can persist, update, retrieve, or remove objects from a database.
- The EntityManager API and object-relational mapping metadata handle most of the database operations without requiring you to write JDBC or SQL code to maintain persistence.
- JPA provides a query language, extending the independent EJB querying language (also known as JPQL), that you can use to retrieve objects without writing SQL queries specific to the database you are working with.

There are two built-in JPA persistence providers that are included in WebSphere Application Server V8.5:

- ► JPA for WebSphere Application Server
- Apache OpenJPA

Apache OpenJPA is a compliant implementation of the JPA specification. Using OpenJPA as a base implementation, WebSphere Application Server employs extensions to provide more features and utilities for WebSphere Application Server customers. Because JPA for WebSphere Application Server is built from OpenJPA, all OpenJPA function, extensions, and configurations are unaffected by the WebSphere Application Server extensions. You do not need to change OpenJPA applications to use these applications in WebSphere Application Server. If an explicit provider element is not specified in the persistence unit definitions (persistence.xm1), the application server uses the default persistence. In addition to two providers, you can also use the third-party persistence providers.

After you decide which persistence implementation best fits your needs, you should specify the provider in the persistence unit definition to avoid any incompatibilities. Depending on which provider is used, you might need to set the classloader order for your application to load the classes with the application classloader first, especially if a third-party JPA provider is defined.

To learn how to configure the JPA persistence provider, see the following topic:

http://www14.software.ibm.com/webapp/wsbroker/redirect?version=phil&product=was-nd -mp&topic=tejb\_configjpa

#### 3.4 Runtime migration issues

Runtime migration is a full-time job for migration specialists. It involves several areas, roles, and responsibilities. The following list details groups that might be interested in runtime migration:

- Support teams:
  - Operating system
  - Web middleware
  - Database
- Test teams
- Deployment specialists
- Infrastructure architects
- DNS and network teams
- Security groups
- Project managers
- Legacy systems
- Application focal points
- Others

There is a whole set of activities that must run in parallel with application migration:

- Installation
- Configuration of all hardware and software, operating systems, database products, and so on

Infrastructure architects must design solutions for the new environment. They need to decide about which topology to implement, the interfaces with other systems, compatibility checks, such as operating system level versus WebSphere Application Server V8.5 or JDBC drivers for databases, firewall rules, SOA infrastructure, and other related infrastructure components.

#### 3.4.1 Migrating other products at the same time

Building a new environment is not in the scope of this book, but we do present a few considerations about this matter.

Usually, migrations of operating system levels are straightforward, such as migrating from IBM AIX® 5L<sup>™</sup> V5.3 or AIX V6.1 to AIX V7 to meet the prerequisites of WebSphere Application Server V8.5. Other cases (such as migrating to UNIX implementations) are more challenging because of the features that might be used by the previous environment and a few commands and parameters that might be different in the new version. The more problematic migration is from Windows to UNIX and vice versa, which is a totally separate environment and requires changes in the application, resolution of education issues, and changes in the scripts that are used to automate support activities.

You have the same situation when you migrate other components (such as databases or messaging products). New drivers must be used, new features must be discovered, deprecated functions must change in both application code and resource configurations, and other features might fill gaps that were not covered on the previous environment.

You need to take into account all these factors when you migrate from one application server to another application server.

#### 3.4.2 Resource definitions

Java EE containers provide implementation of specifications that developers can use to interact with databases, the systems integration bus, and web services. They also provide additional configurations to set up security for application users and groups, authentication mechanisms and providers, SSL certificates, and administrative roles and functions. The following sections present preferred practices for resource definitions during an application server migration project.

#### JMS resources

A common issue in migrating JMS resources is that the way each application server configures JMS resources varies from vendor to vendor.

Before migrating JMS definition to WebSphere, you should decide which messaging engine to use to exchange messages asynchronously. WebSphere Application Server supports the following messaging providers:

- The WebSphere Application Server default messaging provider (which uses the service integration bus as the provider).
- The WebSphere MQ messaging provider (which uses your WebSphere MQ system as the provider).
- Third-party messaging providers that implement either a JCA Version 1.5 1.6 resource adapter or the ASF component of the JMS Version 1.1 specification.

Your applications can use the messaging resources from any of these JMS providers. In WebSphere Application Server V8.5, before you define or create the JMS resources (such as queues, topics, and connection factories), you can first create a service integration bus. A service integration bus in WebSphere Application Server V8.5 is the back end that is used by the default messaging provider.

**Listener ports:** The default messaging provider (SIB) does not use listener ports. The only applications that connect through listener ports to SIB would be using older WebSphere MQ type configurations, which are mainly for supporting WebSphere Application Server 5 type applications (the Version 5 default messaging provider) connecting through an MQClientLink. MDBs using SIB connect using activation specs, and MDBs connecting to WebSphere MQ messaging provider can connect through listener ports or activation specs. The Version 5 default messaging provider is removed from WebSphere Application Server V8.5.

For more information about messaging, including tutorials and samples, can be found at the Information Center at:

http://www14.software.ibm.com/webapp/wsbroker/redirect?version=phil&product=was-nd -mp&topic=welc6tech\_msg

#### JDBC resources

Reconfiguring the JDBC resources is probably the most common migration step between application servers. Generally, migrating from application servers might also require the migration of database products or versions, which requires JDBC drivers updates, so be sure to use the appropriate JDBC driver to avoid problems with new implementations for new databases. When you keep the database, ensure that you are using the correct driver as well.

JDBC drivers can be supplied by database vendors or by application server vendors. Use the drivers that are provided by the database vendor. Changing drivers is normally transparent to the applications, unless nonstandard extensions or driver-specific properties is not used. If applications are written to the standard JDBC (4.0), the specifications work correctly and require minimal migration effort.

In WebSphere Application Server V8.5, there are three configurations to be performed to set up a data source:

- ► The JDBC driver, which is usually ready to go for most databases
- J2C Authentication data, where you configure the user and password to be used to connect in the database
- The data source itself

For more information about configuring JDBC resources, see:

http://www14.software.ibm.com/webapp/wsbroker/redirect?version=phil&product=was-nd -mp&topic=welc6tech\_dat

#### Security resources

There are several areas where you configure security resources for your migrated applications and the administrative functions and roles, such as authentication mechanisms, authorization mechanisms, and security for web services.

Because this area is a sensitive one of migration that probably involves security standards that must be applied (such as ITCS 104 (Information Technology Security Standards, which are internal IBM security standards), you should see the appropriate reference materials that are available. A few basic configurations are shown in the product-specific migration chapters of this book.

For more information about security configurations and resources on WebSphere Application Server V8, see:

http://www14.software.ibm.com/webapp/wsbroker/redirect?version=phil&product=was-nd
-mp&topic=welc6topsecuring

Also, see WebSphere Application Server V7.0 Security Guide, SG24-7660.

#### JVM arguments, class path, and system properties

The runtime migration varies case-by-case because system administrators have their own way of managing configurations. A few use start script commands, others set up environmental variables in the process user ID profile, and others use specific configurations or behavior for the application servers.

Here are a few tips for you to try to avoid migration issues:

- Verify your startup scripts and check for JVM arguments.
- On UNIX machines, check the profile of the process ID for any related environmental configuration.
- On Windows machines, the user ID that you use is a non-administrator that you use to install WebSphere Application Server V8 on a Windows Vista, Windows 7, or Windows Server 2008 operating systems into the Program Files or Program Files (x86) directory with User Account Control (UAC) enabled. Otherwise, WebSphere Application Server does not function correctly.
- Open vendor-specific configuration files (such as server.xml in JBoss and config.xml in Weblogic) to check for more configurations.

- Understand how the old application server implements class path.
- ► Ensure that you know what JARs are extending your old application server libraries.

For more information about configuring process definitions, see *WebSphere Application Server V8: Administration and Configuration Guide*, SG24-7971.

#### 3.4.3 Development environment issues

Development environments and techniques that are used to compile, assemble, and deploy applications have several combinations that vary case-by-case. We see a few patterns of these techniques, such as using vendor-specific IDEs (Rational Application Developer V8.5), using Eclipse with a different sort of plug-ins, and a combination of Maven, Apache Ant, XDoclet, and other IDEs.

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 does not depend on any Integrated Development Environment (IDE), as it is a 100% compliant application server according to Java EE specifications. During our migrations, we used two approaches:

- Keep the existing development environment and manually adjust the configuration files and Apache Ant build files, and manually replace XDoclet tags, where applicable. Depending on which Java EE components, extensions that are based on the previous application server, and specific configurations that are used by the application code and deployment descriptors, the complexity of these changes might vary from a simple to a time-consuming exercise.
- Import applications into Rational Application Developer V8.5 and use the Migration Toolkit for Oracle WebLogic, Oracle Application Server, JBoss, or Apache Tomcat. Rational Application Developer V8.5 facilitates the migration of application servers, Java EE specifications (for example, J2EE 1.4 to Java EE 6), and known migration issues from WebLogic and JBoss to WebSphere Application Server V8.5.

#### 3.5 Interoperability and integrations

There are cases where we face external factors that contribute to migration complexity and require attention from all interested parties. These external factors are integrations with existing systems and interoperability between migrated applications that depend on other applications' functionality or services.

Interoperability is the ability of an application, system, or product to interact with another application, system, or product in a way that they can coexist without any special changes. For example, the application you are migrating might interface with an external CRM or ERP system through XML or web services. In this case, you must understand how the application interfaces with those external applications and determine if any change is required for the external application interfaces.

Another example is if you have IBM WebSphere Application Server V8.5 and Oracle WebLogic Vx in the same network without a firewall between them and you decide to migrate an Oracle WebLogic application to WebSphere Application Server V8.5. That application has a dependency on an EJB deployed in a second application that is hosted by the Oracle WebLogic Server. It is probably true that when you migrate the first application to WebSphere Application Server V8.5, no or minimum changes are required to have them working together. However, be aware that cross-server dependencies during migration can be challenging, as the J2EE specification leaves the implementation of the specifications up to individual vendors.

There are cases where you face problems with this approach (for example, choosing a sample application migration that is serving components or services to other applications, such as EJBs).

Migration complexity discussions require a good amount of time to decide how to move forward when there are integrations with existing systems. Integration is a sensitive topic in the middleware world, despite standards, tools, and a proven architecture that minimizes its complexity. When you manage or participate in a migration project, remember that integrations are not as easy as changing configurations or a few lines of code. Integrations require the revision of standards and compatibility. In many cases, the team should consider it a separate project.

## Part 3

## Migrating your applications to WebSphere Application Server V8.5

This part describes how to migrate your Oracle WebLogic Server, Oracle Application Server, Red Hat JBoss, and Apache Tomcat J2EE applications to WebSphere Application Server V8.5.

This part provides detailed information to plan migrations, suggested approaches for developing portable applications, and migration working examples for each of the platforms from which we migrated. The primary tool that is used in the migration scenarios that are covered in this book is the IBM WebSphere Application Server Migration Toolkit V3.5.

## 4

# Installation and configuration of the Application Migration Tools

This chapter provides information about the steps that are needed to install and configure the tools from the IBM WebSphere Application Server Migration Toolkit (Migration Toolkit), which guides you while you migrate your applications to IBM WebSphere Application Server V8.5. We explain the steps to be complete with both Eclipse and Rational Application Developer V8.5. To be able to choose between the two environments, we also explain the differences.

**Important:** This chapter does not explain how to install WebSphere Application Server V8.5. For information about how to install WebSphere Application Server V8.5, go to the WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Information Center, and search for the phrase "Installing and configuring your application server environment":

http://publib.boulder.ibm.com/infocenter/wasinfo/v8r5/index.jsp

This chapter describes the following topics:

- IBM WebSphere Application Server Migration Toolkit overview
- Installing the Application Migration Tools on Eclipse
- Installing the Application Migration Tools on Rational Application Developer V8.5
- Command-line installation
- Configuring the Application Migration Tools
- Troubleshooting

### 4.1 IBM WebSphere Application Server Migration Toolkit overview

Migration of an application from one platform to another normally requires much time and effort, because different platforms are developed using different ideas and concepts. Even Java itself is modified and used differently among the application servers that it runs on.

There are a series of steps that must be followed while you convert a Java EE application to make it run on an application server that is different from it was originally designed for (Figure 4-1). These steps include preliminary assessment and planning of migration, and modification of Java classes, XML files, deployment descriptors, JavaServer Pages (JSP) files, and so on. Thus, it is obvious that the migration process is a risky and costly operation.



Figure 4-1 Steps for planning and implementation for migrating an application

As you can see in Figure 4-2, application changes and testing is 42% of the whole migration process.



Figure 4-2 Migration aspects

The Migration Toolkit is a set of plug-ins for Eclipse and Rational Application Developer products, which reduces the cost and duration of application migration processes. It includes several migration tools, each of which can be used for migrating applications from different application servers. The Migration Toolkit includes the following migration tools:

- Application Migration Tool WebLogic to WebSphere (see "Application Migration Tool -WebLogic to WebSphere" on page 133)
- Application Migration Tool Oracle AS to WebSphere (see "Application Migration Tool -Oracle AS to WebSphere" on page 222)
- Application Migration Tool JBoss AS to WebSphere (see "Application Migration Tool -JBoss AS to WebSphere" on page 236)
- Application Migration Tool Apache Tomcat to WebSphere (see "Application Migration Tool - Apache Tomcat to WebSphere" on page 275)
- Application Migration Tool WebSphere Version to Version (see "Application Migration Tool - WebSphere Version to Version overview" on page 358)

These tools are based on IBM Rational Software Analyzer, which has code scanning capabilities that help identify code constructs that must be reviewed and possibly changed while you migrate an application.

The process of converting Java applications can involve modifying Java source code, JSP files, deployment descriptors and XML files, and class path information, which can be a costly and time-consuming process. The tools also have rules for Java SE version migration that identify migration issues that can occur when you change the version of the Java run time. There are additional rules to improve code regarding Java coding preferred practices.

The tool flags a number of known differences between applications that are hosted on Oracle WebLogic, JBoss, or Apache Tomcat and WebSphere Application Server. In many cases, the tool can automatically convert these key differences. If the tool is unable to perform the fix, it flags the file in question to provide insight as to where changes are needed and how to perform a manual fix.

In summary, the Migration Toolkit is useful in migrating applications to WebSphere Application Server because it simplifies the migration process and speeds time to value for developers.

**Tip:** The IBM Education Assistant includes a multimedia educational module at no additional cost for the WebSphere Application Server Migration Toolkit. For more information, see:

http://publib.boulder.ibm.com/infocenter/ieduasst/v1r1m0/topic/com.ibm.iea.wasm
t/wasmt/3.5/0verview.html

#### 4.1.1 Migration Toolkit basics

The application migration tools in the Migration Toolkit have predefined rules and rule sets, each specific to the tool's target application server (Figure 4-3). After you create an analysis configuration for an application, run an analysis to start scanning the application based on these rules, to discover parts of the application that match these rules. The tool then lists the changes that are required to migrate the application. Many of the rules have a self-correcting capability, which means that the migration tool can fix the issue automatically. For the rules that the tool cannot fix, it provides detailed help that describes the required changes that need to be implemented.

🖸 Software Analyzer Configurations		
Create, manage, and run con Select a range of inputs from the sco	infigurations pe tab and at least one rule from the rules tab to create an analysis configuration.	
Image: Software Analyzer         Image: S	Name:       New_configuration         Import       Set       Import         Export       Analysis Domains and Rules         Import       VebLogic to WebSphere code migration [35/35]         Import       VebLogic to WebSphere code migratin [35/35] <t< td=""></t<>	
Filter matched 2 of 2 items	Appiy Revert	

Figure 4-3 Example configuration for migrating from WebLogic to WebSphere

After the changes are done, you should see no red Xs (Figure 4-4) next to the name of the application in Enterprise Explorer, which is a sign that there should be no errors that prevent the application from running on the target application server.



Figure 4-4 Modules with red Xs indicating that there are one or more errors

In Figure 4-5, you can see the workflow of migrating a competitive application server application (or a previous version of WebSphere Application Server) to a WebSphere Application Server V8.5 application.



Figure 4-5 A high-level flow of how the Migration Toolkit works

The Migration Toolkit is based on the following concepts:

- Rules, which are known issues that might prevent the application from running on the target application server. The Migration Toolkit scans the applications using these rules.
- Rule sets, which are sets of rules that are grouped to accomplish a specific task. For example, rule sets are provided for each type of competitive application server migration and to do more general tasks, such as identify violations in Java preferred practices. These rule sets can be imported and exported between different development environments.
- Code Reviews, which organize rules by the type of documents that are scanned, such as Java, JSPs, XMLs, and Manifest (.MF) files.
- Quick Fixes, which are actions that are taken to fix the migration issue in the application. You can choose to quick fix all the issues, a single issue, or all issues that are placed in a single category.

You can use the Migration Toolkit to create multiple configurations, which eliminate the requirement of deleting and re-creating configurations each time you plan a migration analysis for different application servers or migration strategies.

The Migration Toolkit can also generate reports for you to better estimate the scope of the migration of your applications. The reports summarize your past analysis records, and provide a high-level output of the application code's quality, complexity, and structure. You can generate an analysis report after you run an analysis by clicking the icon in the right pane in the Software Analyzer Results window (Figure 4-6). You can also generate reports for your historical scans.

Software Analyzer Reporting	
Create a Report	
Generate an analysis report for the currently selected result element. Select the report type, then choose the file location for finished report.	
Select Report	Weblasia OND DDDMO halfings C
Java Code Review Results	WebLogic_CMP_RDBMS_noldings_S
Java Code Review Ignored Results Java Code Review Severity Summary	LOImpl java:13
Java Code Review Severity By Category	va:23
	II9_ELOImpl.java:13
	Olmpl.java:13
	LOImpl.java:13
	-
Report Description	JSP Code Review
Generate a report showing all results generated by Java Code Review. Rules that	
	ns]
	results in 5,410ms]
Select Report Type	
UK Cancel	

Figure 4-6 Software Analyzer Reporting pane for creating analysis reports

For Java code reviews, you can create the analysis report as PDF or HTML formats. You see an HTML report example in Figure 4-7. For Java, XML, JSP, and class path code reviews, you can export the analysis records in XML format.



Figure 4-7 Sample HTML report

At the time of the writing of this book, the latest version of the Migration Toolkit is V3.5, and it currently supports the following migration operations:

- Migrating applications to WebSphere Application Server Version 7, 8, or 8.5
- Migrating WebLogic Java, JSP, and class path artifacts (Java EE 5 and earlier versions)
- Migrating WebLogic deployment descriptors (Java EE 5 and earlier versions)
- Migrating JBoss Java and class path artifacts (Java EE 5 and earlier versions)
- Migrating JBoss deployment descriptors (Java EE 5 and earlier versions)
- ► Migrating OracleAS Java and JSP artifacts (Java EE 5 and earlier versions)
- Migrating OracleAS deployment descriptors (Java EE 5 and earlier versions)
- Migrating Apache Tomcat Java and JSP artifacts (Java EE 5 and earlier versions)
- Migrating Apache Tomcat Context XML information that is contained in the application
- Providing assistance for migrating applications using third-party frameworks (Spring, Hibernate, and Seam)
- Migrating applications to later Java SE run times, from Java SE 1.4, 5, or 6 to either Java SE 6 or 7

The *Migration Toolkit is publicly available at no additional cost*, with detailed documentation to ease the migration of Java EE applications from various application servers to WebSphere Application Server. Support for the Migration Toolkit is also included for WebSphere Application Server customers.

In summary, knowledge-based migration assistance that is provided by the Migration Toolkit improves the reliability of the migration. No more wading through documentation and source code or performing trial-and-error tests to determine what breaks when you migrate your application.

#### **Getting help**

You can use a context-sensitive function while you work with the Migration Toolkit. When you work on either Eclipse or Rational Application Developer, press F1 to view help topics about the current issue (Figure 4-8). You can also see the Help contents by clicking **Help**  $\rightarrow$  **Dynamic Help**.

Create, manage,	and run configurations	
Select a range of	inputs from the scope tab and at least one rule from the rules tab to	Contents 🚿 Search
create an analysis	configuration.	Related Topics 💷 Bookmarks
	Name: New_configuration	Index     can import the rule set if your     development team uses a specific
	Scope 🤟 Kules	set of providers, rule categories,
New conf	Rule Sets: Set Import Export	and rules to analyze source code.
22	Analysis Domains and Rules	Export: Click to export a file that describes a custom rule set. You can export a specific set of
	Class-Path Review [0/1]	providers, rule categories, and
	Java Architectural Discovery [0/24]	rules if you want to create a
	State Code Review [0/213]	software development team to
		use.
		Details: Click to review and change the details of the rule that you have selected in the Analysis Domains and Rules tree.
		Rule sets: Type the name of a
		custom rule set, or click one of the defined rule sets: then click
< III	Apply	Set to configure the providers,
Filter matched 2 (	Арру	rule categories, and rules to
		More results:
?	Analyze Close	Search for Rules

Figure 4-8 Help view

To get online information about the Migration Toolkit, visit:

http://www.ibm.com/developerworks/websphere/downloads/migtoolkit/index.html

The Migration Toolkit forum is available to provide input and to answer questions: http://www.ibm.com/developerworks/forums/forum.jspa?forumID=2106

#### 4.2 Installing the Application Migration Tools on Eclipse

Each of the Application Migration Tools are installed as Eclipse features. Here we describe the steps for installing the Application Migration Tools into the Eclipse environment.

**Tip:** Uninstall Versions 1.x, 2.0, or 3.5 Beta of the Migration Tools before you install Version 3.5. Versions 2.1, 3.0, and 3.1 can be upgraded to Version 3.5.

First, you should download the Application Migration Tool that is suitable for the application to be migrated. We selected WebLogic to WebSphere Application Migration Tool for our example. For more information about the analysis phase, see the corresponding chapters in this book. The migration steps for each application server are explained in detail in its own chapter.

You can download and install the Application Migration Tools by completing the following steps:

1. Download the Application Migration Tool suitable for the application server to be migrated from. We used the Application Migration Tool - WebLogic to WebSphere for our example. The Application Migration Tools and documentation can be downloaded at:

http://www.ibm.com/developerworks/websphere/downloads/migtoolkit/compmig.html

- 2. From the menu bar, click Help  $\rightarrow$  Install New Software.
- 3. In the Install window, click Add.
- 4. In the Add Site window, enter the following information (Figure 9-6):
  - Name: Enter an appropriate name for the tool, for example, Application Migration Tool
     WebLogic to WebSphere
  - Location: Enter the location of the compressed file that you downloaded, for example, C:\MigrationToolkit\Application\_Migration\_Tool\_WebLogic\_to\_WebSphere\_v3.5.0. zip.

O Install	
Available Software Select a site or enter the location of a site.	
Work with: type or select a site Find more software by working with the <u>"Available Software</u>	Add
type filter text	
Name Version	
(i) There i O Add Repository	<u> </u>
Name: Application Migration Tool - Weblogic to WebSphere Local	
Location:   ration_Tool_WebLogic_to_WebSphere_v3.5.0.zip!/	
OK Cancel	
Details	=
Show only the latest versions of available software	ed
Group items by category What is <u>already installed</u> ?	
Contact all update sites during install to find required software	
	Š
Back Next > Finish	Cancel

Figure 4-9 Add Repository window for adding the Application Migration Tool as a repository

5. In the Install window, select the plug-in that you want to install (Figure 9-7). Click Next.

O Install		
Available Software		
Check the items that you wish to install.		
Marketter Marketter Teal, Weblack to WebCober	ion flor (C. Doormonto and Cottin 🔲	
Work with: Application Migration Looi - Weblogic to Websphere -	Jar:file:/C:/Documents and Settin	Add
Find more software by w	orking with the <u>"Available Software Sites</u>	<u>preferences.</u>
type filter text		
Name	Version	
E 🗹 💷 Application Migration Tools		
🖌 🐼 Application Migration Tool - Common Feature	3.5.0.v20120427_1433	
🗹 🖗 Application Migration Tool - Framework Feature	3.5.0.v20120427_1433	
🖌 🐼 Application Migration Tool - JRE Feature	3.5.0.v20120427_1433	
🖌 🐼 Application Migration Tool - WebLogic to WebSphere	a 3.5.0.v20120427_1433	
J		
Select All Deselect All 4 items selected		

Figure 4-10 Plug-in selection in the Install window

- 6. Accept the license agreement and click **Finish** to begin the installation.
- 7. After the installation is completed, click **Restart Now** to restart Rational Application Developer.

The Application Migration Tool is now installed and ready to be used. You can analyze your applications by clicking **Run**  $\rightarrow$  **Analysis** and creating the appropriate run configuration. You can find details about the analysis phase in the chapters that are related to the application server you want to migrate from.

### 4.3 Installing the Application Migration Tools on Rational Application Developer V8.5

This section describes the steps to install the Application Migration Tools on Rational Application Developer V8.5. Complete the following steps:

1. Download the Application Migration Tool suitable for the application server to be migrated from. We used the Application Migration Tool - WebLogic to WebSphere for our example. The Application Migration Tools and documentation can be downloaded at:

http://www.ibm.com/developerworks/websphere/downloads/migtoolkit/compmig.html

2. Rational Application Developer should automatically discover the local WebSphere Application Server V8.5 at startup after it is installed (Figure 4-11). Check if the information is correct and click **Finish**. You can find your created server in the **Servers** tab.

O Configuring the WebSphere A	Application Server	
Runtime environment and p	profile settings	
There are no profiles associated wit	th these server runtime environments.	
ī		
$\beta$ ased on your Installation Manager settings, you have the following installations of WebSphere Application Server V8.5:		
Add WebSphere Application Serv	ver V8.5 configuration to the workspace	
Package group name:	roup name: IBM WebSphere Application Server V8.5	
Installation directory:	C:\Program Files\IBM\WebSphere\AppServer	
JRE for the runtime environment:	t: WebSphere Application Server JRE 1.6, 32 bit	
Profile name:	AppSrv01	
The profile is secured, specify the	authentication settings:	
User ID: wasadmin		
Password:		
?	Finish	ancel

Figure 4-11 Application server settings

- 3. If Rational Application Developer does not discover your server, you can create it manually, as described in "Installation verification" on page 115.
- 4. For the rest of the installation, you can follow the steps that are described in 4.2, "Installing the Application Migration Tools on Eclipse" on page 96, starting with step 2 on page 97.

**Installing the Application Migration Tools:** The steps for installing the Application Migration Tools on Eclipse and Rational Application Developer are identical, except for the discovery step (step 2 in 4.3, "Installing the Application Migration Tools on Rational Application Developer V8.5" on page 98).

#### 4.4 Command-line installation

The Application Migration Tools can also be installed by using the command line. You should download the appropriate application migration tool first, then you should run the commands in Example 4-1.

Example 4-1 Installing the Migration Toolkit through the command line

```
<installLocation>\eclipsec.exe
-application org.eclipse.equinox.p2.director -metadataRepository
jar:file:C:/<amtDownloadDir>/Application_Migration_Tool_Weblogic_to_WebSphere_vn.n
.n.zip!/ -artifactRepository
jar:file:C:/<amtDownloadDir>/Application Migration Tool Weblogic to WebSphere vn.n
```

.n.zip!/ -installIU com.ibm.ws.appconversion\_feature.weblogic.feature.group -nosplash

Replace n.n.n in the repository arguments with the version number, such as 3.5.0. The arguments for the metadataRepository and artifactRepository start with jar:file: and end with !/. The argument for installIU ends with an appended .feature.group.

In our example, one of application migration tools, WebLogic to WebSphere migration, is chosen. You can select the appropriate installIU type from Table 4-1 for another Application Migration Tool.

Application Migration Tools	installIU
JBossAS	com.ibm.ws.appconversion_feature.jboss.fea ture.group
Oracle AS	com.ibm.ws.appconversion_feature.oracle.fe ature.group
WebLogic	com.ibm.ws.appconversion_feature.weblogic. feature.group
WebSphere Version to Version	com.ibm.ws.appconversion_feature.was2was.f eature.group
Apache Tomcat	<pre>com.ibm.ws.appconversion_feature.tomcat.fe ature.group</pre>

Table 4-1 Application Migration Tools and installIU

The Application Migration Tools can be removed by using the appropriate installU parameter the same way you installed it (Example 4-2).

Example 4-2 Uninstalling the Application Migration Tools through the command line

```
<installLocation>\eclipsec.exe
-application org.eclipse.equinox.p2.director
-uninstallIU com.ibm.ws.appconversion_feature.weblogic.feature.group
-nosplash
```

For more information about the Eclipse p2 director application, see:

http://help.eclipse.org/indigo/index.jsp?topic=/org.eclipse.platform.doc.isv/guide
/p2 director.html

#### 4.5 Configuring the Application Migration Tools

After any of the Application Migration Tools is installed on Eclipse or Rational Application Developer, there are new analysis options to configure and run an analysis. The scope to analyze can be configured to a project, a working set, or the entire workspace. The tool can be configured to define a set of rules to run that are known issues that prevent the application from running on the target application server.

#### 4.5.1 Running the analysis

The following section describes different ways to run the analysis using the Application Migration Tool.

**Tool example:** For the examples in this section, we choose the Application Migration Tool - WebLogic to WebSphere, but these examples apply to other Application Migration Tools as well.

To start the analysis from the Eclipse menu, click  $\mathbf{Run} \rightarrow \mathbf{Analysis}$  from the Eclipse menu (Figure 4-12).



Figure 4-12 Analysis option

To start the analysis from the Launch toolbar, look for the icon that is shown in Figure 4-13 and click it.



Figure 4-13 Software Analyzer

To start the analysis from the Enterprise Explorer in Eclipse, right-click the project that should be analyzed (Figure 4-14).

🍄 Enterprise Explore	r 🛛		
🖽 🔁 anoop			
🗄 💕 ITSOWebCus	tomerCredit		
🖻 🔭 plantsbywebs	New	•	
🖽 🧰 Deployme	Go Into		
DefaultDE			
META-INF	Сору	Ctrl+C	
	🛅 Paste	Ctrl+V	
DefaultW	💢 Delete	Delete	
DefaultW	. ● Remove from Context	Ctrl+Alt+Shift+Down	
Increment	Move		
Increment	Rename	F2	
🥡 index.jsp	Import	•	
💷 WsaEJBD	Export	+	
🗉 🔝 WebSphere A			
	🔊 Refresh	F5	
	Close Project		
	Close Unrelated Projects		
	💋 Links	•	
	Validate		
	Show in Remote Systems v	view	
	Software Analyzer	•	Software Analyzer Configurations
	Run As	•	New configuration
	Debug As	•	Kew_comgaration
	Profile As	+	
	Team	•	
	Compare With	•	

Figure 4-14 Software Analyzer

#### 4.5.2 Configuring and running the analysis

After you start the analysis using one of the methods that are described in 4.5.1, "Running the analysis" on page 101, complete the following steps to configure a new analysis:

1. Right-click the project and select Software Analyzer.

- 2. Select Software Analyzer Configurations....
- 3. Right-click the Software Analyzer on the left and select New (Figure 4-15).



Figure 4-15 Creating a Software Analyzer configuration

You see the Software Analyzer Configurations window (Figure 4-16).

Software Analyzer Configurations		
Create, manage, and run con Select a range of inputs from the sco	nfigurations up tab and at least one rule from the rules tab to create an analysis configuration.	53
Ype filter text         Image: Software Analyzer         Image: Software	Configure launch settings from this dialog: <sup>•</sup> Press the 'New' button to create a configuration of the selected type. <sup>•</sup> Press the 'Duplicate' button to copy the selected configuration. <sup>•</sup> Press the 'Delete' button to remove the selected configuration. <sup>•</sup> Press the 'Delete' button to remove the selected configuration. <sup>•</sup> Press the 'Delete' button to configure filtering options.             - Press the 'Filter' button to configure filtering options.             - Edit or view an existing configuration by selecting it.          Configure launch perspective settings from the 'Perspectives' preference page.	
Filter matched 2 of 2 items		
?	Analyze	Close

Figure 4-16 Software Analyzer Configurations

4. Click **New Configuration** to see the dialog changes to the basic configuration interface (Figure 4-17).

O Software Analyzer Configurations		
Create, manage, and run configurations Select a range of inputs from the scope tab and at least one rule from the rules tab to create an analysis configuration.		-23
Yee       Image: Software Analyzer         Image: Software Analyzer	Name:       New_configuration	
Filter matched 2 of 2 items	Apply	Revert
?	Analyze	Close

Figure 4-17 New configuration

In the Software Analyzer Configuration dialog, enter a name for the configuration, such as "SampleAppMigration". On the Scope tab, click **Analyze entire workspace** to scan all the projects in the workspace. The scope of an analysis can be limited by using the other options on this dialog to analyze a working set or a selection of projects.

**Tip:** When you use the Enterprise Explorer menu to run your analysis, the scope of the analysis is limited to the node in the project where the menu item was selected. You can perform a quick analysis on a limited set of code.

 On the Rules tab, select the type of analysis to perform by using the Rule Sets list. From the Rule Set menu, select WebLogic Application Migration, for WebLogic to WebSphere Application Server migration.

The rule set contains rules in the following analysis domains:

 Java Code Review: Examines the Java code to determine overall quality. The rules in this domain can range from simple code style enforcement to more complex rules used to detect null pointer issues.

**Tip:** Not all rules apply to all environments because some rules can generate many results. In these situations, avoid running these rules or ignore the results that they produce.

- JSP Code Review: This category contains rules that are related to JSP code.
- XML File Review: This category contains rules that are related to XML and associated files.
- Class-Path Review: This category contains rules that are related to class path issues with included libraries.

**Tip:** To obtain more information about a rule, highlight the rule and press F1. Help for the rule is shown in the configuration dialog. The initial help dialog includes a short description and a link to more information.

Coffigurate Applyzer Copfigurat	ione	
Create, manage, and run c Select a range of inputs from the sco	ons onfigurations pe tab and at least one rule from the rules tab to create an analysis configuration.	- <u>b</u> 3
Ype filter text             Software Analyzer             Software Analyzer             Software Analyzer             Software Analyzer             Software Analyzer	Name:       AppMigration         Image: Scope       Image: Rules         Rule Sets:       WebLogic Application Migration         Analysis Domains and Rules       Image: Rule Sets:         Image: Rule Sets:       Image: Rule Sets: <t< td=""><td>Set Import Export</td></t<>	Set Import Export
Filter matched 2 of 2 items		Apply Revert
?		Analyze Close

Figure 4-18 WebLogic Application Migration rules

6. After the WebLogic Application Migration rule set is selected, click **Set** to open the dialog that is used to configure the version of WebSphere you are migrating to and the version of Java you were using in WebLogic (Figure 4-19).

🖸 Rule set configuration 🛛 🛛 🛛		
WebSphere Application Ser	ver Migration Tool rule selection details	
Source application server:	Weblogic Application Server	
Target application server:	WebSphere Application Server V8.5	
🔲 Final target is a Liber	rty profile server running on Oracle Java	
Source Java version:	Java 1.4	
Target Java version:	Java 6	
	OK Cancel	

Figure 4-19 Rule set configuration

The target WebSphere Application Server version can be either Version 7, Version 8, or Version 8.5. Also, select the source Java version that was being used. If the target WebSphere platform is Version 8.5, both Java V6 or Java V7 can be selected.

**Number of rules:** The number of rules in the analysis configuration dialog varies depending on the platform on which the tool is installed.

7. Click **Apply** to save the rule configuration and click **Analyze**. The results are shown in the Software Analysis Results view (Figure 4-20).



Figure 4-20 Software Analysis Results view

Right-clicking individual results gives access to options, such as viewing the source code where the problem occurred or correcting the problem with a provided fix.

**No results:** If no results are shown in the window, no issues were identified while scanning.

Possible actions on the results are:

- View Result: Opens an editor that shows the source file that triggered the rule. The cause of the problem is highlighted, and a rule violation icon is shown in the left margin of the editor.
- Quick Fix: Selecting this option runs the conversion that modifies the affected Java code, XML file, or JSP or manifest file, allowing it to run in WebSphere Application Server. The quick fix might change the code directly or it might present the steps that are needed to complete the fix.
- Quick Fix Preview: This option is available for the rules that support showing a side-by-side comparison of the original code and the code after the quick fix is applied. You can use this option to see the changes before they are made.
- Ignore Result: This option removes the rule from the list without making a code change. For Java files, a comment annotation is added to the file so that the rule is not triggered on future analysis runs.
- Quick Fix All: This option resolves all issues that are identified for a rule.
- Quick Fix All Category: This option runs all quick fixes that are identified for the category to which the rule belongs. A rule must have Quick Fix All enabled for the Quick Fix All Category option to run its quick fix. For example, if you choose this option on a Java rule, the quick fixes for all Java rules that have the Quick Fix All option are run.

#### 4.5.3 Generating reports

The Application Migration Tools can also generate reports for you to make better estimations about the scope of the migration of your applications. The reports summarize your past analysis records, and give a high-level output of the application code's quality, complexity, and structure. You can generate an analysis report after you run an analysis by clicking the icon (highlighted with a red circle in Figure 4-21) on the right in the Software Analyzer Results window.



Figure 4-21 Generating reports

After you click the icon, an analysis report for the currently selected result element can be generated. For example, for Java Code Review, four options, shown in Figure 4-22, are available:

- ► Java Code Review Results
- ► Java Code Review Ignore Results
- ► Java Code Review Severity Summary
- ► Java Code Review By Category

Software Analyzer Reporting
Create a Report
Generate an analysis report for the currently selected result element. Select the report type, then choose the file location for finished report.
Select Report
Java Code Review Ignored Results Java Code Review Severity Summary Java Code Review Severity By Category
Report Description
Generate a report showing all results generated by Java Code Review. Rules that produced no results are not shown
Select Report Type
● HTML report ● PDF Report
OK Cancel

Figure 4-22 Create a report

The report can be generated in both HTML and PDF format. The generated files are put in the workspace/.metadata/.plugins/com.ibm.xtools.analysis.reporting/reports directory.

To select a summary of the report, click **Generate reports for historical scans**. Figure 4-23 shows the sample report that is generated for Analysis Summary.



Figure 4-23 Sample report

#### 4.6 Troubleshooting

The Application Migration Tools write error information to two log files:

- The workspace log (workspace/.metadata/.log) contains messages that are logged by the Application Migration Tools and messages that are logged by Rational Software Analyzer.
- The service logs for the application migration tools are in the workspace/.metadata/.plugins/com.ibm.ws.appconversion.base directory.

This log contains all error information and detailed trace information if trace is enabled.

Enable trace in the migration tools by setting the appconversion.trace system variable on the command line to start the Integrated Development Environment (IDE) or in the eclipse.ini property file:

Command-line option

Add the system variable to the command line that starts Eclipse:

eclipse.exe -vmargs -Dappconversion.trace=true

eclipse.ini option

Add the following option to the eclipse.ini file found in the same directory as the eclipse.exe file:

-Dappconversion.trace=true

Tip: Running trace slows the tool. Turn it on only if requested to do so for service.

## 5

# Differences between Eclipse and Rational Application Developer

This chapter describes the differences between Eclipse and Rational Application Developer, in order for you to be able to choose between the two environments and choose the one that suits your development needs the most. We also briefly explain the components that Rational Application Developer offers that are different from Eclipse. You can use the Migration Toolkit with both environments with no differences.

This chapter describes the following topics:

- ► Feature portfolio for Eclipse and Rational Application Developer
- ► Eclipse
- WebSphere Application Server Developer Tools for Eclipse
- Rational Application Developer

### 5.1 Feature portfolio for Eclipse and Rational Application Developer

WebSphere Developer Tools for Eclipse provides you with a lightweight desktop development environment for developing Java EE and Web 2.0 applications. Rational Application Developer provides you with a complete solution to develop, deliver, and manage high-quality enterprise applications.

If we compare their capabilities, Rational Application Developer comes with many components (Figure 5-1). For enterprise-level development, consider using Rational Application Developer as your integrated development environment.



Figure 5-1 Feature portfolio for Eclipse and Rational Application Developer

**Going from Eclipse to WebSphere Developer Tools to Rational Application Developer:** Figure 5-1 on page 112 describes the developer tool offerings, going from Eclipse to WebSphere Developer Tools to Rational Application Developer. The Migration Toolkit complements all offerings that are shown in Figure 5-1 on page 112 and is fully compatible with them. Rational Application Developer includes additional value during the migration, especially with the Java EE Specification Migration wizard, automated code analysis, and debugging tools for improving code quality and performance.

Together with the other features shown in the figure and explained in 5.4, "Rational Application Developer" on page 118, Rational Application Developer provides a complete environment for enterprise development for Java, Java EE, web, web services, SOA, OSGi, and WebSphere Portal applications. Designers and developers can use this environment to develop, assemble, and deploy your applications to WebSphere Application Server V8.5.

#### 5.2 Eclipse

Eclipse is an open source and platform-independent software technology that is a rich client platform upon which you can create integrated software applications. Written in Java, Eclipse is a modular integration platform with a sophisticated plug-in architecture that can be used to combine many types of developer tools for many different programming languages.

Eclipse offers multiple packages for different development needs. You can see the descriptions of all these packages and download them at:

http://www.eclipse.org/downloads/

Because your goal is to migrate Java EE applications from one application server platform to another, the package that you should use is the Eclipse Integrated Development Environment (IDE) for Java EE Developers package. This Eclipse package provides support for most popular application servers and offers many features for developing Java and Java Enterprise Edition applications, such as:

- Java editing capability with incremental compilation
- A graphical HTML/JSP/JSF editor
- Database management tools

#### 5.3 WebSphere Application Server Developer Tools for Eclipse

WebSphere Application Server Developer Tools for Eclipse is a lightweight set of tools for developing, assembling, and deploying Java EE applications to WebSphere Application Server. It contains a subset of the tools from Rational Application Developer that are aimed at Java EE, Web 2.0, mobile web, and OSGi application development for WebSphere Application Server V7.0, V8.0, V8.5, and the Liberty profile.

Rational Application Developer supports all these versions and Version 6.1.

#### 5.3.1 Installing WebSphere Developer Tools for Eclipse

When you use the Eclipse environment for development, WebSphere Developer Tools for Eclipse help you work with the WebSphere Application Server V8.5 server run times within the Eclipse environment. It provides productivity enhancements for developers, including ease of use for deploying applications. The installation steps for the WebSphere Developer Tools are as follows:

**Important:** In order for the installation to be completed successfully, install the latest version of Eclipse IDE for Java EE Developers from the Eclipse website. Otherwise, you might encounter problems that are related to missing module dependencies.

- 1. Click Help  $\rightarrow$  Eclipse Marketplace.
- 2. In the Search tab, Enter WebSphere in the search box, and click Go.
- 3. In the search results window (Figure 5-2), click **Install** next to the section that includes IBM WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Developer Tools.

Eclipse Marketplace	
Eclipse Marketplace         Select solutions to install. Press Finish to proceed with installation.         Press the information button to see a detailed overview and a link to more information.	
Search         Recent         Popular         Installed           Find:         websphere         Q         All Markets         Image: Comparison of the second sec	
IBM WebSphere eXtreme Scale V8.5 Liberty Profile De (1)	
This tooling allow WebSphere eXtreme Scale user to develop and configure WebSphere eXtreme Scale on WebSphere Application Server 8.5 Liberty Profile	
ibm WebSphere Liberty eXtreme Scale	
IBM WebSphere Application Server Migration Tool Shar ①	
The IBM® WebSphere® Application Server Migration Toolkit is a suite of tools and knowledge collections that enables your organization to quickly and	
by IBM, Commercial - Free Install	
IBM WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Developer T 🚊 🛈	
*V8.5* IBM WebSphere® Application Server V8.5 Developer Tools provides a development environment for building and deploying Java EE, OSGi and Web 2.0 applications	
by IBM, Commercial - Free Uritate Uninstall CSS javascript visual editor ibm WebSphere	

Figure 5-2 Eclipse Marketplace results window

- 4. After the dependency check, select the feature you want to install in the Features window. The WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Developer Tools feature must be selected.
- 5. Accept the license agreement and click Finish.

6. Click OK if a Security Warning opens (Figure 5-3).



Figure 5-3 Security warning when installing WebSphere Application Server Version 8.5 Developer Tools

7. After the installation ends, click **Restart Now** to restart Eclipse.

You should now be able to add the WebSphere Application Server V8.5 run time as a runnable server on Eclipse. You can also manage this server from the Eclipse environment locally or remotely, access the administrative console, publish your enterprise applications, and adjust security and publishing settings that are based on your preferences.

#### Installation verification

The installation of the WebSphere Developer Tools for Eclipse can be verified by creating a WebSphere Application Server V8.5 server by completing the following steps:

- 1. Right-click anywhere in the Servers view and select New  $\rightarrow$  Server.
- In the New Server definition window, click IBM → WebSphere Application Server V8.5 (Figure 5-4).



Figure 5-4 Adding a server

- 3. Enter the host name and a name for your application server and click Next.
- 4. Specify the installation directory of your application server. If the directory is correct, the JRE selection is entered automatically. Click **Next**.

**Tip:** If your WebSphere Application Server instance is on another machine within the same network, you can enter the host name of the remote server instead of localhost. You should also enter the network path of the remote WebSphere Application Server JRE directory to the JRE field. Additionally, the necessary ports and WebSphere Application Server Java runtime directory must be accessible from the Eclipse machine.

- Select the appropriate profile and port information, enter your user name and password that is based on your security settings, and click Next.
- 6. Choose the applications that must be configured on the server by moving them from the Available section to the Configured section. Click **Finish**.
- 7. Your new server is now configured and ready to be started (Figure 5-5). If it is not already started, right-click the new server in the Servers window and click **Start**.



Figure 5-5 Servers view

**Important:** WebSphere Developer Tools For Eclipse supports security with created servers only with Java equal to or greater than Version 6.0. If you are using WebSphere V8.5 with global security enabled, then you must start Eclipse with the Java that comes with WebSphere Application Server V8.5. To accomplish this task add the following lines to the eclipse.ini file, which is in the Eclipse directory. The lines must be added just before the **-vmargs** parameter, with \$WAS\_HOME being the WebSphere Application Server installation directory.

► For Windows:

-vm

\$WAS\_HOME\java\jre\javaw.exe

► For Linux\AIX:

-vm

\$WAS HOME/java/jre/jawaw

We cover the WebSphere Developer Tools for the Liberty profile in 9.3.2, "Installing the developer tools" on page 277.
# 5.3.2 IBM WebSphere Application Server Developer Tools for Eclipse capabilities

IBM WebSphere Application Server Developer Tools for Eclipse has tools for:

- Managing the server, such as starting and stopping
- Starting a remote server
- Publishing local and server-side code
- Controlling incremental publishing

When combined with Eclipse IDE for Java EE Developers, WebSphere Application Server Developer Tools for Eclipse provides a lightweight environment for developing Java EE applications.

The following sections describe the tools that come with WebSphere Application Server Developer Tools for Eclipse.

# OSGi

The Open Service Gateway initiative (OSGi) Applications framework provides a programming model for developing, assembling, and deploying, as bundles, modular applications that use both Java EE and OSGi technologies.

WebSphere Application Server Developer Tools contains all OSGi development tools, including:

- Deployment to WebSphere Application Server V8 and V8.5 OSGi bundle repository support
- ► Blueprint form editor and Blueprint validation Bundle explorer

Rational Application Developer V8.5 has new support for EJB applications. You can create an OSGi bundle from an EJB facet. You can import or export an EJB as a bundle, and promote an EJB as an OSGi service.

# Java EE

You can use WebSphere Application Server Developer Tools for Eclipse to write applications that works with the Java EE specification. Most of the programming models under the Java EE umbrella are supported by both Rational Application Developer and WebSphere Application Server Developer Tools for Eclipse, such as Servlets, JSP, EJB, JPA, JAX-RS, JAX-WS, and JAXB.

Rational Application Developer supports all these tools. In addition, other tools for the Java EE family, such as JSF and JAX-RPC, are found only in Rational Application Developer.

### Web 2.0 and mobile

WebSphere Application Server Developer Tools include a Rich Page Editor, which is a multi-tabbed editor that makes it easy to edit HTML files, add Dojo widgets to HTML pages, and create and edit web pages for mobile devices.

You can install Dojo Toolkit V1.7 in WebSphere Application Server Developer Tools. Dojo helps you design and develop rich interfaces. It is also usable in any mobile platforms.

Using Rational Application Developer, you can build applications on the latest Web 2.0 technologies, such as HTML 5, CSS3, JavaScript, Dojo, and JSO. Using the Mobile Browser Simulator, which is shown in Figure 5-6, you can easily develop and test mobile web applications that are based on the dojox.mobile framework. Rational Application Developer V8.5 includes IBM Worklight Studio V5.0 from the IBM Mobile Foundation family so that you can also develop native or hybrid applications.



Figure 5-6 Mobile Browser Simulator

### WebSphere Application Server and Liberty profile

WebSphere Application Server Developer Tools comes with WebSphere Application Server and WebSphere Application Server Liberty profile server run times. You can create server connections, manage your profiles and application servers, and deploy and run your applications on your application servers.

# 5.4 Rational Application Developer

Rational Application Developer provides optimized development for IBM middleware. It helps Java developers rapidly design, develop, assemble, test, profile, and deploy high quality Java/Java EE, Portal, Web/Web 2.0, OSGi, web services, and SOA applications. It also has a Java EE Specifications Upgrade feature that is useful while you migrate your applications.

Here are some of the features of the Rational Application Developer.

Want to learn more about Rational Application Developer and what is new with Version 8.5? Check out the "Rational Application Developer V8.5 What's New" wiki at:

http://www.ibm.com/developerworks/wikis/display/rad/Rational+Application+Develo
per+V8.5+What%27s+New

In this wiki, you find many videos about most of the features that we explain in the following sections and the new features that are available with Rational Application Developer V8.5. These videos help you understand the added value that is provided by Rational Application Developer.

Also, *Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software V8 Programming Guide*, SG24-7835 is an excellent reference for the features that are described in this section.

# 5.4.1 Java EE Specifications Upgrade wizard

You can use the Java EE Specifications Upgrade wizard to upgrade your applications' Java EE Specification from J2EE 1.2, 1.3, or 1.4 to Java EE 5.0 and from Java EE 5.0 to Java EE 6.0. This feature eliminates the time spent for manually making code changes to comply with a newer Java EE Specification. We describe the wizard in more detail in 3.3, "J2EE to Java EE migration considerations" on page 75.

You can get online information about the Java EE Specifications Upgrade wizard in the Rational Application Developer Information Center at:

http://publib.boulder.ibm.com/infocenter/radhelp/v8/index.jsp?topic=/com.ibm.javae e.doc/topics/tmgv6j2eewiz.html

# 5.4.2 Visualization

Several visualization tools are provided in Rational Application Developer, including support for the creation and editing of UML diagrams (including using the UML diagram to directly edit Java interfaces and classes), support for visualization of XML documents, and schemas.

Visualization of Java classes, EJBs, JPA entity beans, and web services is another feature that comes with Rational Application Developer. You can use it to configure all the Enterprise beans in the same window, and perform such activities as EJB validation, refactoring, quick fixes, and EJB Annotation view. Additionally, the editor includes sections and pages that are related specifically to WebSphere Application Server bindings and extensions to the EJB specification.

# 5.4.3 Portal and portlet

Rational Application Developer provides development tools for portal and portlet applications for WebSphere Portal. Several portal tools are bundled with Rational Application Developer that you can use to create, test, debug, and deploy portal and portlet applications:

- Visual portal application development and editing of the themes and skins that control their appearance
- ► Compatible WebSphere Portal Server v8.0 unit test environments
- Integrated support for JSF and the Struts framework
- Business portlet development using IBM WebSphere Portal Application Integration (for SAP and Siebel)

- Portlet templates
- Support for IBM Portlet API and the JSR 168 and JSR 286 standard portlet API

# 5.4.4 iWidgets

An iWidget is a small application or piece of dynamic content that can be easily placed into a web page. It is a reusable application that is designed to work within the framework that is defined by the iWidget specification.

An iWidget acts as a wrapper for any web content that you create, such as servlets, JavaServer Pages (JSP) files, HTML, PHP, or CGI.

**Portlet project features:** Two new portlet project features are added in to Rational Application Developer. These new portlet project features include the Dojo-enabled portlets and the creation of iWidgets inside a portlet project. The Dojo-enabled portlets run the portal runtime environment, with the option to create custom widgets that can be reused and enhanced further for WebSphere Portal V6.1 and later. You can also create and publish iWidget projects or create widgets inside a portlet project.

# 5.4.5 Java EE Connector Architecture

Java EE Connector Architecture (JCA) is a standard architecture for connecting enterprise information systems (EISs), such as CICS, IBM IMS<sup>™</sup>, SAP, Siebel, PeopleSoft, JD Edwards, and Oracle. JCA standardizes the way that Java EE application components, Java EE-compliant application servers, and EIS resources interact with each other. Resource adapters and application servers implement the contract that is defined in the JCA specification. Resource adapters run in the context of the application server and enable Java Enterprise Edition (Java EE) application components to interact with the EIS using a common client interface. JCA-compliant application servers can support any JCA-compliant resource.

Java EE Connector Architecture (JCA) tools and adapters for Rational Application Developer include simplified wizards to generate Java connector code and J2C standards-based connectors for building WebSphere applications that integrate CICS and IMS transactions (Figure 5-7).



Figure 5-7 J2C wizards on Rational Application Developer

# 5.4.6 Service Component Architecture

You can use the Service Component Architecture (SCA) Project wizard (Figure 5-8) to create a Service Component Architecture (SCA) project. SCA applies service-oriented architecture (SOA) concepts to the development of software components. You can use the wizard to choose the target run time and facet configuration, and the types of implementation that can be used for the SCA components, such as Java and EJB.

🔀 HelloWarldCompas	te.composite,	dagram 🖾	-
Service —— Bindír	la l	HelloWorldComp	on
<		n .	>
🖻 Properties 🕺			2 × -
🕹 Component -	Hellowork	Component	
Core	Componer	at	1
Implementation	Name:	HelloWorldComponent	
Properties	Autowire:	false	~
	Intents:	Policy sets:	
		Add       Remove	Add Remove

Figure 5-8 SCA diagram

Rational Application Developer V8.5 provides a preview of SCA Tools for the development of OASIS SCA V1.1 applications, including deployment to WebSphere Application Developer V8.5. For more information about OASIS SCA 1.1, see <a href="http://oasis-opencsa.org/sca">http://oasis-opencsa.org/sca</a>.

You can use the following SCA extension types:

- Composite, and Java Implementation types
- Default (SCA) and web service bindings
- ► JAXB 2.0 data bindings

The SCA tools work closely with the Java (JDT) and web services tools, so you can locate the various interface binding or implementation artifacts (Java interfaces, classes, and WSDL port types), or use the new OASIS SCA annotations.

# 5.4.7 JavaServer Faces

You can use the JavaServer Faces (JSF) framework to use pre-built components and easily create web applications. For example, JSF provides Input Text, Output Text, and Data Table components. You can add these components easily to a JSF web page and connect them to your project's data. JSF technology and the JSF tooling that is provided by Rational Application Developer enable even inexperienced developers to quickly develop web applications.

Rational Application Developer supports JSF 1.x and 2.0 specifications and tag libraries, and provides a number of rich features to enhance your usage of the JSF framework:

- JSF Trace
- Integration of third-party JSF tag libraries
- Customizable data templates

# 5.4.8 Communications Enabled Applications

You can use Communications Enabled Applications (CEA) to add dynamic web communications to any application or business process. The CEA feature, which was originally delivered in the WebSphere Application Server V7 Feature Pack for Communications Enabled Applications, and is shipped in the base WebSphere Application Server V8 product, provides a suite of integrated telephony and collaborative services that extends the interactivity of enterprise and web commerce applications.

With the CEA capability, enterprise solution architects and developers can use a single core application to enable multiple modes of communication. You do not need to have extensive knowledge of telephony or Session Initiation Protocol (SIP) to implement CEA; the CEA capability delivers call control, device notifications, and real-time data communications, and provides a platform for easily integrating these capabilities into web and mobile applications.

With this feature available in Rational Application Developer V7.5, developers can build, test, and deploy communications enabled applications for WebSphere Application Server V7 and above with Rational Application Developer V7.5 and above.

# 5.4.9 Session Initiation Protocol

SIP is a peer-to-peer protocol that is used to establish, modify, and terminate multimedia IP sessions between two end points, including telephony and instant messaging. It is an extension to the Java EE servlet API that is intended for telecommunications applications using technologies. The following examples are common usage examples of SIP in telecommunications-based applications:

- Voice-over-IP (VoIP)
- Instant messaging
- Click to call
- Call notification, forwarding, and blocking

The SIP wizard in Rational Application Developer creates a web project with the appropriate facets selected so that you can construct SIP applications.

# 5.4.10 Modern Batch Tools

Modern Batch Tools adds support for the Batch programming model. The Batch programming model allows applications processing to be scheduled by the application server (for example, overnight processing when web traffic is expected to be low).

The Modern Batch Tools, in addition to supporting the WebSphere Application Server Modern Batch Feature pack, now support targeting for both WebSphere Application Server V8 augmented with WebSphere Compute Grid V8, and WebSphere Application Server V8.5 (with the full WebSphere Compute Grid built in). The Modern Batch Tools include more enhancements, such as:

- Improved support for more xJCL commands and elements
- Improved validation and codegen options
- Support for mixed type jobs for more flexibility
- Editor changes for new model elements
- Support for Parallel jobs (run element)
- Listener types

# 5.4.11 Analysis

You can use the Analysis tools to analyze existing code to discover its architecture and to discover potential software problems. Some (but not all) of this functionality is also available as part of the Migration Toolkit.

# 5.4.12 Profiling

Profiling is a technique that developers use to collect runtime data and detect application problems, such as memory leaks, performance bottlenecks, excessive object creation, and exceeding system resource limits during the development phase.

You can use the profiling tools in the following cases to gather data on applications that are running in these situations:

- Inside an application server, such as WebSphere Application Server
- As a stand-alone Java application
- On the same system as Rational Application Developer
- In multiple Java virtual machines (JVMs)
- On a remote WebSphere Application Server with IBM Rational Agent
- Controller installed.

IBM Rational Agent Controller V8.3 can be used for remote profiling on any WebSphere Application Server server that runs the Java Development Kit (JDK) V1.5 or later.

# 5.4.13 Cloud

You can use Rational Application Developer for provisioning and using virtual instances of WebSphere Application Server or WebSphere Portal on IBM SmartCloud<sup>™</sup> Enterprise, and elastic Virtual Application Pattern workloads for IBM Workload Deployer and IBM expert integrated systems. Rational Application Developer supports cloud-based solutions to help you better manage IT costs.

**IBM SmartCloud Enterprise:** IBM SmartCloud Enterprise is an agile cloud-computing infrastructure that provides rapid access to security-rich, enterprise-class virtual server environments, which are suited for development and test activities and other dynamic workloads.

The IBM SmartCloud Enterprise can be accessed at:

https://www-147.ibm.com/cloud/enterprise/dashboard

# 5.4.14 Team Debug

You can use the debug extension for IBM Rational Team Concert<sup>™</sup> Client (Team Debug) to run Java-based debug collaborative sessions between Rational Team Concert team members. While you are debugging complex applications, any team member might require the expertise of a specialist to understand and correct a specific part of the code. However, re-creating a debug session to reproduce a particular scenario can be time-consuming. Rational Application Developer offers the capability to share the complete state of an existing debug session with another user, including any breakpoints that are already set.

# 5.4.15 Code Review (static analysis)

The Code Review function includes over 200 predefined rules for coding guidelines and preferred practices. It provides "Quick Fix" suggestions and allows customization of rules through rules templates.

# 5.4.16 Team Code Coverage

Code Coverage is an important aspect of software testing and can be considered fundamental to the overall system testing of a component. The motivation behind coverage tooling is to give developers and testers more insight into the areas of code that are being exercised by a set of test cases. This information is useful to developers and testers who can then use it to devise test cases so that adequate coverage can be achieved. To get this information for your project, right-click the project and select **Preferences**. In the left pane, you can see the Code Coverage selection. In the Code Coverage properties window, enable Code Coverage by selecting the **line** check box in the Package, Source file, Type and Method coverage options. Then you can create new filters for project. (Figure 5-9).

O Preferences		
type filter text	Code Coverage $\leftarrow \star \Rightarrow \star$	-
Preferences         ype filter text: <ul> <li>Data Management</li> <li>Ecore Diagram</li> <li>Help</li> <li>Install/Update</li> <li>Java</li> <li>Appearance</li> <li>Build Path</li> <li>Code Coverage</li> <li>Code Style</li> <li>Compiler</li> <li>Debug</li> <li>Editor</li> <li>Editor</li> <li>Installed JREs</li> <li>JUnit</li> <li>Properties Files Editor</li> <li>Java Persistence</li> <li>Java Script</li> <li>Jython</li> <li>Modeling</li> </ul> <li>Potematic Script</li>	Code Coverage         See 'Label Decorations' show or hide code coverage statistics.         See 'Colors and Fonts' to configure code coverage indicators.         Code Coverage Indicators         Package coverage:       Source file coverage:         Type       type         type       type         method       method         block       block         block       line         v line       line         Show colored indicators in the views	
⊞- Modeling ⊕- Plug-in Development ⊕- Profiling	Java Launches Number of launches to cache for code coverage reports 4	
QVT Operational Editor     Provide the second	Note: This excludes imported launches.	
⊡ Run/Debug ⊡ Server SIP ⊡ Software Analyzer	Collection Options ✓ Include data on default constructors Ensure code coverage statistics are collected even if the program exits abnormally.	
<ul> <li>Team</li> <li>Test</li> <li>Validation</li> <li>Web</li> </ul>	Dialog Options Clear 'do not show again' settings and show all hidden Code Coverage dialogs again.	
Web Services     AML     XML     ✓	See <u>Code Coverage Preferences</u> to enable code coverage on projects.	Ŧ
?	OK Cance	

Figure 5-9 Code Coverage properties

You can get the results of your code coverage by clicking  $Run \rightarrow Code Coverage \rightarrow Generate Reports$ .

As shown in Figure 5-10, you can use Code Coverage to find the results line by line.

Element	Coverage 🛆	Covered Lines	Total Lines
🖃 错 com.ibm.storeapp.models	85%	75	88
🖃 🔃 Customers.java	50%	7	14
🖃 😇 Customers	50%	7	14
🚏 Customers()	100%	3	3
incrementCapacity() : void	0%	0	6
🐌 addCustomer(Customer) : void	75%	3	4
🐌 getCustomers() : Customer[]	100%	1	1
🕀 🔃 Part.java	63%	5	8
🕀 🔃 Store.java	94%	51	54
🕀 🔁 Customer.java	100%	6	6
표 📆 Product.java	100%	6	6

Figure 5-10 Code Coverage

When you run a Code Coverage enabled application on the server, you can choose to reset the Code Coverage indicators so that Code Coverage data is collected fresh based on your interaction with the application.

# 5.4.17 XML tools

Rational Application Developer provides a comprehensive visual XML development environment. The tool set includes components for building DTDs, XML schemas, XML documents, and XSL files.

The features of the Graphical Data Mapper include:

- Powerful graphical mapping capability
- Support for built-in XPath 1.0 and 2.0 constructs
- ► Support for XSLT 1, XSLT 2, and XQuery standards
- Ability to map to and from database mapping sources
- Support for auto-mapping of similar fields
- Support for quick search of data structures and mappings
- Support for reusable submaps and local maps
- Smart data-type conversions and direct casting
- Support for "if/else" conditions
- Support for Nillable and Empty elements
- Interoperability with user-defined Java transformation code

The other functions that are not on Eclipse can be listed to highlight what the differences between Eclipse and Rational Application Developer 8.5 are:

- Java EE Connector Architecture (JCA) tools and adapters for building WebSphere applications that integrate CICS and IMS transactions.
- Create web services from beans, EJBs, or WSDL/WSIL files using the IBM WebSphere JAX-RPC web service run time.
- ► Web-tier facade layer for easy consumption with JSF/servlets/JPSs.
- Drag and drop support for Dojo widgets.
- Profiling: Object names and live data content are now available during memory-usage analysis.
- ► Web diagram editor for Model-View-Controller design.

# 6

# **Migrating from Oracle WebLogic**

This chapter describes the migration process and individual migration issues and solutions we found in our examples when we migrated both J2EE 1.3 and J2EE 1.4 applications from Oracle WebLogic Server 10.3.6 to WebSphere Application Server V8.5. We provide step-by-step instructions for migrating these applications.

We also describe the capabilities of the Migration Toolkit V3.5 and the configuration options available to take advantage of the tool's analysis capabilities.

We did not have major problems with migrating our sample applications. In both cases, we were able to deploy WebLogic compiled EAR files into WebSphere with minimal changes to the Java source code. Most of the changes were limited to deployment descriptors and configuring security. This situation is as expected because the J2EE specification allows for vendor-specific deployment descriptors.

This chapter describes the following topics:

- Introduction
- Prerequisites and assumptions
- Oracle WebLogic Server 10.3.6 installation
- Application Migration Tool WebLogic to WebSphere
- Migrating Trade 3.1 for Oracle WebLogic Server 10.3.6
- MVC WebLogic Application migration

# 6.1 Introduction

Before you start migrating your applications, we compare the WebSphere and WebLogic architectural concepts by reviewing the terminology that is used for those concepts by WebLogic and WebSphere administrators and developers.

# 6.1.1 Comparison of WebLogic Domain and WebSphere Cell



Figure 6-1 compares WebSphere Domain and Cell components to WebLogic components.

Figure 6-1 Comparison of components between WebLogic and WebSphere

Table 6-1 explains the cell and domain components of the WebLogic and WebSphere Application Server.

WebLogic	WebSphere
Domain: One or many logical groups that are defined on a single machine or spanning multiple machines	Cell: One single logical group that is managed by the deployment manager
Machine: Physical machine	Node: Contains one or many profiles or server instances
Node Manager: A daemon process that is used by the Administration Server	Node Agent: A daemon process that is used by the Deployment Manager
Managed Server: A WebLogic Server instance	Server instance
Administration Server	Deployment Manager

Table 6-1 Explanation of the cell and domain components

# 6.1.2 Comparison of the JMS Providers

We compare the JMS Providers of WebLogic and WebSphere before we define their components in the migration phase to understand their configurations. See Figure 6-2.



Figure 6-2 Comparison of JMS Providers

Table 6-2 and Table 6-3 on page 130 explains the JMS components and extensions of the WebLogic and WebSphere Application Servers.

WebLogic	WebSphere
JMS Server: A server that is running inside a WLS instance, whether stand-alone or clustered. Multiple servers can be defined.	Service Integration Bus: A shared communication channel that provides a JMS Server, that is optionally bridged to the WebSphere MQ Queue Manager, running inside a WebSphere Application Server instance, whether stand-alone or clustered. Multiple buses can be defined.
Included in JMS Server above.	Bus Member: Each bus can have servers or clusters or both as Bus Members.
Included in JMS Server above.	Messaging Engine: Created on a Bus Member. It manages message resources and its own data store. Multiple Messaging engines can be defined.

Table 6-2 Explanation of the JMS components

WebLogic	WebSphere
Redirection of failed or expired messages ("dead letter queue"): For each queue defined in WLS, you can specify the name of a specific error queue to receive the message.	<ul> <li>Redirection of failed or expired messages ("dead letter queue"): Can be achieved in three different ways (the second one is preferable):</li> <li>1. By using the default exception destination that belongs to each messaging engine.</li> <li>2. By specifying a non-default exception destination.</li> <li>3. By setting it to none, that is, disable it.</li> </ul>
WebLogic supports "distributed queues". A distributed queue is a set of physical JMS queue members. When a message is sent to a distributed queue, it is sent to exactly one of the physical queues in the set of members for the distributed queue. After the message arrives at the queue member, it is available for receipt by consumers of that queue member only.	<ul> <li>WebSphere supports "partitioned queues". When you deploy a queue destination to a cluster, the queue is automatically partitioned across the set of messaging engines that is associated with the cluster.</li> <li>If there is only one messaging engine in the cluster, the destination is localized by that messaging engine. The destination is not partitioned.</li> <li>If there is more than one messaging engine in the cluster, the destination is partitioned across all messaging engines in the cluster. Each messaging engine deals with a subset of the messages that the destination handles.</li> </ul>

Table 6-3 Explanation of JMS extensions

# 6.1.3 Migrating sample applications from Oracle WebLogic Server 10.3.6

Oracle WebLogic Server 10.3.6 was released in May of 2011 and is the J2EE runtime version from Oracle that is used throughout our migration examples in this publication.

During our migration exercise for this platform, we used two J2EE 1.3 and J2EE 1.4 sample applications:

- Trade 3.1 for Oracle WebLogic Server 10.3.6
- MVC WebLogic Application

The Trade 3.1 application that we select for our migration example was developed by IBM for performance testing purposes and does not use any non-J2EE features of Oracle WebLogic Server 10.3.6. We selected Trade for the following reasons:

- It is a well built application.
- It uses many of the J2EE 1.3 APIs.
- ► It implements many good programming techniques for performance.
- ► It implements many patterns to reuse in your application development efforts.

**WebLogic APIs:** Although the samples in the book do not use WebLogic proprietary APIs, it is possible that your application might depend on APIs that are not available in WebSphere Application Server. The Migration Toolkit helps with some WebLogic APIs, such as startup and shutdown classes, but others might require redesign and manual rewriting.

The second application that we migrate is MVC, which is a J2EE application that includes a Container Managed Persistence (CMP) - EJB application that runs on WebLogic. The reason that we select this application is to demonstrate the CMP mappings of EJB objects manually.

We use IBM WebSphere Application Server Migration Tool V3.5 to migrate both the Trade and MVC applications. We explain the capabilities of the new Migration Toolkit and how to configure it in 6.4, "Application Migration Tool - WebLogic to WebSphere" on page 133.

Another useful tool that you can use is the Oracle Java Application Verification Kit (AVK). This tool is intended to help developers test their applications for the correct usage of J2EE APIs and portability across J2EE. For more information, go to:

http://java.sun.com/j2ee/verified/avk\_enterprise.html

# 6.2 Prerequisites and assumptions

There are prerequisites and assumptions you must consider before you continue with the migration examples. One basic requirement is that you should have the destination environment installed and configured as described in Chapter 4, "Installation and configuration of the Application Migration Tools" on page 89. That chapter provides initial background knowledge if you are not yet familiar with IBM products.

You should be familiar with the J2EE specification and architecture, and be able to understand and run basic SQL commands. You should be familiar with Rational Application Developer V8.5 and Apache Ant. You should also have basic familiarity with Oracle WebLogic Server 10.3.6.

Install the following software before you start the migration:

Java SE 6

Use Java SE 6 because it is supported by WebSphere Application Server V8.5 and you must ensure that your applications work in this JVM. Before Java SE 6, the specification name was Java 2 Platform, Standard Edition (J2SE). The WebSphere Application Server V8.5 installation includes Java SE 6. You do not need to install additional JDKs on your machine.

Apache Ant 1.6.5

Apache Ant is a Java based build tool. It is similar to the Make tool, but has many enhanced features, so it can be extended using Java classes instead of writing shell commands, which makes it a good choice for Java applications.

IBM WebSphere Application Server V8.5

Before you migrate to WebSphere Application Server V8.5, explore the sample applications that are shipped with the product and read the publications that are listed in "Related publications" on page 437.

IBM DB2 UDB 10.1

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 supports many databases, but we decided to use DB2 for all our examples.

IBM Rational Application Developer V8.5

We used the new WebSphere Application Migration Tool V3.5 plug-in for Rational Application Developer V8.5 for our examples. Details about the tool's capabilities can be found in 6.4 Chapter 5, "Differences between Eclipse and Rational Application Developer" on page 111.

# 6.3 Oracle WebLogic Server 10.3.6 installation

This section provides high-level steps and tasks for installing and configuring Oracle WebLogic Server 10.3.6 on the Microsoft Windows 7 platform. Detailed instructions for installing, configuring, and managing Oracle WebLogic Server 10.3.6 are provided in the product download page available at:

http://www.oracle.com/technology/software/products/ias/htdocs/wls\_main.html

The following list highlights the high-level tasks that are performed to install and configure the initial WebLogic domain environment. This setup provides a clean setup as a starting point for deploying the two sample applications.

- 1. Download Oracle WebLogic Server 10.3.6 from the Oracle web page.
- 2. Install the software in the C:\Oracle\Middleware directory. This directory is later referred to as <weblogic home>.
- 3. Start the Oracle WebLogic Configuration wizard by clicking Start → Programs → BEA Products → Tools → Configuration wizard.
- 4. On the Welcome window, select Create a new WebLogic domain.
- 5. On the Select Domain Source window, select **Generate a domain configured automatically to support the following BEA products**.
- 6. On the Configure Administrator Username and Password window, enter the user name and password of your choice. We use weblogic/Passw0rd in our installation.
- 7. On the Configure Server Start Mode and JDK window, make the following selections:
  - WebLogic domain startup mode: Development Mode
  - JDK: Sun SDK 1.6.0\_29
- 8. On the Customize Environment and Services Settings window, keep the default selections and click **Next**.
- 9. On the Create WebLogic Domain window, enter the following information:
  - Domain name: base\_domain
  - Domain location: C:\Oracle\Middleware\user\_projects\domains\base\_domain
- 10.Click Create.
- 11.As we included the implementations of classes that are loaded from w1commons-logging.jar, put the JAR file into

C:\Oracle\Middleware\wlserver\_10.3\server\lib\consoleapp\APP-INF\lib.

# 6.4 Application Migration Tool - WebLogic to WebSphere

Application Migration Tool - WebLogic to WebSphere (Application Migration Tool in this chapter) is part of the Migration Toolkit, which is described in Chapter 4, "Installation and configuration of the Application Migration Tools" on page 89. Application Migration Tool can help you in the following areas when you migrate J2EE 1.4 and Java EE 5 applications, and earlier from Oracle WebLogic Server V8.x and higher to WebSphere Application Server V7, V8, or V8.5:

- ► Class path setup: Converts Enterprise Archive (EAR) class paths to J2EE specifications
- WebLogic Server Startup Classes: Detects and converts T3StartupDef and T3ShutdownDef classes
- Non-Portable JNDI lookups: Detects and refactors JNDI lookups to use the parameter-less InitialContext
- ► JSP files: Enforces case sensitivity of JSP tag/attribute names against the TLD file
- Deployment Descriptors: Detects and converts WebLogic specific deployment descriptor elements to IBM deployment descriptor elements
- WebLogic proprietary Java package references: Detects and converts proprietary package references to standards-based package references
- Web services: Generates an Ant script, Service Endpoint Interface, WSDL, deployment descriptors, mapping files, and other JAXRPC web service artifacts
- Java EE5 items: Detects JPA, JDBC, XML JTA, and logging items and converts many of them

# 6.5 Migrating Trade 3.1 for Oracle WebLogic Server 10.3.6

The Trade 3.1 application was developed by IBM to evaluate J2EE performance issues. Although built for performance evaluation, the application provides various features that we are interested in covering during the migration exercise. The latest version of Trade is V6. It is built as a complete J2EE 1.4 application that uses most components of the specification. Except for the J2EE level, both versions of the Trade application are functionally equivalent.

The Trade 3.1 version we used for Oracle WebLogic Server 10.3.6 is a slightly modified version. For details about how to download the Trade 3.1 version that is used for Oracle WebLogic Server 10.3.6, see Appendix B, "Additional material" on page 435.

The modifications that are made to the application were to configuration files and deployment descriptors. The core of the application remains unchanged, so we do not expect any issues with the Java code. We mainly focus on migrating deployment descriptors and creating resources in WebSphere Application Server V8.5 to support the application.

The main features that are covered and provided by this application make extensive use of the following J2EE 1.3 APIs:

- ► JMS 1.1
- ▶ JDBC 2.1
- ► Entity and Stateless Session EJB 2.0
- Primary Key generation pattern for CMP EJB 2.0
- Message Driven beans 2.0
- Two-phase commit transactions

- ► JSP 1.2
- Servlet 2.3

AccountProfile Account CMP Trade CMP Servlets Holdings Web Client Qunt CMF Order CMP Ontio WebSphere Trade Command rade Entity EJBs JSPs Beans Trade Database Trade WebSphere SOAP Sessio EJB SOAP Client Route Joe. in action! Web Container Message EJBs Message Trade Broke MDB Streame Server UDDI Trade Registry WSDL Queue Topic Pub/Sub WebSphere Web Services EJB Container

Figure 6-3 shows the Trade3 J2EE components.

Figure 6-3 Trade3 J2EE components

# 6.5.1 Migration approach

We decided to perform the Trade migration using Rational Application Developer V8.5. We decided to use the Application Migration Tool because it supports the migration of EJB deployment descriptors, Java source code, and JSP code from applications previously running on Oracle WebLogic Server 10.3.6 to WebSphere Application Server V8.5.

The migration is performed by completing the following steps:

- 1. Verify that the application works in its original environment. In this case, we deploy and run the Trade 3.1 application in Oracle WebLogic Server 10.3.6.
- 2. Import the EAR file with the source code into Rational Application Developer V8.5.
- 3. Configure and run the Application Migration Tool.
- 4. Fix errors that are reported by the Application Migration Tool.
- 5. Migrate the EJB deployment descriptors using the Application Migration Tool.
- Build Trade for WebSphere Application Server V8.5 by using Rational Application Developer V8.5.
- 7. Deploy and test the application on WebSphere Application Server V8.5 and identify and solve any problems that are reported.

# 6.5.2 Configuring the initial environment

After you install Oracle WebLogic Server 10.3.6 and create a server configuration, deploy the sample application to the initial environment. This section describes the procedures that we followed for creating a sample database, configuring Oracle WebLogic Server 10.3.6 to hold the Trade application, deploying the application, and testing.

Because of the size of this section, the following list details the subsections it contains:

- "Acquiring the Trade application" on page 135
- "Creating the sample application database" on page 135
- "Creating a data source" on page 136
- "Creating the JMS resources" on page 137
- "Deploying the sample application and populating the database" on page 138
- "Creating a user and group on WebLogic" on page 139

### Acquiring the Trade application

For information about how to download the Trade 3.1 application for Oracle WebLogic Server 10.3.6, see Appendix B, "Additional material" on page 435.

After you download the application, create a Trade3 directory and extract the downloaded file with the name trade3-WebLogic.zip. The compressed file contains the following files and directories:

db2\_schema.dd1

Script for creating the database and tables in DB2 Universal Database V9.5

trade3wls.ear

Trade application binary files

trade3EJB

Directory containing source code for the EJB module

trade3Web

Directory containing the source code for the web module and J2EE client application

In our scenario, we used the D:\sampleApp\Trade3 directory to extract the application. It is also referred to as <source\_home>.

#### Creating the sample application database

In this section, we describe the steps for creating the Trade database. The database schema is included in the trade3-WebLogic.zip file.

Complete the following steps:

- 1. From a command line, start the DB2 command line processor (CLP) by running the following commands:
  - cd <source\_home> (for our example, cd D:\sampleApp\Trade3)
  - db2cmd
- 2. Run the following commands at the DB2 command prompt to create the Trade database and tables:

**User name:** The user that you use to connect to the database defines the name of the schema where the DDL creates the tables.

- db2 create db trade3db
- db2 connect to trade3db user db2admin using db2admin
- db2 -tvf db2\_schema.ddl
- db2 disconnect all
- db2 update db config for trade3db using logfilsiz 1000
- db2 update db cfg for trade3db using maxappls 100
- db2stop

- db2start
- db2 connect to trade3db user db2admin using db2admin
- cd <db2\_home>\bnd
- db2 bind @db2cli.lst blocking all grant public

The database is empty and ready to for the data to be loaded. The creation of the initial data in the database is done by the application when it is deployed.

- 3. Start the Oracle WebLogic Server 10.3.6 instance (Admin Server) from the Windows Start menu or from the command line by running the following commands:
  - cd C:\Oracle\Middleware\user\_projects\domains\base\_domain
  - startWebLogic.cmd
- 4. Access the Console Login when the server is up and running. When we created the WebLogic configuration, we accepted the default values for port and location. In our scenario, the Console Login can be accessed at the following URL:

http://localhost:7001/console

The user name and password that are required for login are specified during the creation of the new WebLogic configuration. In our scenario, we used weblogic/Passw0rd for the user name and password.

#### Creating a data source

To create a data source, complete the following steps:

 On the WebLogic Server Console, navigate to base\_domain and click Services → JDBC → Data Sources and create a data source with the characteristics listed in Table 6-4.

Parameter	Value
Database type	DB2
Database Driver	Oracle DB2 Driver (Type4) Versions: 7.X and later
Name	TradeDataSource
JNDI Name	jdbc/TradeDataSource

Table 6-4 Data source values

Click **Next**. The Transaction Options window opens and an informational message is displayed stating that, based on the selected driver type, only XA 2-phase commit transactions are supported. Click **Next**.

2. On the Connection Properties window, enter the information that is listed in Table 6-5.

 Table 6-5
 Database connection properties values

Parameter	Value
Database Name	trade3db
Host Name	localhost
Port	50000
Database User Name	db2admin
Password	db2admin

**User name and password:** Use the database user name and password for your DB2 installation. In our example, we used db2admin/db2admin.

- 3. On the Test Database Connection page, click **Test Configuration**. You should see the message "Connection test succeeded".
- 4. On the Select Targets window, select AdminServer as the target server and click Finish.

## Creating the JMS resources

To create the JMS resources, complete the following steps:

 From the WebLogic Server Console home page, create a JMS Server by navigating to Base\_domain and clicking Services → Messaging → JMS Servers. Use the parameters in Table 6-6 to create a JMS Server.

Table 6-6 JMS Server values

Parameter	Value
Name	TradeJMSServer
Target	AdminServer

- 2. Create a JMS module to act as the container to define JMS queues, topics, and connection factories.
- 3. Create a JMS Module by navigating to base\_domain and clicking Services  $\rightarrow$  Messaging  $\rightarrow$  JMS Modules.
- 4. Enter JMS Resource for the JMS Module name and click Next.
- 5. Select AdminServer as the target and click Finish.
- Create the JMS queues, topics, and connection factories that are needed by the Trade application at run time.
- 7. Click **JMS Resource**, then click **New**. Configure the destinations by creating a JMS Queue and a JMS Topic.
- 8. Create a JMS Queue with the values shown in Table 6-7. Click Next

Table 6-7 JMS queue values

Parameter	Value
Name	TradeBrokerQueue
JNDI Name	jms/TradeBrokerQueue

9. Select **JMSServerSubDep** in the Subdeployment drop-down menu. In the Targets field, ensure that **TradeJMSServer** is selected. Click **Finish**.

10. From the JMS Resource window, create a JMS Topic with the values listed in Table 6-8. Click **Next**.

Table 6-8 JMS topic values

Parameter	Value
Name	TradeStreamerTopic
JNDI Name	jms/TradeStreamerTopic

- 11.Select JMSServerSubDep in the Subdeployment drop-down menu. In the Targets field, ensure that TradeJMSServer is selected. Click Finish.
- 12. Create a second JMS Topic with the values listed in Table 6-9. Click Next.

Table 6-9 JMS Topic values

Parameter	Value
Name	TradeStatsTopic
JNDI Name	jms/TradeStatsTopic

- 13.Select JMSServerSubDep in the Subdeployment drop-down menu. In the Targets field, ensure that TradeJMSServer is selected. Click Finish.
- 14. Create two connection factories:
  - Queue connection factory
  - Topic connection factory

Create the connection factories with the values shown in Table 6-10.

Table 6-10 Queue connection factory values

Parameter	Value
Name	QueueConnectionFactory
JNDI Name	jms/QueueConnectionFactory

- 15. In the Targets field, click Advanced Targeting.
- 16.In the Subdeployment drop-down menu, select **JMSServerSubDep**, and in the Targets field, ensure **TradeJMSServer** is selected. Click **Finish**.
- 17.Create a Topic Connection Factory by repeating steps 14 through 16 using the values that are listed in Table 6-11.

Table 6-11 Topic connection factory values

Parameter	Value
Name	TopicConnectionFactory
JNDI Name	jms/TopicConnectionFactory

#### Deploying the sample application and populating the database

The next step is to deploy the Trade application. To accomplish this task, you must upload the trade3wls.ear through the WebLogic administration console by completing the following steps:

- 1. Log in to the WebLogic administration console. From the home page, click **Configure Applications** and then click **Install**.
- 2. Select Upload your file(s).

- 3. Click **Browse** and select the trade3w1s.ear file. Under Location, ensure that you select the **trade3wls.ear** radio button. Click **Next**.
- 4. Select the Install this deployment as an application radio button and click Next.
- 5. In the Optional Settings window, accept all defaults and click Finish.

This process is quick and normally completes in less than a minute. You should see two successful messages, one for the deployment status for the EJB Modules and another for the deployment status for the web application modules.

#### Configuring basic authentication on WebLogic

The application has basic authentication in web.xml (Example 6-1) and role name definition in weblogic.xml (Example 6-2) in the web application.

Example 6-1 Basic authentication definition in web.xml

Example 6-2 Mapping definition in weblogic.xml

```
<security-role-assignment>
        <role-name>threadUser</role-name>
        <principal-name>ThreadUserGroup</principal-name>
        </security-role-assignment>
        <session-descriptor>
```

The security mapping definition is already defined in weblogic.xml, so we must create a group named ThreadUserGroup and a user as a member of the group.

**Security mapping definition:** The security mapping definition for WebSphere is different from WebLogic. You must go through the steps that are described in "Configuring basic authentication on WebSphere" on page 185.

#### Creating a user and group on WebLogic

To create a user and group on WebLogic, complete the following steps:

1. Open the WebLogic console from the following URL:

http://localhost:7001/console

- 2. Click Security Realms and myrealm.
- 3. Click Users and Groups and click Users. Click New to create a user.

- 4. Enter testuser as the user name and password1 as the password.
- 5. Click **Group** and click **New** to create a group named ThreadUserGroup, as defined in weblogic.xml.
- Go back to the Users and click testuser. Click Groups and choose ThreadUserGroup to add the user as a member of that group.
- 7. Click **Save** and restart the application server.

## Testing the Trade Application on Oracle WebLogic

Test the newly deployed application by accessing the following web page from your web browser:

http://localhost:7001/trade3Web

You are prompted to enter a user name and password. Enter testuser as the user name and password1 as the password.

To start loading the database with sample data, complete the following steps:

- 1. Select **Configuration** from the Trade home page.
- 2. Select (Re)-populate Trade Database to start loading the database with sample data.

This process takes a few minutes depending on the hardware configuration used. When finished, you should see 1000 quotes that are created and 500 users registered. On the left pane, click **Go Trade!** to browse the application.

If you click the **Configuration** link on the left side and click **Trade Scenario**, you can see how the application automatically navigates itself by clicking **Reload** in your browser.

This feature randomly selects the next action to be performed and populates all the data instead of the user doing it by hand. This feature greatly simplifies performance scripts. If you want to test this application's performance, you do not need to navigate to all the windows and enter all the data. You can point your stress tool to the URL

http://localhost:7001/trade3Web/scenario and configure your stress tool to see how many hits and how many concurrent users access this URL, and then start your test.

# 6.5.3 Migrating the Trade application

This section describes the steps that are performed to migrate the Trade application. You configure the Migration Toolkit in Rational Application Developer V8.5 to scan for WebLogic specific files and flag potential problems with Java source code. Then, you build the Trade application for WebSphere. We explain the issues and the solutions to the problems we experienced when we migrated the Trade application in our example.

Because of the size of this section, the following list details the subsections it contains:

- "Installing the Application Migration Tool WebLogic to WebSphere" on page 141
- "Importing the Trade EAR file" on page 141
- "Configuring and running the Application Migration Tool" on page 146
- "Fixing errors reported by the Application Migration Tool" on page 150
- "Rerunning the Application Migration Tool" on page 155
- "Migrating the Trade Application J2EE level" on page 168
- "Configuring WebSphere Application Server V8.5" on page 170
- "Configuring JMS" on page 171
- "Creating a data source" on page 180
- "Migrating EJBs" on page 181

- "Specifying the web application references" on page 183
- "Configuring basic authentication on WebSphere" on page 185
- "Testing the application" on page 191

### Installing the Application Migration Tool - WebLogic to WebSphere

The Migration Toolkit is a set of tools that supports the migration of Java EE applications that are developed for competitive application servers to WebSphere Application Server V7, V8, or V8.5. Each tool targets a competitive application server and is an installable feature that supports Rational Application Developer and Eclipse. For WebLogic, you must install Application Migration Tool - WebLogic to WebSphere.For more information, see Chapter 4, "Installation and configuration of the Application Migration Tools" on page 89.

# Importing the Trade EAR file

We start the migration of the Trade application by importing its EAR file with the source code in to Rational Application Developer V8.5.

**Source code required:** The Application Migration Tool requires the presence of the source code to perform Java code analysis. The source code must be imported as a project in the Rational Application Developer.

Complete the following steps:

1. In the Rational Application Developer Enterprise Explorer perspective, right-click and select Import → Import → Existing Projects into Workspace.

2. Select the archive file, click **Browse**, and select the Trade EAR file. In our example, the file is in C:\ProjectShare\Trade3.zip (Figure 6-4).

💽 Import	
Import Projects Select a directory to search for existing Eclipse projects.	
Select root directory:     Select archive file:     C:\ProjectShare\Trade3.zip  Projects:	Browse
	Select All
Copy projects into workspace  Working sets  Working sets:	Seject
eack Mext > Einish	Cancel

Figure 6-4 Existing Project Import

3. In the Ear Module and Utility JAR Projects window, ensure that all three modules are selected (Figure 6-5) and click **Finish**.

💽 Import			
Import Projects Select a directory to searc	h for existing Eclipse projects.		
<ul> <li>Select root directory:</li> <li>Select archive file:</li> <li>Projects:</li> </ul>	C:\ProjectShare\Trade3.zip		Browse
✓ trade3EJB (trade3 ✓ trade3Web (trade ✓ trade3wls (trade3	EJB) 3Web) wls)		Select All
Copy projects into wo Working sets	rkspace ng sets		ject
	< Back Next >	Einish	Cancel

Figure 6-5 Trade Module Selections

4. The Workspace Migration wizard opens (Figure 6-6). Click Next.

O Workspace Migration						
Workspace Migration Welcome to workspace migration						
We have detected project or workspace metadata that needs to be migrated from a previous version. The following pages will display what projects and files will be affected, and you have control over what projects should be migrated (The default recommendation is to allow a complete migration). If you are migrating a large number of projects, this operation could take a while.						
If you choose not to migrate your projects, they will not function properly, and error messages may appear in the problems view. We strongly recommend closing your projects if you decide not to perform migration at this time. When the projects are reopened, you will be prompted again to migrate them.						
< Back Next >	Einish Cancel					

Figure 6-6 Workspace Migration

5. Ensure that the tradewls EAR file is selected and click **Next**. You see that resources in the org.eclipse.wst.common.project.facet.core file are modified by the Workspace Migration wizard (Figure 6-7).

Workspace Migration				
Migration Project Resources Resources which may be modified by migrat	ion			
If these files are in a source control manage C:/RADShared/workspace3/trade3wls/.set	ment system, ings/org.eclip	a file checkout i se.wst.common	s about to be initial .project.facet.core	:ed .xml
?	< <u>B</u> ack	Next >	Enish	Cancel

Figure 6-7 Project resource file in workspace

6. Look at the file (Example 6-3) before you continue. As you can see, the run time is Oracle WebLogic Server 10.3.6 and the J2EE version is 1.3.

Example 6-3 org.eclipse.wst.common.project.facet.core file

```
<?xml version="1.0" encoding="UTF-8"?>
<faceted-project>
    <runtime name="Oracle WebLogic Server 11gR1 (10.3.6)"/>
    <fixed facet="jst.ear"/>
    <installed facet="jst.ear" version="1.3"/>
</faceted-project>
```

 Click Next. To change Server Runtime from WebLogic to WebSphere 8.5, click the drop-down menu and choose WebSphere Application Server 8.5 as New Server Runtime (Figure 6-8). Click Next and click Finish.

O Workspace Migration							
Undefined Server Runtime							
There are projects targeting a server runtime that	There are projects targeting a server runtime that is not defined in this workspace.						
For each undefined server runtime, under the New the workspace.	w Server Runtime column select an existing server runtime defined in						
Server <u>R</u> untimes:							
Undefined Server Runtime	New Server Runtime						
Oracle WebLogic Server 11gR1 (10.3.6)	WebSphere Application Server v8.5						
Search for Server Runtime Environments Select the projects you want to change to the new Trade3wls	v server runtime: Select <u>All</u> Deselect All						
?	< Back Next > Einish Cancel						

Figure 6-8 Define Server Runtime

8. Click OK (Figure 6-9).



Figure 6-9 Migration Validation

**Tip:** By default, Rational Application Developer V8.5 automatically rebuilds the project after each change to the source code. To save time, we decided in our example to turn this feature off by clicking **Project**  $\rightarrow$  **Build automatically**, because with this option turned on, Rational Application Developer V8.5 builds the project automatically with every change. If you turn it off, you need to build the project manually, as shown in step 6 on page 152.

You should have the following projects in the Enterprise Explorer view:

trade3EJB

This project contains the Trade EJBs.

trade3Web

The Trade web application contains servlets and JSPs.

trade3wls

This project contains the EAR application.

# Configuring and running the Application Migration Tool

In this section, you configure the Application Migration Tool analysis capabilities to scan the WebLogic Trade application files and provide input as to what needs to be fixed in the application before it can run on WebSphere.

The Application Migration Tool needs to be set up to look for WebLogic code-related issues. However, it can also be run to do a complete Java code review. The tool provides quick fixes, where available, for issues it flags as violations of the migration rules.

**Important:** The tool does not provide a quick fix for every possible scenario. Whenever a rule violation occurs and there is a quick fix available, the rule icon includes a light bulb icon and the Quick fix option is available in the context menu.

To configure and run the Application Migration Tool, complete the following steps:

1. Select **Analysis** from the Run menu to display the Application Migration Tool main configuration dialog box (Figure 6-10).

**Tip:** If you start a new workspace, the Software Analyzer does not have the New\_Configuration suboption. In this case, select **Software Analyzer** and click the **New icon** on the toolbar (the first icon with the"+" sign).

Software Analyzer Configurations					
Create, manage, and run configurations Select a range of inputs from the scope tab and at least one rule from the rules tab to create an analysis configuration.					
Image: Software Analyzer         Image: So	Configure launch settings from this dialog: <sup>•</sup> Press the 'New' button to create a configuration of the selected type. <sup>•</sup> Press the 'Duplicate' button to copy the selected configuration. <sup>•</sup> Press the 'Delete' button to remove the selected configuration. <sup>•</sup> Press the 'Filter' button to configure filtering options.             - Edit or view an existing configuration by selecting it.                   Configure launch perspective settings from the Perspectives preference page.				

Figure 6-10 Application Migration Tool configuration

- 2. Expand the **Software Analyzer** and click **New\_configuration**. The right side changes to show an explanation of the basic configuration options available.
- 3. In the Name field, enter AppMigration as the name of the configuration.

4. In the Scope tab, leave the **Analyze entire workspace** radio button selected (Figure 6-11).

🧿 Software Analyzer Configurati	ons	×
Create, manage, and run conserved a range of inputs from the sco	<b>onfigurations</b> pe tab and at least one rule from the rules tab to create an analysis configuration.	- <u>þ</u> 3
Image: Software Analyzer       Image: Software	Name:       AppMigration	
Filter matched 2 of 2 items		Revert
?	Analyze	Close

Figure 6-11 Migration tool workspace scope settings

5. Click the Rules tab.

6. Select **WebLogic Application Migration** from the Rules Sets drop-down menu, and click **Set**. (Figure 6-12).

**Tip:** The default is that no rules are selected until the user selects the ones that are of interest. Rules can be chosen from rule sets or individually. After the configuration is selected and saved by clicking **Apply**, the configuration can be reused.

O Software Analyzer Configuration	ons	×
Software Analyzer Configuration Create, manage, and run consistent of the sconstruction Select a range of inputs from the sconstruction New_configuration	Dns         Dnfigurations         pe tab and at least one rule from the rules tab to create an analysis configuration.         Wame:       AppMigration         Image:       Scope         Rule Sets:       WebLogic Application Migration         Image:       Analysis Domains and Rules         Image:       Java Architectural Discovery [0/24]         Image:       Java Code Review [3/14]         Image:       JSP Code Review [3/14]         Image:       JSP Code Review [38/99]	Set Import Export
Filter matched 2 of 2 items		Apply
(?)		Analyze Close

Figure 6-12 Migration Tool rule settings

7. You see the Rule set configuration dialog box. Leave **Source Java Version** and **Target Java Version** selected(Figure 6-13) and click **OK**.

Rule set configuration	X					
WebSphere Application Server Migration Tool rule selection details						
Source application server:	Weblogic Application Server					
Target application server:	WebSphere Application Server V8.5					
Final target is a Liberty profile server running on Oracle Java						
Source Java version:	Java 1.4					
Target Java version:	Java 6 💌					
	OK Cancel					

Figure 6-13 Rule set configuration

The Application Migration Tool and the rules set is now configured. We are ready to run the analysis against the Trade application. You can expand any of the analysis domains to see which rules are selected.

8. Click Analyze to analyze all the projects in the workspace.

The Software Analyzer View is opened at the bottom of the window. It contains four tabs. Each tab corresponds to one of the analysis domains that are selected based on the Rule Set selection made earlier.

- The Class-Path Review tab lists any class path related issues.
- The Java Code Review tab lists Java code-related issues.
- The XML File Review tab lists issues with deployment descriptors and the presence of any WebLogic specific files.
- The JSP Code Review tab lists issues that are found in JSP files, commonly associated with web projects.
- 9. Click the XML File Review tab (Figure 6-14).



Figure 6-14 Software Analyzer View

As you can see, the tool scanned the XML files in the project and flagged the potential problems with WebLogic deployment descriptors by category/rule violation. For example, the tool points out that EJB and message-driven bean (MDB) Java Naming and Directory Interface (JNDI) references are defined in a WebSphere binding file. It also detected WebLogic specific files. You can expand each of the rules to see the files in question and which project to which they belong.

10. Click the Java Code Review tab (Figure 6-15).



Figure 6-15 Java Code Review tab

The tool found three rule violations. The first one is related to the usage of the Commons Logging system level property in Log.java. The second one indicates that you should use the *throws Exception* method instead of *throws javax.jms.JMSException*, *Exception* in TreadeBean.java. The third one is related to the existing WebLogic-specific package in Log.java; the tool flags only this issue, but does not provide a quick fix option.

**Tip:** You can right-click any of the flagged files under a specific rule to see a list of available options in the menu. For example, under the Java Code Review tab, expand the WebLogic package references rule, right-click any of the files in the list, and select **View Results**. The Java file in question is opened and the cursor is at the code problem line.

### Fixing errors reported by the Application Migration Tool

In this section, you fix the issues reported by the Application Migration tool and the problems reported by Rational Application Developer when you imported the Trade application.

Complete the following steps:

- 1. Open the **Problems view** and analyze all the errors and warnings reported by Rational Application Developer V8.5.
- 2. Fix the errors reported under the Java Code Review tab.

Rational Application Developer V8.5 reports errors (Figure 6-16) for the web application because the project depends on classes that are in the EJB project.

🖹 Markers 🔲 Properties 👫 Servers 🛍 I	Data Source Expl	orer 🚹 Snippets 🗖	a Annotati	ons  Migratio	on Results	5 Software	Analyzer Results	Problems	X
708 errors, 590 warnings, 4 others (Filter matched 204 of 1302 items)									
Description A	Resource	Path	Location	Туре					
🖃 😣 Errors (100 of 708 items)									
🔕 accountData cannot be resolved	account.jsp	/trade3Web/Web	line 100	JSP Problem					
🔕 accountData cannot be resolved	account.jsp	/trade3Web/Web	line 103	JSP Problem					
😣 accountData cannot be resolved	account.jsp	/trade3Web/Web	line 109	JSP Problem					
😣 accountData cannot be resolved	account.jsp	/trade3Web/Web	line 113	JSP Problem					
😣 accountData cannot be resolved	account.jsp	/trade3Web/Web	line 117	JSP Problem					
🔕 accountData cannot be resolved	account.jsp	/trade3Web/Web	line 122	JSP Problem					
😣 accountData cannot be resolved	account.jsp	/trade3Web/Web	line 126	JSP Problem					
😣 accountData cannot be resolved	account.jsp	/trade3Web/Web	line 130	JSP Problem					
😣 accountData cannot be resolved	accountImg	/trade3Web/Web	line 99	JSP Problem					
accountData cannot be resolved	accountImg	/trade3Web/Web	line 102	JSP Problem					

Figure 6-16 Problems view

To fix the problem, complete the following steps:

- 1. Right-click the trade3Web application project and select Properties.
- 2. From the left pane in the trade3Web properties window, click Java Build Path.
- 3. Select the Projects tab and select Add.
- 4. In the Required Project Selection dialog box, select trade3EJB and click OK.

OProperties for trade3Web		
type filter text	Java Build Path	$\leftarrow \bullet \to \bullet \bullet \bullet$
Builders	🗁 Source 🗁 Projects 📑 Libraries 🖓 Order and Export	
Code Coverage	Required projects on the build path:	
Default Package	Hu 🚘 trade3E 1B	odd 1
Deployment Assembly		
···· Java Build Path		
⊕ Java Code Style		Edi <u>t</u> ,
⊕ Java Compiler		Demove
⊡ Java Editor		кещоте
Javadoc Location		
⊕ JavaScript		
JDBC Connections		
JSP Fragment		
Liberty Profile Shared Librarie:		
⊞- Links		
Project Facets		
Project References		
Refactoring History		
Server		
Toward Douries		
Target Device Settings		
Targeted Runtimes		
TOTO 71-3		
Web Costost Settings		
Web Droject Settings		
The Yoodet		
2	0	K Cancel
$\odot$		

5. Click **OK** in the Properties dialog box to close it (Figure 6-17).

Figure 6-17 Setting Java Build Path

6. Switch to the Problems view (Figure 6-18). After you build the project automatically or manually, you do not see any dependency errors.

🖹 Markers 🔲 Properties 🖗 Servers 🙌 Data Source Explor	er 🔁 Snippets	🕞 Annotations 된 Software Analyzer Resu	ılts 📮 Co	nsole  Prot	lems 🛿		
1 error, 660 warnings, 4 others (Filter matched 105 of 665 items)							
Description 🔺	Resource	Path	Location	Туре			
🖃 😣 Errors (1 item)							
🚱 The import weblogic cannot be resolved	Log.java	/trade3EJB/ejbModule/com/ibm/webspher	line 32	Java Problem			
🛨 🍐 Warnings (100 of 660 items)							

Figure 6-18 Problems view
**Tip:** To see the Problem view on frame, click **Window**  $\rightarrow$  **Show View**  $\rightarrow$  **Other type Problems**, choose the view, and click **OK**. When you start a new workspace, the Software Analyzer does not have the New\_Configuration suboption. In this case, highlight **Software Analyzer** and click the new icon on the toolbar (the first icon with the"+" sign).

7. The error reported here is reported in Software Analyzer Results. Go back to Software Analyzer Results. In the Java Code Review tab, expand the **WebLogic package** references category and right-click the Log.java entry. Click **View Result** (Figure 6-19).



Figure 6-19 Log.java

 Delete the import weblogic.logging. commons.CommonsLogObject; line, as the package is WebLogic-specific and not used in the code. Click Save and go back to Problems tab. As you can see, there is no error reported anymore.

**Tool functionality:** We added the package in the code to demonstrate that the tool can find the vendor-specific package in the project if you import the project with the source codes.

9. From the Project menu, clear the **Build Automatically** option.

10. From the Project menu, select Clean.

11. Select the Clean all projects radio button and click OK (Figure 6-20).

© Clean			
Clean will discard all build problems and built states. The next time a build occurs the projects will be rebuilt from scratch.			
Clean all projects	C Clean projects <u>s</u> elected below		
□			
Start a build immediately			
Build the entire workspace     Build only the selected projects			
	OK Cancel		

Figure 6-20 Project Clean dialog box

- 12. From the Project menu, select the **Build Automatically** option. This option ensures that projects are automatically built as you make changes.
- All errors reported by Rational Application Developer are now fixed.

# **Rerunning the Application Migration Tool**

You should rerun the Application Migration Tool after you make changes to the source code. To do so, complete the following steps:

1. From the Eclipse Run menu, click Analyze Last Launched (Figure 6-21).



Figure 6-21 Migration tool analysis

This action reruns the analysis tool with the saved configuration. The focus is returned to the Software Analyzer Results view. The tool creates a report in the left frame of the view with the date and time stamp.

 Click the Java Code Review tab. Expand the Do not use Commons Logging system level property under the WebLogic to WebSphere code migration category (Figure 6-22).

JSP Code Review Class-Path Review XML File Review Java Code Review	
	* 🖪 🔝
🗉 🤣 Java SE version migration [130 results in 1,087ms]	
🖻 😥 WebLogic to WebSphere code migration [2 results in 501ms]	
🔁 🖓 Do not use Commons Logging system level property [1 result in 3ms]	
🔤 🔤 🔤 Log. java: 37 Do not use Commons Logging system level property	
👘 🔄 🖓 Use matching throws clause in EJB bean class [1 result in 26ms] 🛛 View Resu	ult
TradeBean. java: 119 Use matching throws clause in EJB bea QCQuick Fix	
🥊 🗌 Quick Fix	Preview
Ignore Re	esult
♀ Quick Fix	All
Ŷ_Quick Fix	All Category

Figure 6-22 Java Code Review tab

- 3. Right-click the Log.java entry and select Quick Fix Preview. See Figure 6-22.
- The Quick Preview editor tools window opens (Figure 6-22). Examine the code changes before they are committed. In this case, there is no "weblogic.logging.commons.LogFactory" system level properly in the left pane, so the tool removes this line from Log.java after the quick fix (Figure 6-23).

Java Structure Compare		
EG Log		
······ 🔍 - {}		
🚺 Java Source Compare 🔻		
Itrade3EJB/ejbModule/com/ibm/websphere/samples/trade/util/Log.java	Itrade3EJB/ejbModule/com/ibm/websphere/samples/trade/util/Log.java	
private static org.apache.commons.logging.Log	static(	
static(	System.setProperty(LogFactory.FACTORY_PROF	
clog= LogFactory.getFactory().getInstance("Tr	"weblogic.logging.commons.LogFactoryIn 🚽	
}	<pre>clog= LogFactory.getFactory().getInstance(</pre>	
	}	
<pre>public static void log(String message)</pre>		
{	public static void log(String message)	
clog.info(message);		

Figure 6-23 Quick fix preview

5. Highlight the **Log.java** entry under the Do not use Commons Logging system level property category. Right-click and select **Quick Fix** (Figure 6-24).



Figure 6-24 Java Code Review tab

 Click the Java Code Review tab. Expand the TradeBean.java entry under the Use matching throws clause in EJB bean class category. Right-click the TradeBean.java entry and select Quick Fix Preview (Figure 6-25).

🕽 Java Source Compare 🔻 🔅 🖓 🖄 🖓		
🕖 /trade3EJB/ejbModule/com/ibm/websphere/samples/trade/ejb/TradeBean.java	🚺 /trade3EJB/ejbModule/com/ibm/websphere/samples/trade/ejb/TradeBean.java	
<b>public void</b> queueOrderOnePhase(Integer orderID)	public void queueOrderOnePhase(Integer orderID)	
throws Exception	throws javax.jms.JMSException, Exception	
<pre>{     if (Log.doTrace() ) Log.trace("TradeBean:queueOrde     queueOrderInternal(orderID, false); }</pre>	<pre>{     if (Log.doTrace() ) Log.trace("TradeBean:queue     queueOrderInternal(orderID, false); }</pre>	
class quotePriceComparator implements java.util.Compar bublic int compare(Object guote1, Object guote2)	class quotePriceComparator implements java.util.Co wublic int combare/Object guote1. Object guote	

Figure 6-25 TradeBean.java

- 7. In this case, the tool shows that it replaces the throws javax.jms.JMSException, Exception with the throws javax.jms.JMSException, Exception in Tradebean.java.
- 8. Highlight the **TradeBean.java** entry under Use matching throws clause in EJB bean class category. Right-click the **TradeBean.java** and select **Quick Fix**.

The remaining XML violations errors are related to vendor-specific deployment descriptors, so review Figure 6-26, which shows the WebSphere deployment descriptors that correspond to WebLogic deployment descriptors.



Figure 6-26 Vendor-specific deployment descriptors

**J2EE:** For J2EE 1.4 and prior versions, bindings and extensions are created in XMI files. In Java EE 5 and later, the bindings and extensions are in XML format files.

 In the XML File Review tab, expand the Use WebSphere bindings to define EJB JNDI names category (Figure 6-27).



Figure 6-27 XML File Review tab

10. Right-click the **weblogic-ejb-jar.xml** entry and select **Quick Fix Preview** (Figure 6-30 on page 160).

🔽 SQL Routine Compare 🔻		
🔄 trade3EJB/ejbModule/META-INF/ibm-ejb-jar-bnd.xmi	🔽 trade3EJB/ejbModule/META-INF/ibm-ejb-jar-bnd.x	mi
 <ejbbnd:ejbjarbinding ejb-jar.xml#ejb-jar_id"="" meta-inf="" xmi:version="2.0" xmlns:xmi="http://&lt;br&gt;&lt;ejbJar href="></ejbbnd:ejbjarbinding> <ejbbindings ejb:containermanagedentity"<br="" xmi:id="EnterpriseBeanBinding_1337678289043&lt;br&gt;&lt;enterpriseBean xmi:type="></ejbbindings> 		×
<u>۲</u>	4	

Figure 6-28 Quick Fix Preview

The Quick Preview Editor tool is displayed. Examine the code changes before they are committed. In this case, the tool creates the ibm-ejb-jar-bnd.xmi binding file and places it in to the EJB module. This file did not exist because this application is a WebLogic application.

11. Highlight the Use WebSphere bindings to define EJB JNDI names category, right-click, and select Quick Fix All (Figure 6-29).

JSP Code Review Class-Path Review XML File Review Java Code Review	
	\$ <b>1</b>
🖃 🖅 😂 WebLogic to WebSphere deployment descriptor migration [24 results in 11ms]	
🗄 🛛 🖾 Do not use WebLogic-specific EJB Query Language constructs [2 results in Oms]	
E-Val Use WebSphere bindings to define EJB JNDI names [4 results in Oms <sup>1</sup> View Result     View Result	
weblogic-ejb-jar.xml:122 found in trade3EJB	
weblogic-ejb-jar.xml:130 found in trade3EJB	
🔄 🚾 🚾 weblogic-ejb-jar.xml:138 found in trade3EJB 🛛 👘 Ignore Result	
🗄 😼 Use WebSphere bindings to define EJB reference names [2 results <del>nroms]</del>	
😐 🖳 🖳 Use WebSphere bindings to define message-driven bean JNDI names [2 results in 0ms]	
😐 🖳 🚾 Use WebSphere bindings to define resource environment reference JNDI names [4 results in Oms]	
😐 🖳 🚾 Use WebSphere bindings to define resource reference names [6 results in Oms]	
📴 😼 Use WebSphere extensions to define CMP mappings [1 result in Oms]	
🗄 🔁 WebLogic-specific files [3 results in 3ms]	
1	

Figure 6-29 EJB JNDI Quick Fix

**Important:** If you select **Quick Fix All**, it applies every quick fix applicable in the analysis. This feature is good if you already know what changes the tool does to the application. This action is not suggested for a first time application migration.

The WebSphere binding file is created and the EJB JNDI names are copied from the corresponding WebLogic deployment descriptor. Double-click the file and explore its contents (Figure 6-30).



Figure 6-30 WebSphere Binding file

12.In the XML File Review tab, select the Use WebSphere binding to define EJB reference names category, right-click, and select Quick Fix All.

This rule flags EJB references found in weblogic.xml and weblogic-ejb-jar.xml if the corresponding quick fix is not already applied. After a quick fix is applied, the WebLogic XML is marked with a comment that indicates that it is migrated. This quick fix is used to determine whether to flag the issue during analysis. It can be used at the end of migration to identify how much of the XML file is migrated.

The quick fix that is provided for this rule takes the EJB reference information that is defined in the WebLogic-specific deployment descriptors and migrates it to the standard deployment descriptors and the WebSphere bindings files ibm-ejb-jar-bnd.xmi or ibm-web-bnd.xmi.

13. In the XML File Review tab, select the **Use WebSphere bindings to define Message Driven beans JNDI names** category, right-click, and select **Quick Fix All**.

The provided quick fix copies the destination JNDI name from the weblogic-ejb-jar.xml file to the ibm-ejb-jar-bnd.xmi file. The quick fix, however, does not set the ActivationSpec JNDI name.

For more information about manual intervention, highlight the rule and press the F1 function key. This action opens the Help window. Click **See details** to show the preferred practices for manually addressing issues such as the ActivationSpec JNDI name.

- 14. Repeat step 13 on page 160 for the Use WebSphere bindings to define resource environment reference JNDI names and Use WebSphere bindings to define resource environment reference names categories. From the context menu, select Quick Fix All.
- 15. Expand the remaining rules (Figure 6-31).



Figure 6-31 XML File Review tab

- 16. Review the help for the WebLogic Query language constructs by highlighting one of the rules and pressing the F1 function key. This action opens the Help window. After you open the window, click **See details**.
- 17. Double-click the **weblogic-cmp-rdbms-jar.xml:126 rule** in trade3EJB. This action shows the weblogic-ql construct (Example 6-4). You should see that ORDERBY is used and is a WebLogic construct and not an ejb-ql construct. The ebj-ql equivalent is ORDER BY, as shown in the help, but the weblogic-ql does not accept this construct. Edit the ejb-jar.xml file using step 23 on page 165.

Example 6-4 WebLogic Query Language construct

```
<weblogic-query>
        <query-method>
        <method-name>findByUserID</method-name>
        <method-params>
            <method-param>java.lang.String</method-param>
            </method-params>
            </method-params>
            </query-method>
            <weblogic-ql>SELECT OBJECT(o) FROM Orders o WHERE
o.account.profile.userID = ?1 ORDERBY o.orderID DESC</weblogic-ql>
            </weblogic-query>
            </weblogic-rdbms-bean>
```

Table 6-12 explains the WebLogic specific files that are in the JNDI name and CMP fields for EJB.

File	Description
weblogic-ejb-jar.xml	This file is specific to WebLogic. It defines the weblogicenterprise bean. The JNDI name for an EJB is specified in the weblogic-ejbjar.xml deployment descriptor with the jndi-name element.

File	Description
weblogic-cmp-rdbms-jar.xml	Defines the database persistence information for a CMP entity EJB. It includes the table name for an entity EJB, the data source to connect to the database, and the columns corresponding to the entity EJB CMP fields.

18. To convert the CMP Mappings, right-click the rule and select **Quick Fix**.

JSP Code Review Class-Path Review XML File Review Java Co	de Review	
		* 🖪 🕞
🖃 🖄 WebLogic to WebSphere deployment descriptor migration	n [6 results in 11ms]	
🗐 🔄 🖾 Do not use WebLogic-specific EJB Query Language co	onstructs [2 results in Oms]	
🔤 🔤 weblogic-cmp-rdbms-jar.xml:126 found in trade3	EJB	
🔄 🔛 weblogic-cmp-rdbms-jar.xml:206 found in trade3	EJB	
🗆 🔽 Use WebSphere extensions to define CMP mappings	[1 result in Oms]	
weblogic-cmp-rdbms-jar.xml:3 found in trade3EJ		
	Paulick Fix	
	♀ Quick Fix Preview	
	♀ Quick Fix All	
	♀[ Quick Fix All Category	
	Ignore Result	

Figure 6-32 Convert the CMP Mappings file

19. The quick fix creates the Map.mapxmi file, which is used by WebSphere to map CMP fields to EJB to database table columns.

20.Open the mapping editor to verify that everything is mapped. The file is in the following folder:

/trade3EJB/ejbModule/META-INF/backends/DB2UDBNT\_V95\_1

See Figure 6-33.

Enterprise Beans	🗸 🛟 🕂 🕁 🔂 🏷	🚺 Tables	🔑 🥎 🤑 🕆 🔜 < ≧
TradeEJBs  TradeEJBs  TradeEJB  HoldingEJB  GradeEJB  GradEJB  GradEJB  GradEJB  GradEJB  GradEJB  GradEJB  GradEJB  GradEJB		SAMPLE     HOLDINGEJB     HOLDINGEJB     ACCOUNTPROFILEE     HOLDINGEJB     KEYGENEJB     ACCOUNTEJB     ACCOUNTEJB     ORDEREJB	ЭБ
H Overview			U 🚯 🚺 🎽
Enterprise Beans		Tables	
🖾 TradeEJBs		🚺 SAMPLE	
🕂 - 🛅 HoldingEJB		HOLDINGEJB	
🕂 🛅 AccountProfileEJB		ACCOUNTPROFILEEJB	
🕂 - 🛅 QuoteEJB		🖽 QUOTEEJB	
🕂 🛅 KeyGenEJB		KEYGENEJB	
🕂 - 🛅 AccountEJB		ACCOUNTEJB	
庄 🛅 OrderEJB		ORDEREJB	

Figure 6-33 CMP mapping file

The database schema is imported and in the following folder:

/trade3EJB/Data Models/SAMPLE.dbm

See Figure 6-34.

🖃 📸 trade3EJB
🗄 🛅 Deployment Descriptor: TradeEJBs
🗄 🔁 ejbModule
🗄 🛋 JRE System Library [WebSphere Application Serve
🗄 🛋 WebSphere Application Server v8.5 [WebSphere A
🗄 🕮 ImportedClasses
😟 🗁 build
😟 🗀 Data Diagrams
🖻 🖳 🛅 Data Models
🖮 💼 SAMPLE.dbm
🖻 🖳 🚺 SAMPLE
🗄 📲 🛅 SQL Statements

Figure 6-34 Database schema files

21.Go back to mapping editor, right-click **TradeEJBs**, and click **Create and map database** elements from EJB elements (Figure 6-35). After save the mapping file, the error disappears on ejbModule.



Figure 6-35 Create and map database elements to the database table

22. To verify that all EJB elements are mapped to their corresponding table columns, navigate to the following folder:

/trade3ejb/ejbModule/META-INF/backends/DB2UDBNT\_V95\_1

🕡 Log. java 🛛 🆓 Map. mapxmi 🛛 🛛 🗃 SAMPLE. dbm			- 8
🗕 Enterprise Beans 🕹 😚 🕂 🗖 🕁 🔅	🗸 🚺 Tables	🔥 🕆 🖑 🕆	🚽 🌾 🏱
and TradeEJBs Show b	oth the mapped and unmapped objects TOCUMPROFILEEJB UNITED B UNITED B UNITED B UNITED B UNITED B UNITED B UNITED B UNITED B UNITED B UNITED B		
Overview		Ų	🚺 🚺 🗸
Enterprise Beans	Tables		<b></b>
- 🕆 [01] Holding-Has-Account : AccountEJB	C4364495 : ACCOUNTEJB		
- 🚰 [01] Holding-Has-Quote : QuoteEJB	C9973961 : QUOTEEJB		
🔄 🖕 💡 [01] HoldingEJB : OrderEJB	C6849199 : HOLDINGEJB		
E- a AccountProfileEJB	ACCOUNTPROFILEEJB		
- (a) address : java.lang.String	ADDRESS : VARCHAR(150)		
password : java.lang.String	PASSWORD : VARCHAR(150)		
🥮 userID : java.lang.String	🚝 USERID : VARCHAR(150)		
🗌 🖲 email : java.lang.String	EMAIL : VARCHAR(150)		
			· ·

Open the Map.mapxmi file and enable the **Show only the unmapped objects** option (Figure 6-36).

Figure 6-36 Show unmapped objects

23. If you want to create CMP mappings manually, complete the steps in "Creating the CMP mappings manually" on page 212 that were performed to migrate the MVC application.

**CMP mappings:** The Application Migration Tool performs CMP mappings by examining the definitions in the weblogic-cmp-rdbms-jar.xml file and creates the Map.mapxmi mapping editor and the database model named SAMLPLE.dbm. If you want to map the CMP fields of the EJB object to database table and columns you explicitly specify, complete the steps in "Creating the CMP mappings manually" on page 212.

- 24. Switch to the **Source** tab of the ejb-jar.xml and change ORDERBY to ORDER BY. Save and close the EJB deployment descriptor editor.
- 25. Return to the Software Analyzer view, right-click the **weblogic-ql** rule, and select **Ignore Result**. This action removes the rule from the view. It also enters a comment in the weblogic-cmp-rdbms-jar.xml file to tell the analyzer to ignore the rule in the next iteration.
- 26. Run a project clean and review the Problems view. If you missed changing ORDERBY to ORDER BY, Rational Application Developer flag this situation as an error with a red X. Open the **Source** tab of the deployment descriptor and search for "ORDERBY" and make the appropriate changes.

27. In the Class-Path Review tab, use the MANIFEST.MF file for the application class path category (Figure 6-37) and click **Quick Fix Preview** to see what the Application Migration tool changes in MANIFEST.MF of trade3EJB.



Figure 6-37 Class-Path Review tab

As you can see in Figure 6-38, the tool places the wlcommons-logging.jar definition into the MANIFEST.MF file of the trade3EJB because the trade3wls EAR file contains the wlcommons-logging.jar file under /trade3wls/APP-INF/lib. After examine the changes, click **Quick Fix**. Repeat the same step for the other result.

🔁 Manifest Compare 💌	a a 1 🖧 🕸 4	0 Q
👌 /trade3EJB/ejbModule/META-INF/MANIFEST.MF	C /trade3EJB/ejbModule/META-INF/MANIFEST.MF	
Manifest-Version: 1.0	Manifest-Version: 1.0	<b>A</b>
Class-Path: soap.jar APP-INF/lib/commons-logg:	Class-Path: soap.jar	
/wlcommons-logging.jar	Created-By: Spyker 1.0	
Created-By: Spyker 1.0		
		Ţ
I D	T F	

Figure 6-38 Quick Fix View of the MANIFEST.MF file

28. In the XML Review tab, expand the WebLogic specific files category and expand all suboptions. Those options are the WebLogic specific deployment descriptors files. Delete them because you migrated all of their entries to the corresponding WebSphere binding files.

- 29.In the Enterprise Explorer view, expand the EJB project and browse to the /trade3EJB/ejbModule/META-INF folder and delete the following files:
  - weblogic-ejb-jar.xml
  - weblogic-cmp-rdbms-jar.xml

See Figure 6-39.

🖃 🞥 trade3EJB
🗄 🐨 🔯 Deployment Descriptor: TradeEJBs
🚊 避 ejbModule
com.ibm.websphere.command
🗄 🔠 com.ibm.websphere.samples.trade
🗄 🔠 🔠 com.ibm.websphere.samples.trade.comma
🗈 🔠 com.ibm.websphere.samples.trade.direct
🗈 🔠 com.ibm.websphere.samples.trade.ejb
🗈 🔠 com.ibm.websphere.samples.trade.util
🛱 🏀 META-INF
🗄 🗁 backends
e ejb-jar.xml
ibm-ejb-jar-bnd.xmi
MANIFEST.MF
weblogic-cmp-rdbms-jar.xml
weblogic-ejb-jar.xml

Figure 6-39 WebLogic EJB deployment descriptors

30.In the Enterprise Explorer view, expand the **trade3web** project and browse to the /trade3web/webContents/WEB-INF folder. Delete the weblogic.xml file. See Figure 6-40.



Figure 6-40 WebLogic web deployment descriptor

All errors reported by the Migration Tool and Rational Application Developer v8.5 should now be fixed.

# Migrating the Trade Application J2EE level

As part of this migration example, we migrate this application's structure from J2EE 1.3 to J2EE 1.4. Review each window before you go to the next step.

#### Important:

- Doing a J2EE migration is not always required because of the WebSphere product's and specifications compatibility with earlier versions.
- The Java EE Specification Migration wizard used is only available in Rational Application Developer.

Complete the following steps:

 In the Java EE perspective, right-click trade3wls and select Java EE → Specification Migration wizard (Figure 6-41).



Figure 6-41 J2EE Migration wizard

The next window provides informational messages before you run the J2EE specification migration wizard. Click **Next**.

2. In the J2EE version drop-down menu, select **1.4** and click **Next** (Figure 6-42).

💽 Java EE Specifications Upgrade Wizard	_ 🗆 X
Enterprise Application	
The following enterprise application project will be upgraded.	
Enterprise Application Project: trade3wls	
Iava EE version	
<ul> <li>Upgrade all module projects</li> <li>All EJB, web, connector and application client modules referenced by the enterprise application are au</li> </ul>	utomatically selected for upgrade.
Select the Finish button to accept the default upgrade options for all module projects, or customize the u project on the following pages.	ipgrade options for each type of module
?	Next > Einish Cancel

Figure 6-42 J2EE version selection

- 3. In the EJB Module Migration window, ensure that trade3EJB is selected and click Next.
- 4. In the Web Projects window, ensure that trade3web is selected and click Finish.

The Migration Complete dialog box (Figure 6-43) is displayed.

**Migration wizard changes:** You can click **Details** on the Migration Complete dialog box to see the exact changes that the migration wizard performed against the project.

💽 Java EE Specifications Upgrade Wizard	
Web Projects: Select the web projects to be upgraded.	
Projects:	OK Details >>
•	< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > <u>Finish</u> Cancel

Figure 6-43 Migration Completion dialog box

5. Click OK.

## Configuring WebSphere Application Server V8.5

In this section, we describe how to configure WebSphere Application Server V8.5 to run the Trade application. You might want to create a WebSphere profile and a WebSphere test server that is based on that profile.

## Verifying that WebSphere Application Server is running

Verify that WebSphere Application Server is running on Rational Application Developer by completing the following steps:

- 1. To start the WebSphere Application Server, navigate to the **Servers** tab on Rational Application Developer, right-click your server, and click **Start**.
- 2. After a successful start of the server, you see the message Server server1 open for e-business on the Console, which indicates that the server is ready.

**Tip:** If you want to see the application server log files aside from the Console category in Rational Application Developer, go to the C:\WebSphere\_Install\_Root\profiles\AppSrv01\logs\server1 path.

After the server start, you configure WebSphere Application Server V8.5. To do so, open a web browser and access the administrative console at the following URL:

http://localhost:9060/ibm/console

The major difference that is compared to Oracle WebLogic Server 10.3.6 is in how we configure JMS. This difference exists because WebSphere Application Server V8.5 uses Service Integration Bus, which is an ESB-like approach, as the back end for the default JMS messaging engine that is based on JMS 1.1 specifications.

**Service integration bus:** A service integration bus in WebSphere supports applications using message-based and service-oriented architectures (SOA). A bus is a group of one or more interconnected servers or server clusters that are added as members of the bus. Applications connect to a bus at one of the messaging engines that are associated with its bus members. For more information about SIB, see Chapter 13, "Messaging and service integration", in *WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Concepts, Planning, and Design Guide*, SG24-8022.

## **Configuring JMS**

This section describes how to configure the components necessary for JMS messaging. In our example, we use the browser-based administrative GUI, but this task can also be scripted through the **wsadmin** command-line tool.

This task is broken into several parts. The following sections describe the overall process:

- "Creating a bus" on page 172
- "Creating a bus member" on page 173
- "Creating bus destinations for JMS queues and topics" on page 174
- "Creating a JMS connection factory" on page 174
- "Creating the JMS queue" on page 176
- "Creating a second JMS queue" on page 176
- "Creating a JMS topic" on page 177
- Creating a JMS activation specification for the JMS queues" on page 177
- "Configuring Message Driven beans" on page 178

# Creating a bus

To create a bus, complete the following steps:

- 1. Open the administrative console and click **Service Integration** → **Buses** in the left navigation pane.
- 2. On the following window, create an ESB. Specify bus as the name. Click OK.
- 3. Click Finish on the Summary window (Figure 6-44).

C WebSphere Integrated Solutions Console - Windows Internet Explorer				
📀 📀 🗢 🙋 https:// <b>localhost</b> :9043/ibm/console/login.do?a	action=secure		🔹 😵 Certificate Error	84
🖕 Favorites 🛛 👍 🙋 Suggested Sites 🔹 🙋 Web Slice Gall	ery 🕶			
C WebSphere Integrated Solutions Console				
WebSphere, software				Welco
View: All tasks	CreateBus.displayName			
■ Welcome	Create a new Service Integration	Bus		
Guided Activities	Create a new service integrat	- · ·		
Servers  Applications  Services  Resources  Security  System administration  Users and Groups	<ul> <li>For the the trace a new bus</li> <li>(The next step of the wizard depends on decisions made in the current step)</li> <li>Step 2: Confirm create of new bus</li> </ul>	Configure the attributes of your new bus. * Enter the name for your new bus. BUS Bus security		
Honitoring and Tuning     Honitoring     H	Next Cancel			
I Troubleshooting				
Service integration     Buses     Web services     WS-Notification     UDDI				

Figure 6-44 Creating a Service Integration Bus

4. Save the changes that are made to the configuration by clicking **Save** at the top of the window. You should see the newly created bus that is listed under buses (Figure 6-45).

C WebSphere Integrated Solutions Co	nsole - Windows Internet Ex	plorer			
COO V //localhost:9043/ibn	n/console/login.do?action=secur	е		🔽 😵 Certificate Error	🗟 🐓 🗙 🔎 Bing
🖕 Favorites 🛛 👍 🙋 Suggested Sites 🔹	🥖 Web Slice Gallery 🔻				
🔗 WebSphere Integrated Solutions Console					🏠 • 🔊 - 🗉
WebSphere, software					Welcome wasadmin
View: All tasks	Cell=WIN	I-4Q6QP036PQ8Node01	Cell, Profile=AppSrvO1		
Welcome	Buses				? _
⊕ Guided Activities     ■	Buse	5			
± Servers	A se	vice integration bus su terconnected servers ar	pports applications using message-based and clusters that have been added as memb	and service-oriented architectu pers of the bus. Applications c	ures. A bus is a group onnect to a bus at one
Applications	of th	of the messaging engines associated with its bus members.			
± Services		Preferences			
± Resources	Ne	New Delete			
± Security	Q				
± Environment	Sele	Select Name 🗘 Description 🗘 Security 🗘			
🗄 System administration	You	can administer the fol	lowing resources:		
🗄 Users and Groups		BUS		<u>Disabled</u>	
Monitoring and Tuning	Tot	Total 1			
± Troubleshooting					
Service integration					
■ Buses → Web services					
■ WS-Notification					
± UDDI					
1					

Figure 6-45 Service Integration Bus

## Creating a bus member

The bus must be deployed to a bus member. The members of a service integration bus are the application servers or clusters in which messaging engines for that bus can run.

To create a bus member, complete the following steps:

- 1. From the administrative console, click **Service Integration**  $\rightarrow$  **Buses** in the navigation pane on the left. Select the bus that is created in "Creating a bus" on page 172.
- 2. Click **Bus members** in the Topology section.
- 3. Click **Add** and select the server to which the bus is deployed. Accept all defaults on the remaining windows and click **Finish**. Save the changes.

**Tip:** Manual configuration is error-prone and difficult. Automating these tasks saves time. Download the WebSphere version of the Trade application together with Jacl scripts for the **wsadmin** scripting facility. Those scripts create all the necessary resources and perform the application deployment in a clustered environment. Download it from the following web page:

http://www.ibm.com/software/webservers/appserv/was/performance.html

For more information about the administrative scripting, see the WebSphere Information Center at:

http://publib.boulder.ibm.com/infocenter/iisinfsv/v8r5/index.jsp

## Creating bus destinations for JMS queues and topics

The destination is the target for all messages sent to the enterprise service bus. To create the bus destinations for the JMS queue and topic, complete the following steps:

- 1. From the administration console, navigate to **Service Integration**  $\rightarrow$  **Buses**.
- 2. Select the bus that is created in "Creating a bus" on page 172.
- 3. Click **Destinations** in the Destination resources section.
- 4. Click New, and then select Queue as the destination type. Click Next.
- 5. Specify TradeBrokerJSD as the identifier. Click Next.
- 6. Assign the new queue to a bus member. Because there is only one bus member, click **Next** and then **Finish**.
- Create another queue destination by repeating steps 1 through 6. Use TradeBrokerDirect as the identifier.
- 8. Create a topic space by repeating steps 1 through 6. Specify Trade.Topic.Space as the identifier.
- 9. Save the changes.

#### Creating a JMS connection factory

Before you configure the JMS queues, you must configure a JMS connection factory, which is used by the Trade MDBs to create a connection to the JMS provider. Complete the following steps:

 From the administration console, navigate to Resources → JMS → JMS providers from the left navigation pane.  In the right pane, select Node=<node\_name>,Server=server1 in the scope drop-down menu (Figure 6-46).

IS provid	ders		?
JMS pr	oviders		
A JMS ( create	provider enables messaging based on connections for JMS destinations.	the Java Message Service (JMS). It pro	ovides J2EE connection factories to
😑 Scop	pe: Cell=WIN-4Q6QP036PQ8Node010	ell, Node=WIN-4Q6QP036PQ8Node01	l, Server= <b>server1</b>
Scope specifies the level at which the resource definition is visible. For detailed information on what scope is and how it works, <u>see the scope settings help.</u> Node=WIN-4Q6QP036PQ8Node01, Server=server1			
🗄 Pref	ferences		
New Delete			
D	ī ** *		
Select	Name 🛟	Description 🗘	Scope 🗘
You ca	an administer the following resources:		
	Default messaging provider	Default messaging provider	Node=WIN- 4Q6QP036PQ8Node01,Server=server1
	WebSphere MQ messaging provider	WebSphere MQ messaging provider	Node=WIN- 4Q6QP036PQ8Node01,Server=server1
Total	2	1	

Figure 6-46 WebSphere scope selection

- 3. Click Default messaging provider.
- 4. Click Queue connection factories in the Additional Properties section.
- 5. Click **New**, and create a queue connection factory using the information that is shown in Table 6-13.

Table 6-13 JMS queue connection factory configuration

Parameter	Values
Name	TradeBrokerQCF
JNDI name	jms/TradeBrokerQCF
Bus name	BUS

- 6. Click **OK**, and then save the changes that you made.
- 7. Navigate to **Resources**  $\rightarrow$  **JMS**  $\rightarrow$  **JMS Providers**.
- 8. Click Default messaging provider.
- 9. Click Topic connection factories in the Additional Properties section.

10. Click New, and create a JMS topic connection factory using the information in Table 6-14.

Table 6-14	.IMS tonic	connection	factory	configuration
		connection	lacioly	conngulation

Parameter	Values
Name	TradeStreamerTCF
JNDI name	jms/TradeStreamerTCF
Bus name	BUS

11.Save the changes.

#### Creating the JMS queue

Trade contains two message driven beans (MDBs). One MDB requires that you configure a new JMS queue. To do so, complete the following steps:

- 1. In the right pane, click Default messaging provider.
- 2. Click Queues in the Additional Properties section.
- 3. Click New, and create a JMS queue using the information in Table 6-15.

Table 6-15JMS queue configuration

Parameter	Value
Name	TradeBrokerQueue
JNDI name	jms/TradeBrokerQueue
Bus name	BUS
Queue name	TradeBrokerJSD

4. Click **OK** and save your changes.

#### Creating a second JMS queue

The second MDB in Trade requires that you configure a new JMS topic. To do so, complete the following steps:

1. Repeat steps 1 - 3 of the procedure in "Creating the JMS queue" on page 176 to create a second JMS queue using the information that is shown in Table 6-16.

**TradeBrokerDirect** 

Table 6-16 JMS queue configuration		
	Parameter	Value
	Name	TradeBrokerDirectQueue
	JNDI name	jms/TradeBrokerDirectQueue
	Bus name	BUS

Table 6-16 JMS queue configuration

2. Click OK and save the changes.

Queue name

## Creating a JMS topic

Trade contains two MDBs. The second MDB is for the JMS topic. To configure the JMS topic, complete the following steps:

- From the administration console, navigate to Resources → JMS → JMS providers from the navigation pane.
- 2. In the right pane, select **Node=<node\_name>,Server=server1** in the Scope drop-down menu.
- 3. Click Default messaging provider.
- 4. Click **Topics** in the Additional Properties section.
- 5. Click New, and create a JMS topic using the information that is shown in Table 6-17.

Parameter	Value
Name	TradeStreamerTopic
JNDI name	jms/TradeStreamerTopic
Bus name	BUS
Topic space	Trade.Topic.Space

Table 6-17 JMS topic configuration

6. Click **OK** and save the changes.

## Creating a JMS activation specification for the JMS queues

The last thing to configure in WebSphere Application Server V8.5 related to JMS is the JMS activation specification, which binds the MDBs to the default JMS messaging provider. The JNDI name of the JMS activation specification that you create is used in the MDB's deployment descriptor to bind the MDB to the messaging queue.

Complete the following steps:

- 1. In the right pane, click **Default messaging provider**.
- 2. Click Activation specification in the Additional Properties section.
- 3. Click **New**, and create a JMS activation specification using the information that is shown in Table 6-18.

Table 6-18 JMS activation specification configuration

Parameter	Values
Name	TradeBrokerMDB
JNDI name	eis/TradeBrokerMDB
Destination type	Queue
Destination JNDI name	jms/TradeBrokerQueue
Bus name	BUS

4. Create a second JMS activation specification with the information shown in Table 6-19. *Table 6-19 JMS activation specification configuration* 

Parameter	Value
Name	TradeStreamerMDB
JNDI name	eis/TradeStreamerMDB
Destination type	Торіс
Destination JNDI name	jms/TradeStreamerTopic
Bus	BUS

5. Click **OK** and save your changes.

You have all the necessary components for JMS messaging configured. The next step is to configure the MDBs to use the JMS activation specification and the queues.

## Configuring Message Driven beans

Use Rational Application Developer V8.5 and its Deployment Descriptor Editor to edit the standard ejb-jar.xml deployment descriptor and create the WebSphere Application Server V8.5 specific deployment descriptors. To do so, complete the following steps:

- 1. In Rational Application Developer, open the Deployment Descriptor Editor by navigating to EJB Projects /trade3EJB/ejbModule/META-INF and double-clicking the ejb-jar.xml file.
- 2. Click the **Bean** tab.
- 3. Select **TradeBrokerMDB** from the list of EJBs. In the WebSphere Bindings section, click **JCA Adapter** and specify the values that are shown in Table 6-20.

Parameter	Value
ActivationSpec JNDI name	eis/tradeBrokerMDB
Destination JNDI name	jms/TradeBrokerQueue

Table 6-20 OrderProcessor MDB's WebSphere binding configuration

You have now configured the MDB to use the JCA Activation Specification and Destination that is configured in "Creating a JMS activation specification for the JMS queues" on page 177. See Figure 6-47.

🔌 *EJB Deployment Descriptor 🛛		- 8
Bean		<b>a</b>
図AccountEJB 図AccountProfileEJB 図HoldingEJB 図和evGenEJB	Transaction type: Container Display name: TradeBrokerMDB Description:	
Image: Contract of the second seco	Message Destination  Destination type:      Activation Configuration  The following activation configurations are defined for the message-driven bean:	
	<ul> <li>WebSphere Bindings</li> <li>The following are binding properties for the WebSphere Application Server.</li> </ul>	
	O Listener Port Listener port name:	
Add Remove	JCA Adapter     ActivationSpec JNDI name: eis/tradeBrokerMDB     ActivationSpec Authorization Alias:     Destination JNDI name: jms/TradeBrokerQueue	
Overview Bean References WS Handler Asse	mbly Access WS Extension WS Binding Mediation Handlers Internationalization Activit	ySession »2

Figure 6-47 MDB activation specification configuration

**JCA Adapter option:** If you cannot see the JCA Adapter option under WebSphere Bindings, verify that you changed the J2EE specification to 1.4 with the Specifications Upgrade wizard that is described in "Migrating the Trade Application J2EE level" on page 168. To check that the application J2EE level is 1.4, right-click the EAR file in the Enterprise Explorer category, click **Properties**, and view the EAR version under Project Facets, as shown in Figure 6-48.

Properties for trade3wls			
	Project Facets		$\Leftarrow \star \Rightarrow \star \star$
	Configuration: <custom></custom>		
Deployment Assembly	Project Facet	Version	Details Runtimes
Project Facets	EAR	1.4 <del>-</del> 1.1	EAR 1.4
Project References Run/Debug Settings	JavaScript	1.0	Enables the project to be de
Server Targeted Runtimes	Service Component Architecture 1.0	1.0 1.1	
- Task Tags	WebSphere Application (Co-existence)	8.5 🔹	
	WebSphere Application (Extended)	8.5 •	
	WebSphere SCA 1.1	8.5	
(?)			OK Cancel

Figure 6-48 Project J2EE specification

4. Select **TradeSteamerMDB** from the list of EJBs. In the WebSphere Bindings section, select **JCA Adapter** and specify the values that are shown in Table 6-21.

Parameter	Value
ActivationSpec JNDI name	eis/tradeStreamerMDB
Destination JNDI name	jms/TradeStreamerTopic

Table 6-21 Mailer MDBs WebSphere binding configuration

You have now completed the configuration of the MDBs and JMS messaging.

## Creating a data source

Trade uses a JDBC data source to connect to the database. To set up the data source, you must configure a JDBC provider, a J2C alias for storing the database authentication information, and the data source itself.

**JCA data entries:** J2EE Connector Architecture (JCA) data entries are used by resource adapters and JDBC data sources. A JCA data entry contains authentication data, which includes an alias (an identifier), user ID (a user identity), password, and description.

The configuration is done from the administrative console by completing the following steps:

- 1. From the administration console, click **Environment**  $\rightarrow$  **WebSphere Variables.**
- 2. In the right frame, select Node=<node\_name> in the Scope drop-down menu.
- 3. Click the DB2UNIVERSAL\_JDBC\_DRIVER\_PATHI environment variable.
- 4. Specify the correct path to the DB2 JDBC driver and click **OK**. In our migration example, the path to the JDBC driver is C:\DB2\_10\IBM\SQLLIB\java.
- 5. Save the changes.
- Click the UNIVERSAL\_JDBC\_DRIVER\_PATH environment variable and specify the value \${WAS\_INSTALL\_ROOT}/universalDriver/lib. This value points to the db2jcc\_license\_cu.jar, which is the DB2 license file.
- 7. Click **OK** and save the changes.
- 8. Create the JDBC provider, data source, and J2C authentication alias. From the administration console, navigate to **Resources** → **JDBC** → **DBC providers**.
- 9. In the Scope drop-down menu, select Node=<Node-name>.
- 10. Click New to create a JDBC provider using the information that is shown in Table 6-22.

Table 6-22	JDBC provider	configuration
------------	---------------	---------------

Parameter	Value
Database type	DB2
Provider type	DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider
Implementation type	XA data source

- 11.We already defined the class path values for the database using WebSphere Variables, so the values are already populated. Click **Next**.
- 12. The Summary window is displayed. Click Finish and save the changes.

With the JDBC provider defined and the DB2 JDBC driver path that is specified, the next step is to create the actual data source and authentication alias by completing the following steps:

 From the administration console, navigate to Resources → JDBC → JDBC providers, and select the newly created JDBC provider by clicking its name, which is DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider (XA).

**JDBC Provider:** We select JDBC Provider implementation type as our XA data source instead of the Connection pool data source because the Trade application includes the operations that are wrapped in a global 2-phase transaction and commit.

- 2. Click **Data sources** in the Additional properties section.
- 3. Click New, and create a data source using the information that is shown in Table 6-23.

Parameter	Value
Driver type	4
Server name	localhost
Database name	trade3db

Table 6-23 JDBC data source configuration

- 4. Click Next.
- 5. On the Setup security alias window, leave all the defaults and click Next.
- 6. The Summary window is displayed. Click **Finish** and save the changes.
- 7. Select the newly created data source by clicking its name, which is TradeDataSource.
- 8. Click JAAS J2C authentication data in the Related Items section.
- 9. Click New, and create an alias using the information that is shown in Table 6-24.

Table 6-24J2C authentication alias configuration

Parameter	Value
Alias	TradeDataSourceAuthData
Userld	db2admin
Password	db2admin

#### 10.Click Apply.

- 11.Click **OK** and go back to the data source. From the Component-managed authentication alias drop-down menu, select the J2C alias.
- 12. Click **OK** and save your configuration.
- 13. Select the data source you created from the list and click **Test connection**.

## Migrating EJBs

This section describes how to configure the Trade Session beans and Container Managed beans to run on WebSphere Application Server V8.5. In our migration example, we use the Deployment Descriptor Editor in Rational Application Developer V8.5 and the migration tool to generate the WebSphere Application Server V8.5 specific deployment descriptors.

## Specifying EJB JNDI names

The first step is to assign JNDI names to the Trade EJBs, because the migration tool did not do it for all of the EJBs.

**Important:** The migration tool migrates the JNDI names that are in the WebLogic EJB deployment descriptor to the corresponding WebSphere files. However, most of the EJB's JNDI names for Trade application are not specified in the EJB deployment descriptor, so you must perform those steps manually.

- 1. From the Rational workspace, open the ejb-jar.xml file with the Deployment Descriptor Editor and click the **Bean** tab.
- Click AccountEJB. In the WebSphere Bindings section, enter the information that is shown in Table 6-25.

Parameter	Value
AccountEJB	ejb/AccountEJB

Table 6-25 WebSphere bindings for the Account EJB

3. Repeat step 2 for each EJB in the list, except for the MDBs. Specify a unique JNDI name for each EJB in the format ejb/<EJBName> using the values that are shown in Table 6-26.

EJB	JNDI name values
AccountProfileEJB	ejb/AccountProfileEJB
HoldingEJB	ejb/HoldingEJB
KeyGenEJB	ejb/KeyGenEJB
OrderEJB	ejb/OrderEJB
QuoteEJB	ejb/QuoteEJB
KeySequenceEJB	ejb/KeySequenceEJB
TradeEJB	ejb/TradeEJB

Table 6-26 Trade EJB JNDI names

4. Save the changes.

## Specifying the EJB references

This process specifies the EJB reference names under the WebSphere Bindings for the EJBs. These names are the JNDI names from the weblogic-ejb-jar.xml file that were not migrated from the tool.

Complete the following steps:

- In Rational Application Developer, open the EJB deployment descriptor editor by navigating to the /trade3EJB/ejbModule/META-INF folder. Double-click the ejb-jar.xml file.
- 2. Click the References tab.
- 3. Expand AccountEJB by clicking the + sign next to it.
- 4. Select the ejb/AccountProfile.
- 5. Under the WebSphere Bindings section, enter ejb/AccountProfileEJB as the JNDI reference name.

6. Repeat steps 1 on page 182 through 5 on page 182 using the information in Table 6-27. *Table 6-27 EJB reference names* 

EJB to expand	Reference	JNDI name
AccountEJB	ejb/AccountProfile	ejb/AccountProfileEJB
KeySequenceEJB	ejb/KeyGen	ejb/KeyGenEJB
TradeEJB	ejb/Quote	ejb/QuoteEJB
TradeEJB	ejb/Account	ejb/AccountEJB
TradeEJB	ejb/Holding	ejb/HoldingEJB
TradeEJB	ejb/Order	ejb/OrderEJB
TradeEJB	ejb/KeySequence	ejb/KeySequenceEJB
TradeEJB	ejb/AccountProfile	ejb/AccountProfileEJB
TradeEJB	jdbc/TradeDataSource	jdbc/TradeDataSource
TradeEJB	jms/QueueConnectionFactory	jms/TradeBrokerQCF
TradeEJB	jms/TopicConnectionFactory	jms/TradeStreamerTCF
TradeEJB	jms/TradeBrokerQueue	jms/TradeBrokerQueue
TradeEJB	jms/TradeStreamerTopic	jms/TradeStreamerTopic
TradeBrokerMDB	ejb/Trade	ejb/TradeEJB

 Save changes to the deployment descriptor by pressing Ctrl+s. Or, from the Rational Application Developer Window menu, click File → Save. Do not close the EJB deployment descriptor editor.

## Configuring the default data source for CMPs

In this procedure, specify a default data source that is used by all CMP beans by completing the following steps:

- 1. Select the **Overview** tab in the Deployment Descriptor Editor.
- 2. In the WebSphere Bindings section, under the JNDI CMP Connection Factory Binding heading, enter the values that are shown in Table 6-28.

Table 6-28 Default data source configuration

Parameter	Value
JNDI name	jdbc/TradeDataSource

## Specifying the web application references

Complete the following steps to specify web application references. The tool adds some of the JNDI names, such as TradeEJB, QuoteEJB, and jdbc. In our example, we add the other names manually. Also, the tool creates the connection factory names with its default names, and we change them to the ones shown in Table 6-29 on page 184.

- 1. In Rational Application Developer, open the Web Deployment Descriptor Editor by navigating to the /trade3Web/webContent/WEB-INF folder. Double-click the **web.xml** file.
- 2. Click the References tab.
- 3. Select the jdbc/TradeDataSource reference.
- 4. Under the WebSphere Bindings section, verify that JNDI name is jdbc/TradeDataSource.

5. Repeat steps 1 on page 183 through 4 on page 183 using the information in Table 6-29 for the reference and JNDI names.

Reference	JNDI name
jdbc/TradeDataSource	jdbc/TradeDataSource
jms/QueueConnectionFactory	jms/TradeBrokerQCF
jms/TopicConnectionFactory	jms/TradeStreamerTCF
ejb/Trade	ejb/TradeEJB
ejb/Quote	ejb/QuoteEJB
jms/TradeBrokerQueue	jms/TradeBrokerQueue
jms/TradeStreamerTopic	jms/TradeStreamerTopic
ejb/LocalQuote	ejb/QuoteEJB
ejb/LocalAccountHome	ejb/AccountEJB
jms/TradeBrokerDirectQueue	jms/TradeBrokerDirectQueue

Table 6-29 Trade web application reference JNDI names

## **Restarting WebSphere Application Server**

In this procedure, you restart WebSphere Application Server by completing the following steps:

- 1. In a command prompt, navigate to C:\<WAS\_Install\_Root>\profiles\AppSrv1\bin.
- 2. Run stopServer server1 to stop the server.
- 3. Run startServer server1 to start the server.

After a successful start of the server, you should see the message Server server1 open for e-business, which indicates that the server is ready.

# Deploying the application

After the resources for the application are configured, the next step is to deploy the application to the test environment on Rational Application Developer. To do so, complete the following steps:

 In the Rational Application Developer Servers view, right-click WebSphere Application Server v8.5 at localhost and select Add and Remove Projects. See Figure 6-49. The Add and Remove Projects dialog box is displayed.

References		
This web application references the following resources:	New Open Show In	► F3 Alt+Shift+W
Image: Second Control (Second Contro) (Second Control (Second Control (Second	Copy Paste X Delete Rename	Ctrl+C ⊂trl+V Delete F2
PresourceEnvRef jms/TradeBrokerDirectQueue           PresourceEnvRef jms/TradeStreamerTopic	** Restart in Debug         @ Restart         @ Restart in Profile         @ Stop         Publish         Clean         ** Add and Remove         Monitoring	Ctrl+Alt+D Ctrl+Alt+R Ctrl+Alt+S Ctrl+Alt+P
Add Remove	Modern Batch Job Management Console Create Tables and Data Sources Deactivate server	
Overview Servlets Filter Security References WS Handler Pages Variables	Reconnect Debug Process	
🖹 Markers 🔲 Properties 👯 Servers 🙁 🙀 Data Source Explorer 🔚	Administration Universal Test Client Server Configuration	+ + +
Web Preview Server [Stopped] WebSphere Application Server v8.5 at localhost [Started, Synchronized]	Properties	Alt+Enter

Figure 6-49 Add and Remove Projects

- 2. Under Available projects, select **trade3wls** and click **Add**. The trade3wls project is found under the Configured projects.
- 3. Click Finish.

It takes a couple of minutes for the application to deploy to the server. You can expand the server and verify that the application status is Started.

## Configuring basic authentication on WebSphere

Here are the settings in web.xml of the trade web application that we added to demonstrate what you should do about configuring application security on WebSphere. There are differences with WebLogic and WebSphere in terms of mapping users/groups to role name. See Example 6-5.

Example 6-5 The basic authentication settings in web.xml

```
<security-constraint>
   <web-resource-collection>
        <web-resource-name>secure resources</web-resource-name>
        <url-pattern>/*</url-pattern>
        </web-resource-collection>
```

```
<auth-constraint>
<role-name>threadUser</role-name>
</auth-constraint>
</security-constraint>
<login-config>
<auth-method>BASIC</auth-method>
</login-config>
<security-role>
<role-name>threadUser</role-name>
</security-role>
```

To map users/groups to security role, which is threadUser in our example, complete the steps in the following sections.

## Configuring security and creating user and group on WebSphere

Complete the following steps:

1. Open WebSphere Admin Console, click **Global Security**, and check **Enable application security** to enable application security on WebSphere (Figure 6-50).



Figure 6-50 Enable application security

2. Click OK.

3. Click **Manage Users** under **Users and Groups** and click **Create** to add a user (Figure 6-51).

WebSphere. software						
<ul> <li>Schedulers</li> <li>Object pool managers</li> </ul>	Manage U:	sers				
	Search	for Users				
<ul> <li></li></ul>	Search User II Searc	by *: > • * :h	Search for	*Maximum 100	results	
Resource Environment	1 users	matched th	ne search cri	teria.		
Security						
<ul> <li>Global security</li> <li>Security domains</li> </ul>	Cre	ate	Delete	Select Sele	ct an ac	tion 💽 🕞 🛒 🗮
Administrative Authorization Groups	Select	User ID	First name	Last name	E-mail	Unique Name
<ul> <li>SSL certificate and key management</li> <li>Security auditing</li> </ul>		wasadmin	wasadmin	wasadmin		uid=wasadmin,o=defaultWIMFileBasedRealm
<ul> <li>Bus security</li> </ul>						
± Environment						
System administration	Pag	e 1 of 1				Total: 1
Users and Groups						
<ul> <li>Administrative user roles</li> </ul>						
Administrative group roles						
Manage Users						
Manage Groups						

Figure 6-51 Creating a user

4. Complete the fields as shown in Figure 6-52. We used testuser/testuser as the user name and password in our example.

Manage Users	
Manage Users	
Create a User	
*User ID	
testuser	Group Membership
* First name	*Last name
Test	User
E-mail	
test@tr.ibm.com	
* Password	* Confirm password
•••••	•••••
Create Cancel	

Figure 6-52 Manage Users

5. Click Create and Close.

 Click Manage Groups under Users and Groups and click Create to add a group (Figure 6-53).

Manage Groups	
Manage Groups	
Search for Group <del>s</del>	
Search by *Search for	*Maximum results
Group name 💌 \star	100
Search	
0 groups matched the search cri	riteria.
Create Delete	
Page 1 of 1	Total: 0

Figure 6-53 Creating a group

- 7. Enter threadUserGroup as the Group name.
- 8. Click Create and Close.
- 9. Click **threadUserGroup** and click **Members** to add the user we created in the Group (Figure 6-54).

manage Groups			
Manage Groups			
Group Properties			
General Members	Groups		
Group name threadUserGroup			
The group has 0 memb	ers.		
The group has 0 memb Add Users	ers. Add Groups	Remove	
The group has 0 memb	Add Groups	Remove	
The group has 0 memb	Add Groups	Remove	
The group has 0 memb	Add Groups	Remove	
The group has 0 memb	Add Groups	Remove Total: 0	

Figure 6-54 Group properties
10. Click Add Users and click Search. Select testuser and click Add (Figure 6-55).

Manage Groups	
Manage Groups	
Add Users to a Group	
Group name	
threadUserGroup	
Search for users that wi	l be members of this group.
Search by *Searc	h for *Maximum results
User ID 🔽 *	100
Search	
2 users matched the se testuser wasadmin Add Close	arch criteria.

Figure 6-55 Adding member into the group

11. You see the "The users were added to the group successfully" message. Click Close.

12. You see the window that is shown in Figure 6-56.

Manage Gro	ups			
Group Pr	operties			
General	Members	Grou	and the second	
Group na threadUs	me erGroup		]	
The grou	p has 1 mer	nbers.		
The grou	p has 1 mer <b>d Users</b>	mbers.	Add Groups Remove	
The group <b>Ad</b>	p has 1 mer <b>d Users</b> ID	mbers.	Add Groups Remove	
The group Add Select	p has 1 mer d Users ID testuser	mbers.	Add Groups Remove C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	
The group	p has 1 mer d Users ID testuser	Type	Add Groups Remove C T	
The group	p has 1 mer d Users ID testuser	nbers.	Add Groups Remove C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	

Figure 6-56 Testuser properties

# Mapping a security user and group to role name in Rational Application Developer

To map a security user and group to role name in Rational Application Developer, complete the following steps:

1. Right-click the Trade EAR project and click **Project Facets**.

2. Ensure that **WebSphere Application (Co-existence)** and **WebSphere Application (Extended)** are selected (Figure 6-57).

Properties for trade3wls			
type filter text	Project Facets		$ \diamondsuit \bullet $
ter Resource Builders	Configuration: <pre><custom></custom></pre>		<u>r</u> e
Deployment Assembly     Links     Project Facets	Project Facet	Version 1.4 •	Details Runtimes
Project References Run/Debug Settings Server	Invidgets     Invidgets	1.1 1.0 1.0	Enables the project to be deplo
- Targeted Runtimes - Task Tags	Service Component Architecture 1.1      WebSphere Application (Co-existence)      WebSphere Application (Extended)	1.1 8.5 ▼	
ter validation ⊕ XDoclet	WebSphere SCA 1.0	8.5	
	<b>X</b>		
?			OK Cancel

Figure 6-57 Project facets of the trade3wls EAR file

3. Click **Deployment Descriptor** of the EAR file and click the **Security** tab. Ensure that you can see the threadUser role name. If you cannot see the role name, click **Gather** to let Rational Application Developer get the role name from the trade web application web.xml file (Figure 6-58).

🥵 Enterprise Explorer 🛛 🙀 Services 🛛 🖃 😫 🖤 🗖 🗌	🗕 EJB Deployment Descriptor 🛛 🕖 Log. java 🛛 🔂 Application Deployment	nt Descriptor 🛛 🗖 🗖
🕀 🐉 trade3EJB 🕀 🔐 trade3Web	Security	ĥ
는 🥮 trade3wls 요. 📆 Deployment Descriptor: trade3wls 요. 😂 APP-INF	🔞 threadUser	Name: America
META-INF  Application.xml  Monoperation-brd.xmi  Monoperation-brd.xmi  MANIFEST.MF  trade3CB0.jar		WebSphere Bindings The following are binding properties for the WebSphere Application Server.      Everyone     All authenticated users     Users(Groups
📑 tradesweb.war	Add Remove Gather Replace Overview Module Security Deployment Extended Services Source	✓ Users Add

Figure 6-58 Checking the security role name

4. Click the **threadUser** role name, click **Users/Groups** under WebSphere Bindings and Add threadUserGroup, which you defined in "Configuring security and creating user and group on WebSphere" on page 186. See Figure 6-59.

trade3EJB     trade3Web     trade3Web	Security	
trade3wls     trade3wls     APP-INF     Application-ind.xmi     maplication-ind.xmi     maplication-ext.xmi     maplication-ext.xmi     trade3Web.war	ሴ threadUser	WebSphere Bindings The following are binding properties for the     WebSphere Application Server.     Everyone     All authenticated users     Users/Groups      Users     Add     Edit     Remove
	Add Remove Gather Replace Overview Module Security Deployment Extended Services Source	Groups     Add     Edt     Remove

Figure 6-59 Mapping group in Rational Application Developer

5. Save the file.

**Importing the security user role:** We create the security user role mapping by using Rational Application Developer instead of WebSphere admin console, as we import the project into Rational Application Developer from the archive file. If you prefer importing the project into Rational Application Developer as an EAR file, you can map the security roles in WebSphere admin console by clicking **Application**  $\rightarrow$  **Security role to user/group mapping**  $\rightarrow$  **Map Groups** and specifying the threadUsergroup as the security group.

#### Testing the application

The application can be accessed at the following URL:

http://localhost:9080/trade3Web

As we enabled basic authentication in our sample, we are prompted for the user name and password (Figure 6-60).



Figure 6-60 Authentication window

Enter the user name and password (testuser in both cases) to log in to the application (Figure 6-61).

Ghttp://localhost:9080/trac	le3Web/ - Windows Internet Explorer	
🗿 💿 🗢 🙋 http://localhos	t:9080/trade3Web/	💌 🗟 😽 🗙 🔎 Bing
🖕 Favorites 🛛 🖕 💋 Suggesi	red Sites 🔹 💋 Web Slice Gallery 🔹	
😬 🔹 🄏 WebSphere Integrat	ed Solut 🥖 http://localhost:9080/tra 🗙	🏠 🕶 🔜 🚽 Page + Safety + Tr
		Section 2
		פטעען
Parformance Application	WebSphere Performance Benchmark Sample	WebSphere software
	<b>a</b> .	
	Overview	
Uverview	The WebSphere $^{\mathrm{TM}}$ performance benchmark sample provides a suite of IBM	developed workloads for characterizing performance of the WebSphere Application Server. The workloads
Technical Documentation	consist of an end to end web application and a full set of primitives. The app open J2EE APIs. Together these provide versatile and portable test cases de	dications are a collection of Java classes, Java Servlets, Java Server Pages and Enterprise Java Beans built to esigned to measure aspects of scalability and performance.
Documentation		
Benchmarking		Account
Configuration	Serviets	CMP Paldings
Go Trade!		Quy of Order
Web Primitives	Vieb Client JSPs	
		Trade Database
	SOAP Bonder	
Trade3	Joe, in action! Client Web Contain	
WebSphere software		Message
	Registry	WSDL TradeBroker Streamer MDB MDB To The Data
	WebSpher Web Serviv	re Синин Торіс ees EJB Container
		Trade3 J2EE Components
	Mod	lel-View-Controller Architecture

Figure 6-61 Trade Application welcome page

Browse through the site to check that the application is running correctly.

To test the application, complete the following steps:

1. Click the **Configuration** option in the left navigation pane (Figure 6-62).

p://localhost:9080/tr → 🖉 http://localh	ost:9080/trade3Web/	Ernet Explorer
vorites 🛛 🚕 🙋 Sugge	ested Sites 🔹 🙋 Web Slice ated Solut   🌾 http://loca	Gallery 🕶 💦 🗸 🔄 📾 🔹 Page 🗉 Safety 🖛 Tools
		Tr.
formance Application	Web	Sphere Performance Benchmark Sample WebSphere
	Configuration a	utilities
	Bauchwark	
<u>Overview</u>	Configuration Tools	Description
<u>Technical</u> Documentation	<u>Reset Trade</u> ( <u>to be done before</u> <u>each run)</u>	Reset the Trade runtime to a clean starting point by logging off all users, removing new registrations and other general cleanup. For consistent result this URL should be run <b>before each</b> Trade run.
Configuration	Configure Trade run- time parameters	This link provides an interface to set configuration parameters that control Trade run-time characteristics such as using EJBs or JDBC. This link also provides utilities such as setting the UID and Password for a remote or
Go Trade!		protected database when using JDBC.
Veb Primitives	( <u>Re)-populate</u> <u>Trade Database</u>	This link is used to initially populate or re-populate the Trade database with fictitious users (uid:0, uid:1,) and stocks (s:0, s:1,). First all existing users and stocks are deleted (if any). The database is then populated with a new set of Trade users and stocks.
Trade3	Test Trade Scenario	This links pops up a browser to manually step through a Trade scenario by hitting "Reload" on your browser

Figure 6-62 Trade Application Configuration options

- 2. Click the **(Re)-Populate Trade Database** option under the Benchmark Configuration Tools. This action populates the Trade database with fictitious users and stocks. Any existing users are deleted, and a new set of users and stocks are created. (This action might take some time to complete.)
- Scroll down to the Trade Configuration section Order-Processing Mode. The three choices are as follows:
  - Synchronous (the default selection)
  - Asynchronous\_1-Phase
  - Asynchronous\_2-Phase

The mode can be changed for subsequent runs of the Trade application by selecting another mode and clicking **Update Config**.

- 4. Close this window and go back to the original Trade Application window.
- 5. While still in the Configuration utilities, select **Reset Trade**. Note the Order Processing mode in the table.

For the next set of tests, access the following URL:

http://localhost:9080/trade3Web/scenario

This URL is handled by TradeScenarioServlet. The servlet emulates a population of users by executing an action for a randomly chosen user upon each access to the URL.

#### 6.5.4 Summary

We completed the migration of the Trade application with minimum changes to the Java code. This application was originally developed for WebSphere, then ported to WebLogic, and we ported it back to WebSphere. Trade is a fairly complex application and uses many vendor-specific deployment descriptors with the same code base.

We redeployed the compiled EAR file without having to change much of the Java code. We were able to demonstrate the following concepts:

- Usage of the WebSphere Application Server Migration Tool V3.5 for Rational Application Developer V8.5 for automatic migration of CMP EJB mappings and vendor-specific deployment descriptors and package.
- Configuration of JDBC provider and data source, Service Integration Bus, JMS queues, and topics and application deployment tasks with WebSphere Application Server V8.5.
- Basic development activities using Rational Application Developer V8.5.
- Enabling and configuring basic authentication and performing mapping security users/groups to the role name defined in application on WebSphere.

# 6.6 MVC WebLogic Application migration

This section describes how to migrate an MVC J2EE application that runs on WebLogic to WebSphere Application Server V8.5. It describes the steps to import the application into Rational Application Developer and how to run a Migration Toolkit. You find the common issues and the solutions to problems you may experience in this section as well.

#### 6.6.1 Migration approach

Migrate the MVC J2EE application that is built for WebLogic to WebSphere Application Server V8.5. First, configure the WebSphere Migration Toolkit and create a connection to a DB2 database. Then, start Rational Application Developer V8.5 and import the MVC, including the CMP EJB 2.0 application, analyze and fix the errors from WebLogic generated code, compile JSPs using the batch JSP compiler, and migrate the deployment descriptors using the WebSphere Migration Toolkit. Finally, configure the required JDBC resources and deploy the MVC and CMP applications to WebSphere Application Server V8.5.

The migration of the MVC application is done by completing the following steps:

- 1. Import the J2EE compliant EAR file into Rational Application Developer V8.5 to take advantage of its advanced deployment descriptor editing functionality.
- 2. Run the Application Migration Tool.
- 3. Fix the errors and build path dependencies between projects.
- 4. Configure WebSphere Application Server V8.5 to create a JDBC Connection pool for the database.
- 5. Build an MVC application for WebSphere Application Server V8.5 using Rational Application Developer.
- 6. Deploy the application into WebSphere Application Server V8.5 and start the page to make sure that it is loaded successfully.

#### 6.6.2 Migrating the MVC application

This section describes the steps to perform to migrate the MVC application. This migration effort is straightforward because the MVC application was developed using preferred practices and J2EE standards.

**Downloading the MVC application:** For information about how to download the MVC application that is used in this scenario, see Appendix B, "Additional material" on page 435.

#### Importing the EAR file

Start the migration by importing the EAR file that was built for and deployed to WebLogic into Rational Application Developer V8.5.

**Rational Application Developer:** We assume that Rational Application Developer is installed. We also assume that you have a database installed (preferably DB2). No content is needed in the database, as we simply test that a connection can be made. We also assume that WebSphere Application Server V8.5 is installed and created an Application Server profile. We used a new Rational Application Developer V8.5 workspace for our migration example. The workspace folder is referred to as <rad\_workspace>.

Start the migration of MVC application by importing the EAR file with the source code in to Rational Application Developer V8.5 by completing the following steps:

1. In Rational Application Developer Java EE Enterprise Explorer perspective, right-click and select **Import** → **EAR file** (Figure 6-63).

💽 Java EE - Rational® Application I	Developer for	Web	Sphere	® Softwa	are							
File Edit Navigate Search Project	Run Window	He	elp									
] 📬 • 🖫 🖻 🔷 🛛 🛛 🗊 •	☆ • ⊙ •	8∎	- 🧟 -	- ] 🚳 -	• 😚	- ]	ے چ	<b>%</b> • [	i 😵 [		<b>4</b> ] -	₽
😢 Enterprise Explorer 🐰 🤮 Serv	/ices 🗖											
		$\overline{}$	<u> </u>									
	□ ¥> ₩											
		_										
New		-										
Show In	Alt+Shift+W											
Сору	Ctrl+C											
Copy Qualified Name												
💼 Paste	Ctrl+V	- 1										
💥 Delete	Delete	- 1										
Import		Þ	- Ng App Cl	lient JAR fi	ile							
Export			🗎 EAR fil	le								
9 Defrech	F5	6	💊 ejb ja	R file								
< Kerresit	13	- 2	📫 Java E	E Utility Ja	ar							
		4	🔊 RAR fi	le								
		0	青 Shared	d EAR file		7		2 2424	2	No.		Ev
		0	💩 war f	ile		L	YIQ DE	rvers o	2	8 Dau	a source	EX
		R	Import									
		Ť		web Prev	new se	rver	[Stopp	ed]				
			i	WebSphe	re App	licatic	in Serv	/er v8.5	at local	host [	Stopped	1

Figure 6-63 Import the EAR file

2. Specify the location of the EAR file and the target run time as **WebSphere Application Server V8.5**. Click **Finish**.

- 3. You should have three projects in the Enterprise Explorer View (Figure 6-64).
  - Enterprise Application Project: MVC
  - J2EE EJB Project for MVC: MVCEJB
  - J2EE Dynamic Web Project containing servlets and JSPs: MVCWeb

😤 Enterprise Explorer 🛛 😤 Services	- 8
	\$≩ 😫 ▽
🕞 🎥 MVC	
🗄 🛅 Deployment Descriptor: MVCEAR	
🕀 🗁 APP-INF	
🕀 🔂 META-INF	
📄 MVCEJB.jar	
MVCWeb.war	
🖻 🎥 MVCEJB	
🗄 🛅 Deployment Descriptor: MVCEJB	
🗄 避 ejbModule	
😟 🖻 🛋 JRE System Library [WebSphere A	Application Ser
WebSphere Application Server v8.	.5 [WebSpher
🗄 🕮 ImportedClasses	
😟 🗁 build	
🖻 📸 MVCWeb	
🗄 📆 Deployment Descriptor: MVCWeb	
🕀 📅 Java Resources	
⊞ JavaScript Resources	
🕀 🔂 WebContent	

Figure 6-64 Enterprise Explorer View

Here we give a brief description of the EAR file and the contents of the application. An EAR file is a standard JAR (and therefore a compressed file) with an .ear extension, with one or more entries that represent the modules of the application, and a metadata directory that is called META-INF, which contains one or more deployment descriptors.

Table 6-30 shows the contents of our example MVC projects.

Directory structure	Description
MVC.ear/META-INF/	Metadata folder for deployment descriptors.
MVC.ear/META-INF/application.xml	This file contains a mapping to the modules that this application uses. In this case, web module to MVCWeb.war, and EJB Module to MVCEJB.jar.
MVC.ear/META-INF/weblogic-applicatio n.xml	WebLogic specific deployment descriptors. In this specific example, there are no WebLogic specific configurations.
MVC.ear/APP-INF/	This folder contains any libraries and classes that are used by the application. In this case, there are none.
MVC.ear /MVCEJB.jar	This is the EJB module. This module contains the EJB beans that are used in this application.

Table 6-30 The contents of the MVC projects

Directory structure	Description
MVC.ear /MVCWeb.war	This is the web module. It contains the servlets and JSPs used in this application.
MVCEJB.jar/META-INF/ejb-jar.xml	This XML file defines the enterprise beans that are used in the application. It is not server-specific and should not require migration. Here we define the EJB MVCModel and the logical reference to the data source.
MVCEJB.jar/META-INF/weblogic-ejb-jar .xml	This XML file is WebLogic specific. This file defines the weblogic-enterprise-bean, and defines the resource-description to map the database JNDI name with the resource reference. This file also exposes the JNDI name for the bean with the jndi-name. This file should be migrated automatically with the WebSphere Migration Toolkit.
MVCEJB.jar/ejbs/*	<ul> <li>We have the MVCModel enterprise bean.</li> <li>This bean has its corresponding classes:</li> <li>MVCModel.class: The enterprise bean remote interface</li> <li>MVCModelBean.class: The enterprise bean</li> <li>MVCModelHome.class: The enterprise bean remote home</li> <li>We also have MVCModelDBObject, which is just an object to hold the database information.</li> </ul>
MVCWeb.war/WEB-INF/web.xml	This file is not server-specific. It defines the servlet and the servlet mapping.
MVCWeb.war/WEB-INF/weblogic.xml	This file describes the resource references used inside this module. In our case, we reference an EJB bean. Inside, we have a resource-envdescription, which maps a resource-env-refname to the jndi-name defined in the EJBs weblogic-ejb.jar.xml file.
MVCWeb.war/WEBINF/classes/com/ibm/mv c/MVCController.class	Here we have the servlet. This servlet, when called, calls the MVCModel bean. The servlet receives a MVCModelDBObject and forwards it to the JSP.
MVCDemoweb.war/MVCView.jsp	This JSP is called from the MVCController servlet. It takes in an attribute (MVCModelDBObject) and displays it on the browser.

Run the Application Migration Tool by completing the following steps:

1. Run the Application Migration Tool. From the Run menu, click **Analyze** to analyze all the projects in the workspace.

The Software Analyzer View open at the bottom of the window. It contains four tabs. Each tab corresponds to one of the analysis domains that are selected based on the Rule Set selection that you made earlier.

- The Class-Path Review tab list any class path related issues.
- The Java Code Review tab lists Java code-related issues.
- The XML File Review tab lists issues with deployment descriptors and the presence of any WebLogic specific files.
- The JSP Code Review tab lists the issues that are found in JSP files, commonly associated with web projects.
- 2. Click the XML File Review tab (Figure 6-65).



Figure 6-65 XML File Review

The tool scans the XML files in the project and flags the potential problems with WebLogic deployment descriptors by category/rule violation. You can expand each of the rules to see the files in question and which project they belong to.

 We convert the WebLogic specific JNDI mappings to WebSphere bindings. Right-click the first result, Use WebSphere bindings to define EJB JNDI names → weblogic-ejb-jar.xmI, and select Quick Fix Preview (Figure 6-66).

XML File Review	JSP Code Review	Java Code Review	Class-Path Review	
				P 🗗
E 🔁 WebLo	ogic to WebSphere o e WebSphere bindir	leployment descriptor Igs to define EJB JND	migration [7 results in Oms] I names [1 result in Oms]	
	weblogic-ejb-jar.x e WebSphere bindir weblogic.xml:5 fou	ml: 12 found in MVCEJ igs to define EJB refe ind in MVCWeb	View Result	
	e WebSphere bindir weblogic-ejb-jar.x e WebSphere exter	igs to define resource ml:9 found in MVCEJB isions to define web n	Quick Fix Preview	
	weblogic.xml:4 fou ebLogic-specific files	ind in MVCWeb [3 results in Oms]	♀ Quick Fix All ♀ Quick Fix All Category Ignore Result	
,				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

Figure 6-66 XML file Quick Fix Preview

This action opens a comparison and creates a file named

MVCEJB/ejbModule/MATAINF/ibm-ejb-jar-bnd.xmi. You can review the changes. See Figure 6-67.

E Compare ('MVCEJB/ejbModule/META-INF/ibm-ejb-jar-bnd.xmi' - 'MVCEJB/ejbMod	ule/META-INF/ibm-ejb-jar-bnd.xmi') 🛛 🗖 🗖
🔽 SQL Routine Compare 🔻	₩ <b>₩</b> ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩
🛂 MVCEJB/ejbModule/META-INF/ibm-ejb-jar-bnd.xmi	🛂 MVCEJB/ejbModule/META-INF/ibm-ejb-jar-bnd.xmi
/ejbBindings /e	

Figure 6-67 The contents of ibm-ejb-jar-bnd.xmi

After you are satisfied with the change, you can select **Quick Fix**. This action makes the change in your workspace.

- 4. Perform step 3 on page 198 for the other three results as well. Ignore the warnings about the WebLogic files that exist, as they are only warnings.
- 5. Click the Java Code Review tab (Figure 6-68).



Figure 6-68 Java Code Review

The tool found two rule violations.

**Tip:** You can right-click any of the flagged files under a specific rule to see a list of available options in the menu. For example, under the Java Code Review tab, expand the first rule that is labeled **Do not use WebLogic-specific JNDI name values** and right-click any of the files in the list. From the context menu, select **View Results**. The Java file in question is opened and the cursor is at the line where the code problem is. This tool is handy because it points out the file/line of code that must be fixed if the tool does not provide a quick fix.

6. Fix the issues in Java reported by the Migration Toolkit and the problems reported by Rational Application Developer when you first imported the MVC application. Open the **Problems view** to view all errors and warnings reported by Rational Application Developer V8.5 by clicking **Window** → **Show View** → **Other... Select General** → **Problems** (Figure 6-69).

🖹 Markers 🔲 Properties 🖗 Servers 🛍 Data Source Explo	rer 🔁 Snippets 뒭	Software Analyzer Results 📃	Console	된 Error Log 📳	Problems 🛛	
12 errors, 7 warnings, 0 others						
Description A	Resource	Path	Location	Туре		
🖃 🔞 Errors (12 items)						
🔇 MVCModel cannot be resolved to a type	MVCController.java	/MVCWeb/src/com/ibm/mvc	line 56	Java Problem		
🔇 MVCModelDBObject cannot be resolved to a type	MVCController.java	/MVCWeb/src/com/ibm/mvc	line 58	Java Problem		
🔇 MVCModelHome cannot be resolved to a type	MVCController.java	/MVCWeb/src/com/ibm/mvc	line 32	Java Problem		
🔇 MVCModelHome cannot be resolved to a type	MVCController.java	/MVCWeb/src/com/ibm/mvc	line 44	Java Problem		
🔇 MVCModelHome cannot be resolved to a type	MVCController.java	/MVCWeb/src/com/ibm/mvc	line 44	Java Problem		
🔇 MVCModelHome cannot be resolved to a type	MVCController.java	/MVCWeb/src/com/ibm/mvc	line 44	Java Problem		
🔇 MVCModelHome cannot be resolved to a type	MVCController.java	/MVCWeb/src/com/ibm/mvc	line 56	Java Problem		
🔇 MVCModelHome cannot be resolved to a variable	MVCController.java	/MVCWeb/src/com/ibm/mvc	line 43	Java Problem		
🔇 The import ejbs cannot be resolved	MVCController.java	/MVCWeb/src/com/ibm/mvc	line 19	Java Problem		
🔇 The import ejbs cannot be resolved	MVCController.java	/MVCWeb/src/com/ibm/mvc	line 20	Java Problem		
🔇 The import ejbs cannot be resolved	MVCController.java	/MVCWeb/src/com/ibm/mvc	line 21	Java Problem		
Ondefined type: ejbs.MVCModelDBObject	MVCView.jsp	/MVCWeb/WebContent	line 9	JSP Problem		
🗄 🍐 Warnings (7 items)						

Figure 6-69 The Problems Category

#### Fixing the errors and build path dependencies between the projects

These problems are because of dependencies between the MVCWeb project and the MVCEJB project. We must configure the Build path to correct these errors. Complete the following steps:

 To fix the problem, right-click the MVCWeb application project and select Properties. From the left pane in the Properties window, select Java Build Path. Click the Projects tab and click Add. In the Required Project Selection dialog box, select MVCEJB and click OK (Figure 6-70).



Figure 6-70 The Java Build Path of MVCWeb Application

- 2. Click OK on the Properties dialog box to close it.
- 3. From the Eclipse Run menu, select **Analyze Last Launched**. This action reruns the analysis tool with the saved configuration. The focus is returned to the Software Analyzer Results view. The tool creates a report in the left frame of the view with the date and time stamp.
- 4. Click the Java Code Review tab. View the category that is labeled **Do not use** WebLogic-specific JNDI name values.
- 5. Right-click the first entry **MVCController.java: Do not use WebLogic-specific JNDI name values** and select **Quick Fix Preview** (Figure 6-71).



Figure 6-71 Quick Fix Preview of MVCContreller.java

The Quick Fix Preview editor opens. You can examine the code changes before they are committed. In this case, the editor wants to replace the call reference to "weblogic.jndi.WLInitialContextFactory" with the WebSphere equivalent "com.ibm.websphere.naming.WsnInitialContextFactory" (Figure 6-72).

🚺 Java Source Compare 🔻	A A A A A
/MVCEJB/ejbModule/ejbs/MVCModelBean.java	/MVCEJB/ejbModule/ejbs/MVCModelBean.java
Hashtable <string, string=""> parms = new Hashtable<stri< th=""><th>i Hashtable<string, string=""> parms = new Hashtable<s< th=""></s<></string,></th></stri<></string,>	i Hashtable <string, string=""> parms = new Hashtable<s< th=""></s<></string,>
parms.put("java.naming.factory.initial",	parms.put("java.naming.factory.initial",
"com.ibm.websphere.naming.WsnInitialContextFactory")	) "weblogic.jndi.WLInitialContextFactory");
parms.put("java.naming.provider.url",	parms.put("java.naming.provider.url",
"t3://localhost:7001");	"t3://localhost:7001");
Context context = new InitialContext(parms);	Context context = <b>new</b> InitialContext(parms);
DataSource ds = (DataSource) context.lookup(DATASOUF	R DataSource ds = (DataSource) context.lookup(DATAS
<pre>connection = ds.getConnection();</pre>	<pre>connection = ds.getConnection();</pre>
<pre>metaData = connection.getMetaData();</pre>	<pre>metaData = connection.getMetaData();</pre>

Figure 6-72 The code changes that the Migration Tool finds

- 6. If you are satisfied with the quick fix change, you can choose the **Quick Fix** option to make the change in your workspace.
- Repeat this action for each error, or to fix all the results for the **Do not Use** WebLogic-specific JNDI name values rule, you can select any result within the rule or the rule name itself to start Quick Fix All.
- 8. In the Enterprise Explorer view, expand the **MVCEJB** project, browse to the MVCEJB/ejbModule/META-INF folder, and delete the weblogic-ejb-jar.xml file.
- 9. Rerun the Application Migration Tool. All errors reported by the migration tool and Rational Application Developer v8.5 should be fixed now.

**Tip:** You can look in the files to ensure that everything is migrated.

- 10.In the Enterprise Explorer view, expand the MVCWeb project, browse to the MVCWeb /webContents/WEB-INF folder, and delete the weblogic.xml and weblogic-ejb-jar.xml files.
- 11.In the Enterprise Explorer view, expand the MVC project, browse to the MVC/META-INF folder, and delete the weblogic-application.xml file.
- 12. Fix the issues in Java reported by the Migration Toolkit and the problems reported by Rational Application Developer when you first import the MVC application. Open the **Problems view** to view all errors and warnings reported by Rational Application Developer V8.5 by clicking Window → Show View → Other... Select General → **Problems**. See Figure 6-69 on page 200.

#### Setting up the database connection

Here you set up your connection to the DB2 database through the WebSphere admin console. It is assumed that you already have a database setup. Complete the following steps:

- 1. Start the server if it is not already running. In the Servers tab, right-click **WebSphere Application Server v8.5 at local host** and select **Start**.
- Start the administrative console. You can use Rational Application Developer to accomplish this task. In the Servers tab, right-click WebSphere Application Serverv8.5 at local host and select Administration → Run Administrative Console.

**Note:** You can also connect through your browser: By default, the URL is http://localhost:9060/ibm/console.

- 3. Log in using the user name wasadmin and password wasadmin.
- In the left pane, click Resources → JDBC → JDBC providers. In the Scope section, click Node=<nodename, Server=<servername> (Figure 6-73).

WebSphere, software				Welcome wasadmin
View: All tasks	Cell=WIN+	4Q6QP036PQ8Node01Cell, Profile=AppSr	v01	
	JDBC pro	viders		? _
Welcome				
± Guided Activities	JDBC	providers		
Servers	Use ti imple	nis page to edit properties of a JDBC pro mentation class for access to the specifi	ivider. The JDBC provider object encapsu c vendor database of vour environment.	ulates the specific JDBC driver Learn more about this task in a
t Server Tupes	quide	<u>d activity</u> . A guided activity provides a lis	t of task steps and more general inform	nation about the topic.
	🗄 So	ope: Cell=WIN-4Q6QP036PQ8Node01C	ell, Node=WIN-4Q6QP036PQ8Node01,	Server=server1
± Applications			10000 10000 - 1000	
± Services		Scope specifies the level at which the information on what scope is and ho	e resource definition is visible. For detail w it works, <u>see the scope settings help.</u>	led
E Resources			Commentation	
Schedulers		1006-111-466660006601	, server-server1	
<ul> <li>Object pool managers</li> </ul>	🗄 Pre	eferences		
± JMS	No	Delete		
JDBC		in Delete		
IDBC providers	R	n # 9		
Data sources				
<ul> <li>Data sources (websphere Application Server V4)</li> </ul>	Selec	t Name 🗘	Scope 🗘	Description 🗘
Resource Adapters	You	can administer the following resources:		
🗄 Asynchronous beans		DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider	Node=WIN-	One-phase commit DB2 JCC
🗄 Cache instances			40006030660ungent'seinei-zeineit	Data sources that use this provider
🗄 Mail				support only 1-phase commit
1 URL				type 2 with the application server for
				z/OS. If you use the application server for z/OS, driver type 2 uses
± Security				RRS and supports 2-phase commit processing.

Figure 6-73 JDBC Providers

5. In the Preferences section, select New.

- 6. On the Create a new JDBC Provider page, specify the following information (Figure 6-74):
  - Database type: DB2.
  - Provider Type: DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider.
  - Implementation Type: Connection pool data source.
  - Name: DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider.

Create a new JDBC Provider	
→ Step 1: Create new JDBC provider	Create new JDBC provider
Step 2: Enter database class path information	Set the basic configuration values of a JDBC provider, which encapsulates the specific vendor JDBC driver implementation classes that are required to access the database. The wizard fills in the name and the description fields, but you can type different values.
Step 3: Summary	Scope cells:WIN-4Q6QP036PQ8Node01Cell:nodes:WIN- 4Q6QP036PQ8Node01:servers:server1
	* Database type DB2
	Provider type     DB2 Univer JDBC Driver Provider     Toplementation type
	Anne Anne Anne Anne Anne Anne Anne Anne
	DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider
	Description One-phase commit DB2 JCC provider that supports JDBC 3.0. Data sources that use this provider support only 1-phase commit processing, unless you use driver type 2 with the application server for z/OS, driver type 2 uses BBS and supports 2 others 2 on and supports 2 others
Next Cancel	IKKo and supports z-phase commit processing.

Figure 6-74 Create New JDBC Provider

7. Click Next.

 Specify the location of the db2jcc.jar, db2jcc\_license\_cu.jar, and db2jcc\_license\_cisuz.jar files. These files are in C:\DB2\_INST\_ROOT\IBM\SQLLIB\java. See Figure 6-75.



Figure 6-75 The database classpath information

- 9. Click Next.
- 10. Review the Summary and click Finish.
- 11.Click Save at the top of the window.
- 12. Click **Data sources** from the **JDBC** menu on the left side of the page.
- 13. In the Scope section, click Node=<nodename>, Server=<servername>.

14.Click New.

- 15.On the Create a data source page, specify the following values:
  - Data source name: DB2 Universal JDBC Driver DataSource.
  - JNDI name: jdbc/trade3db.
- 16.Click Next.

17. Select the **Select an existing JDBC provider** radio button, and choose the JDBC provider that you created, that is, **DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider** (Figure 6-76).

Create a	data source	2 
Create	e a data source	
SI d	tep 1: Enter basic ata source	Select JDBC provider
in → St pt	tep 2: Select JDBC	Specify a JDBC provider to support the datasource. If you choose to create a new JDBC provider, it will be created at the same scope as the datasource. If you are selecting an existing JDBC provider, only those providers at the current scope are available from the list.
St di pi di	tep 3: Enter atabase specific roperties for the ata source	<ul> <li>Create new JDBC provider</li> <li>Select an existing JDBC provider</li> </ul>
S1 50 51	tep 4: Setup ecurity aliases tep 5: Summary	Select
Pres	vious Next Cancel	DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider (XA) Select an existing JDBC provider

Figure 6-76 Selecting the existing JDBC Provider

#### 18.Click Next.

19. Specify the following values (Figure 6-77):

- Database name: trade3db.
- Server name: localhost.
- Port number: 50000.

	Step 1: Enter basic	Enter database specific prop	erties for the data source
	information		
	Step 2: Select JDBC provider	Set these database-specific prop driver to support the connections	arties, which are required by the database vendor JDB0 that are managed through the datasource.
$\rightarrow$	Step 3: Enter	Name	Value
	database specific properties for the	* Driver type	4 💌
	data source	* Database name	trade3db
	Step 4: Setup security aliases	* Server name	localhost
		* Dert nursher	

Figure 6-77 The database properties

- 20.Click Next.
- 21.Leave Step 4 blank for now, as you return to the security configuration later. If you already created a security configuration for this database, you can select it under the Component-managed authentication alias. Click **Next**.
- 22. Review the Summary and click Finish.
- 23. Click Save at the top of the page.
- 24. Click the newly create Data Source DB2 Universal JDBC Driver DataSource.

25.On the right side of the Configuration tab, under the Related Items header, click the link JAAS – J2C authentication data (Figure 6-78). Skip this step if you created the authentication.

e this page to edit the settings of a datasource that is associated with your selected JDBC provider. The datasource lect supplies your application with connections for accessing the database. onfiguration           Ceneral Properties         Additional Properties           > Scope         = Connection pool properties           > Scope         = Connection pool properties           > Scope         = Connection pool properties           > Provider         = WebSphere Application Server data source properties           > Provider         = Custom properties           > Mame         DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider           > NDI name         = JA6S - J2C	For field select a t marker w cursor is Page hel <u>More info</u> <u>this page</u>
iect supplies your application with connections for accessing the database.  Infiguration  Ceneral Properties  Scope Cells:WIN- 4Q6QP036PQ8Node01Cell:nodes:WIN- 4Q6QP036PQ8Node01Cell:nodes:WIN- 4Q6QP036PQ8Node01:servers:server1  Provider DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider  Name DB2 Universal JDBC Driver DataSource JND1 name Universal DBC Driver DataSource JND1 name Universal JDBC Driver DataSource JND1 name	marker cursor is Page he More inf this pag
Test connection         General Properties         Scope         Cells:WIN- 4QcQP036PQ8Node01Cell:nodes:WIN- 4QcQP036PQ8Node01:servers:server1         Provider         B22 Universal JDBC Driver Provider         * Name         DB2 Universal JDBC Driver DataSource         JNDI name         Internet         JNDI name         Internet	cursor is Page he More inf this pag
Test connection         General Properties       Additional Properties         * Scope <ul> <li>Cells:WIN- 4QcQP036PQ8Node01Cell:nodes:WIN- 4QcQP036PQ8Node01:servers:server1</li> <li>* Provider</li> <li>* MesSphare</li> <li>* DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider</li> <li>* Custom properties</li> <li>* Name</li> <li>DB2 Universal JDBC Driver DataSource</li> <li>MDI name</li> <li>= DAS - J2C</li> </ul>	Page he More inf this page
Test connection         General Properties       Additional Properties         > Scope <ul> <li>Collisi WIN- 4Q6QP036PQ8Node01Cell:nodes: WIN- 4Q6QP036PQ8Node01:servers:server1</li> <li>Provider</li> <li>WebSphere Application Server data source properties</li> <li>Custom properties</li> <li>Custom properties</li> <li>Custom properties</li> </ul> * Name <ul> <li>DB2 Universal JDBC Driver DataSource</li> <li>JNDI name</li> <li>Idbs/rtade3dh</li> <li>IABS - I2C</li> </ul>	<u>More inf</u> this pag
Test connection         General Properties       Additional Properties         > Scope       = Connection pool properties         cells:WIN- 4Q6QP036PQ8Node01Cell:nodes:WIN- 4Q6QP036PQ8Node01:servers:server1       = WebSphere Application Server data source properties         > Provider       = Custom properties         DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider       = Custom properties         * Name	this pag
General Properties       Additional Properties         * Scope       = Connection pool properties         cells:WIN- 4QCQP036PQ8Node01Cell:nodes:WIN- 4QCQP036PQ8Node01:servers:server1       = WebSphere Application Server data source properties         * Provider       = Custom properties         [DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider       = Custom properties         * Name	
General Properties     Additional Properties       > Scope     = Connection pool properties       cells:WIN- 4QCQP036PQ8Node01Cell:nodes:WIN- 4QCQP036PQ8Node01:servers:server1     = WebSphere Application Server data source properties       > Provider     = Custom properties       > DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider     = Custom properties       > Mame	
Scope     Connection pool     cells:WIN-     4Q6QP035PQ8Node01Cell:nodes:WIN-     4Q6QP035PQ8Node01:servers:server1     WebSphere     Application Server     data source properties     DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider     Custom properties     Name     DB2 Universal JDBC Driver DataSource     MDI name     LAAS - J2C	
cellis:WIN-     Connection pool       4Q6QP036PQ8Node01Cellinodes:WIN-     properties       4Q6QP036PQ8Node01:servers:server1     Image: WebSphere       Provider     Application Server       DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider     Image: Custom properties       * Name     DB2 Universal JDBC Driver DataSource       JNDI name     Image: Label Server       Vithor/rade3dh     Image: Label Server	
4Q6QP03SPQ8Node01Cellinodes:WIN- 4Q6QP03SPQ8Node01:servers:server1     # WebSphere Application Server data source properties       Provider     Example       DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider     E Custom properties       * Name     DB2 Universal JDBC Driver DataSource       JNDI name     IABS - J2C	
Provider     Application Server     Application Server     data source properties     JNDI name     JAAS - J2C	
DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider     = Custom properties       * Name	
* Name DB2 Universal JDBC Driver DataSource JND1 name JAAS - J2C	
DB2 Universal JDBC Driver DataSource  INDI name Idbr/trade3dh IDAS - J2C	
INDI name	
idbr/trade3db JAAS - J2C	
authentication data	
V Use this data source in container managed persistence (CMP)	
Specifies a list of user identities and p	asswords for
Description Java(TM) 2 connector security to use	
DB2 Universal Driver Datasource	

Figure 6-78 Specifying JAAS-J2C authentication data

Here you specify the user name and password for the database. Click  $\ensuremath{\textit{New}}.$ 

Specify the following values (Figure 6-79):

- Alias: db2admin.
- User ID: <Database username>. In this example, it is db2admin.
- Password: <Database password>. In this example, it is db2admin.

ata sources	
Data sources > DB2 Universal.	IDBU Driver Datasource > JAAs - J2C authentication data > Ne
Specifies a list of user identities	and passwords for Java(TM) 2 connector security to use.
General Properties	
* Alias	
db2admin	
* 11 70	
* User ID	
ubzaumm	
* Password	
•••••	
Decemientie -	
Description	
Apply OK Reset Cancel	
. 1919-2	

Figure 6-79 New authentication alias

26.Click **OK**.

27.Click Save.

- 28.Return to the DB2 Universal JDBC Driver DataSource window. In the Security settings section, specify the following values (Figure 6-80):
  - Component-manages authentication alias: <nodeName>/db2admin.
  - Mapping-configuration alias: (none).
  - Container-managed authentication alias: (none).

elect the authentication values for this resource.		
Component-managed authentication alias		
WIN-4Q6QP036PQ8Node01/db2admin		
L(none)	<b>_</b>	
Container-managed auth	hentication alias	
(none)		
Common and required da	ata source properties	
Common and required da Name	ta source properties	
Common and required da Name * Driver type	Value	
Common and required da Name * Driver type * Database name	Value 4 trade3db	
Common and required da Name * Driver type * Database name * Server name	Value 4 trade3db localhost	

Figure 6-80 Security settings

- 29. Click Apply.
- 30.Click Save.
- 31. From the Data sources main page, click **DB2 Universal JDBC Driver DataSource** and click the **Test connection** (Figure 6-81).

Data sources > DB2 Universal JDBC Driver DataSource			
lse this page to edit the settings of a datasource that is associated with your selected JDBC provider. The datasource bject supplies your application with connections for accessing the database.			
Configuration			
Test connection			
General Properties	Additional Properties		
▶ Scope	- 0		
cells:WIN-	<ul> <li><u>Connection pool</u></li> <li>properties</li> </ul>		
4Q6QP036PQ8Node01Cell:nodes:WIN-	- Wilcil		
* Provider	<ul> <li><u>websphere</u></li> <li><u>Application Server</u></li> <li>data source properties</li> </ul>		
DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider			
* Name	= <u>custom propercies</u>		
* Name			
DB2 Oniversal SDBC Driver DataSource	Related Items		
JNDI name	Neidled Ytemp		
jdbc/trade3db	JAAS - J2C		
	authentication data		
🗹 Use this data source in container managed persistence (Cf	MP)		

Figure 6-81 Test connection

32. You should see message that is shown in Figure 6-82.

🖃 Messages	
II The test connection operation for data source DB2 Universal	IDBC Driver DataSource
on server server1 at node WIN-4Q6QP036PQ8Node01 was succe	Issful.

Figure 6-82 Test connection message

#### Starting the application

To start the application, complete the following steps:

1. Right-click MVCWeb/Java Resources/src/com.ibm.mvc/MVCController.java and select Run As  $\rightarrow$  Run on Server (Figure 6-83).

🤗 Enterprise Explorer 🛛 🛛 😭 Servic	es) 🗆 🗖 🗍		
	New		•
E Se MVC	Visualize		<b>&gt;</b>
🕀 🞥 MVCEJB	Open Type Hierarchy	F4	_
🖻 🚰 MVCWeb	Show In	Alt+Shift+W	▶
庄 💼 Deployment Descriptor: MVCV	Open	F3	
🖻 ᢪ Java Resources	Open With		<b>,</b>
🖻 🕮 src			
🗄 🖶 com.ibm.myc	Сору	Ctrl+C	
	Copy Qualified Name		
🗄 🛋 Libraries	💼 Paste	Ctrl+V	
🗄 🛋 JavaScript Resources	💢 Delete	Delete	
🗄 🗁 WebContent	Build Path		▶
	Source	Alt+Shift+S	▶
	Refactor	Alt+Shift+T	▶
	<u> </u>		-
	Mort		
	🖾 Export		
	🔊 Refresh	F5	rvers 🙀 Data Source Explorer 📔 Snippets 🔊 Software
	References		at localhost (WebSphere Application Server v8.5 )
	Declarations		
			EDT] UUUUU83 serviet I com.ibm
	Run As		🕨 🛃 1 Run on Server 🛛 🛛 🕹 Alt+Shift+X, R
	Debug As		🕨 🎼 🕹 🕹 🕹 🕹 🔧 🔧 🕨
	Profile As		Simulator Simulator
	Launch Universal Test Clier	it	
	Validate		Run Configurations

Figure 6-83 Run on the server

- 2. Select WebSphere Application Server v8.5 on localhost.
- 3. Click Finish. If the server is not started, it is started for you.
- 4. The application should start, and you should see information about the database that you are connected to (Figure 6-84).



Figure 6-84 The test result

#### 6.6.3 Adding the CMP application into MVC project

This section describes how to migrate a Container Managed Persistence (CMP) -EJB application that runs on WebLogic V10.3.6 to WebSphere Application Server V8.5.

#### Creating a table on the Trade database

You have the trade database, so you can create the table on this database. Run the following commands to create a DB2 table. You must start the DB2 CLP.

- db2 connect to trade3db user db2admin using db2admin
- db2 -tvf Table.ddl

You can see the contents of the Table.ddl file in Example 6-6.

Example 6-6 Table.ddl file

```
CREATE TABLE DB2ADMIN.CATALOG (
     JOURNAL CHAR(150) DEFAULT 'NULL',
     CATALOGID CHAR(150) NOT NULL DEFAULT 'NULL',
     PUBLISHER CHAR(150) DEFAULT 'NULL'
  )
  DATA CAPTURE NONE ;
ALTER TABLE DB2ADMIN.CATALOG ADD CONSTRAINT CC1325841019875 PRIMARY KEY
   (CATALOGID);
GRANT ALTER ON TABLE DB2ADMIN.CATALOG TO USER DB2ADMIN WITH GRANT OPTION;
GRANT CONTROL ON TABLE DB2ADMIN.CATALOG TO USER DB2ADMIN;
GRANT DELETE ON TABLE DB2ADMIN.CATALOG TO USER DB2ADMIN WITH GRANT OPTION;
GRANT INDEX ON TABLE DB2ADMIN.CATALOG TO USER DB2ADMIN WITH GRANT OPTION;
GRANT INSERT ON TABLE DB2ADMIN.CATALOG TO USER DB2ADMIN WITH GRANT OPTION;
GRANT REFERENCES ON TABLE DB2ADMIN.CATALOG TO USER DB2ADMIN WITH GRANT OPTION;
GRANT SELECT ON TABLE DB2ADMIN.CATALOG TO USER DB2ADMIN WITH GRANT OPTION;
GRANT UPDATE ON TABLE DB2ADMIN.CATALOG TO USER DB2ADMIN WITH GRANT OPTION;
```

**The Table.dll file:** The Table.dll file creates the required tables and grants the necessary permissions that are required for this application.

#### Importing the CMP-EJB JAR file

Start the migration by importing the application that is built for and deployed to WebLogic in to Rational Application Developer V8.5.

Start the migration of the EJB module by importing the JAR file into Rational Application Developer V8.5 by completing the following steps:

1. In Rational Application Developer Java EE Enterprise Explorer perspective, right-click and select **Import** → **EJB JAR file** (Figure 6-85).

😢 Enterprise Explorer 🛛	🔪 😫 Services 🔰 🗖 🗖	)[		
	🖃 🔄 😫 🏹			
F >> MVC				
E MYCEJB				
🗄 🎥 MVCWeb			-1	
_	New		▶	
	Show In	Alt+Shift+W	•	
	Copy	Ctrl+C	-	
	Copy Qualified Name			
	Paste	Ctrl+V		
	💢 Delete	Delete		
	Import			1
	Export		FAR file	
			EIB JAR file	
	8 Refresh	F5	- 🛋 Java EE Utility Jar	
			RAR file	
		🕄 Markers 🗍	🗧 🔁 Shared EAR file	Mata Source Explorer
			🗌 🐻 WAR file	
				-
		Web Pr	e mporc	
		🗄 🖽 WebSp	here Application Server v8.5 at	localhost [Started, Synchronized]

Figure 6-85 Import EJB JAR file

- Specify the location of the EJB JAR file and the target run time as WebSphere Application Server V8.5. Click Finish.
- 3. You should have entityejbEAR Enterprise Application Project in addition to three MVC Projects in the Enterprise Explorer View (Figure 6-86).



Figure 6-86 EJB Application

Here is a brief description of the JAR file, and the contents of the application. An Enterprise JavaBeans (EJB) module is used to assemble one or more enterprise beans into a single deployable unit. An EJB module is stored in a standard Java archive (JAR) file (Table 6-30 on page 196).

Directory structure	Description
entityejb.jar/META-INF/ejb-jar.xml	The ejb-jar.xml file defines an entity EJB with the EJB name "Catalog."The example EJB has the CMP fields catalogId, journal, and publisher. The primary key field is catalogId. This structure is not WebLogic specific and should not require migration.
entityejb.jar/META-INF/weblogic-ejbj ar.xml	This file defines the weblogicenterprise-bean. The JNDI name for an EJB is specified in the weblogic-ejbjar.xml deployment descriptor with the jndi-name element.
entityejb.jar/META-INF/weblogic-cmpr dbms-jar.xml	This file is specific to WebLogic and defines the database persistence information for a CMP entity EJB. The file includes the table name for an entity EJB, the data source to connect to the database, and the columns corresponding to the entity EJB CMP fields.

Table 6-31 The contents of the EJB projects

#### **Running the Application Migration Tool**

To run the Application Migration Tool, complete the following steps:

- 1. Run the Application Migration Tool. From the Run menu, click **Analyze** to analyze the entityejb project in the workspace.
- 2. Click the XML File Review tab (Figure 6-87).



Figure 6-87 XML File Review tab

As you can see, the tool scanned the XML files in the project and flagged the potential problems with WebLogic deployment descriptors by category/rule violation. You can expand each of the rules to see the files in question and which project they belong to.

 Convert the WebLogic specific JNDI mappings to WebSphere bindings. Right-click the first result (Use WebSphere bindings to define EJB JNDI names). Select weblogic-ejb-jar.xml and then select Quick Fix Preview. After you are satisfied with the change, select **Quick Fix**, which makes the change in your workspace.

4. Perform step 3 on page 211 for the other three results as well. Ignore the warnings about the WebLogic files that exist, as they are only warnings.

When you click **Quick Fix** for Use WebSphere extensions to define the CMP mappings rule, the migration tool examines the weblogic-cmprdbms-jar.xml WebLogic specific file and creates a Data Model named SAMPLE.dbm and map file named Map.mapxmi. You can map the EJB beans and fields corresponding to tables and columns, as you did when you migrated the Trade application, as shown in Figure 6-35 on page 164.

#### Creating the CMP mappings manually

Use the Rational Application Developer to complete EJB to RDB mapping. Use the EJB to RDB mapping wizard, which creates the necessary mapping files that are needed by the CMPs to use the existing database schema.

Complete the following steps:

 In the Enterprise Explorer view, right-click the EJB project entityejb and select JavaEE → EJB to RDB mapping(1.x-2.x) → GenerateMap (Figure 6-88).

😤 Enterprise Explo	orer 🛛 😭 Services 🗧	· 🛛 🦳	
	E 🕏 😫		
🕀 🔁 entityeib	New		<b>&gt;</b>
🕀 🎦 MVC	Go Into		
H 🔁 MVCEJB	Visualize		•
	Show In	Alt+Shift+W	•
	Сору	Ctrl+C	
E	Copy Qualified Name		
l i	Paste	Ctrl+V	
2	K Delete	Delete	
	Build Path		*
_	Refactor	Alt+Shift+T	
	Import		•
	Export		<b>&gt;</b>
9	Refresh	F5	
	Close Project		Construction (III Construction) March Construction (Section 1) Section 14
	Close Unrelated Projects		s Dervers 23 Jaca Source Explorer Dis Snippets 23 Sortware An
	Validate		
	Software Analyzer		b Preview Server [Stopped]
	Add SQLJ Support		bSphere Application Server v8.5 at localhost [Started, Synchronized]
	Run As		*
	Debug As		>
	Profile As		•
	Team		•
	Compare With		•
	Restore from Local History		
	Java EE		Update EAR Libraries
	Services		Repare for Deployment Alt+Shift+Y
	Web Services		Remove EJB Client Jar
	Coofigure		Create EJB Client Jar
🔍 type filter te	1PA Tools		
=0	51 H 1005		Specifications Upgrade Wizard
U. 🥵	Properties	Alt+Enter	Access beans
1 1		And and a second se	Color Rob Mapping (1.32.3)

Figure 6-88 Generate Map

- 2. Click Create a new backend folder and click Next.
- 3. Click Meet-In-The-Middle on the next window and click Next.
- 4. Click **New** to create a Database Connection.

5. Clear **Use default naming convention** and enter TRADE3 as the Connection Name. Select **DB2 for Linux, UNIX, and Windows** under the **Select a database manager** category. Change the JDBC driver type, and enter a database name, user name, and password (Figure 6-89). Click **Save Password**.

New Connection Connection Parameters Select the database manager, JDBC driver, and re	equired connection parameters.	
Connection identification Usg default naning convention Connection Name: TRADE3 Select a database manager: Cloudscape DB2 for 15/05 DB2 for 15/05 DB2 for 15/05 Derby Generic JDBC HSQLD8 Informix MaxDB MySQL Oracle SQL Server SyLase Websphere I_set Connection I_set Connection	IDBC driver:       IBM Data Server Driver for JDBC and SQLJ Default         Properties         General       Tracing         Database:       TRADE3DE         Host:       localhost         Portnugber:       50000         Use client authentication       User ngme:         User ngme:       dt2admin         Passgord:       General         Saye password       Default orbana:	
0	< Back Next > Enish	Cancel

Figure 6-89 Database Connection definition

- 6. In Figure 6-89, click the **blue triangle ic**on (to the right of the Drivers drop-down menu).
- 7. The Edit Driver Definition page is displayed. Click the **Jar List** tab.
- 8. Highlight the existing driver JAR files, one at a time, and click **Remove JAR/Zip**.

 Click Add JAR/Zip and browse to the C:\DB2\_97\IBM\SQLLIB\java directory. Select the db2jcc.jar file and click OK. Repeat this step to add the db2jcc\_license\_cu.jar file (Figure 6-90).

C Edit Driver Definition	×		
Provide Driver Details			
Modify details in the fields below to provide a unique name, a list of required jars, and set any available and applicable property values.			
Name/Type JAR List Properties	1		
Driver files:			
C:\DB2_97\IBM\5QLLIB\java\db2jcc.jar C:\DB2_97\IBM\5QLLIB\java\db2jcc_license_cu.jar	Add JAR/Zip		
	<u>R</u> emove JAR/Zip		
	lear All		
,			
	Cancel		

Figure 6-90 Edit Jar List

- 10. Click **OK** in the Edit Driver Definition dialog box. You should return to the Driver Properties dialog box.
- 11.In the Driver Properties dialog box, click **Test connection**. You should see a success message.
- 12. Click **Next** and click **Finish**. You have a database connection named TRADE3.
- 13. Click the TRADE3 database connection and click Next.

14. Select only CATALOG tables, as we want to map beans and CMP fields to the columns under that table (Figure 6-91).

©EJB to RDB Mapping				
Selective Database Import				00
Select tables for import				
Select checkbox to import table:				
A  A  B  B  B  B  B  B  B  B  B  B  B  B				×
?	< <u>B</u> ack	<u>N</u> ext >	Einish	Cancel

Figure 6-91 The database table selection

15. Click Next, and for Select Meet-in-the-Middle Mapping Options, select None.

#### 16.Click Finish.

17. The wizard creates the Map.mapxmi file, which is used to map CMP fields to table columns. The mapping editor is open. The file is in the following folder:

/entityejb/ejbModule/META-INF/backends/DB2UDBNT\_V97\_1

18. The data model is imported and in the following folder:

/entityejb/Data Models/TRADE3DB.dbm

**Tip:** If you look at the Problems view, you should see one or more errors that are reported because of CMP mappings. This situation occurs because you have not created the actual mapping of the EJBs attributes to table columns.

19. With the mapping editor still open, right-click the EJB project:entityejb and select Match by Name (Figure 6-92). It should take a few seconds for the mapping to complete. Click File → Save to save the mapping file. All errors should disappear from the Problems view.

훩 Map.mapxmi 🕅					
Senterprise Bean:	5	- 🦶 🔶 🕂	+ 🔂 🗖	- ⇒ ~	🚺 Table
E·····(201 entityejb ±·····(201 Cat.	💋 Links				
Overview     Enterprise Beans     Dentityejb     Markers     Markers     Pro	Prepare for Deployment Run As Debug As Profile As EJB Client JAR Java EE Run As Debug As Profile As Validate Software Analyzer Team Compare With Replace With Source			Alt+Shif	t+Y
Web Preview	Copy				
E - S WebSphere	↔ Create Mapping ≫ Remove Mapping				
	Match by Name				
	Match by Type				
	Create and map database eler	nents from EJB (	elements		
	Visualize				•

Figure 6-92 Match By Name

20. To verify that all EJB elements are mapped to their corresponding table columns, navigate to the /entityejb/ejbModule/META-INF/backends/DB2UDBNT\_V97\_1 folder, open the Map.mapxmi file, and enable the **Show only the unmapped objects** (Figure 6-93).



Figure 6-93 Mapped EJB objects

21.Close the mapping file.

**Important:** Verify that the back end that you created is selected for the application. Open the /entityejb/ejbModule/META-INF/ejb-jar.xml file with the Deployment Descriptor Editor. On the Overview tab, scroll all the way down and verify that the Backend ID is DB2UDBNT\_V97\_1, as shown in Figure 6-94.

S EJB Deployment Descriptor
WebSphere Bindings
The following are binding properties for the WebSphere Application Server.
Backend ID
Choosing a backend id determines the persister classes that get loaded at deployment.
Current: DB2UDBNT_V97_1

Figure 6-94 Backend ID in ejb-jar.xml

**Tip:** You can use the Data Source Explorer option of Rational Application Developer to see database-specific properties, such as schema, tables, roles, and groups of the database profile that you defined so far.

- 22. Click the Deployment Descriptor, select the Bean tab, and click Catalog.
- 23. In the WebSphere binding section at the lower right, update the CMP connection factory JNDI Name:jdbc/trade3db and Container authorization type to Per\_Connection\_Factory (Figure 6-95).

Bean	
Catalog	Bean Type:     Container-Managed Entity 2.x       Type options:     Image: Ima
	Description:
	WebSphere Bindings
	The following are binding properties for the WebSphere Application Server.
	JNDI name: com.ejb.CatalogHome CMP connection factory JNDI name: jdbc/trade3db
Add Remove	Container authorization type: Per_Connection_Factory  JAAS login configuration:
Add Remove	O None

Figure 6-95 Defining the JNDI Name in ejb-jar.xml

24. Save the Deployment Descriptor.

#### Testing the CMP EJB Module using the IBM Universal Test Client

To test the CMP EJB Module using the IBM Universal Test Client, complete the following steps:

- Right-click ejbEAR Project in Rational Application Developer and select Run As → Run On Server. Select the WebSphere Application Server v8.5 server and click Finish.
- 2. A Test Client opens. When prompted, enter the Administrator user name (wasadmin) and password (wasadmin). You are now logged in to the Universal Test Client.
- Using the JNDI Explorer, select com.ejb.CatalogHome to add it to the EJB Beans section of the navigation pane. Select the home's create() method. Enter a value, such as 1111, and click Invoke (Figure 6-97 on page 219).

🛞 Universal Test Client			
Welcome JPA Explorer JNDI Explorer	Parameters		
🗆 EJB Beans	🗳 com.ejb.Catalog create	e(String)	
Catalog	Parameter	¥alue	
🔲 🛰 CatalogHome 🖙	String:	1111	Objects 🔹
Catalog create(String)     Catalog findByPrimaryKey(Stri     No UserTransaction loaded	Invoke		
🗄 Persistence units	<ul> <li>Results from <ul> <li>com.ejb</li> <li>Catalog (com.eib.Catal</li> </ul></li></ul>	o.CatalogHome.create() log)	
🗄 Objects			
	Work with Object		
Utilities JNDI Properties Class Loader	<sup>₽F</sup> java.lang.String[]_typ	e_ids	

Figure 6-96 Creating an EJB object

4. In the Results window, there is an instance named com.ejb.Catalog. Click **Work with Object** to add the instance to the EJB Beans list.

5. Use the available setter and getter methods to write and read the data (Figure 6-97).



Figure 6-97 Use the set and get methods

#### 6.6.4 Summary

You completed the migration of the MVC application, including the CMP-EJB beans by using the Migration Toolkit and Rational Application Developer EJB to RDP mapping wizard.

You deployed the compiled EAR file without having to change much of the Java code. We demonstrated manual mapping of CMP EJB mappings for developers who want to map an EJB object and CMP fields to explicitly specified database table and columns.

# 7

# Migrating from Oracle Application Server

This chapter explains the process for migrating J2EE applications from Oracle Application Server 10.1.2 to WebSphere Application Server V8.5. We describe the details of the problems we encountered during the migration process, and the solutions to these problems.

This chapter describes the following topics:

- Introduction
- Prerequisites and assumptions
- Application Migration Tool Oracle AS to WebSphere
- Comparison of WebSphere Application Server V8.5 and Oracle Application Server 10.1 terminology
- Installing Oracle Application Server 10.1.2
- Migrating the sample application

### 7.1 Introduction

Oracle Application Server is a J2EE 1.4 compliant application-serving platform, which is one of the products in the Oracle Fusion Middleware product family. The example application that is used for the migration process was developed by the authors of this book, and it includes the dependent features of Oracle Application Server to make the migration process realistic enough to be taken as a reference for actual migration operations. We used the Application Migration Tool - Oracle AS to WebSphere included within the Application Migration Toolkit V3.5 for the migration process. We describe the details of the IBM WebSphere Application Server Migration Toolkit in Chapter 4, "Installation and configuration of the Application Migration Tools" on page 89.

### 7.2 Prerequisites and assumptions

There are prerequisites and assumptions you must consider before you continue with the migration examples. One basic requirement is that you should have the destination environment installed and configured as described in Chapter 4, "Installation and configuration of the Application Migration Tools" on page 89. That chapter provides initial background knowledge if the reader is not yet familiar with IBM products.

You should be familiar with the J2EE specification and architecture, and be able to understand and run basic SQL commands. You should also be familiar with Eclipse or Rational Application Developer V8.5, and have basic familiarity with Oracle Application Server 10.1.2.

The following list of products should be installed to complete the migration example:

IBM WebSphere Application Server V8.5

You can see the terminology differences between Oracle Application Server and WebSphere Application Server on Table 7-1 on page 223.

IBM Rational Application Developer V8.5

We use Rational Application Developer V8.5. Rational Application Developer V8.5 provides a complete suite for an enterprise application developer, from design to deployment.

Oracle Database 11g Release 2

In the sample application that is used in this chapter, we used Oracle 11g Release 2.

Java SE 6

We use Java SE 6 because it is supported by WebSphere Application Server V8.5 and we must make sure that our applications work well in this Java virtual machine (JVM). The WebSphere Application Server V8.5 installation includes Java SE 6, so you do not need to install this additional JDKs on your machine.

# 7.3 Application Migration Tool - Oracle AS to WebSphere

Application Migration Tool - Oracle AS to WebSphere (Application Migration Tool) is part of the Migration Toolkit, which is described in detail in Chapter 4, "Installation and configuration of the Application Migration Tools" on page 89.

Application Migration Tool - Oracle AS to WebSphere can help you in the following areas when you migrate J2EE 1.4 applications from Oracle Application Server (starting with Oracle Containers for J2EE V9.x) to WebSphere Application Server V7, V8, or V8.5:

- Oracle Server Startup Classes: Detect the usage of Oracle startup and shutdown interfaces
- Deployment Descriptors: Detect and convert Oracle specific deployment descriptor elements to IBM deployment descriptor elements
- ► Oracle-specific APIs: Detect Oracle proprietary packages in Java code
- Oracle-specific files: Detect Oracle proprietary XML files in the application
- Oracle-specific properties: Detect Oracle proprietary properties that are used in Java code
- JSPs: Detect Oracle proprietary tag libraries
- Web services: Migrate Oracle web services

# 7.4 Comparison of WebSphere Application Server V8.5 and Oracle Application Server 10.1 terminology

Some of the similarities and differences in terminology between WebSphere Application Server and Oracle Application Server can be found in Table 7-1.

WebSphere Application Server	Oracle Application Server
Cell	Oracle Application Server cluster topology
Node	Physical Machine
Node Agent	Daemon Process Used by OEM Application Server Control
Server Instance	OC4J Instance
Deployment Manager	Oracle Enterprise Manager Application Server Control
Cluster	OC4J groups
Base Server	OC4J Server

 Table 7-1
 Terminology comparison

# 7.5 Installing Oracle Application Server 10.1.2

This section briefly describes how to install Oracle Application Server 10.1.2, which is necessary to complete the migration scenario. You can install Oracle Application Server 10.1.2 by completing the following steps:

- 1. In the setup directory of Oracle Application Server, double-click the setup.exe file to start the installation process.
- 2. The Welcome window opens. Click Next.
- 3. At the Specify Inventory Directory window, choose the default Oracle Inventory directory. The default is C:\Program Files\Oracle\Inventory. Click **Next**.

- 4. When the Specify File Locations window opens, provide the requested products list file as the source, provide a name to the application server (the default is oracleas1), and specify the installation directory (the default is C:\0raHome\_1). Click Next.
- 5. Select Oracle Application Server 10g from the list of products, and click Next.
- Select J2EE and Web Cache as the Installation Type (and other components as needed) and click Next.
- 7. At the Pre-Installation Requirements window, make sure that you meet the requirements listed first. Then, check the check box next to the requirements to confirm. Click **Next**.
- 8. Select the Configuration Options for the modules you selected to install. Click Next.
- Specify the Port Configuration Options. The default is Automatic, which means Oracle Application Server uses default ports automatically. You can also choose the Manual option if you specify a staticports.ini file that includes the port information. Click Next.
- 10. Specify an instance name and the ias\_admin password. Click Next
- 11. When the Summary window opens, check the summary and click Install.
- 12. If the installation is successful, the end of installation window opens and indicates that the installation finished successfully. Click **Exit** to end the installation process.

You should now have a working copy of Oracle Application Server 10.1.2.i.

### 7.6 Migrating the sample application

In this section, we cover the steps for migrating a sample application that is written for Oracle Application Server to WebSphere Application Server V8.5. This sample application was written by the residency team for this project, and can be used to query a book catalog by the name of the author, publisher, and so on.

#### 7.6.1 Migration approach

To migrate the sample applications, you must import them into the development environment that the Migration Toolkit is installed on. We chose Rational Application Developer V8.5 for our example. We set up an initial source environment to ensure that the application runs correctly in Oracle Application Server. Then, we used the Application Migration Tool - Oracle AS to WebSphere r to identify and fix the migration-related issues within the applications.

#### 7.6.2 Configuring the initial environment

After you install the Oracle Application Server, configure the environment to be able to run the applications on the Oracle platform. This section includes information about acquiring the application files, deploying the sample applications into Oracle Application Server, and creating the database configuration.

#### Acquiring the sample application

For details about how to download the sample application that is used in this scenario, see Appendix B, "Additional material" on page 435. After you download the file, you see three EAR files, each of which corresponds to one sample application.

- SampleEJB.ear
- SampleEJBClient.ear
- SampleWebService-GetDates-WS.ear
### Creating the application database

The sample applications require only one table named CATALOG. You should run the following DDL to create the CATALOG table:

CREATE TABLE Catalog (id INTEGER PRIMARY KEY NOT NULL, journal VARCHAR(100), publisher VARCHAR(100), edition VARCHAR(100), title VARCHAR(100), author VARCHAR(100));

### Creating the data source

In order for the application to work, you must create a data source in Oracle Application Server named jdbc/OracleDBConnectionDS. This value is specified in the JPA persistence.xml file in the ejb2 module. To create the data source, complete the following steps:

- 1. Log in to the Oracle Enterprise Manager.
- 2. Click the appropriate OC4J instance.
- 3. Click Administration in the instance menu.
- 4. Click Data Sources in the Application Defaults section.
- 5. Click Create at the upper right of the Data Sources window.
- 6. Enter the information in Table 7-2 in to the corresponding fields.

Table 7-2 Creating the data source

Field name	Value
Name	OracleDataSource
DataSource Class	com.evermind.sql.DriverManagerDataSource
JDBC URL	jdbc:oracle:thin:@//localhost:1521/SID_VALUE
JDBC Driver	oracle.jdbc.driver.OracleDriver
Schema	SCHEMA_NAME

- 7. Enter the appropriate user name and password in the DataSource user name and password section.
- 8. Enter jdbc/OracleDBConnectionDS in the Location field in JNDI Locations section.
- 9. Click Apply.

**Important:** The SID\_VALUE and SCHEMA\_NAME are specific to your Oracle Database installation. By default, Oracle creates an SID named XE, and a schema named OE or HR.

# Deploying the application into Oracle Application Server

To deploy the application into Oracle Application Server, complete the following steps:

- 1. Log in to the Oracle Enterprise Manager.
- 2. Click the appropriate OC4J instance to deploy in to.
- 3. Click **Applications** on the instance menu.
- 4. In the Applications window, click Deploy EAR File.
- 5. Click **Browse** to choose the sample application EAR file.
- 6. Enter the name of the application in to the Application Name field and click **Continue**.

- 7. Specify the URL Mapping to your application and click Next.
- 8. Leave the JAZN XML User Manager selection chosen and click Next.
- 9. Review the settings and click **Deploy**.

# 7.6.3 Importing the sample application into Rational Application Developer V8.5

In our sample migration, we use Rational Application Developer V8.5 to identify and perform the changes that are needed in the application to migrate it to WebSphere Application Server V8.5. The first stage is to import the application, which is made up of three EAR files, into Rational Application Developer by completing the following steps:

- 1. Click File  $\rightarrow$  Import, then Java EE  $\rightarrow$  EAR File, and then click Next.
- 2. Click Browse and select the SampleEJB.ear file.
- Click Finish to import the SampleEJB.ear file. This action creates two projects: the SampleEJB project and the ejb2 project, which is the ejb module for the SampleEJB project.

**XML error:** You see in the Markers view that there is an XML problem reported in the ejb2 project. You can correct that problem by completing the steps that are shown in "Fixing the reported problems" on page 226.

4. Repeat this process for the SampleEJBClient.ear and the SampleWebService-GetDates-WS.ear files. Importing the SampleEJBClient.war file creates two projects, SampleClientEJB and webapp1, while importing SampleWebService-GetDates-WS.ear creates SampleWebService-GetDates-WS and WebServices.

**Application source:** In this sample, the EAR files include the source of the application, so a separate step is not needed to import the source.

### Fixing the reported problems

After you import the EAR files into Rational Application Developer, 35 errors and three warnings are reported (Figure 7-1).



Figure 7-1 The Markers view in Rational Application Developer after you import all the EAR files that make up the sample application

We resolve these problems to have a clean workspace in which to run the Application Migration Tool and to do the deployment to WebSphere Application Server V8.5.

#### Java Build Path problems

The first group of issues are all related to the availability of the various JDKs originally used to develop the application to Rational Application Developer. You can resolve these issues by setting the target run time for these projects to WebSphere Application Server V8.5. To do so, complete the following steps:

- 1. Right-click the ejb2 project and select Preferences.
- 2. Select the Targeted Runtimes view in the list of properties
- 3. If "WebSphere Application Server v8.5" is not shown in the list of run times, click **New...** and complete the following steps (we assume that you already have an application server profile that is defined on your WebSphere Application Server v8.5 installation):
  - a. Select **WebSphere Application Server v8.5** in the list on run times on the New Server Runtime Environment wizard and click **Next**.
  - b. Click **Browse...** and select the root directory of your WebSphere Application Server V8.5 installation and then click **Finish**.
- 4. Select the **WebSphere Application Server V8.5** check box in the list of Targeted Runtimes and click **OK**.

These steps must be repeated for the other five projects that make up the application.

After these updates are made, both the Java Build Path problems and most (but not all) of the Java problems are resolved.

#### The remaining Java problems

There are four remaining Java problems (Figure 7-2).



Figure 7-2 The remaining problems after the target run time is set

The first problem, the syntax error, indicates that the Java compiler compliance level for the project is still set to 1.4 and must be updated to 1.6. Check (and correct if necessary), the Java compiler compliance level on all three of the Java projects (ejb2, webapp1, and WebServices). To do so, complete the following steps:

1. Right-click ejb2 and select Properties.

2. Select the Java Compiler properties in the left pane and change the Java compiler compliance level to 1.6 (Figure 7-3).

	Java Compiler	⇔ *	⇒ -
Resource	Enable project specific settings	Configure Workspace Se	ttinas
Builders			
Code Coverage	_ JDK Compliance		
Default Package	Use compliance from execution environme	ent on the <u>'Java Build Path'</u>	
Deployment Assembly	Constitute annualization la visite	1.0	
EJB Deployment	Complier compliance level:	1.0	×
Java Build Path	Use defaul <u>t</u> compliance settings		
Java Code Style	Generated, class files compatibility	1.6	
Java Compiler	dellerated (class files compatibility)	1.0	
Java Editor	Source compatibility:	1.6	×
Javadoc Location			
JDBC Connections	Disallow identifiers called 'assert':	Error	×
Links Design to Franks	Disallow identifiers called 'enum':	Frror	~
Project Facets		210	
Project References	⊂ Classfile Generation		
Run/Debug Settings	Add variable attributes to generated class	s files (used by the debugger)	
Server Service Delicies			
Targeted Duptimes	Add line number attributes to generated (	class files (used by the debugger	0
Targeted Runtimes	Add source file name to generated class f	file (used by the debugger)	
TOTO JUNI	Preserve unused (never read) local varial	bles	
Validation		·····	
Validadori VDodot	Inline finally blocks (larger class files, but	Improved performance)	
XDoclet			

Figure 7-3 Setting the Java compliance level

- 3. The "Project Facets" properties also must be updated to indicate that you are using a Java 6 run time and that you are deploying to WebSphere Application Server V8.5. Click Project Facets in the left pane and change the version of the Java facet to 1.6. In addition, check the WebSphere Web (co-existence) and WebSphere Web (Extended) facets.
- 4. Repeat steps 1 on page 227 to 3 for the other two projects.
- Click OK to accept the new properties and then Yes when Rational Application Developer prompts you to do a full project rebuild now.

**WebService project:** When we performed this task on the WebService project in our example, Rational Application Developer added an issue to the Markers view to indicate that, by default, WebSphere Application Server V7.0 and above does not scan for JAX-WS annotations without a change to the manifest.mf file. This problem is addressed in "Web Service problems" on page 229.

The remaining three Java Problems are all warnings, which you do not have to resolve now (they do not affect the running of the application).

#### Web Service problems

When you update the WebService project to indicate that this project will be deployed on to WebSphere Application Server V8.5, Rational Application Developer added an issue that indicates that, by default, WebSphere Application Server V7.0 and above does not scan for JAX-WS annotations without a change to the manifest.mf file. You can use the following quick fix to update the manifest.mf file. To do so, complete the following steps:

- ► Right-click the issue in the Markers view and select **Quick Fix**.
- Click **Finish** to implement the quick fix.

### XML problems

The final problem is an XML problem in the application's persistence.xml file. This problem is one that the Oracle Application Server tolerates, while WebSphere Application Server V8.5 requires that the persistence.xml file conform to the schema defined for the persistence.xml file. You must correct persistence.xml to match the schema. The problem is that the persistence-unit stanza ends too soon and should include the provider stanza that immediately follows it. You must correct this XML so that the persistence-unit stanza includes the provider stanza (Example 7-1).

Example 7-1 The corrected peristence.xml file

```
<?xml version="1.0" encoding="windows-1252" ?>
<persistence xmlns:xsi="http://www.w3.org/2001/XMLSchema-instance"</pre>
             xsi:schemaLocation="http://java.sun.com/xml/ns/persistence
http://java.sun.com/xml/ns/persistence/persistence 1 0.xsd"
             version="1.0" xmlns="http://java.sun.com/xml/ns/persistence">
  <persistence-unit name="Model">
  <provider>
        org.eclipse.persistence.jpa.PersistenceProvider
     </provider>
     <jta-data-source>
        java:/app/jdbc/jdbc/OracleDBConnectionDS
     </jta-data-source>
     <class>
        model.Catalog
     </class>
     <properties>
        <property name="eclipselink.target-server" value="Oracle IAS"</pre>
        />
        <property name="javax.persistence.jtaDataSource"</pre>
            value="java:/app/jdbc/jdbc/OracleDBConnectionDS" />
     </properties>
     </persistence-unit>
</persistence>
```

# 7.6.4 Running the Application Migration Tool

You can use the Application Migration Tool to identify potential migration problems. To do so for our probability distribution sample, complete the following steps:

- 1. Right-click any of the projects and select Software Analyzer  $\rightarrow$  Software Analyzer Configurations....
- 2. Click New launch configuration.

- 3. Click the **Rules** tab and then use the Rule Sets: drop-down menu to select the Oracle Application Migration rule set. Click **Set...**.
- 4. In the Rule set configuration window, select the Target application server as **WebSphere Application Server V8.5**, as shown in Figure 7-4.

Rule set configuration				
WebSphere Application Server Migration Tool rule selection details				
Source application server:	Oracle Application Server			
Target application server:	WebSphere Application Server V8.5			
Final target is a Liberty profile server running on Oracle Java				
Source Java version:	Java 1.4			
Target Java version:	Java 6 🗸 🗸			
	OK Cancel			

Figure 7-4 Rule set configuration for migrating from Oracle AS

- 5. Click **OK**.
- 6. Back in the Software Analyzer Configurations wizard, click **Analyze** to get the Application Migration Tool to analyze all the projects.

A total of four problems are reported: three XML problems and one Java problem.

#### Fixing the Java Code Review result

As shown in Figure 7-5, the Java Code Review result is similar to one of the remaining Java problems that is still in the Markers view. You can use the quick fix for the Java problem to also resolve the Java Code Review result.



Figure 7-5 The Java Code Review results from the Application Migration Tool

Complete the following steps:

1. Double-click the Java Code Review result to open Catalog.java in the Java Editor View.

2. Click the light bulb/warning triangle to open a menu of possible fixes and click **Add** generated serial version ID to apply the quick fix (Figure 7-6).



Figure 7-6 Applying a quick fix to resolve the Java serialization warning

# Fixing the XML File Review results

There are three results that are shown in the XML File Review results page (Figure 7-7).



Figure 7-7 XML Code Review results

Fixing the first result is straightforward: Delete the file. WebSphere Application Server V8.5 does not need this file to determine the web services operations that must be made available through SOAP. Instead, WebSphere Application Server V8.5 makes all the operations available. The oracle-webservices.xml file can be in the WEB-INF directory of the WebService project.

The next code review result is for the usage of the orion-application.xml. When you double-click that result to open that file, you discover that it is empty apart from an empty orion-application stanza. This file can be deleted as well and can be found in the META-INF directory of the SampleWebService-GetDates-WS project.

To resolve the last remaining problem is more complicated, as you must convert the Oracle web service deployment descriptor into a WebSphere Application Server deployment descriptor. The Application Migration Tool can help you do this conversion. To do the conversion, complete the following steps:

- Right-click webservices.xml and select the Generate Ant script. This action creates an Ant script (called build-ibm-ws.xml) that you must run to generate a new WSDL file to use with WebSphere Application Server V8.5 and to update webservices.xml for use on WebSphere Application Server V8.5.
- 2. To run the Ant script, open a command-line interface (CLI) and then run the command from within the Rational Application Developer workspace:
  - a. Open a CLI and navigate to the root directory of your WebSphere Application Server V8.5 installation.
  - b. Change to the bin directory.
  - c. Run the following command:

ws\_ant.bat -f "\$WORKSPACE/WebServices/build-ibm-ws.xml"
genService GetDatesWSSoapHttpPort

**Command syntax:** You must replace \$WORKSPACE in the command with the location of your Rational Application Developer workspace. "WebServices" is the name of the project where build-ibm-ws.xml was created by the Application Migration Toolkit.genService\_GetDateWSSoapHttpPort is the name of the target in that build.xml, which performs the relevant conversion for the GetDateWS web service. One of these targets is generated for each port that is listed in the original webservices.xml file, and you must repeat this process for each target generated.

- 3. After the Ant script completes successfully, return to Rational Application Developer, right-click the **WebService** project, and select **Refresh**.
- 4. You see that a new folder, ibm-ws-gen, is created by the Ant script. Find the webservices.xml file inside ibm-ws-gen/src/WEB-INF. As you have only the single web service, you can copy that file to the real WEB-INF directory.

**Multiple services:** If you have more than one service, you must copy the contents of the generated webservices.xml in to the real webservices.xml, overwriting each original web services as you copy over the changes.

# 7.6.5 Deploying the application in to WebSphere Application Server V8.5

Deploy the application into WebSphere Application Server by completing the following steps:

1. From the Server tab in Rational Application Developer, right-click **WebSphere Application Server v8.5 at localhost**.





Figure 7-8 Add and Remove Projects

- 3. Move all resources to the right to configure them on the server and click Finish.
- 4. Right-click WebSphere Application Server v8.5 at localhost and select Publish.

In our sample application, you see that the "SampleEJBClient" failed to start. When you look at the logs, you find the error java.lang.ClassNotFoundException: oracle.adf.share.logging.ADFLogger. This class is included in the adfshare.jar file. The absence of this JAR file is expected, as adfshare.jar is deployed as a part of the ADF runtime libraries. You should add this JAR file in to the build path of the application.

5. After you add adfshare.jar in to the Web App Libraries of webapp1 and publishing SampleEJBClient again, the SampleEJBClient starts successfully (Figure 7-9).



Figure 7-9 Adding missing JAR files

You can start and stop the server and application by using the WebSphere Application Server console. To reach the console, enter the URL http://<hostname>:9080/ibm/console or click Start  $\rightarrow$  Programs  $\rightarrow$  IBM WebSphere  $\rightarrow$  IBM WebSphere Application Server V8.5  $\rightarrow$  Profiles  $\rightarrow$  AppSrv01  $\rightarrow$  Administrative console.

The application that is imported from Rational Application Developer can be controlled in WebSphere Application Server. You can also import EAR files through this console.

# 7.6.6 Summary

In this chapter, we explained the process for migrating J2 EE applications from Oracle Application Server 10.1.2 to WebSphere Application Server V8.5 using a sample application that was created by the authors of this book. We used Application Migration Tool - Oracle AS to WebSphere to automate most of the migration steps. The tool was able to catch and fix the incompatibilities between Oracle Application Server and WebSphere Application Server in the code.

# 8

# **Migrating from JBoss**

This chapter describes the migration of Java Enterprise Edition applications from JBoss to WebSphere Application Server V8.5 using the following examples:

- ► The Kitchensink application from JBoss Quickstarts distribution.
- The online brokerage sample application from Geronimo project V1.0, which has JBoss specific features.

At the time of the writing of this book, we used the latest version of JBoss Application Server, 7.1.1 Final, which is certified for Java EE 6 full profile, for our example.

This chapter describes the following topics:

- Migrating from older versions
- Application Migration Tool JBoss AS to WebSphere
- Preparing the environment
- Migrating the Kitchensink application of the JBoss Quickstarts distribution
- Migrating the Online Brokerage application

**Legal disclaimer:** IBM does not warrant or represent that the code provided is complete or up-to-date. IBM does not warrant, represent or imply reliability, serviceability, or function of the code. IBM is under no obligation to update content nor provide further support.

All code is provided "as is," with no warranties or guarantees whatsoever. IBM expressly disclaims to the fullest extent permitted by law all express, implied, statutory and other warranties, guarantees, or representations, including, without limitation, the warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, and non-infringement of proprietary and intellectual property rights. You understand and agree that you use these materials, information, products, software, programs, and services, at your own discretion and risk and that you will be solely responsible for any damages that may result, including loss of data or damage to your computer system.

In no event will IBM be liable to any party for any direct, indirect, incidental, special, exemplary or consequential damages of any type whatsoever related to or arising from use of the code found herein, without limitation, any lost profits, business interruption, lost savings, loss of programs or other data, even if IBM is expressly advised of the possibility of such damages. this exclusion and waiver of liability applies to all causes of action, whether based on contract, warranty, tort or any other legal theories.

*Third-party* software is licensed and distributed to you by the *third-party* distributors and/or respective copyright and other right holders under their terms and conditions. IBM makes no express or implied warranties or representations with respect to such *software* and provides no indemnity for such software. IBM grants no express or implied patent or other license with respect to *and* is not liable for any damages arising out of the use of *such software*.

# 8.1 Migrating from older versions

*Migrating Applications from WebLogic, JBoss and Tomcat to WebSphere V6*, SG24-6690 describes how to migrate J2EE 1.3 applications from JBoss Application Server Version 3.2.7 to WebSphere Application Server V6. If your application is at specification levels J2EE 1.3 and J2EE 1.4, and you are using XDoclet for code generation, look at this version.

# 8.2 Application Migration Tool - JBoss AS to WebSphere

Application Migration Tool - JBoss AS to WebSphere (Application Migration Tool) is part of the Migration Toolkit, which is described in Chapter 4, "Installation and configuration of the Application Migration Tools" on page 89. Application Migration Tool can help you in the following areas when migrating applications from J2EE 1.4 and Java EE 5 applications from JBoss Server (starting with Version 4.x) to WebSphere Application Server V7, V8, or V8.5:

- Class path setup: Converts enterprise archive (EAR) class paths to J2EE specifications
- JBoss Server Startup Classes: Detect and convert JBoss start and shutdown MBeans
- Non-Portable JNDI lookups: Detect and refactor JNDI lookups to use the parameter-less InitialContext
- Deployment Descriptors: Detect and convert JBoss specific deployment descriptor elements to IBM deployment descriptor elements

- JBoss proprietary Java packages and files: Detect JBoss proprietary packages and files
- ► Web services: Migrate JBoss JAXRPC web services

# 8.2.1 Comparison of the JBoss V7.1.1 and WebSphere Application Server V8.5 terminology

Here are some of the similarities and differences in terminology between JBoss V7.1.1 and WebSphere Application Server V8.5. WebSphere Application Server and JBoss use different structures for managing distributed environments, which host many application server instances that work together as clusters to provide enterprise level quality of services, such as high availability and load distribution. A comparison in terminology can be found in Table 8-1.

WebSphere Application Server V8.5	JBoss V7.1.1
Cell	Domain
Server Instance	Server or Node
Node	N/A
Node agent	N/A
Deployment Manager	Master (One of the server instances assumes this role.)
Cluster	Server Group

Table 8-1 Terminology comparison

# 8.3 Preparing the environment

This section provides high-level steps and tasks for installing and configuring Apache Ant, Apache Maven, and JBoss Application Server.

# 8.3.1 Installing and configuring Apache Ant

Download the Apache Ant binary distribution from the Apache Ant website at:

http://ant.apache.org/

We used Version 1.8.3 on our environment.

You can find detailed installation instructions at:

http://ant.apache.org/manual/install.html

To install and configure Ant, complete the following steps:

1. Extract the downloaded file to a suitable location. Use a short path name, such as C:\Ant, as long file names might cause problems because of OS restrictions. We used C:\Ant as the installation directory in our example.

 Set the environment variables by clicking Start → Control Panel → System. Click Advanced → Environment Variables. We want to use the same JRE as our integrated testing environment, so in our scenario, in the user variables section, we set the JAVA\_HOME variable as follows:

JAVA HOME=C:\Program Files (x86)\IBM\SDP\jdk

 Set the ANT\_HOME user variable to the folder that you specified in step 1 on page 237. In our case, we set it as follows:

ANT\_HOME=C:\Ant

 Add Java and Ant scripts to your path by appending the following code to your PATH user variable or creating one if it does not exist:

PATH=%PATH%;%JAVA\_HOME%\bin;%ANT\_HOME%\bin

- 5. Verify the environment variables and Ant installation by opening a new command prompt and checking the outputs of the following commands:
  - java -version
  - ant -version

The output shows the current versions of the tools.

### 8.3.2 Installing and configuring Apache Maven

Download the Apache Maven binary distribution from the Apache Maven website at:

http://maven.apache.org/

We used Version 3.0.4 in our environment.

You can find detailed installation instructions at:

http://maven.apache.org/download.html

To install and configure Apache Maven, complete the following steps:

- Extract the downloaded file to a suitable location. In our scenario, we use C:\Maven as the installation directory.
- Set the environment variables by clicking Start → Control Panel → System. Choose Advanced → Environment Variables. Set the M2\_HOME and M2 user variables to the folder that you specified in step 1. In our case, we set it as follows:

M2\_HOME=C:\Maven M2=%M2 HOME%\bin

Add a Maven script to your path by appending the following code to your PATH user variable or create one if it does not exist. At this stage, our PATH variable looks as follows:

```
PATH=%PATH%;%JAVA_HOME%\bin;%ANT_HOME%\bin;%M2%
```

4. Verify the Maven installation by opening a new command prompt and checking the output of the following command:

mvn -version

The output shows the current version of Maven.

### 8.3.3 Installing and configuring JBoss Application Server

This section provides the JBoss Application Server installation instructions.

# Installing JBoss Application Server Version 7.1.1

Download the JBoss Application Server distribution from the JBoss website. We use Version 5.1.0 in our environment.

http://www.jboss.org/jbossas/downloads/

You can find detailed installation instructions for JBoss Application Server at:

https://docs.jboss.org/author/display/AS7/Getting+Started+Guide

To install or configure the JBoss Application Server, complete the following steps:

- 1. Extract the downloaded file to a suitable location. We used C:\jboss-as-7.1.1.Final as the installation directory for our example.
- Set the environment variables by clicking Start → Control Panel → System. Click Advanced → Environment Variables. Select JBOSS\_HOME. This location is referred to as <jboss\_home> throughout the document. In our case, we set it as follows:

JBOSS\_HOME=C:\jboss-as-7.1.1.Final

Add the JBoss script to your path by appending the following line to your PATH user variable. Our PATH variable looks like:

PATH=%PATH%;%JAVA\_HOME%\bin;%ANT\_HOME%\bin;%M2%;%JBOSS\_HOME%\bin

4. Verify the installation by starting the server by running the standalone.bat command.

# 8.4 Migrating the Kitchensink application of the JBoss Quickstarts distribution

The Kitchensink application is a part of the JBoss Quickstarts distribution, which is a collection of sample applications that demonstrate how to use new features of the product. This collection can be downloaded separately from the JBoss website. More information about this application can be found at:

https://docs.jboss.org/author/display/AS7/Kitchensink+quickstart

Kitchensink is a simple application that demonstrates the new features of Java EE 6. We choose to migrate this application for the following reasons:

- ▶ It uses JPA 2.0 (Hibernate as the JPA provider) and EJB 3.1.
- It uses JSF 2.0, CDI 1.0, and Bean Validation 1.0 (Hibernate Validator as the validation provider).
- It uses JAX-RS (a new Java API for RESTful Web Services).
- It is simple, which is ideal for demonstrating the basic features of a migration. We can demonstrate project scope changes without getting lost in the repetitive work that large projects might require for each module or component.

# 8.4.1 Migration approach

The Kitchensink application was built with non IBM development tools: Ant and Maven. In this particular migration exercise, we also migrate the build environment to IBM Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software, and use the build cycle that ships with this product.

To complete the migration, complete the following steps:

- 1. Verify that the application works in its original destination environment. In our case, we build, deploy, and run the application on JBoss Application Server 7.1.1 Final.
- Import the EAR file that is built for JBoss to IBM Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software to create the project structure. Import the source files in to projects created from the source distribution.
- 3. Check the source code and the configuration files with the Application Migration Tool.
- Analyze and fix problems that are reported by the build environment and Application Migration Tool.
- Build the Kitchensink sample application using IBM Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software.
- 6. Migrate the Hibernate JPA provider to OpenJPA.
- Deploy and test the application on an integrated WebSphere Application Server V8.5 test environment.

# 8.4.2 Verifying the Kitchensink sample application

The Kitchensink application does not require any additional configuration on the target JBoss application server. The application uses the default data source that is preconfigured on the application server, and uses default JPA and Bean validation providers.

To verify the Kitchensink sample application, complete the following steps:

1. Download the Quickstarts distribution from the following web page:

http://download.jboss.org/jbossas/7.1/jboss-as-7.1.1.CR2/jboss-as-quickstarts-7
.1.1.CR2-dist.zip

- Extract the downloaded archive file to a suitable location. In our case, we use C:\quickstarts. Hereafter, this location is referred to as <quickstarts\_home>.
- 3. Open a command prompt and change to the directory that contains the sample application code:

```
<quickstarts home>\kitchensink
```

4. Build and deploy the sample application by running **mvn clean install** in the <quickstarts\_home>\kitchensink folder.

The build script terminates successfully with the message BUILD SUCCESSFUL.

- 5. Open another command prompt and start your JBoss Application Server Version 4.2.3 by running <jboss\_home>/bin/standalone.bat. Maven builds the project and output, including the WAR archive, which is generated in the <quickstarts home>\kitchensink\target folder.
- Copy the generated jboss-as-kitchensink.war file in the <quickstarts\_home>\kitchensink\target folder to the <jboss\_home>\standalone\deployments folder.
- Point your browser to the following address and test the sample application by generating a couple of contact items, using REST endpoint links to see JSON data you enter. Notice how form validation is handled by using a bad input string (that is, a malformed email address of phone number).

https://localhost:8080/jboss-as-kitchensink/

# 8.4.3 Importing the EAR file and source code to Rational Application Developer

To import the EAR file and source code to Rational Application Developer, complete the following steps:

- Start Rational Application Developer by clicking Start → IBM Software Delivery Platform → IBM Rational Application Developer 8.5 → Rational Application Developer.
- Start the import wizard by clicking File → Import. Expand the web node in the import source tree and select the WAR file.
- 3. In the WAR window, browse to the location of the WAR file that is generated by the Ant build, which might be found at the following location:

<quickstarts\_home>\kitchensink\target\jboss-as-kitchensink.war

🗿 Import					
WAR Import Import a WAR fi	le from the file sy	rstem			٢
WAR file:	C:\quickstarts\k	itchensink\targe	t\jboss-as-kitche	nsink.war	Browse
Web project:	jboss-as-kitcher	nsink			•
Target runtime:	WebSphere App	lication Server v	8.5 stub		▼ New
EAR membersh	ip t to an EAR				
EAR project na	me: jboss-as-ki	tchensinkEAR		•	New Project
?		< Back	Next >	Finish	Cancel

See Figure 8-1. Click **Next** to continue.

Figure 8-1 Importing the WAR file for Kitchensink application using the import wizard

4. On the WAR Import: Web libraries window, click **Finish** to continue without selecting any of the JAR files to be imported as a utility project.

5. Click **Finish** on the WAR Import: Web libraries window. The Import wizard runs and creates the necessary project and module structure (Figure 8-2).

🗿 Web - Rational® Application Developer fo	or WebSphere® Software	
File Edit Navigate Search Project Run W	indow Help	
] ✿ • 周 雨 酉   ] 黎 • ❷ • (   加 • 祠 • ← ← • → •	▙ -   - / -   ●   8   2 ☆ ば   조 - 4   2 ☆	🔛 🥳 Web 🧏 Java EE
😤 Enterprise Explorer 🛛 🗖 🗖		□
🗆 🔁 🛱 🎽		An outline is not available.
📮 🚰 jboss-as-kitchensink		
🛨 🛅 jboss-as-kitchensink		
🕀 🥁 Java Resources		
E Src		
🖭 😥 WebContent		
🖻 🗁 jboss-as-kitchensinkEAR		
□ ·· (詞 jboss-as-kitchensinkEAR	📳 Proble 🕱 🛛 👭 Server 🔲 Proper 📴 Quick 📄 🖳 Consol	
	0 errors, 4 warnings, 0 others	
	Description A Descurse Dat	
		<u> </u>
	A	
C Itype filter text		
〕 <sup>□</sup> ○ 0 items selected		🕋 奠 🗷 💖 🔶 🕖 🌚 🖘

Figure 8-2 Project structure after the initial import

6. If you are not already in the Web perspective, a prompt asks if you want to switch to the Web perspective. Click **Yes**.

Expand jboss-as-kitchensink → WebContent → WEB-INF → lib and delete all the JAR files in this node (Figure 8-3).



Figure 8-3 Removing the shirinkwrap libraries from the project

**Shrinkwrap:** Shrinkwrap is a packaging library for Java. We do not depend on Shrinkwrap libraries in the run time, so we can remove them from the project. More information about this library can be found at:

http://www.jboss.org/shrinkwrap

Import the source code for the web module. As shown in Figure 8-4, you must replace classes that are imported in compiled form with their respective source codes. Click Java Resources/src under the web module, and then click File → Import from the main menu.



Figure 8-4 Replacing the class file with the respective source files in the web module

 On the Import window, clicking General → File System displays the File System Import window. Click Browse and select the folder that contains the source code of our project:

<quickstarts home>\kitchensink\src\main\java

10. Select the Java node. Click Finish.

**Importing source files:** When you import source files to replace classes imported by the import wizard, the following rules apply:

- ► In an EJB module, source files must be added under the ejbModule node.
- ► In a web module, source files must be added under the Java Resources/src node.
- 11.Because we imported the source files, we can now remove the compiled class files that are imported by the import wizard for the same classes. Expand Web App Libraries → Imported Classes. Select all packages in this node. Click File → Delete from the main menu. Click OK on the deletion confirmation dialog box that opens. The web module should now look like the right pane Figure 8-4.

# 8.4.4 Analyzing and fixing migration problems

The following subsections describe the steps that we performed for analyzing and fixing the problems.

# Fixing the web module dependencies

As seen in Figure 8-4 on page 244, there is a compile-time problem in the imported org.jboss.as.quickstarts.kitchensink.model package in the Member.java file. This problem exists because we have a dependency on the Hibernate Validator library, because the source code uses Hibernate specific bean validation annotations. To fix this issue, complete the following steps:

1. Download the Hibernate Validator distribution from the following URL and extract it to a suitable location. At the time of the writing of this book, we used the latest version of Hibernate Validator, which was 4.2.0.Final.

http://www.hibernate.org/subprojects/validator/download

- Click the web module and expand the node Web Content → WEB-INF → lib. Click File → Import to start the Import wizard.
- Click File → General and select hibernate-validator-4.2.0.Final.jar. Click OK to import the library.
- 4. Click **OK** to continue. As the workspace is rebuilt, the compile error disappears.

# **Defining Faces Servlet mapping**

Because of the notation that is used in the Kitchensink application, we must define a servlet mapping for Faces Servlet by mapping to the \*.jsf resources. To do so, complete the following steps:

- In the Enterprise Explorer view, expand the web module node. Right-click the Servlets node and select New → Servlet.
- 2. In the new Servlet wizard, select the **Use and existing servlet class or JSP** check box. Click **Browse**, and select **javax.faces.webapp.FacesServlet class**. See Figure 8-7 on page 247. Click **Next**.

💽 Create Serv	vlet	_ 🗆 🗙
Create Serv Specify class fi	<b>/let</b> le destination.	S
Project:	jboss-as-kitchensink	
Source folder:	\jboss-as-kitchensink\src	Browse
Java package;		Browse,,,
Class name:		
Superclass:	javax.servlet.http.HttpServlet	Browse
🔽 Use an exis	ting Servlet class or JSP	
Class name:	javax.faces.webapp.FacesServlet	Browse
?	< Back Next > Finish	Cancel

Figure 8-5 Selecting the Faces Servlet

3. On the next page, click **Add...** in the URL Mapping section, and add the pattern \*.jsf. See Figure 8-6. Click **Finish**.

💿 Create Ser	vlet	_ 🗆 X
Create Serv Specify class fi	<b>vlet</b> le destination.	S
Project:	jboss-as-kitchensink	
Source folder:	\jboss-as-kitchensink\src	Browse
Java package:		Browse,
Class name:		
Superclass:	javax.servlet.http.HttpServlet	Browse,
🔽 Use an exis	ting Servlet class or JSP	
Class name:	javax.faces.webapp.FacesServlet	Browse
?	< Back Next > Finish	Cancel

Figure 8-6 Adding a servlet mapping to the Faces Servlet

4. You should now see the new mapping in the Enterprise Explorer window.

# 8.4.5 Checking the project using Application Migration Tool

Even if you are working on a simple application, checking the source code and configuration files is a good idea. To run the Application Migration Tool on your project, complete the following steps:

- 1. Click the jboss-as-kitchensinkEAR application module. Right-click and select Software Analyzer → Software Analyzer Configurations.
- 2. In the left pane of the Software Analyzer Configurations window, right-click **Software Analyzer** and select **New**.
- 3. Click the Rules tab. Select JBoss Application Migration from the drop-down menu.

4. Click **Set** ... to select the JBoss rules in the Analysis Rules and Domains area. Set the Target Application Server to **WebSphere Application Server V8.5** and the Source Java version to **Java 6**. Click **OK**. See Figure 8-7.

💿 Software Analyzer Configurati	ns X
O Software Analyzer Configuration Create, manage, and run c Select a range of inputs from the sco Select a range of inputs from the sco Provide the score of the score Provide the score of the score of the score Type filter text Software Analyzer Software Analyzer Software Analyzer Software Analyzer Software Analyzer	Infigurations         be tab and at least one rule from the rules tab to create an analysis configuration.         Name:       New_configuration         Image:       New_configuration         Image:       Scope         Rule Sets:       Boss Application Migration         Image:       Set         Import       Export         Analysis Domains and Rules         Image:       Set         Import       Export         Import       Set         Import       Export         Import       Export <tr< th=""></tr<>
	Image: Specific Review [0/14]       WebSphere Application Server Mgradul Hourde Selection declars         Source application server:       JBoss Application Server Image         Target application server:       WebSphere Application Server V8.5         Image: Final target is a Liberty profile server running on Oracle Java         Source Java version:       Java 6         Image: Java version:       Java 6
Filter matched 2 of 2 items	
?	Analyze Close

Figure 8-7 Software Analyzer configuration with JBoss migration rule set

5. Click **Analyze**. After the analysis is complete, the Software Analyzer Results view is displayed (attached to the bottom pane).

In the Software Analyzer Results view, you can see a tab for each domain of analysis. In our case, we see a tab for ClassPath Review, Java Code Review, XML File Review, and JSP Code Review.

In Figure 8-8, Application Migration Tool warns us about the package naming convention and usage of the Hibernate framework. In following sections, we migrate Hibernate JPA provider to OpenJPA, which is provided with the WebSphere Application Server v8.5.



Figure 8-8 Application Migration Tool XML file review

# 8.4.6 Managing more runtime dependencies

In this section, we describe the steps that are taken to manage runtime dependencies.

# **Fixing runtime dependencies**

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 does not contain certain libraries that are required to run the sample application. These libraries are basically logging and hibernate libraries for persistence, and their dependencies. These libraries are included in the JBoss Application Server distribution, so we can import these libraries into our application from the JBoss Application.

There are several approaches about how to include these libraries, including packaging within the application archive file or using shared libraries. For our sample application, because we do not use Hibernate as the JPA provider, but migrate it to OpenJPA, we need only logging libraries. Because we need only a couple of libraries, we can add them to Web Module class path by importing them in to the WEB-INF/lib folder of web module, as we did for Hibernate-Validator.

Complete the following steps:

1. Download the SLF4J distribution from the following URL and extract it to a suitable location. At the time of the writing of this book, we use the latest version of SLF4J, which is 1.6.4.

http://www.slf4j.org/download.html

- Click the web module and expand the node Web Content → WEB-INF → lib. Click File → Import to start the Import wizard.
- Click File → General, select slf4j-api-1.6.4.jar and slf4j-simple-1.6.4.jar, and click OK to import the libraries.
- 4. Click OK to continue.

The web module now looks like Figure 8-9.



Figure 8-9 Web module after you import more dependencies

**Including libraries:** Because injected code like Hibernate Validator depends on SLF4J, not including these libraries might cause problems with the injected resources, and it might be difficult to determine that the root cause of the problem is the missing libraries.

# 8.4.7 Migrating to the WebSphere built-in JPA provider and the default data source

Two persistence providers are included in WebSphere Application Server:

- JPA for WebSphere Application Server persistence provider
- Apache OpenJPA persistence provider

The JPA for WebSphere Application Server persistence provider is the default provider for WebSphere Application Server. You can use one of the two providers, or a third-party persistence provider, as the default provider. In this exercise, we migrate our application to use OpenJPA JPA provider, which is included in WebSphere Application Server V8, instead of Hibernate JPA provider, which is included in JBoss Application Server.

Complete the following steps:

- 1. Click the **jboss-as-kitchensink** web module. Open the persistence.xml file in an editor by double-clicking it at Java Resources/src/META\_INF/persistence.xml.
- To use the WebSphere Application Server V8.5 default data source that is based on Derby, change the jta-data-source element value from <jta-data-source>java:jboss/datasources/KitchensinkQuickstartDS</jta-data-source e> to <jta-data-source>DefaultDatasource</jta-data-source>.

3. Remove all property elements and add the following property elements to the properties element. These elements set the schema to use and create and synchronize the schema as defined in the persistence units and database:

<property name="openjpa.jdbc.SynchronizeMappings" value="buildSchema(ForeignKeys=true)" />

<property name="openjpa.jdbc.Schema" value="APP"/>

4. Save the persistence.xml file by clicking **File**  $\rightarrow$  **Save**.

To use JPA-related views, complete the following steps to activate the JPA project facet:

- 1. Right-click the web module node and select Properties.
- In the Properties dialog box, select Project Facets, and select the JPA check box (Figure 8-10).

type filter text Project Facets	
H-Resource	
Builders Configuration:   <custom></custom>	
Code Coverage     Project Facet     Version	
Derlaut Package Add WebSphere XDoclet support 6,1	
Deproyment Assembly	
Dava Bulid Path	
En Java Coue Style	
La Java Entition Deprecated - JavaServer Faces (IBM Compatibility) 7.0	
a Javadoc Location Design-Time Page Template support 1.0	
Ter JavaScrint Dynamic Page Template support (Tiles) 2.0 •	
🖅 - JavaServer Faces 3.0 🔻	
JDBC Connections Faces 1.x Component Development 1.0	
JSP Fragment 1.1	
- Liberty Profile Shared Librarie:	
E-Links JavaScript 1.0	
Project Facets	
Project References JavaServer Faces (IBM Enhanced) 7.0	
Refactoring History	
Run/Debug Settings	
Server	
Service Policies	
Target Device Settings	
Targeted Runtimes	
Torona Just	
The provide state of the state	
Web Content Settings	
Web Project Settings	
Known operation 7 0	
WebDodet (XDodet) 123 -	-

Figure 8-10 Enabling the JPA Project Facet

3. Click Apply and then OK.

You can see the JPA node, which also lists the persistence units and entities in Enterprise Explorer. See Figure 8-11.



Figure 8-11 Enterprise Explorer after you enable the JPA project facet

The validation error Member.java, stating "class Member is mapped, but is not included in any persistence units" occurs. Because you know that the Member entity is defined in JPA context, you can ignore this exception. To do so, complete the following steps:

- 1. Click Window  $\rightarrow$  Preferences.
- 2. Click Java Persistence → Errors/Warnings from left pane, and change the type from error to warning for your specific problem (Figure 8-12).

Preferences		_
type filter text	Errors/Warnings	$\leftarrow  \star  \Rightarrow $
⊡- General		Configure Project Specific Set
🔁 Agent Controller	Colored the according local fact the following and the set in the Devict the set of the set	<u>Confidere Project opecific det</u>
🛨 - Ant	Class canpos be resolved:	Ibrror
吏 Data Management		
🗄 Ecore Diagram	Class is included in a persistence unit but is not mapped:	Warning
i Help		-
🕂 ·· Importer	Duplicate class:	Error
🔃 Install/Update	Class is already specified in mapping file:	Info
i java		
主 - Java EE	Duplicate JAR file:	Error
Java Persistence	Upper effect JAD files	Error
Errors/Warnings	onspecified sak file.	
🛨 JavaScript	The path to the JAR file will vary:	Warning
Jython		-
	JAK file cannot be resolved:	Error
Plug-in Development	Extraneous persistence unit defaults found:	Warning
Process		,
Profiling	• Туре	
QVI Operational Editor	Class is manped but is not in a persistence unit:	Warpipg
Report Design		warning
⊞-Run/Debug	Class is annotated, but is not in a persistence unit:	Warning
En Server		<b>E</b>
Service Component Architectu	Class is unspecified in orm.xmi:	Error
	Class in orm.xml cannot be resolved to a iava class:	Error
SIP		
H. Sortware Analyzer	Entity has no primary key:	Error
Heani	• Attribute	
Walidation		
The Web	• Database	
E Web Services	Inheritance	
E Workload Deployer	Oueries and generators	
E ×ML		
		Restore Defaults App
?		OK Cano

Figure 8-12 Configuring JPA validation warnings

3. Click Apply and then OK.

# Enabling JPA 2.0 typesafe queries

At this point, the persistence infrastructure works as expected, but you may notice the warning that is shown in Example 8-1 in the application server logs.

Example 8-1 Warning message

```
CWWJP9991W: openjpa.MetaData: Warn: Meta class
"org.jboss.as.quickstarts.kitchensink.model.Member_" for entity class
org.jboss.as.quickstarts.kitchensink.model.Member can not be registered with
following exception "java.security.PrivilegedActionException:
java.lang.ClassNotFoundException:
org.jboss.as.quickstarts.kitchensink.model.Member_"
```

This error occurs because the compiler did not generate typesafe query classes by processing annotations.

To enable this feature, complete the following steps:

- 1. Right-click the web module project and select **Properties**. Click **Java Compiler**  $\rightarrow$  **Annotation Processing**  $\rightarrow$  **Factory Path**.
- On the Factory Path window, click Add External Jar.... Browse to C:\Program Files (x86)\IBM\WebSphere\AppServer\runtimes\com.ibm.ws.jpa.thinclient\_8.5.0.jar. Add the file. See Figure 8-13.

Properties for jboss-as-kitche	nsink	
type filter text	Factory Path	⇔ • ⇒ • •
		1
Builders	com.ibm.jee.annotations.processor	<u>u</u>
- Code Coverage	com.ibm.ws.ast.wsfp.annotations.processor	Down
Default Package	com.ibm.adapter.j2c.codegen	
··· Deployment Assembly	com.ibm.etools.webtools.jpa.managerbean	
Java Build Path	com.ibm.jaxrs.annotations.processor	Add <u>J</u> ARs
🗄 - Java Code Style	C:\Program Files (x86)\IBM\WebSphere\AppServer\runtimes\com.ibm.ws.jpa	Add External 10Dc
🖃 - Java Compiler		Add External DARS
Annotation Processing		Add Variable
Factory Path		
Building		E-434
- Errors/Warnings		<u>C</u> OIC
Javadoc		Advanced
in lask lags		
		<u>R</u> emove
- Java Persistence		
Tayauc Location		Enable All
En JavaServer Faces		
IDBC Connections		Di <u>s</u> able All
- JSP Fragment		
Liberty Profile Shared Libra		
		<b>_</b>
?		OK Cancel

Figure 8-13 Adding factory class path for annotation processing at compile time

 Click Java Compiler → Annotation Processing. Click New... and add the following property:

openjpa.metamodel=true

See Figure 8-14.

OProperties for jboss-as-kitche	ensink		
type filter text	Annotation Processing		← → → →
Resource     Builders     Code Coverage     Default Package     Default Package     Depault Package	<ul> <li>Enable project specific settings</li> <li>Enable annotation processing</li> <li>Enable processing in editor</li> <li>Generated source directory:</li> </ul>		
	Processor options (-Akey=value):		
Factory Path	Кеу	Value	New
Building	com.ibm.ws.ast.jws.annotations.proc	on	
Errors/Warnings	openjpa.metamodel	true	Edit
Javadoc			Remove
Task Tags			
H Java Editor			
TavaScript			
- JDBC Connections	Note: options such as "-classpath" and "-so values corresponding to the project's Java	urcepath" are automatically passed to all settings.	processors, with
Liberty Profile Shared Libra		Restore Default	s Apply
?		ОК	Cancel

Figure 8-14 Enabling the metamodel generation

A metamodel class describes the meta information of a persistent class. A canonical metamodel class is static in the sense that all its member variables are declared static (and public). The org.jboss.as.quickstarts.kitchensink.model.Member\_name is one such static member variable. The openjpa.metamodel=true parameter instructs the annotation processing engine to generate these metamodel classes (Member\_) given entities (Member).

**Note:** For more information about using typesafe queries on JPA 2.0, see: http://www.ibm.com/developerworks/java/library/j-typesafejpa/

4. Click **Apply** and then **OK** to save your changes. Upon rebuild, the warning disappears.

# 8.4.8 Building and running an application on an integrated test environment

Migration is complete and the application can be run on WebSphere Application Server V8.5. You can check how the migrated application works by using the integrated WebSphere Application Server V8.5 test environment.

To build, deploy, and run the application, complete the following steps:

1. Click the jboss-as-kitchensink\WebContent\index.html file. Right-click and select **Run** As  $\rightarrow$  **Run** on the server. The Run on server dialog box is displayed. Keep the default settings, and click **Finish**.

2. After the application is deployed to the test environment, an embedded web browser is displayed in the main docking area, presenting the entry page of the Kitchensink application. Follow the links to test the application functionality. Things to check are form validations and JAX-RS endpoints, which can be used for both query and creation purposes.

# 8.4.9 Summary

While we migrate the Kitchensink Quickstart sample application, we demonstrated the following concepts:

- Source migration to Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software as a build and test environment
- ► Use of Application Migration Tool
- ► Migrating from third-party JPA providers to WebSphere Open JPA built-in provider

The main points to highlight during this migration are as follows:

- Libraries that ship with JBoss Application Server distributions and not with WebSphere Application Server create more runtime dependencies that must be taken care of.
- Different built-in data sources that are used in this example made it necessary to modify the persistence settings.
- ► JAX-RS did not need configuration changes and worked as expected.

# 8.5 Migrating the Online Brokerage application

Online Brokerage is the sample application from the Apache Geronimo project. This application is used to demonstrate migration from JBoss Application Server to Geronimo Application Server. Online Brokerage includes JBoss specific features. The version that we choose for our example is the one that is used in the Geronimo V1.0 documentation. This version contains the setup that is common among many JBoss users, that is, J2EE 1.4, Hibernate (using JBoss specific HAR files), and JBoss Application Server V4.

You can download and discover more information about this application at:

https://cwiki.apache.org/GMOxDOC10/jboss-to-geronimo-hibernate-migration.html#JBoss toGeronimo-HibernateMigration-sampleApp

We chose to migrate this application for the following reasons:

- ► It uses the J2EE 1.4 application, which uses JSP and Hibernate.
- ► It uses the JBoss-specific HAR archives for Hibernate.
- ► This configuration still has a significant deployment base among JBoss users.

# 8.5.1 Migration approach

The Online Brokerage application is built using Apache Ant. In this particular migration exercise, we migrate the build environment to IBM Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software, and use the build cycle that ships with this product. The migration is completed by completing the following steps:

1. Build an EAR file for JBoss Application Server. Eliminate Geronimo dependencies in the build process to build the application without installing Geronimo Application Server.

- 2. Create a database for the application using DB2 and populate the database with data.
- Import the EAR file that is built for JBoss to IBM Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software, to create the project structure. Import source files into projects that are created from the source distribution.
- 4. Check the source code and configuration files with the Application Migration Tool.
- 5. Analyze and fix problems that are reported by the build environment.
- Build the Online Brokerage sample application using IBM Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software. Deploy and test the application on the integrated WebSphere Application Server V8.5 test environment.

#### 8.5.2 Building the Online Brokerage application

To build the Online Brokerage application archive file, complete the following steps:

1. Download the source distribution of the application from the following website:

https://cwiki.apache.org/GMOxDOC10/jboss-to-geronimo-hibernate-migration.data/b
rokerage.zip

- 1. Extract the downloaded archive file to a suitable location. We choose C:\brokerage. We refer to this location as <brokerage\_home>.
- Open the <brokerage\_home>/build.properties file in an editor. Replace the line jboss.home=E:/jboss-4.0.3SP1/server/hibernate with the line jboss.home=<jbossV7.1.1 home>/server/default.

**Important:** We are reusing the JBoss version 7.1.1 Final installation that we use in 8.4, "Migrating the Kitchensink application of the JBoss Quickstarts distribution" on page 239. If you skipped that exercise, refer to that section. Also, ensure that you use forward slashes as path separators when you edit build.properties.

- In the build.properties file, replace the line dependency.dir=E:/hibernate-3.1/lib with the line dependency.dir=<jbossV7.1.1\_home>/server/default/lib. Save your changes.
- 4. Open the <brokerage\_home>/build.xml file in an editor. Add the following line to the javac element of the jboss-compile Ant target, among other class path elements:

<classpath path="\${jboss.home}/lib/servlet-api.jar"/>

Save your changes.

- 5. Open a command prompt, change the directory to <brokerage\_home>, and run ant.
- After the Ant build completes, the Online Brokerage application archive files are generated at <brokerage\_home>/jboss-artifact/brokerage.ear.

# 8.5.3 Creating and populating the database

Because we are using an IBM DB2 database in our example, we use a slightly modified version of database scripts that are included in sample distribution. To create and populate the database using the dbuser database user, complete the following steps:

1. Click Start  $\rightarrow$  Programs  $\rightarrow$  IBM DB2  $\rightarrow$  DB2Copy1 (default)  $\rightarrow$  Command Line Tools  $\rightarrow$  Command Editor.

2. Enter the text that is shown in Example 8-2 in the command area, which is based on the <br/>brokerage\_home>/db/db.sql file.

Example 8-2 Command area code snippet CREATE DATABASE BRKRGDB; CONNECT TO BRKRGDB USER DBUSER USING passwd; CREATE TABLE "DBUSER "."USERS" ( "USERID" VARCHAR(255) NOT NULL , "NAME" VARCHAR(255), "PASSWORD" VARCHAR(255), "ADDRESS" VARCHAR(255), "CASH" DOUBLE ); ALTER TABLE "DBUSER "."USERS" ADD PRIMARY KEY ("USERID"); CREATE TABLE "DBUSER "."STOCKS" ( "ID" VARCHAR(255) NOT NULL , "NAME" VARCHAR(255), "PRICE" DOUBLE ); ALTER TABLE "DBUSER "."STOCKS" ADD PRIMARY KEY ("ID"); CREATE TABLE "DBUSER "."USERSTOCKS" ( "ID" VARCHAR(255) NOT NULL , "USERID" VARCHAR(255) NOT NULL , "NAME" VARCHAR(255), "PRICE" DOUBLE , "QUANTITY" INTEGER ); ALTER TABLE "DBUSER "."USERSTOCKS" ADD PRIMARY KEY ("ID", "USERID"); INSERT INTO Users VALUES('srini', '6 Inch', 'cheemu', 'Madivala Bangalore', 10000); INSERT INTO Users VALUES('j2ee', 'Lee Whittaker', 'password', 'Tampa Florida', 100000); INSERT INTO userstocks VALUES('00000001', 'j2ee', 'BTDA',1,10);

INSERT INTO stocks VALUES('00000001','BTDA',1.00);

```
INSERT INTO stocks VALUES('00000002', 'Hitech Software', 2.00);
INSERT INTO stocks VALUES('00000003','Bill s Cold Storage',3.00);
INSERT INTO stocks VALUES('00000004','Colonel s Fried Chicken',300.00);
INSERT INTO stocks VALUES('00000005', 'Toyo Motors', 30.00);
INSERT INTO stocks VALUES('00000006', 'Timbuctoo Airlines', 53.00);
INSERT INTO stocks VALUES('00000007', 'Happy Undertakers',73.00);
INSERT INTO stocks VALUES('00000008','Wacko Brothers',54.00);
INSERT INTO stocks VALUES('00000009','Mental Studios',456.00);
INSERT INTO stocks VALUES('00000013', 'ASFG', 54.89);
INSERT INTO stocks VALUES('00000023', 'BFG', 564.50);
INSERT INTO stocks VALUES('00000033', 'Mack', 3444.50);
INSERT INTO stocks VALUES('00000043', 'Ronan & Sons', 7.50);
INSERT INTO stocks VALUES('00000053', 'Bulls & Bears', 553.40);
INSERT INTO stocks VALUES('00000343', 'HGHU', 456.00);
INSERT INTO stocks VALUES('00000603','TTTM',77.00);
INSERT INTO stocks VALUES('00000463', 'GRASF', 88.00);
COMMIT WORK;
CONNECT RESET;
```

TERMINATE;

3. Click **Execute**. A progress indicator is displayed. After the operations are completed, the results view displays the output (Figure 8-15).

🗊 Command Editor 5 - DB2COPY1	_ 🗆 ×
Command Editor Selected Edit View Tools Help	
Commands	
▶ ■ Target Add 🖾 😂 🛱 🐇 🏝 🕅 🖋 🗈 🚺	
CREATE DATABASE BRKRGDB;	<u>^</u>
CONNECT TO BRKRGDE USER DEUSER USING passwd;	
CREATE TABLE "DBUSER "."USERS" ( "USERID" VARCHAR(255) NOT NULL , "NAME" VARCHAR(255) , "PASSWORD" VARCHAR(255) , "ADDRESS" VARCHAR(255) , "CASH" DOUBLE ) ;	
ALTER TABLE "DBUSER ". "USERS" ADD PRIMARY KEY ("USERID");	•
COMMIT WORK	<b></b>
DB200001 The SQL command completed successfully.	
CONNECT RESET DB20000I The SQL command completed successfully.	
TERMINATE DB20000I The TERMINATE command completed successfully.	
	▼ ▶
Statement termination character	

Figure 8-15 Creating the brkrgdb database for the sample application

# 8.5.4 Importing the EAR file and source code to Rational Application Developer

There are several alternatives for importing components in the HAR files in to our project:

- Reuse the generated HAR file in its binary form. Choose this alternative if you prefer to use other means of generating HAR files rather than Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software.
- Create a utility module that contains contents of the HAR file, and on the web module add a dependency to this project. This alternative migrates all source code to Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software as a second alternative, while keeping persistence-related classes at a separate place. This action is the main reason for using a HAR file.
- Import the contents of the HAR file (in our case, the com.dev.trade.bo package and hbm.xml files) in to a web module with other source code. This action results in a simpler project structure, as the web module contains all the source code.

In the following procedures, we demonstrate the second alternative. To do so, complete the following steps:

- Start Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software by clicking Start → IBM Software Delivery Platform → IBM Rational Application Developer 8.5 → IBM Rational Application Developer.
- Start the Import wizard by clicking File → Import. Expand the Java EE node in the import source tree and select the EAR file.
- 3. In the Enterprise Application Import window, browse to the location of the EAR file at <br/><br/><br/>chome>/jboss-artifact/brokerage.ear. Click **Finish**.
- 4. Upon inspection, you might see that the brokerage\_WEB module imported classes under Java Resources/Libraries/Web App Libraries/ ImportedClasses. We import the source files of these classes to the Java Resources/src folder in the same module and remove the class files from the project. Figure 8-16 shows the module structure before and after source code importation.



Figure 8-16 brokerage\_WEB module before and after the source code import

- 5. Click the **Java Resources/src** node in the brokerage\_WEB module, and click **File** → **Import** from the main menu.
- In the Import window, click General → File System. The File system import window is displayed. Browse to the C:\brokerage\src folder and import the source code (Figure 8-17).

**Importing source code:** We are not importing the com.dev.trade.bo package source code, as this package is packaged into the brokerage.har file, and is not a part of the web module.

O Import				<u>_ 0 ×</u>
File system Please specify folder				
From directory: C:\brokerage\src C:\brokerage\s				Browse
Filter Types Select All Deselect All				
Into folder:				Browse
Options Overwrite existing resources without warning Create complete folder structure Advanced >>				
?	< Back	Next >	Finish	Cancel

Figure 8-17 Importing source code files to brokerage\_WEB module

 Delete the packages under the Java Resources/Libraries/Web App Libraries/ ImportedClasses node by selecting them and then selecting **Delete**. Confirm the deletion. The project structure should now look like the right pane of Figure 8-16 on page 258.

### Checking the project using the Application Migration Tool

To run the Application Migration Tool on our example project, complete the following steps:

- Click the brokerage application module. Right-click and select Software Analyzer → Software Analyzer Configurations. The Software Analyzer Configurations window opens. In the left pane, right-click Software Analyzer and select New.
- 2. Click the Rules tab. Select JBoss Application Migration in the rule set drop-down menu.

- 3. Click **Set...** The respective rules become selected in the Analysis Rules and Domains area. You see the dialog to choose WebSphere Application Server V8.5 after you click **Set...**
- 4. Click **Analyze**. After the analysis is complete, the Software Analyzer Results view opens, and is attached to the bottom pane. Inside the Software Analyzer Results view, you can see a tab for each domain of analysis. In our example, there are tabs are named Java Code Review, XML File Review, and Class-path Review.
- 5. Expand the **Java Code Review** section and the results in this section. Note the "Check for Hibernate framework" warning. You are going to perform some changes in the next part to make the Hibernate framework run on the WebSphere Application Server. See Figure 8-18.

JSP Code Review XML File Review Java Code Review Class-Path Re	eview	
		≱ 🖪 🔒
A Grand for the Ultransite formation [1 result in 50ms]		
Check for the Hibernate framework [1 result in Soms]     HibernateUtil, java:3 Check for the Hibernate framework	rb	
	View Result	
	Ignore Result	
	Quick Fix All	
	Quick Fix All Category	

Figure 8-18 Java Code Review section

 Expand the XML file review section and the results in this section. Under Use WebSphere bindings to define resource reference names, right-click jboss-web.xml:5 found in brokerage\_WEB and select Quick Fix. See Figure 8-19.

JSP Code Review XML File Review Java Code Review Class-Path Review	
	<u>ب</u> ه پ
🖃 😥 JBoss to WebSphere deployment descriptor migration [4 results in 13ms]	
⊟@ JBoss-specific files [2 results in 13ms]	
😑 📲 🗓 Do not use jboss-app.xml file [1 result in 11ms]	
🖃 🖳 Do not use jboss-web.xml file [1 result in 2ms]	
🛱 🖓 🔄 Use WebSphere bindings to define resource reference names [1 result in 0ms]	
www.jboss-web.xml:S found in brokerage_VICP	
E-Val Use WebSphere extensions to define web View Result s]	
jboss-web.xml:3 found in brokerage_V	
OE         Quick Fix Preview	
🖓 🗍 Quick Fix All Category	
Ignore Result	

Figure 8-19 XML File Review section
- 7. Right-click **jboss-web.xml:5 found in brokerage\_WEB** and select **Quick Fix All**. See Figure 8-19 on page 260.
- 8. Under Use WebSphere extensions to define web module context root, right-click jboss-web.xml:3 found in brokerage\_WEB and select Quick Fix.

**Processing:** Running Quick Fix for these two rules migrates a JNDI name in the WebSphere bindings file and the web module context root in the WebSphere web module extension file.

After you complete the quick fixes and verifying that you do not need anything else from these JBoss extensions, you can delete jboss-app.xml and jboss-web.xml.

- Remove the jboss-app.xml file by selecting myproject\META-INF\jboss-app.xml and clicking Delete.
- 10.Remove the jboss-app.xml file by selecting **myproject\META-INF\jboss-web.xml** and clicking **Delete**.
- 11. Run the Software Analyzer again to ensure that no more warnings are generated.

#### 8.5.5 Analyzing and fixing the problems

Here the procedures to analyze and fix migration problems.

#### Fixing compile time and runtime dependencies

As shown in the right pane of Figure 8-16 on page 258, there are compile time errors (flagged with red cross icons) on several classes. These errors are caused by missing third-party libraries, such as Hibernate. Also, in our example, we are missing the dependency to the resources that are packaged in the HAR archive.

To fix the compile time and runtime dependencies, complete the following steps:

1. Download the Hibernate distribution that is found at:

http://sourceforge.net/projects/hibernate/files/

At the time of the writing of this book, the latest version was 4.1.3.Final. Extract the file to a suitable location. We refer to this location as <hibernate\_home> in our example.

2. Download the SLF4J distribution found at:

http://www.slf4j.org/download.html

At the time of the writing of this book, the latest version was 1.6.4. Extract the file to a suitable location. We refer to this location as  $<slf4j_home>$  in our example.

- Select the brokerage\_WEB/ WebContent/ WEB\_INF/ lib folder. Right-click the selection and select Import. The Import wizard is displayed.
- Click General → File System as the source and click Next. The File System window opens.

5. Click **Browse** and navigate to the folder that contains the library and select the library to import. Do this step for each library that is shown in Table 8-2.

Location	Library
<hibernate_home></hibernate_home>	hibernate-core-4.1.3.Final.jar
<hibernate_home lib="" required<="" td=""><td>antlr-2.7.7.jar</td></hibernate_home>	antlr-2.7.7.jar
<hibernate_home lib="" required<="" td=""><td>dom4j-1.6.1.jar</td></hibernate_home>	dom4j-1.6.1.jar
<hibernate_home lib="" required<="" td=""><td>javassist-3.15.0-GA.jar</td></hibernate_home>	javassist-3.15.0-GA.jar
<slf4j_home></slf4j_home>	slf4j-api-1.6.4.jar
<slf4j_home></slf4j_home>	sl4j-simple-1.6.4.jar

Table 8-2 Required libraries

- 6. To establish dependencies to resources in the HAR archive, rename the brokerage.har file in the brokerage application module root directory to brokerage.jar, by right-clicking this node and selecting **Rename**.
- 7. Open the brokerage\_WEB module properties by pressing Alt+Enter with this node selected.
- 8. Click Java EE Module Dependencies, and switch to the Web Libraries tab on this view.
- 9. Click Add Jars. The Jar Selection window opens.
- 10. Select brokerage/brokerage.jar and click OK. See Figure 8-20.

OProperties for brokerage_WE	3	
type filter text	Java EE Module Dependencies	$\leftarrow \star \Rightarrow \star \star$
Resource BeanInfo Path Builders Code Coverage Crystal Reports File Versions Default Package Java Build Path	JZEE Modules         Web Libraries           This property page lets you add a Web Library dependence classpath entries. Archive dependencies will be resolved in web module at deployment time. Class folder dependencies: WEB-INF/classes folder.           Select the utility project, JAR or classpath entry to add as a select the utility project.	y to utility projects, JAR files or to the WEB-INF/lib folder of the s will be resolved into the a Web Library dependency
<ul> <li>Java Compiler</li> <li>Java Editor</li> <li>Java EE Module Dependencies</li> <li>Javadoc Location</li> <li>JavaScript</li> <li>JDBC Connections</li> <li>JSP Fragment</li> </ul>	JAR/Module Project	
Project Facets     Project References     Refactoring History     Run/Debug Settings     Server     Service Policies		Deselect All       Add JARs       Add External JARs
Target Device Settings     Target de Nuntimes     Task Tags     Task Tags     Torp JUnit Test     Validation     Web Content Settings     Web Project Settings     Web Colet		Add Variable
×		Restore Defaults Apply
0		OK Cancel

Figure 8-20 Adding a dependency to HAR resources

11.Click **OK**. There are no more compile time problems.

#### Fixing the Hibernate configuration

This section describes how to fix the Hibernate configuration.

**Tip:** JBoss Application Server automatically processes HAR archives and configures the session factories, effectively binding them to the JNDI tree for further usage by other parts of the application. Because this action does not happen automatically on WebSphere Application Server, we must configure the session factories ourselves.

The first step in this process is to come up with a hibernate configuration file (hibernate.cfg.xml). A file with a similar purpose is already present in the META-INF directory of the HAR file (hibernate-service.xml). By using information in this file and the list of hbm.xml files in the HAR file, we can come up with a hibernate.cfg.xml file.

To fix the Hibernate configuration, complete the following steps:

- Create a file in the brokerage\_WEB/Java Resources/src folder by right-clicking this node and selecting New → Other.
- 2. Click XML  $\rightarrow$  XML and click Next.
- 3. On the filename field, enter brokerage.cfg.xml and click **Finish**.
- 4. Add the code snippet in Example 8-3 as the contents of this file and save your changes.

Example 8-3 Changes to the file

```
<?xml version='1.0' encoding='utf-8'?>
<!DOCTYPE hibernate-configuration PUBLIC</pre>
        "-//Hibernate/Hibernate Configuration DTD 3.0//EN"
        "http://hibernate.sourceforge.net/hibernate-configuration-3.0.dtd">
<!-- name attribute is used for the JNDI name to be used for lookups -->
<hibernate-configuration>
   <session-factory name="java:hibernate/BrokerageSessionFactory">
      <!-- Datasource properties, tailored for DB2 -.->
      <property
name="connection.datasource">java:comp/env/jdbc/HibernateDB</property>
      <property</pre>
name="hibernate.dialect">org.hibernate.dialect.DB2Dialect</property>
      <property name="hibernate.default schema">dbuser</property></property>
      <!-- WebSphere specific properties -->
      <property</pre>
name="hibernate.transaction.manager lookup class">org.hibernate.transaction.Web
SphereExtendedJTATransactionLookup</property>
      <propertv</pre>
name="hibernate.transaction.factory_class">org.hibernate.transaction.JTATransac
tionFactory</property>
      <property name="jta.UserTransaction"></property name="jta.UserTransaction">
java:comp/UserTransaction</property>
      <!-- Mapping files (for each hbm.xml file in HAR file) -->
      <mapping resource="Stock.hbm.xml" />
```

The following points are related to Example 8-3 on page 263 require your attention:

- The name attribute of the session-factory element is used later for looking up the session factory.
- Because we are using IBM DB2 as our test database, we add the respective dialect.
- We add WebSphere specific properties that are related to transaction strategy configuration according to topic found at the following web page:

http://www.ibm.com/developerworks/websphere/techjournal/0609\_alcott/0609\_alc ott.html

- We add a mapping element for each hbm.xml file in our HAR archive.
- 5. Ensure that the Hibernate session factory that is defined in the brokerage.cfg.xml file is initialized properly before any part of the code looks up the Hibernate session factory using JNDI. The Online Brokerage application contains a single servlet that acts as a front controller, so a good place to initialize the session factory is the init method of this servlet.

**Tip:** For larger applications, using servlets to initialize session factories might not be a feasible solution. In this case, if you are migrating to WebSphere Application Server V7 or V8, use the startup beans. Startup beans allow business logic to run when an application starts or stops and gives you the opportunity to initialize session factories. Details about how to use startup beans can be found at following web page:

http://www14.software.ibm.com/webapp/wsbroker/redirect?version=compass&produ
ct=was-nd-mp&topic=tasb\_confstb

If you are migrating a large application to WebSphere Application Server V8.5, you should consider using the startup singleton session beans (EJB 3.1 specification). The capabilities that are provided with startup singleton session beans (EJB 3.1 specification) are preferred to the WebSphere Application Server proprietary startup beans function. Startup beans are supported in Version 8.5, but were depreciated in that release. For more information, see:

http://www14.software.ibm.com/webapp/wsbroker/redirect?version=phil&product= was-nd-mp&topic=tasb\_confstb

- 6. Open TradeDispatcherServlet.java in an editor by double-clicking it at **brokerage\_WEB/Java Resources/ src** in the com.dev.trade.servlet package.
- 7. At the init method, after the super.init(); line, add the following line:

new Configuration() .configure("brokerage.cfg.xml").buildSessionFactory();

The editor marks the Configuration class as not found.

- 8. Import the org.hibernate.cfg.Configuration class by pressing Ctrl+1 with the configuration selected and select this class in the drop-down menu.
- 9. Save the TradeDispatcherServlet by pressing Ctrl+s.

#### Creating the data source

As seen in brokerage.cfg.xml, our Hibernate configuration depends upon the existence of a data source with the JNDI name jdbc/HibernateDB. To create this data source, complete the following steps.

- Select the brokerage application module, right-click, and select Java EE → Open WebSphere Application Server Deployment.
- 2. Scroll down to the Authentication section. Click **Add** near the JAAS Authentication list subsection. The Add JAAS Authentication Entry dialog box is displayed.
- 3. Enter db2user for the alias, user ID, and description fields, and passwd for the password field. Click **OK**. The new authentication alias is listed in the JAAS Authentication list.
- 4. Scroll up to the Data Sources section and click **Add** near the JDBC provider list subsection. The Create JDBC Provider window opens.
- 5. Select IBM DB2 as the database type and DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider (XA) as the JDBC provider type. Click **Next**. The JDBC Provider details window opens.
- 6. Enter DB2 JDBC Provider (XA) in the name field.
- 7. Select the entries in the classpath section and click **Remove**.
- 8. Click **Add External JARs**. A file selection dialog box is displayed. Navigate to the C:\Program Files\IBM\SQLLIB\java folder and select the following JAR files:
  - db2jcc.jar
  - db2jcc\_license\_cu.jar

Click OK to add. The JDBC provider settings window looks like Figure 8-21. Click Finish.

🗿 Create JDBC Provider		
Create JDBC Provider Select the type of JDBC prov	ider to create.	
Name:	DB2 JDBC Provider (XA)	[
Description:	DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider (XA)	[
Implementation class name:	com.ibm.db2.jcc.DB2XADataSource	
Class path:	\${DB2UNIVERSAL_JDBC_DRIVER_PATH}/db2jcc.jar \${UNIVERSAL_JDBC_DRIVER_PATH}/db2jcc_license_cu_jar	Add External JARs
	\${DB2UNIVERSAL_JDBC_DRIVER_PATH}/db2jcc_license_cisuz.jar	Add Path
		Edit
		Remove
Native path:	\${DB2UNIVERSAL_JDBC_DRIVER_NATIVEPATH}	Add External JARs
		Add Path
		Edit
		Remove
0	< Pack Movt > Et	nich Cancel
	S DOLK NEXC > FI	

Figure 8-21 JDBC provider settings

The new JDBC provider is listed in the JDBC providers list.

- Click the new JDBC provider listed in the JDBC providers list to select DB2 JDBC Provider (XA), and then click Add in the data sources subsection. The Create Data Source window opens.
- 10.Select **DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider (XA)**. Click **Next**. The Data Source details window opens.
- 11. In the JNDI Name field, type jdbc/HibernateDB.
- 12. In the Container-managed authentication alias and Component-managed authentication alias fields, select the dbuser authentication alias that we created. See Figure 8-22. Click **Next**.

💽 Create Data Source	_	
Create Data Source Select the type of data source to create.		
Name	Data source 1	_
INDI name:	idbo(HibernateDB	—
Suprusing	miniter null - mayter null - DB2 Universal Driver Datasource	
Description:		
		-
<u>C</u> ategory:		
Statement cac <u>h</u> e size:	10	
Data source helper class name:	com.ibm.websphere.rsadapter.DB2UniversalDataStoreHelper	•
Connection timeout:	180	
Maximum connections:	10	
Minimum connections:	1	
<u>R</u> eap time:	180	
Unused timeout:	1800	
Aged timeout:	0	
Purge policy:	EntirePool	•
Component-managed authentication alias:	dbuser	•
Container-managed authentication alias:	dbuser	•
Use this data source in container managed	ged persistence (CMP)	

Figure 8-22 Data Source details

 The resource properties window opens. Define the databaseName and serverName values. Specify brkrgdb for databaseName. Similarly, define localhost for serverName. Click Finish.

The Data Sources section of WebSphere Application Server Deployment window now looks like Figure 8-23. Press Ctrl+s to save your changes.

Data Sources				
Allows the installed applications to access data from	databases.			
JDBC provider list:				
Name	I	Implementation Class Name		Add
Derby JDBC Provider (XA)	c	org.apache.derby.jdbc.Embe	ddedXADataSource	
DB2 JDBC Provider (XA)	0	com.ibm.db2.jcc.DB2XADataS	Source	Edit
				Remove
			Let a	-Komoro
Data source defined in the JDBC provider selected a	bove:			
Name		JNDI Name		Add
Data source 1	i	idbc/HibernateDB		Haann
		, ,		Edit
•		1	F	Remove
Resource properties defined in the data source sele	ted above:			
Name	Value		Туј 🔺	Add
databaseName	brkrgdb		jav	
le driverType	4		jav	Edit
in serverName	localbost		iav	Remove
Embedded J2C Options				
•				

Figure 8-23 Data Sources window of the WebSphere Application Server deployment

- 14. Attach the data source to the defined resource reference in the web module. Open the brokerage\_WEB module deployment descriptor in the editor by double-clicking brokerage\_WEB/Deployment Descriptor: brokerage.
- 15. Switch to the References tab and click Add. The Reference window opens.

16. Select **Resource Reference** and click **Next**.

17.On the References view, click ResourceRef jdbc/HibernateDB.

18.In the WebSphere Bindings section, enter jdbc/HibernateDB in the JNDI name field. See Figure 8-24.

References			۵
References			
This web application references the following resources:	Name: Description:	jdbc/HibernateDB	*
			-
	Туре:	javax.sql.DataSource	<b>-</b>
	Authentication:	Container	•
	Sharing scope:	Shareable	-
	WebSp The following a WebSphere Ap JNDI name:	here Bindings are binding properties for the oplication Server. dbc/HibernateDB	]
Addin Kenlove	JAAS login cor	nfiguration:	-
Overview Servlets Filter Security References WS Hand	ler Pages Variables	WS Extension WS Binding 😕	

Figure 8-24 Resource references for brokerage\_WEB

19. Save your changes by pressing Ctrl+s.

#### Building and running the application on an integrated test environment

The migration is complete and the application can be run on WebSphere Application Server V8.5. You can check how the migrated application works by using the integrated WebSphere Application Server V8.5 test environment.

To build, deploy, and run the application, complete the following steps:

 Right-click the brokerage\_WEB\WebContent\login.html file and select Run As → Run on server. The Run on server dialog box is displayed. Keep the default settings. Click Finish.

After the application is deployed to the test environment, an embedded web browser is displayed in the editor pane, showing the entry page of the application.

2. Test the application by registering a new user for yourself and buying and selling stock.

#### Importing HAR contents in to the source form

As mentioned in 8.5.4, "Importing the EAR file and source code to Rational Application Developer" on page 258, the configuration reuses the HAR archive in its binary form. You might also import HAR contents in source form in to Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software. To do so, add a project with the contents of the HAR file, and configure a dependency to this new project at the web module. This way, developers can take full advantage of Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software, and still keep persistence logic as a coherent unit, which is probably the intention for packaging this unit into a HAR archive in the first place. Complete the following steps:

- 1. Create a Utility project by right-clicking the brokerage application module and selecting New → Other. In the wizard selection window, click Java EE → Utility Project.
- 2. Enter brokerage\_persistence as the module name. See Figure 8-25. Click **Finish**.

🖸 New Java Utility Module 📃 🗌 🗙
Utility Module Configure utility module settings.
Project name:       brokerage_persistence         Project location          ✓       Use default location         Location:       C:\Documents and Settings\Administrator\IBM\rationalsdp\worksp         Target runtime          WebSphere Application Server v8.5          Configuration          Default Configuration for WebSphere Application Server v8.5          Modify       A good starting point for working with WebSphere Application Server v8.5 runtime. Additional facets can later be installed to add new functionality to the project.         EAR membership          Add project to an EAR          EAR project name:       brokerage         Working sets          Add project to working sets
Working sets:     Select       Select     Select       Cancel     Select

Figure 8-25 Creating a utility module

3. Import the com.dev.trade.bo package from <br/>brokerage\_home>/src in to the brokerage\_persistence/src folder using the import wizard. See Figure 8-26.

🗿 Import				
File system Import resources from the local file system	n.			
From directory: C:\brokerage\src	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	) Stock.java ) User.java ) UserStock.ja	IVa	Browse
Eilter Types Select All De Into folder: brokerage_persistence/src	select All			Browse
Options Overwrite existing resources without Create complete folder structure Advanced >>	: warning			
•	< Back	Next >	Finish	Cancel

Figure 8-26 Importing the source files in to the utility project

 Import the hbm.xml files from the <brokerage\_home>/hibernate folder in to the brokerage\_persistence/src folder using the import wizard. The utility module should look like Figure 8-27.



Figure 8-27 Utility module contents

5. Open the brokerage\_WEB module properties by right-clicking the module and s electing **Properties**.

 In the Properties window, click Java EE Module Dependencies. Switch to the Web Libraries tab. Clear the check box next to the brokerage.jar and select the check box next to brokerage\_persistence module. See Figure 8-28. Click OK.

OProperties for brokerage_WE	В	
type filter text	Java EE Module Dependencies	$\diamondsuit \bullet \bullet = \bullet$
Resource BeanInfo Path Builders Code Coverage Crystal Reports File Versions Default Package Java Build Path	J2EE Modules Web Libraries This property page lets you add a Web Library dep classpath entries. Archive dependencies will be res web module at deployment time. Class folder depe WEB-INF/classes folder. Select the utility project, JAR or classpath entry to	pendency to utility projects, JAR files or solved into the WEB-INF/lib folder of the indencies will be resolved into the add as a Web Library dependency
⊡ Java Code Style	JAR/Module Project	
Java Complex     Java Editor     Java EE Module Dependencies     Java Accition     JavaScript     JDRC Consections	brokerage_persistence brokerage_pe     brokerage/brokera	rsistence
- JSP Fragment		Select All
Project Facets Project References		Deselect All
		Add JARs
Server		Add External JARs
Service Policies Target Device Settings		Add Variable
Targeted Runtimes		
Task Tags TPTP JUnit Test		
• Validation		
Web Content Settings Web Project Settings		
		Restore Defaults Apply
0		OK Cancel

Figure 8-28 Module dependencies of web module

7. Delete persistence.jar from the persistence application module.

#### Summary

While migrating our sample generated application, we demonstrated the following concepts:

- Source a migration to Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software as a build and test environment.
- Several alternatives for organizing the project structure for Hibernate applications using HAR archives.
- Configuration of Hibernate for WebSphere.
- Using Hibernate for persistence requires transaction a strategy configuration specific to WebSphere Application Server.
- Initializing session factories is not automatic on WebSphere Application Server. You must explicitly initialize session factories by using startup beans or other means.

# 9

# **Migrating from Apache Tomcat**

This chapter describes how to migrate three Java EE web applications from Apache Tomcat 7.0.27 to WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile. There are several challenges that are associated with such migrations. One of them is the fact that Tomcat applications are often built on top of open source frameworks and libraries. The other challenge is that the development and build environment is often command line-based and uses Ant or Maven tools with no dependency on any particular Integrated Development Environment (IDE). We selected two typical Tomcat applications from http://www.sourceforge.net to reflect real world experience during migration, together with a third application that was written during the residency to show how to handle the migration of a more challenging application.

This chapter describes the following topics:

- Introduction
- Application Migration Tool Apache Tomcat to WebSphere
- IBM Redbooks Publications Sample Application
- MvnForum migration
- Easy JSP Forum migration
- Summary

**Legal disclaimer:** IBM does not warrant or represent that the code provided is complete or up-to-date. IBM does not warrant, represent or imply reliability, serviceability, or function of the code. IBM is under no obligation to update content nor provide further support.

All code is provided "as is," with no warranties or guarantees whatsoever. IBM expressly disclaims to the fullest extent permitted by law all express, implied, statutory and other warranties, guarantees, or representations, including, without limitation, the warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, and non-infringement of proprietary and intellectual property rights. You understand and agree that you use these materials, information, products, software, programs, and services, at your own discretion and risk and that you will be solely responsible for any damages that may result, including loss of data or damage to your computer system.

In no event will IBM be liable to any party for any direct, indirect, incidental, special, exemplary or consequential damages of any type whatsoever related to or arising from use of the code found herein, without limitation, any lost profits, business interruption, lost savings, loss of programs or other data, even if IBM is expressly advised of the possibility of such damages. this exclusion and waiver of liability applies to all causes of action, whether based on contract, warranty, tort or any other legal theories.

*Third-party* software is licensed and distributed to you by the *third-party* distributors and/or respective copyright and other right holders under their terms and conditions. IBM makes no express or implied warranties or representations with respect to such *software* and provides no indemnity for such software. IBM grants no express or implied patent or other license with respect to *and* is not liable for any damages arising out of the use of *such software*.

### 9.1 Introduction

Apache Tomcat 7.0.27 is an open source implementation of the Oracle Java EE web container. It implements the Java Servlet and JavaServer Pages specifications. Tomcat is developed by a community of developers under the umbrella of the Apache Software Foundation (ASF). Tomcat is widely used by many websites. It is popular for its small footprint, simplicity, and the many toolkits and frameworks that run on it.

Applications tend to grow over time and need a higher quality of service (QoS) and more sophistication than Tomcat can offer (such as centralized administration for clustered topologies, failover, advanced role-based security for users and administrators, script-based administration, advanced monitoring tools, portal infrastructure, page fragment and distributed Java caching, and transactions). Then, applications must be redeployed or migrated into enterprise-grade application servers, such as WebSphere Application Server, using either the full profile or the Liberty profile.

The transition to running applications on WebSphere Application Server can be made easier by using the Application Migration Tool - Apache Tomcat to WebSphere (Application Migration Tool). The toolkit provides the capability to identify common issues with migrating applications, and provides a number of automatic fixes (called *quick fixes*) to reduce the manual intervention that is involved in migration. Both Application Migration Tool and the WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty Profile Developer Tools (referred to as "the developer tools") can be installed independently into the Eclipse IDE for Java EE Developers Version 3.7, which is freely available from the Eclipse website. For this reason, we used Eclipse, with Application Migration Tool and the developer tools installed, as our development and deployment environment throughout this chapter. The three applications we selected for migration are:

- ► IBM Redbooks Publications Sample Application
- MvnForum
- Easy JSP Forum

# 9.1.1 Comparison of Apache Tomcat 7.0.27 and WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile terminology

Here we present some of the similarities and differences in terminology between Apache Tomcat 7.0.27 and WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile. The full profile and Liberty profile share common terminology.

Description	WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile	Apache Tomcat 7.0.27	
Configure a file of users and roles for security.	Creates users in a server.xml file using a BasicUserRegistry or LdapUserRegistry element.	Creates users in a tomcat-users.xml file using role and user elements.	
Mapping of JNDI naming to database drivers.	Creates JNDI mappings in a server.xml file using jdbcDriver and DataSource elements.	Creates JNDI mappings either in a META-INF/context.xml file in the application's WAR file, or in the server.xml file.	
File Monitoring.	Configures file monitoring in a server.xml file using an applicationMonitor element.	Configures file monitoring in a context.xml file using a WatchedResource element.	

Table 9-1Terminology comparison

# 9.2 Application Migration Tool - Apache Tomcat to WebSphere

Application Migration Tool - Apache Tomcat to WebSphere (Application Migration Tool) is part of the Migration Toolkit, which is described in detail in Chapter 4, "Installation and configuration of the Application Migration Tools" on page 89. Application Migration Tool can help you in the following areas when migrating Java web applications from Apache Tomcat (starting with Version 6.x) to WebSphere Application Server V7, V8, or V8.5 or a WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile.

- Apache Tomcat proprietary Java package references: Detect proprietary package references.
- Apache Tomcat JSP issues: Detect nonstandard JSP.
- Apache Tomcat context.xml file: Detect and migrate context.xml file entries.
- Preferred practices for Spring: Detect and migrate Spring preferred practice issues.

# 9.3 Prerequisites and assumptions

There are a number of prerequisites and assumptions you must consider before you begin the migration examples. You should be familiar with the Application Migration Tool as described in Chapter 4, "Installation and configuration of the Application Migration Tools" on page 89. You should also be familiar with the Java EE specification and architecture, and be able to understand and run basic SQL commands. You must also be familiar with Apache Tomcat 7.0.27.

The following software should be installed before you start the migration:

Java SE 6

For our example source environments, we use Oracle Java Development Kit (JDK) 6. It is supported by both Apache Tomcat 7.0.27 and WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile. However, the WebSphere Application Server V8.5 full profile supports IBM JDK 6 and IBM JDK 7. To demonstrate the migration of applications that are compatible with both the full profile and Liberty profile, we use the IBM JDK 6 that is provided as part of the IBM Installation Manager installation process of WebSphere Application Server V8.5. If it is not possible to use this JDK, or if you installed the Liberty profile from the archive installation process, you must install a supported JDK.

Apache Tomcat 7.0.27

This version is the latest version available at the time of the writing of this book.

► IBM WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile

Before you migrate to WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile, familiarize yourself with the sample applications shipped with the product. Also, examine the publications that are listed in "Related publications" on page 437.

IBM DB2 Universal Database 10.1

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile supports many databases, but for our example, we use DB2 for MvnForum in its source environment and all applications when using WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile.

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty Profile Developer Tools

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile Developer Tools (referred to as the developer tools) and the Application Migration Tool are used for all three applications in our example. For Easy JSP Forum, the official distribution available at <a href="http://www.sourceforge.net">http://www.sourceforge.net</a> does not use an enterprise package application model, so you must import the application into the Eclipse to create the EAR file.

Application Migration Tool

The Application Migration Tool is used throughout this chapter to analyze the applications that we migrate. The Application Migration Tool works best with the source code of an application, so, where possible, we scanned the source code and provided details of the results. For binary only packages, such as MvnForum, the Application Migration Tool provides information about the non-compiled elements, such as JSP and XML files. Although this information is useful, analyze the source code when possible, as it improves the ease of migration.

#### 9.3.1 Installation of Apache Tomcat 7.0.27

This section provides high-level steps and tasks for installing and configuring Tomcat to run our applications in their original environment. We chose to create our Tomcat server in Eclipse, as it best demonstrates moving an application from Tomcat to the Liberty profile from within the same IDE.

Detailed instructions for installing, configuring, and managing Apache Tomcat 7.0.27 are provided in the product documentation guides available at the following web page:

```
http://tomcat.apache.org/tomcat-7.0-doc/index.html
```

The following steps illustrate the process that we use to install and configure Apache Tomcat 7.0.27, and then to create a Tomcat server in Eclipse:

1. Download the Apache Tomcat 7.0.27 binary distribution from the following web page:

http://tomcat.apache.org/download-70.cgi

The file that is downloaded is apache-tomcat-7.0.27.zip (7.72 MB).

Extract all archives into the same directory (referred to as <tomcat\_home>):

C:\apache-tomcat-7.0.27

- 3. Open Eclipse.
- 4. Right-click in the **Servers** view and select **New**  $\rightarrow$  **Server**.
- 5. When prompted to select the server type, click **Apache**  $\rightarrow$  **Tomcat v7.0 Server**.
- 6. Click Next.
- 7. In the Tomcat installation directory, click Browse to navigate to <tomcat\_home>.
- 8. Click Installed JREs....
- 9. In the Installed JREs Preferences page, click Add....
- 10. Select Standard VM and click Next.
- 11. Click **Directory**, and navigate to the root of your Oracle JVM.
- 12.Click **OK**.
- 13. Provide a JRE name, for example, Oracle\_JVM.

**JRE name:** If this JRE name is used by another installed JRE, you might receive an error message that says that the JRE is in use. If so, you must provide a different name and be aware of this name when you perform the later steps.

- 14.Click Finish.
- 15. Click OK to close to preferences page.
- 16. In the JRE: drop-down menu, select Oracle\_JVM and click Finish.
- 17.Install the DB2 JDBC driver. The DB2 driver is used by our applications for connecting to IBM DB2 Universal Database 10.1. Copy db2jcc4.jar and db2jcc\_license\_cu.jar from the <db2\_home>\java directory to the <tomcat\_home>\lib directory.

#### 9.3.2 Installing the developer tools

To work with the WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile from Eclipse, install the IBM WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile Developer Tools. These tools contain adapters for use with the Liberty profile and provide useful developer productivity benefits. They are freely available from Eclipse Marketplace.

To install the tools into Eclipse IDE for Java EE Developers Version 3.7, complete the following steps:

- 1. Open Eclipse.
- 2. Click Help  $\rightarrow$  Eclipse Marketplace....

- 3. In the Search tab, enter Liberty or Liberty profile.
- 4. Click Install for IBM WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty Profile Developer Tools, as shown in Figure 9-1.



Figure 9-1 The developer tools for operating a Liberty profile server from Eclipse

- 5. After the dependency check is complete, click Next.
- 6. Review and accept the license agreement, and then click **Finish**.
- 7. If a security warning is displayed like the one in Figure 9-2, click OK.

💮 Secu	rity Warning
1	Warning: You are installing software that contains unsigned content. The authenticity or validity of this software cannot be established. Do you want to continue with the installation?
	OK Cancel Details >>

Figure 9-2 The security warning when you install the developer tools

8. After the installation is complete, click Restart Now.

#### 9.3.3 Creating a Liberty profile server

To use WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile, a Liberty profile server must be created. Each server contains a configuration and the required applications. Create the server in the developer tools by completing the following steps:

- 1. Open the developer tools.
- 2. Right-click in the **Servers** view and select **New**  $\rightarrow$  **Server**.
- Click IBM → WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty Profile. The other options can be left as their defaults.

- 4. Create the server. You have three choices:
  - If the Liberty profile is already installed (for example, as part of an installation of WebSphere Application Server V8.5), then point to the root of the Liberty profile runtime environment (this directory is the one that contains the bin and lib directories, for example, <was\_home>/wlp).
  - To use the archive installer from a local file system, click the Download or install link, then click Install a new runtime environment from an archive and click Browse to select the archive.
  - To use the archive installer from the IBM website, click the Download or install link, then click Download and install a new runtime environment from: and select WebSphere Application Server V8.5 download site. This website requires an IBM.com ID.

**Download or Install link:** If you install using the **Download or Install** link, this action requires further steps, including accepting license agreements and determining a location on which to install. We used the Liberty profile that we selected during the IBM Installation Manager installation process.

- 5. On the Liberty Profile Runtime Environment page, click the **Configure JREs** link.
- 6. In the Installed JREs Preferences page, click Add....
- 7. Click Standard VM and click Next.
- 8. Click **Directory**, and navigate to the root of your WebSphere Application Server V8.5 JVM (this root is in <was\_home>\java).
- 9. Click **OK**.
- 10. Provide a JRE name, for example, WebSphere\_JVM.

**JRE name:** If this JRE name is used by another installed JRE, you might receive an error message that says that the JRE is in use. If so, you must provide a different name and be aware of this name when you perform the later steps.

- 11.Click OK.
- 12. Click Use a specific JRE: and select WebSphere\_JVM from the drop-down menu.
- 13.Click Next.
- 14. To create a Liberty profile server, click **New** on the New Server window and provide the name of your server. We used server1, but any name using alphanumeric characters is valid. Complete this dialog box to create the server with a default configuration file, and click **Next**.
- 15. Click Finish on the Add and Remove page to complete the wizard.

Throughout the chapter, we refer to the root of the Liberty profile as <liberty\_home>.

#### 9.3.4 Installing the Application Migration Tool

Next, you must install the Application Migration Tool. For step by step instructions to accomplish this task, see 4.1, "IBM WebSphere Application Server Migration Toolkit overview" on page 90.

### 9.4 IBM Redbooks Publications Sample Application

The IBM Redbooks Publications Sample Application demonstrates the usage of the Application Migration Tool to detect and resolve problems in a more complex and difficult application. The application represents a process that might be required in a library, providing users with the ability to log in, view their borrowed books, search for and borrow a new book, or return a book. In addition, the foreground and background colors that are used on the page can be set on a per member basis. To enable easy testing of the application, there is a hidden test mode that the user can use to construct the required database tables and populate them with sample test data.

**Downloading the sample application**: For details about how to download the IBM Redbooks Publications Sample Application used in this scenario, see Appendix B, "Additional material" on page 435.

#### 9.4.1 Migration approach

To maximize the effectiveness of the Application Migration Tool, the application, including source code, is imported in to Eclipse. As we set up an initial environment using Tomcat, Eclipse IDE for Java EE Developers Version 3.7.2 is used as a development environment. To migrate the application to the Liberty profile, we install the WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty Profile Developer Tools into the same IDE.

#### 9.4.2 Configuring the initial environment

There are some steps that required to ensure that the application runs successfully. These steps include configuring access to import the application into Eclipse, configuring access to log JAR files, configuring Derby database support, configuring data sources, and configuring the security roles.

#### Getting the application

The application can be accessed from the IBM Redbooks publications FTP site. The application is made available as a compressed file that contains a WAR archive file. For downloading instructions, see Appendix B, "Additional material" on page 435.

#### Importing the application into Eclipse

To import the application, complete the following steps:

- 1. Extract the WAR file from the downloaded sample application.
- 2. From Eclipse, click **File**  $\rightarrow$  **Import...**.
- 3. From the Import menu, click **Web**  $\rightarrow$  **WAR file**.
- 4. Click Next.
- 5. Click **Browse** to navigate to the extracted WAR file.
- 6. Ensure that the Target run time is set to **Apache Tomcat v7.0**.
- 7. Click Next.
- 8. Click Finish.

#### Configuring access to logging JAR files

When we import the project, we set the target run time to Tomcat. However, this action does not add access to the tomcat-juli.jar file that Tomcat uses for logging, and so this access must be configured manually. To add tomcat-juli.jar to the build path, right-click the application's project in the Project Explorer view and select **Build Path**  $\rightarrow$  **Configure Build Path...** From here, switch to the **Libraries** tab, click **Add External JARs**, and navigate to the bin directory of the Apache Tomcat 7.0.27 installation. Select tomcat-juli.jar, click **Open**, and then click **OK**. This action flags an issue in the Markers view for classpath entry issues. This situation is expected and can safely be ignored.

**XML issue:** It is expected that the application has an XML issue in Eclipse (as show in the Markers view). This issue occurs because of the missing grammar constraints in context.xml. This issue is expected and does not impact the scenario.

#### Configuring Tomcat to support embedded Derby databases

Apache Derby is an open source relational database that is written in Java. We select it here because it provides a JDBC driver that is easily deployed in a test and development environment. To get the required Apache Derby files, download the correct version from the following link. The specific file is db-derby-10.8.2.2-bin.zip.

http://db.apache.org/derby/releases/release-10.8.2.2.cgi

After the file downloaded, extract the derby.jar file from the lib directory of the compressed file and copy it into the lib directory of the Apache Tomcat 7.0.27 installation.

#### Configuring data sources that are required by the application

Two data sources are configured within the application. One is for storing member data, the other is for storing book data. These data sources are pre-configured in the application's META-INF/context.xml file. These data sources need modifying only if the default database location (/temp/TomcatDatabase) must be modified. If you must modify the database location, find the relevant Resource element in the META-INF/context.xml file and edit the url attribute.

**Note:** The url attribute must still start with jdbc:derby: and end with ;create=true.

#### Configuring the global data source

In addition to the application-specific data sources, a global data source that records the background and foreground colors of the member's home page must also be specified. As data source is a global resource, it is configured in server.xml in the Tomcat configuration. To configure the data source, add the line that is shown in Example 9-1 to the GlobalNamingResources element inside the server.xml file of the Tomcat server. As we are using Eclipse, this file is under the Servers project in Eclipse. If the database location must be changed, it can be changed in the same way as the previous two resources.

Example 9-1 Required configuration of the required global data source

```
<Resource auth="Container" description="Derby database IBM Redbooks style Demo
app" driverClassName="org.apache.derby.jdbc.EmbeddedDriver" maxActive="100"
maxIdle="30" maxWait="10000" name="jdbc/globalStyleSettings" password=""
type="javax.sql.DataSource"
url="jdbc:derby:/temp/TomcatDatabases/styles;create=true" username=""/>
```

#### Configuring the required security roles

To use the test mode, a Test role must be configured. To configure this role, add the configuration in Example 9-2 to the tomcat-users.xml file in the Servers project in Eclipse. If you are not using Eclipse, this file is found in the conf directory of the Apache Tomcat 7.0.27 installation.

Example 9-2 The configuration that is required to add a user and a Test role

```
<role rolename="Test" />
<user username="test" password="your_password" roles="Test" />
```

#### 9.4.3 Deploying the application in Tomcat

The application is deployed directly from Eclipse to a running Apache Tomcat 7.0.27 server. This situation requires the Tomcat server to be associated with the same Eclipse environment. To run the application, right-click the project that you imported, and select **Run**  $As \rightarrow Run On Server$ , select your Tomcat server, and click **Finish**. This action starts the Tomcat server and starts a browser window that displays the main page of the application.

#### 9.4.4 Testing the application in Tomcat

To test the application, you must build the databases and create the test data. To accomplish this task, click the **Build The Databases** link in the main page of the browser window that is opened by your application when you deploy it. When prompted for login details, use the details of the user you created in Example 9-2.

**Performing test functions:** To perform any of the test functions, ensure that the inTesting environment variable is set to true. This variable can be found in the META-INF/context.xml file of the application. If this variable is set to anything other than true, creating the test database and test data is not possible.

After this action completes successfully, go back to the main page and click **Populate the Database with test data**. Again, this action requires a user in the test role, although if this action is done from the same browser window, it is likely your credentials are remembered from the previous action.

After this action completes successfully, go back to the main page, attempt to log in using a user ID of user1 and a password of password1, set foreground and background colors, and return a book. In addition, you can search for a book and borrow it. This test is satisfactory one in a development environment, but in a production environment, a more rigorous test process is expected.

#### 9.4.5 Migrating the application

Now that the application runs successfully in Tomcat, you can migrate to the WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile. We continue with the use of Eclipse as a development environment, as you can install plug-ins that you can use to perform tasks such as installation and configuration of WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile, and running the Application Migration Tool. Although we focus on the use of Eclipse with the WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty Profile Developer Tools installed in our example, the same steps can be performed by using IBM Rational Application Developer for WebSphere V8.5.

**Workspace:** In our example, we use the same workspace to migrate the application from Tomcat to the Liberty profile, highlighting tasks such as changing the targeted run time for a project. However, you should have a back-up of your workspace and application before you start the migration. Remove the application from the Tomcat server and stop Tomcat before you start the migration.

#### Changing the targeted run time of the application

In the previous sections, you added the application to Eclipse and set the targeted run time to Tomcat. To run the application on the Liberty profile, you must change the target run time to use the Liberty profile server that you configured. To accomplish this task, complete the following steps:

- 1. Right-click the project in Eclipse and select Properties.
- 2. Click Targeted Runtimes, select the WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile check box, and clear the Apache Tomcat V7.0 check box.
- 3. Click Apply and then OK.

These steps set the location where standard libraries are referenced from Apache Tomcat 7.0.27 to WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile. In addition, the JRE used to compile the application is changed from Oracle\_JVM to WebSphere\_JVM.

Lastly, the tomcat-juli.jar file should be removed, as it is part of Apache Tomcat 7.0.27. To do this task, open the **Java Resources** in the project, click **Libraries**, right-click tomcat-juli.jar, and select **Build Path**  $\rightarrow$  **Remove from Build Path**. These actions causes build errors, which are corrected by Application Migration Tool.

#### **Running the Application Migration Tool**

The task of migrating the application to work on WebSphere Application Server V8.5 can be simplified by using the Application Migration Tool. To configure the Application Migration Tool, complete the following steps:

- 1. Right-click the project and select Software Analyzer.
- 2. Click Software Analyzer Configurations....
- 3. Right-click Software Analyzer and select New, as shown in Figure 9-3.



Figure 9-3 Creating a Software Analyzer configuration

- 4. Provide a name (for example, IBM Redbooks Library Migration).
- 5. Set the scope to Analyze selected projects, and then select the individual project.
- 6. Click the Rules tab.

7. Click the **Apache Tomcat Application Migration** rule set and click **Set** (Figure 9-4). This action opens a prompt to select more detailed migration options.

Software Analyzer Configurations	X
Create, manage, and run configurations Select a range of inputs from the scope tab and at least or	e rule from the rules tab to create an analysis configuration.
Image: Software Analyzer       Image: Software	Name:       IBM Redbooks Library Migration         Image: Scope       Rules         Rule Sets:       Apache Tomcat Application Migration         Analysis Domains and Rules       Import         Export       Analysis Domains and Rules         Image: State Scope       Set         Image: Scope       Set
Filter matched 2 of 2 items	Apply Reyert
?	Analyze Close

Figure 9-4 Setting the rules for an Apache Tomcat migration

8. Set the Target application server to WebSphere Application Server V8.5, the Source Java version to Java 6, and the Target Java version to Java 6 (Figure 9-5).

Rule set configuration	×
WebSphere Application Server Migration Tool rule selection details	
Source application server:	Apache Tomcat Application Server
Target application server:	WebSphere Application Server V8.5
Final target is a Liberty profile server running on Oracle Java	
Source Java version:	Java 6
Target Java version:	Java 6
	OK Cancel

Figure 9-5 Settings for the configuration of the target WebSphere version, and the source and target JVM levels

**IBM JVM:** In our example, we ran this application on an IBM JVM, so we did not select the **Final target is a Liberty profile server running on Oracle JVM** check box. You should select this check box only if you are moving the application to the Liberty profile and using only the Oracle JVM.

9. Click OK, Apply, and then Analyze.

After Application Migration Tool finishes examining the application, the Software Analyzer Results view opens in Eclipse. This view highlights nine XML issues and 12 Java code issues.

#### XML file review issues with quick fixes

There are seven unique XML issues raised that can be automatically fixed:

► Avoid using a / in a web module welcome file name.

Welcome files are the pages that are served by the application server when a request is made that does not reference a specific resource. These files may not contain leading or trailing slashes, and so Application Migration Tool raises the issue because of the leading slash. The quick fix for this issue is to remove the leading slash.

Set the sharing scope on resource references.

The jdbc/Members resource reference is defined in web.xml, and does not contain a scope, defining whether the resource is shareable or not. The quick fix for this issue adds the Shareable value to a res-sharing-scope element in the resource reference definition.

 Use Java EE deployment descriptors and WebSphere bindings to define resource link references.

The ResourceLink element is used in Tomcat to access a global style settings data source. Resource links allow an application to use a different JNDI name to locate another JNDI entry. To achieve this setup in WebSphere Application Server V8.5, the quick fix creates a resource mapping in an ibm-web-bnd file.

**Java EE Servlet:** For applications using Java EE Servlet 2.5 or later, this file is an XML file; applications using older specifications generate XMI files. As the IBM Redbooks Publications Sample Application is a Servlet 2.5 specification application, it uses XML files.

 Use Java EE deployment descriptors and WebSphere bindings to define resource references.

All resource references must be defined in the deployment descriptor web.xml file. For applications that run on WebSphere Application Server V8.5, resource references should also be specified in the ibm-web-bnd file. The quick fix for both cases is to create entries in the ibm-web-bnd file, and to create or update the resource references in web.xml as appropriate.

► Use Java EE deployment descriptors to define context parameters.

The application uses a parameter that is called notifyOnGet, that controls whether a log entry is created if the main servlet is accessed through an HTTP GET request. A more portable way of accomplishing this task is to specify the parameter in the web.xml file. Therefore, the quick fix for this issue is to re-create the parameter in the web.xml file with the same value of true.

► Use Java EE deployment descriptors to define environment references.

The application uses environment entries to control whether it is in a testing mode. If it is, certain operations that build and populate test databases are visible; otherwise, they are not displayed. The quick fix for this issue re-creates the entry in the web.xml file.

► Use Java EE deployment descriptors to define missing security roles.

As a secondary protection for the test mode, the database cannot be populated unless a user in the user role of Test is used to log in to build the database. However, this security role should be listed in the web.xml file. The quick fix for this issue adds the security role, with a role name of Test defined, to the web.xml file.

#### Java code review issues with quick fixes

There are two unique Java code issues that have quick fixes available:

Avoid using the invalid context java:/comp.

When you use JNDI lookups, the correct way of accessing the JNDI namespace is to use the prefix java:comp. The quick fix for this issue updates the lookup to the correct value.

Do not use Apache Tomcat org.apache.juli.logging.

The application uses a JAR file in Apache Tomcat 7.0.27 to log messages. This JAR file is not exposed by default, and it is incorrect to use it instead of the more standard java.util.logging.Logger logging capability. Therefore, the quick fix updates all instances of the org.apache.juli.logging class with the relevant java.util.logging class, and updates the code to make the correct method calls.

#### **Resolving all quick fixes**

To resolve all issues that have a quick fix available, complete the following steps:

- 1. In the Software Analyzer Results view, select the Java Code Review tab.
- Right-click the Apache Tomcat to WebSphere code migration rule and select Quick Fix All Category.
- 3. In the Software Analyzer Results view, select the XML File Review tab.
- 4. Right-click the Apache Tomcat to WebSphere deployment descriptor migration rule and select Quick Fix All Category.

After these steps are complete, there is one XML result and four Java code results left. These results require manual investigation.

#### Manual adjustments

The remaining XML issue relates to using the context valve component. This component is an Tomcat specific feature, which is used in the application to generate a log of all HTTP requests that are made to the application, and the server's response. Currently, there is no equivalent feature available in the Liberty profile, although you can use the full profile to configure HTTP access logs. Therefore, although the logs are not generated, the warning can be ignored without affecting the functionality of the booking system. To flag the issue as ignored, complete the following steps:

- 1. Expand the **Apache Tomcat to WebSphere deployment descriptor migration** category in the XML File Review tab of the Software Analyzer Results view.
- 2. Expand the **Do not use the context valve component** rule.
- 3. Right-click the context.xml result, and select **Ignore Result**. This action tags the result as ignored and removes it for the reported results.

The next step is to update the Java code. Application Migration Tool highlights the usage of org.apache.tomcat.dbcp.dbcp.BasicDataSource in the DataSourceManager class. This usage is not compatible with WebSphere Application Server. To correct this issue, change the reference to javax.sql.DataSource. Using javax.sql.DataSource is more portable than the BasicDataSource, which is Tomcat specific.

To fix the issue of using Tomcat specific APIs, click **Java Code Review**  $\rightarrow$  **Apache Tomcat to WebSphere code Migration** and expand the rule labeled **Do not use Apache Tomcat packages and APIs**. This action opens the menu as shown in Figure 9-6. Double-click the result for BuildDatabases. This action opens the BuildDatabases class, and moves the cursor to the reported line. In this case, the application uses a Tomcat specific class when it outputs server version information, but this class is not critical to the application. To fix this issue, comment out this line. Currently, the Liberty profile does not provide an equivalent mechanism.



Figure 9-6 Results of running the Software Analyzer

The last two issues that are reported are checks to ensure that the correct context lookups are defined in the deployment descriptors. For lookups in the DataSourceManager class, the process of performing the quick fixes adds all the resource references to the web.xml file. For the BuildDatabases class, the quick fix adds this class to the web.xml file of the application. If the quick fixes were applied, you can now flag these results as ignored. To clear these results, expand the rule, right-click each result, and select **Ignore Result**. This action flags the result as ignored and removes it from the reported results.

**Deployment descriptor bindings:** You can see from the migration steps that the necessary deployment descriptor bindings are created, so you can ignore these tasks. When you analyze an application for the first time, these settings should be checked to ensure that the required deployment descriptor bindings are n created where they are required.

You can rerun Application Migration Tool by right-clicking the project in Eclipse and selecting **Software Analyzer**  $\rightarrow$  **IBM Redbooks Library Migration**. This action should return no results.

#### 9.4.6 Configuring the target environment

There are two configuration tasks that must be performed to set up the scenario:

- 1. Create the relevant data sources.
- 2. Create a test role in a user registry.

For our migration, we use DB2 as a back-end database. Using the application in test mode provides the necessary capabilities to create the tables required. The only setup that DB2 requires is to create the databases in the DB2 instance. You can create the database by running the commands in Example 9-3 on page 288.

Example 9-3 The commands that are required to create the necessary DB2 databases

db2 create db MEMBER db2 create db BOOKS db2 create db STYLES

#### Creating the data sources

After the databases are defined in DB2, create the data sources and JDBC driver by completing the following steps:

- 1. Open the Server Configuration window of the Liberty profile server from the Servers view in Eclipse. If the Source view is shown, switch to the Design view.
- 2. Create the Fileset Service:
  - a. Right-click the Server Configuration in the Configuration Structure window, and select Add → Fileset Service.
  - b. Provide an ID for the Fileset Service, such as DB2DriverFileSet.
  - c. Set the Base directory to the location of the db2jcc4.jar and db2jcc\_license\_cu.jar files.
  - d. Set the Includes pattern to db2jcc4.jar, db2jcc\_license\_cu.jar.
- 3. Create the Shared Library:
  - Right-click the Server Configuration in the Configuration Structure window and select Add → Shared Library.
  - b. Provide an ID for the Shared Library, for example, DB2DriverSharedLibrary.
  - Provide a Fileset reference that is the Fileset Service you created (DB2DriverFileSet in our example).
- 4. Create the JDBC driver:
  - Right-click the Server Configuration in the Configuration Structure window and select Add → JDBC Driver.
  - b. Set an ID for the JDBC driver, for example, DB2JDBCDriver.
  - Set the Shared libraries field to your Shared Library. In our example, it is DB2DriverSharedLibrary.
- 5. Create the Members data source:
  - a. Right-click Server Configuration in the Configuration Structure window and select  $Add \rightarrow Data$  Source.
  - b. Set the ID to MembersDS. This value is useful for debugging purposes, as it means that the Liberty server identifies this resource uniquely in output messages.
  - c. Set the JNDI name to jdbc/Members.
  - d. Set the JDBC driver to the JDBC Driver you previously created (in our example, this value is DB2JDBCDriver).
  - Right-click the MembersDS Data Source in the Configuration Structure window and select Add → Properties for DB2 JCC.
  - f. Click the Properties for DB2 JCC section to open it.
  - g. Set the Database Name to MEMBER.
  - h. Set the Server name to the host name of your server.
  - i. Set the User and Password fields as required.

**Password field editing:** The Password field cannot be directly edited. You must click **Edit...** 

- 6. Create the Books data source:
  - a. Right-click Server Configuration in the Configuration Structure window and select  $Add \rightarrow Data$  Source.
  - b. Set the ID to BooksDS. This value is useful for debugging purposes, as it means that the Liberty server identifies this resource uniquely in output messages.
  - c. Set the JNDI name to DefaultDatasource.

**JNDI name:** The JNDI name for the BooksDS data source does not start with jdbc/. It is important that the JNDI name is entered exactly as shown in the instructions, including case, or the application throws an exception at run time.

- d. Set the JDBC driver to the JDBC Driver you created (in our example, this drive is DB2JDBCDriver).
- e. Right-click the data source in the Configuration Structure window and select  $Add \rightarrow Properties$  for DB2 JCC.
- f. Click the Properties for DB2 JCC section to open it.
- g. Set the Database Name to BOOKS.
- h. Set the Server name to the host name of your server.
- i. Set the User and password fields as required.

**Password field:** The Password field cannot be directly edited. You must click **Edit...**.

- 7. Create the Style data source:
  - a. Right-click Server Configuration in the Configuration Structure window and select  $Add \rightarrow Data$  Source.
  - b. Set the ID to StyleDS. This value is useful for debugging purposes, as it means that the Liberty profile server identifies this resource as unique in output messages.
  - c. Set the JNDI name to jdbc/globalStyleSettings.
  - d. Set the JDBC driver to the JDBC Driver you created (in our example, it is DB2JDBCDriver).
  - e. Right-click the data source in the Configuration Structure window and select  $Add \rightarrow Properties$  for DB2 JCC.
  - f. Click the Properties for DB2 JCC section to open it.
  - g. Set the Database Name to STYLES.
  - h. Set the Server name to the host name of your Liberty profile server.
  - i. Set the User and Password fields as required.

#### Creating the security registry

Mapping the security role must be done after the application is added to the server configuration. However, the registry that contains the test role must exist. To create the registry, use a Basic User Registry in the Liberty profile server. A Basic User Registry is part of the server configuration, and consists of a set of users and roles that are stored in an XML structure. To create the registry, complete the following steps:

 Right-click the Server Configuration in the Configuration Structure window and select Add → Basic User Registry. Provide an ID of TestRegistry and a Realm name of BasicRegistry.

**Registry type:** Only one type of registry can be configured in the Liberty profile server at any one time. If you decide to set this application to use an LDAP server, the Basic User Registry must be removed.

- Right-click the Basic User Registry and select Add → user. Set the User name and Password to any convenient value. We use a User name of test and a Password of testpasswd.
- 3. Save the configuration.

#### 9.4.7 Deploying the application in the Liberty profile

To deploy the application, right-click the server in the Servers view and select **Add and Remove**. From here, select the application and add it to the server. Click **Finish** to complete this wizard.

The security role is not required to run the application, but without it, the test mode is inaccessible. To configure the test role to have access to the application, complete the following steps:

- 1. Open the server configuration by double-clicking the **Server Configuration** section of the server in the Servers view.
- 2. Right-click the application in the Server Configuration window and select  $Add \rightarrow Application Bindings$ .
- 3. Right-click the Application Bindings and select Add  $\rightarrow$  security-role.
- 4. Set the Security role name to Test.
- Right-click the security-role and select Add → user. For the User name, enter the name of the user in the Basic User Registry. In our example, it is test.
- 6. Click the Feature Manager in the Configuration Structure window.
- 7. In the Feature Manager Details window, click Add and select appSecurity-1.0.
- 8. Save the configuration.
- 9. To run the application, right-click the application in the Project Explorer view and select Run As → Run on Server and then click Finish. This action should open a browser on your system and point to the following URL:

http://localhost:9080/RedbookLibrary/

#### 9.4.8 Testing the application in the Liberty profile

To test the application, you must build the databases and create the test data. To do this task, click the **Build The Databases** link in the main page of the browser started by the application.

When prompted for login details, use the details of the user you created in the Basic User Registry.

**Testing:** To perform any of the Test functions, ensure that the inTesting environment variable is set to true. This variable can be found in the WEB-INF/web.xml file of your application. If this variable is set to anything other than true, you cannot create the test database and test data.

After this action runs successfully, go back to the main page and click **Populate the Database with test data**. Again, this action requires a user in the test role, although if this action is done from the same browser window, it is likely that your credentials are remembered from the previous action.

After this action runs successfully, go back to the main page, attempt to log in with a user ID of user1 and a password of password1, set the foreground and background colors, and return a book. In addition, you can search for a book and borrow it. Although this test is a satisfactory one in a development environment, in a production environment, a more rigorous test process is expected.

### 9.5 MvnForum migration

The MvnForum open source edition is used in this book. This application implements the bulletin board, also known as the forum. The product runs using most Java EE servers and most databases. In this book, we use DB2 as the back-end database. The MvnForum application works on Linux, UNIX, and Windows, and is implemented as a J2EE 1.4 web application. This application is distributed with the full source code under the terms of the GNU General Public License (GPL). It is an open source, powerful, easy to use, and easy to set up bulletin board (forum) built on Java EE technology (JSP and Servlet) that you can use at no additional charge to build your own discussion communities. MvnForum is compatible with any servlet containers that support JSP 1.2 and Servlet 2.3.

This application is an interesting one for migration for the following reasons:

- It is based on open source frameworks.
- It is designed to run on Tomcat, JBoss, WebSphere Application Server, and other Java EE application servers.
- It has never been tested on WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile.
- The application has a range of functions and is relatively large. It uses Java EE and Java SE functionality (such as JSP 1.2) with a number of custom tags, Servlet 2.3, and JSTL 1.0.2.

Overall, this application is representative of a typical ISV build if the ISV is using Tomcat or JBoss as its deployment platform.

#### 9.5.1 Migration approach

The MvnForum application is built with non-IBM development tools using Apache Ant as the build tool. The application must be enhanced in the future and it must support Tomcat and WebSphere Application Server as deployment targets. You must decide which tool to use to migrate the application and which tools to use to continue development of this application going forward.

For this particular project, we decide to import the application in to Eclipse after it is compiled, rather than importing the source code first and compiling within Eclipse. Here we take advantage of the application's pre-existing build process, which is developed by a team already familiar with the application and preferred practices in building it. When you test the application with WebSphere Application Server, we found that all the tested functionality worked as expected, so we are satisfied in this case. However, we did perform a scan of the source code, which we describe later. In addition, in the case of a migration for a production system, running the Application Migration Tool on the source of the application has a significant effect on reducing the complexity of a migration.

#### 9.5.2 Configuring the source environment

This section describes how we configure Apache Tomcat 7.0.27 and MvnForum to run in the source environment in our example. Instructions about how we installed Apache Tomcat 7.0.27, and details about the other steps that are required to run the applications that listed in this chapter, are described in 9.2, "Application Migration Tool - Apache Tomcat to WebSphere" on page 275.

#### Getting the MvnForum application

The MvnForum application is available from <a href="http://www.sourceforge.net">http://www.sourceforge.net</a>. To create a web application that can easily be imported into Eclipse and deployed to an application server, complete the following steps.

1. Download the mvnforum-1.2.2-mvnad-1.0.1-bin-20100817.zip file, which contains the files for the web application, from the following web page:

http://sourceforge.net/projects/mvnforum/files/

- 2. After the file is downloaded, extract its contents to a folder. We refer to this folder as <mvnforum app>.
- Create a compressed file with a WAR extension from the contents of <mvnforum\_app>\webapp\_mvnforum\_only. To do this task, open a command prompt, navigate to <mvnforum\_app>\webapp\_mvnforum\_only, and run the following command:

```
jar -cf MvnForum.war *
```

**The jar command:** We used the **jar** command to create the archive, as it is included in the JDK from Oracle and IBM, and can be found in either product's bin directory. However, any compression tool can be used if the resulting archive contains all the files and folders that are found in <mvnforum\_app>\webapp\_mvnforum\_only in the root of the archive (that is, they are not inside another directory).

The resulting package is ready to import into Eclipse.

#### Importing the application in to Eclipse

To import the application in to Eclipse, complete the following steps:

- 1. From Eclipse, click **File**  $\rightarrow$  **Import...**.
- 2. From the Import menu, click **Web**  $\rightarrow$  **WAR file**.
- 3. Click Next.
- 4. Click **Browse** to locate MvnForum.war in <mvnforum app>\webapp mvnforum only.
- 5. Ensure that the Target run time is set to Apache Tomcat V7.0.
- 6. Click Next.
- 7. Click Finish.

After the import is complete and the workspace is rebuilt, Eclipse reports a number of potential problems with the application:

- ► A number of broken links. These broken links are in the original MvnForum application.
- A number of HTML warnings about the usage of obsolete HTML tags. This usage is from the original MvnForum application.
- A number of reported JSP problems.
- Few Javascript Tasks. These issues are caused by "FIXME :" tags in the original MvnForum application.
- Few XML problems, including an error reported in a file that is downloaded from the following URL:

http://www.mvnforum.com/dtd/mvnforum\_1\_0\_rc2.dtd

These warnings and errors do not prevent the application from running in Tomcat or from using the Liberty profile, so they do not need to be addressed as part of the migration. The errors and warnings can be suppressed by configuring the **Markers** view. To do this task, complete the following steps:

1. Select Configure Contents... from the View menu, as shown in Figure 9-7.



Figure 9-7 The location of the View menu

2. Click New to create a configuration for the Markers view.

- 3. In the Types listing, find and clear the following items to suppress all the existing warnings:
  - Broken Link
  - HTML Problem
  - JSP Problem
  - JavaScript Task
  - XML Problem

#### Creating the DB2 database

The MvnForum application is compatible with nine database managers, including DB2. The table creation scripts are provided by MvnForum. To create the DB2 database, complete the following steps:

- 1. Create a database instance with the default options.
- 2. Get the mvnForum\_DB2.sql file from the <mvnforum\_app>\sql\_mvnforum directory.
- 3. Open a DB2 command window and run the commands that are listed in Example 9-4 to create the database and tables.

Example 9-4 Database creation commands

```
db2 create db MVNFORUM
db2 connect to MVNFORUM user db2admin using your_password
db2 -tvf mvnForum_DB2.sql
```

#### 9.5.3 Deploying the application in Tomcat

To deploy the application in Tomcat, complete the steps that are listed in the following sections.

#### Configuring the data source

To deploy the application to Tomcat, you must configure the data source that the application requires. To do this task, complete the following steps:

- In the MvnForum project in Eclipse, open the Java Resources section and then open the src folder.
- 2. Double-click the mvncore.xml file. If it opens in Design view, switch to the Source view.
- Update the properties that are listed in Example 9-5. The example shows the values that we used in our example; you might need to make adjustments to these values, such as for host name, user, and password, for your environment.

Example 9-5 Changing the mvncore.xml file code snippet

```
<driver_class_name>com.ibm.db2.jcc.DB2Driver</driver_class_name>
<database_url>jdbc:db2://localhost:50000/MVNFORUM</database_url>
<database_user>db2admin</database_user>
<database_password>your_password</database_password>
```

4. Save mvncore.xml.

#### Configuring Tomcat to run MvnForum in Eclipse

The MvnForum application has certain functions, such as sending activation emails to users, that rely on some specific properties of the deployment. They rely on the application being deployed to a folder called webapps and on the application having a current working directory that is in the same directory as the webapps directory. Although these properties do not cause any issues when they are deployed from the command line, they cause issues when the application is deployed from Eclipse.

**Migrating to the Liberty profile:** As is documented later in this chapter, you encounter similar issues when you migrate the application to the Liberty profile. Using relative paths can lead to inconsistent behavior across different application servers, especially when these paths involve paths outside of the application. Avoid this situation if possible.

#### Configuring the deployment path in Eclipse

By default, applications are deployed to a directory that is called webapps in Tomcat. However, when deploying applications through Eclipse, the deployment path is set to wtpwebapps. This setting causes issues with the MvnForum application.

To modify the deployment path, complete the following steps:

- 1. Ensure that the Tomcat server is running.
- 2. Remove all applications from the Tomcat server by right-clicking the server in the Servers view, selecting **Add and Remove...** → **Remove All**, and then clicking **Finish**.
- 3. Double-click the Tomcat server in the Servers view.
- 4. In the Overview, change the deployment path under the Server Locations window from wtpwebapps to webapps.
- 5. Save your changes and restart the server.

The application is deployed to a folder called webapps instead, which is what is expected by the application.

#### Configuring the current working directory for the Tomcat server

Apache Tomcat 7.0.27 sets the current working directory of a server process that is based on the current working directory of the process that started it. When you start the server from the command line, it is likely that this server process is in the bin directory of the Apache Tomcat 7.0.27 installation. However, when the server process is started within Eclipse, the current working directory is configured for each run configuration that is defined for the server, with the default being the location of the Eclipse application. To change this setup, the server configuration and the application run configuration must both be altered.

Complete the following steps:

- 1. Ensure that the Tomcat server is started and has no applications added.
- 2. Double-click the server in the Servers view to open the Overview.
- 3. From the Server Locations window, click **Use custom location (does not modify Tomcat installation)**.
- 4. Set the Server path to be a location on the file system, for example, C:\tomcatServerLocation.
- 5. Save the changes.
- 6. From the menu, click  $\mathbf{Run} \rightarrow \mathbf{Run}$  Configurations.
- 7. Click Tomcat v7.0 Server at localhost and click the Arguments tab.

- Change the Working directory radio button to Other, and click FileSystem to navigate to the webapps folder that is created inside your server location (C:\tomcatServerLocation\webapps in our example).
- 9. Click **Apply**  $\rightarrow$  **Close** and then restart the Tomcat server.

To deploy the application, right-click the project in Eclipse, select **Run As**  $\rightarrow$  **Run On Server**, and restart the server if prompted. After Tomcat and the application start, a browser opens and shows the MvnForum application.

#### 9.5.4 Testing the application in Tomcat

Log in to the application using the user name admin and password admin. In our example, we test the application manually, to verify all the functionality of the application. We log in to the application, and change the profile avatar picture and email address.

After that simple test, we check the log files and do not find any errors. This simple test was implemented to ensure that the application was up and running without configuration problems. For a production environment, perform more thorough testing.

You have successfully built, deployed, and tested MvnForum running on Apache Tomcat 7.0.27, which is its original environment. Having the application working properly on the source environment is the starting point for migrating it to WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile.

#### 9.5.5 Migrating the MvnForum application

This section describes the steps necessary for migrating the application from the source environment to the WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile environment. We use the same database in both environments.

The migration steps for this application do not include source code changes; instead, modifications are made to the mvncore.xml file to adjust the WebSphere Application Server data source, server address, and web container port number. In addition, you modify the mvnforum.xml file to support the altered current working directory. You must configure the Liberty profile server to install the application and to add support for the required data sources. Then, test the application.

# Changing the default connection pool to the WebSphere Application Server data source

When we performed the migration for our example, we moved in small steps. We changed the minimum number of properties before we moved forward to the next step. We tried to make sure that the baseline worked well (the application runs in Tomcat) and then we tried to deploy the same configuration to the Liberty profile server.

This technique is a useful one to isolate changes and helps control the migration. However, in this book, we are not taking you through all the steps in the exact order we used (we simplified the process and omitted the trial and error). Instead, we show you how to make all changes first and then build and deploy the application in one step. Usually, this process is an iterative one, but to simplify the description, we are not showing all intermediate deployments and builds that we performed.
Considering that the application works with DB2 using the default connection pool, you must change the connection pool mechanism. The default connection pool that is provided in MvnForum is not designed for production use, so you must use the WebSphere provided connection pool.

There are many benefits to using the WebSphere connection pool implementation. The connections are obtained through JNDI from the WebSphere data source and automatically participate in the container-managed transactions of the server.

To implement these changes, you must update the mvncore.xml configuration file. To use WebSphere Application Server data sources, you must change two XML parameters. The file is in the src directory of the Java Resources window in the MvnForum project in Eclipse. The required updates are described in Example 9-6.

Example 9-6 Define data source in mvncore.xml

**Defined properties:** We have only two properties that are defined here. These properties are the only ones that are needed by MvnForum to get connected to the database. The other properties can be left as the defaults.

When you develop an application, you generally do not know the name of the data source on the target application server. In your code, you do not look up the data source directly. Instead, you look up the resource reference in the java:comp/env namespace file. The JNDI resource jdbc/dsmvnforum is configured in the next section.

You also must modify the context path and server path to fit the WebSphere Application Server webcontainer context and port number. In our example, the webcontainer uses port 9080 and the default context path is /mvnforum/mvnforum. The trusted domains entry should also be changed to fit your environment settings, as shown in Example 9-7.

Example 9-7 Define paths and trusted domains in mvncore.xml

```
<paramoptions>
    <context_path>/mvnforum/mvnforum</context_path>
    <server_path>http://localhost:9080</server_path>
</paramoptions>
...
<mvncoreconfig>
    ...
    <allow_http_referer_prefix_list>
        http://localhost:9080;http://127.0.0.1:9080
        </allow_http_referer_prefix_list>
        ...
</mvncoreconfig>
```

## Configuring the application for running in the Liberty profile

One difference for the MvnForum application between Apache Tomcat 7.0.27 and the Liberty profile is the current directory that is used when you start the server. Although Tomcat uses the current directory of the process that started it, the Liberty profile changes the current directory to the root directory of the server that is started. The MvnForum application uses an entry in the mvnforum.xml file to determine where some of the other configuration files are on the file system. These other files include the template files that are used by the application to generate emails.

You must update the mvnforum.xml file to provide the location of these files when the application is installed using the Liberty profile, as shown in Example 9-8. In our example, we provide the location where the files are when the application is installed to the Liberty profile. This file is found in the same location in Eclipse as the mvncore.xml file.

Example 9-8 Updating mvnforum.xml with the location of the mvnforum\_home directory

<mvnforum\_home>apps/MvnForum.war/WEB-INF/mvnForumHome</mvnforum\_home>

**File locations:** For this scenario, we use the file location to which the files are placed by Eclipse. This scenario assumes that you use the default project name when you import the WAR file into Eclipse. If you choose to change the project name, you must update the mvnforum.xml file and use the new project name. By using this technique, you can avoid using an absolute path to the configuration file, which prevents the application from working if the location of the Liberty profile server is moved.

#### Checking for migration problems with Application Migration Tool

Although we have not imported the Java source code into Eclipse in our example, you can still use the Application Migration Tool to check for potential migration problems with the JSP and XML files that are part of the MvnForum application. To do this task, complete the following steps:

- 1. Right-click the mvnforum project in the Enterprise Explorer view and select **Software** Analyzer → Software Analyzer Configurations....
- 2. Click **Software Analyzer** and then click **New launch Configuration** to create a Software Analyzer configuration (Figure 9-8).

Software Analyzer Cor	nfigurations	X
Create, manage, and run configurations Select a range of inputs from the scope tab and at least one rule from the rules tab to create an analysis configuration.		
New launch configuration	Configure launch settings from this dialog: <sup>^</sup> - Press the 'New' button to create a configuration of the selected type. <sup>®</sup> - Press the 'Duplicate' button to copy the selected configuration. <sup>®</sup> - Press the 'Delete' button to remove the selected configuration. <sup>®</sup> - Press the 'Ellete' button to configure filtering options.             - Edit or view an existing configuration by selecting it.             Configure launch perspective settings from the 'Perspectives' preference page.	

Figure 9-8 Software Analyzer new configuration

- 3. Provide a name, such as MvnForum Migration.
- In the new Software Analyzer configuration, change the scope to cover MvnForum by selecting the Analyze selected projects radio button and then selecting the MvnForum project.
- 5. Now change to the **Rules** tab in the Software Analyzer Configurations wizard and select the **Apache Tomcat Application Migration** rule set. Click **Set...**.
- 6. In the Rule set configuration dialog box, set the Target application server to WebSphere Application Server V8.5, set the Source Java version to Java 1.4, and set the Target Java version to Java 6.
- 7. Click **OK** to close the dialog box.
- 8. Now click Apply and Analyze to run the analysis.

The analysis takes a few seconds to run, but reports no problems. This situation indicates that there are no detected migration problems in the JSP and XML files of the MvnForum application.

#### **Running Application Migration Tool against the MvnForum source code**

In our example, we decided not to import the source code of the application to avoid altering the established build process. However, as a separate exercise, it is useful to run the Application Migration Tool on the source code of the MvnForum application. The main reason to do this task is because it is considered the preferred practice for using Application Migration Tool. Scanning the source code allows a better examination of the application, significantly increasing the chance of discovering issues that might otherwise be difficult to trace.

We ran Application Migration Tool against both the mvnforum and myvietnam source directories with the same settings that we used on the binary application. This action highlighted a number of issues that we needed to investigate to ensure that they did not cause issues in our migration.

When you investigate an issue raised by Application Migration Tool, it is important to examine the issue so that it can be understood and the potential impact that it might have on the migration can be determined. We found a number of issues that required researching. These include changes to the Java EE specification, use of specific vendor packages, and missing metadata.

We discovered the that myvietnam source code uses a number of JNDI lookups that are not listed in a deployment descriptor. Defining resource references in the deployment descriptor is a preferred practice, as it enables the separation of JNDI names from the application and the server configuration. In this example, we were satisfied that the required data sources were already available and this situation would not cause any issues in our local deployment. In a production environment, it might be preferable to include the resource references so that the application deployment is easier in the future.

We also noticed issues with serializable classes. Serialization can be used in database persistence or network communication applications. Changes in serialization between Java 1.4.2 and Java 5 mean that there is a risk of problems when you migrate an application. In our case, we are not using a persistence model such as JPA (instead, Direct Access Objects are used to retrieve data from a database). We are also aware that our application does not require transmission of Java objects outside the JVM. As such, we determine that these issues do not affect our migration. In a production environment, where historic data might exist and communications between different systems might be more prevalent, this situation must be considered carefully, and the appropriate steps must be taken to ensure a successful migration.

By investigating the issues that are raised, we could determine the areas likely to cause issues to our migration. After we analyzed the issues, we decided we were happy to use the application without any changes. We see this situation as a beneficial exercise, as it enabled us to act to address issues before we attempted a deployment.

When you migrate any application, any potential issues that are highlighted by the Application Migration Tool should be investigated and researched thoroughly. These actions provide a good understanding of potential problems and how they should be addressed.

# 9.5.6 Configuring the target environment

There are two main tasks that are required to configure the application:

- ► Configure the developer tools to allow direct deployment of applications.
- ► Configure the data sources that are required to communicate with back-end databases.

#### Configuring direct deployment of applications

As MvnForum reads files from the Liberty profile server's apps directory, you must configure the Liberty profile server definition so that all of the application's files are copied to the server. To do this task, select the Liberty profile server in the Servers view and click **Open**. The overview page for the server opens. Clear the **Run applications directly from the workspace** option and save the overview.

**Using options:** The **Run applications directly from the workspace** option allows file changes to be immediately reflected by a running server without the need for the file changes to be copied by the developer tools to the server. With this option not selected, any file changes take a short time to be copied by the developer tools to the server.

#### Creating a data source

Because we configured the MvnForum application to use a data source to access the database in our example, we use the developer tools to create the data source.

Complete the following steps:

- 1. From the Servers view, expand server1 and double-click the **Server Configuration**. This action opens the server.xml file. If it opens in Source view, switch to the Design view using the tab in the lower left of the view.
- You must enable JDBC support in the server by adding it as a feature in the server's configuration. Click Feature Manager and then click Add... in the Feature Manager details window. Select jdbc-4.0 from the list of possible features and click OK.
- 3. We are using the DB2 JDBC driver for our application, which requires two driver files, db2jcc4.jar and db2\_license\_cu.jar, to be referenced. Complete the following steps:
  - a. Create a Fileset Service by right-clicking **Server Configuration** in the Configuration Structure column. Enter the values that are shown in Table 9-2.

Parameter	Value
ID	DB2DriverFileSet
Base directory	Location of db2jcc4.jar and db2jcc_license_cu.jar
Includes pattern	db2jcc4.jar and db2jcc_license_cu.jar

Table 9-2 Parameters for the Fileset Service

- b. Create a Shared Library by right-clicking Server Configuration in the Configuration Structure column. Set the ID to DB2DriverSharedLibrary, and add a reference to DB2DriverFileSet.
- c. Create a JDBC Driver by right-clicking **Server Configuration** in the Configuration Structure column. Set the ID field to DB2JDBCDriver, and from the Shared Libraries field, select DB2DriverSharedLibrary from the drop-down menu.
- Create a Data Source by right-clicking Server Configuration in the Configuration Structure column. Provide an ID of MvnForumDS, a JNDI name of jdbc/dsmvnforum, and set the JDBC Driver to DB2JDBCDriver using the drop-down menu.
- 5. Right-click **Data Source: jdbc/dsmvnforum** and add a Properties for DB2 JCC element. The values that we used are shown in Table 9-3.

Parameter	Value
Database name	MVNFORUM
Server name	localhost
Port number	50000
User	db2admin
Password	your_password

Table 9-3 Parameters for the Properties for DB2 JCC

#### 9.5.7 Deploying the application in the Liberty profile

There are two methods to deploy an application to a Liberty profile server. You can use the dropins folder or the apps folder. Both these mechanisms are acceptable in production. The dropins folder provides a deployment that does not require configuration in server.xml (application files are placed into the dropins folder in the root of the Liberty profile server), while the apps folder requires configuration in server.xml, but offers application bindings and classloader services. Both these mechanisms are available in development as well, with the developer tools deploying an application to the apps directory.

*WebSphere Application Server V7: Competitive Migration Guide,* SG24-7870 provides instructions on deployment to a full profile server. These steps are still accurate and should be used when you deploy to the WebSphere Application Server V8.5 full profile. For more information, see that publication.

In this case, we have only one application, which we stored as a project in Eclipse and all the necessary resources are already configured in the server. For this reason, the application is deployed through the developer tools.

To deploy the application, right-click server1 in the Servers view and select **Add and Remove**. From here, select the MvnForum web project and click **Add**. Click **Finish** and the application is deployed to the Liberty profile server. You can now start the server by right-clicking server1 in the Servers view and selecting **Start**.

You can then access the application by using the following URL:

http://localhost:9080/MvnForum

#### The Liberty profile server configuration and deployment

When the developer tools are used to make configuration changes, they alter a single XML file that is called server.xml, which is in the root of the Liberty profile server (by default, this location is <liberty\_home>\usr\servers\<server\_name>). The contents of this file should be similar to the contents shown in Example 9-9, although the file does not include other applications that might be installed.

Example 9-9 Contents of a Liberty profile server configured to run the MvnForum application

```
<featureManager>
	<feature>jsp-2.2</feature>
	<feature>jdbc-4.0</feature>
	</featureManager>
	<fileset id="DB2DriverFileset" dir="<DB2_driver_location>" includes="db2jcc4.jar,
	db2jcc_license_cu.jar"/>
	<library filesetRef="DB2DriverFileset" id="DB2DriverSharedLibrary"/>
	<jdbcDriver id="DB2Driver" libraryRef="DB2DriverSharedLibrary"/>
	<dataSource jdbcDriverRef="db2Driver" jndiName="jdbc/dsmvnforum">
		<properties.db2.jcc databaseName="MVNFORUM" password="your_password"
		user="db2admin"/>
	</dataSource>
	<application id="MvnForum" location="MvnForum.war" name="MvnForum" type="war"/>
```

To run the MvnForum application without using the developer tools, configure the server.xml file of your server (in our example, server1) to contain the contents listed in Example 9-9. Extract the MvnForum.war file into <liberty\_home>/usr/servers/server1/apps/MvnForum.war (ensuring that the directory name has ".war" at the end). Start the server by running the following command:

liberty\_home>/bin/server start server1

## 9.5.8 Testing the application in the Liberty profile

You are ready to test the application as you tested it when it was deployed to Tomcat.

Log in to the application using the admin user and change the avatar picture and email address. After that simple test, check the log files; you should not find any errors.

Once again, this test is not a complete test, and it is not used for a production environment, but it is good enough to know that the application successfully migrated.

# 9.6 Easy JSP Forum migration

Easy JSP Forum is an open source project that is hosted by SourceForge and licensed under the terms of the Sun Public License. This license has the approval of the Free Software Foundation (FSF) as a no charge software license, and by the Open Source Initiative (OSI) as an open source license. You can modify the application and distribute the source code by using software under the GPL license. Easy JSP Forum is a J2EE 1.4 application that demonstrates the capabilities of this platform. Easy JSP Forum implements the JSP 2.0 and Servlet 2.4 specifications. In the distribution code, the application connects to a Microsoft Access database under an ODBC data source. In this example, we migrate the Easy JSP Forum to a DB2 database under a WebSphere Application Server data source using a type 4 driver. Easy JSP Forum is included in this book for the following reasons:

- It is based on open source frameworks.
- ► It was designed to run on multiple application servers.
- ► It is not specifically designed to run on WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile.
- It is not set up to use DB2 back-end systems.

Easy JSP Forum is an interesting migration example because it is implemented with several technologies and requires both database adjustments and source code updates.

#### 9.6.1 Migration approach

To migrate the application to WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile, we used WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile Developer Tools in our example.

#### 9.6.2 Configuring the source environment

This section describes all the required steps for setting up the source environment. Follow the instructions in 9.2, "Application Migration Tool - Apache Tomcat to WebSphere" on page 275 to install the software that is needed in the source environment.

Easy JSP Forum is designed to run on Tomcat 5.x. To run it in Apache Tomcat 7.0.27, no extra steps are required. The distribution instructions show examples in Tomcat 5.x, but you should follow the steps exactly. In our example, we do not migrate to IBM DB2 Universal Database 10.1 in the source environment, but used Microsoft Access, as it is supported by Easy JSP Forum by default.

#### **Obtaining the Easy JSP Forum application**

Before you start the migration, obtain the source files for the Easy JSP Forum application. You can download the easyjspforum.zip file with all source files from the following web page:

http://sourceforge.net/projects/easyjspforum/files/

After the application is downloaded, it is extracted and imported into Eclipse.

#### Importing the Easy JSP Forum application into Eclipse

The Easy JSP Forum is not distributed as a WAR or an EAR file and is not compatible with the folder standards of the Java EE specification. The application cannot be imported directly into Eclipse. Instead, create a Dynamic Web Project in Eclipse and add the required files from the Easy JSP Forum application. To do so, complete the following steps:

- 1. Open Eclipse.
- 2. Click File  $\rightarrow$  New  $\rightarrow$  Dynamic Web Project.
- Enter a project name. We entered forum as the project name for our example. Ensure that the Target run time is set to Apache Tomcat v7.0. The other values can be left as the defaults.
- 4. Click Finish.
- 5. In the Java EE perspective, right-click the WebContent folder in the forum project and select **Import...** Expand the **General** list, select **File System**, and click **Next**.

- 6. Using the **Browse** button, navigate to the directory where you extracted the easyjspforum.zip file.
- 7. Select all the folders under the forum folder except for the beans and WEB-INF folders. Also, select the index.jsp and popup.jsp files, as shown in Figure 9-9, and click **Finish**.

**The WEB-INF folder:** In most cases, the WEB-INF folder is included in the list of files to import, as it often contains the web.xml deployment descriptor file. However, in this case, the file is not included in the application. During migration, you must create and edit a web.xml file, so you generate one when you must.

□ □ 🗁 forum ⊕… □ 🗁 beans	Installation_Win.txt
terrer css terrer constructions terrer constructio	V Popup.jsp
editor	
₩~₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩	
Filter Types     Select All     Deselect All	
Into folder: forum/WebContent	Browse

Figure 9-9 Files selection - do not select the forum folder itself

8. Now open the forum project and right-click the src folder in Java Resources (Figure 9-10) and select **New** → **Package**. Set the package name to forum and click **Finish**.

⊟* forum ⊕ 🔂 forum				
🗄 🖓 JAX-WS V	Web Services			
😑 😕 Java Res	ources			
🗁 🕮 src				
🕀 🔜 Libr	New		Proje	ct
🕀 🛋 JavaSo	Go <u>I</u> nto			
🕀 🗁 css 📑			@ Anno	tation
🕀 🗁 databa	Ope <u>n</u> Type Hierarchy	F4	🞯 Class	
🕀 😥 editor	Sho <u>w</u> In	Alt+Shift+W	Enum	
🗄 🗁 images				

Figure 9-10 Creating a package in the src directory

- 9. Right-click the new package and select **Import...**. Expand the **General** list, select **File System**, and click **Next**.
- 10.Using the **Browse** button, navigate to the directory where you extracted the easyjspforum.zip file.

11.Select all the Java files in the beans folder (Figure 9-11) and click Finish.

🖻 🗁 beans	<ul> <li>Boxes.java</li> <li>Members.java</li> <li>Threads.java</li> </ul>
Filter Types	
Into folder: forum/src/forum	Bro <u>w</u> se

Figure 9-11 Files selection from beans directory - do not select the beans directory itself

12. This action updates the package to forum.beans. To switch this setup back, right-click the forum.beans package and select **Refactor** → **Rename...**. Set the new name to **forum** and click **OK**.

The application is now successfully created in Eclipse.

#### Configuring the database

This section describes how to configure the Easy JSP Forum application to access the Microsoft Access database that is supported by default. No changes are required in the source code of the application.

To configure Easy JSP Forum to use the Microsoft Access database, complete the following steps:

- 1. Open the Data Sources configuration menu. Depending on whether you have a 32-bit or a 64-bit system, this process is different:
  - − For 32-bit Windows systems, click Start → Settings → Control Panel → Administrative Tools → Data Sources.
  - For 64-bit Windows system, you must run odbcad32.exe from C:\Windows\SysW0W64\odbcad32.exe.
- 2. Click the System DSN tab of the ODBC dialog box.
- 3. Click Add. Select Microsoft Access (\*mdb) and click Finish.
- 4. In the Database area, click **Select**. Go to <source\_home>\database\Forum.mdb.
- 5. In the Data Source Name field, enter Forum.
- 6. Click **OK** twice to leave the ODBC Data Source Administrator window.

# 9.6.3 Deploying the application in Tomcat

As the application is now in Eclipse, it can be deployed from here directly to Tomcat. To do this task, complete the following steps:

- 1. Right-click the forum project in Eclipse and select **Run As**  $\rightarrow$  **Run On Server...**.
- 2. Click Finish.

# 9.6.4 Testing the application in Tomcat

The Easy JSP Forum has no automated tests that are implemented with JUnit, JUnitEE, HttpUnit, or any other automated test tool. Therefore, you must test the application manually.

In our sample test, we browsed the application, signed in using admin as both the user and password, and edited the members (tasks such as changing the last name and email fields). We created a forum and posted threads on it and replies to the same thread. We change the current admin profile. Those simple procedures took us through the application with no errors. We checked the log files and did not find any errors or warnings.

You successfully built, deployed, and tested Easy JSP Forum in Apache Tomcat 7.0.27, which is its original environment. Having the application working correctly on the source environment is the starting point for migrating into WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile.

# 9.6.5 Migrating the Easy JSP Forum application to the Liberty profile

This section describes the necessary steps for migrating the application from Tomcat to the Liberty profile. The steps of this migration involve IBM DB2 Universal Database 10.1 database creation, WebSphere Application Server data source configuration, source code changes to connect to WebSphere Application Server data sources, and SQL syntax fixes.

The last part of this section describes how to configure the resources that are required by the Easy JSP Forum to run in WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile, and how to deploy and test the migrated application.

#### Creating the DB2 database

The Easy JSP Forum comes with Microsoft Access database. The IBM DB2 Universal Database 10.1 is chosen as the database back end for the migration. There is no database creation script that is provided with the application. In our scenario, we create the database and tables manually. You can also use tools to export the Access database to DB2. There is an IBM developerWorks® topic, *Migrating a Microsoft Access 2000 Database to IBM DB2 Universal Database 7.2*, that provides more information. The topic can be found at the following web page:

http://www.ibm.com/developerworks/data/library/techarticle/alazzawe/0112alazzawe2. html

To create the database and connect to it, run the commands that are shown in Example 9-10.

Example 9-10 Creating the EasyJSP database

db2 create db EASY db2 connect to EASY user db2admin using your\_password Next, create a file that is called easyJSP\_DB2.sq1 and copy the data in Example 9-11 into the file. This action creates the data structure and the initial sample data. After this file is populated, run it from the DB2 prompt by running the following command:

db2 -tvf easyJSP\_DB2.sql

Example 9-11 Creating the data structure and sample data of the EasyJSP database

```
-----
-- Creation commands for table "BOXES"
-----
CREATE TABLE "BOXES" (
      "BOX NAME" VARCHAR(100),
      "SORT DESC" VARCHAR(100),
      "BOX ID" INTEGER ,
      "MEMBER ID" INTEGER )
     IN "USERSPACE1" ;
_____
-- Creation commands for table "LEVELS"
-----
CREATE TABLE "LEVELS" (
      "GRADE" VARCHAR(100),
      "MIN POST" INTEGER ,
      "MAX POST" INTEGER ,
      "DESCRIPTION" VARCHAR(100) )
     IN "USERSPACE1" ;
_____
-- Creation commands for table "MEMBERS"
_____
CREATE TABLE "MEMBERS" (
      "MEMBER ID" BIGINT NOT NULL .
      "USERNAME" VARCHAR(100) NOT NULL ,
      "PASSWORD" VARCHAR(100) NOT NULL ,
      "FIRSTNAME" VARCHAR(100) NOT NULL,
      "LASTNAME" VARCHAR(100) NOT NULL ,
      "EMAIL" VARCHAR(100) NOT NULL ,
      "REGDATE" VARCHAR(100) NOT NULL ,
      "TYPE" VARCHAR(100) NOT NULL )
     IN "USERSPACE1" ;
-- Creation commands for table "THREADS"
-----
CREATE TABLE "THREADS" (
      "THREAD ID" BIGINT NOT NULL ,
      "BOX ID" BIGINT NOT NULL ,
      "PARENT ID" BIGINT NOT NULL ,
      "MEMBER ID" BIGINT NOT NULL ,
      "SUBJECT" VARCHAR(100) NOT NULL ,
      "POST TEXT" VARCHAR(1000) NOT NULL,
      "POST DATE" BIGINT NOT NULL )
     IN "USERSPACE1" ;
INSERT INTO MEMBERS VALUES
(1, 'admin', 'admin', 'Forum', 'Admin', 'fxavier@br.ibm.com', 'Fri May 07 10:44:38 ICT
2010', 'Administrator');
INSERT INTO MEMBERS VALUES (2, 'mod', 'mod', 'Forum', 'Moderator', 'dt@test.com', 'Fri
May 07 10:44:38 ICT 2010', 'Moderator');
```

```
INSERT INTO MEMBERS VALUES
(3,'member','Forum','Member','dt@test.com','Fri May 07 10:44:38 ICT
2010','Member');
```

The DB2 database setup is now complete.

#### Altering Easy JSP Forum to use data sources

The Easy JSP Forum code is not designed to use data sources. A source code modification is required to access the DB2 database. The application contains three classes that perform all operations:

- Members.java
- Threads.java
- Boxes.java

Add the snippet that is shown in Example 9-12 before these class definitions.

Example 9-12 Adding the required packages to access the data source

```
import javax.naming.*;
import javax.sql.*;
```

To connect to the data source, you must change the connection parameters. Example 9-13 shows how you should perform this operation.

Example 9-13 Changing the connection parameters

Comment out all entries of the following lines: // Class.forName("sun.jdbc.odbc.JdbcOdbcDriver"); // Connection con = DriverManager.getConnection("jdbc:odbc:Forum"); Add the following lines after the commented out lines: Context ctx=new InitialContext();

```
DataSource ds=(DataSource)ctx.lookup("jdbc/easy");
Connection con=ds.getConnection();
```

During our tests, SQL syntaxes did not work when they accessed the DB2 database. You must fix the queries so that the application does not show an exception. The problem in our case was the square brackets symbol between the fields. In Example 9-14, we fixed this problem by opening the files and removing the square brackets in the SQL syntaxes.

Example 9-14 Remove the square brackets in the following SQL syntaxes

```
File Boxes.java
Line 121 : String query = "INSERT INTO Boxes (box_id, member_id, [box_name],
[sort_desc]) " +
File Members.java
Line 75 : String query = "SELECT member_id FROM Members WHERE [username]='" +
username + "'";
Line 133 : String query = "INSERT INTO Members (member_id, [username], [password],
[firstname], [lastname], [email], [regdate], [type]) " +
Line 166 : "email='" + email + "' WHERE [username]='" + username + "'";
Line 211 : String query = "SELECT * FROM Members WHERE [username]='" +
"'";
```

```
File Threads.java
Line 220 : String query = "INSERT INTO Threads (thread_id, parent_id, box_id,
member_id, [subject], [post_text], post_date) " +
Line 244 : String query = "INSERT INTO Threads (thread_id, parent_id, box_id,
member_id, [subject], [post_text], post_date) " +
```

#### Checking the application with Application Migration Tool

To check if there are any other potential migration problems, scan the application with the Application Migration Tool. To do this task, complete the following steps:

- Right-click the forum project in the Enterprise Explorer and select Software Analyzer → Software Analyzer Configurations....
- Click Software Analyzer in the left pane and then click New launch Configuration to create a Software Analyzer configuration (see Figure 9-12).



Figure 9-12 Software Analyzer new configuration

- 3. Enter a name for the configuration, such as Easy JSP Forum Migration.
- In the new Software Analyzer configuration, change the scope to cover the forum project by selecting the **Analyze selected projects** radio button and then selecting the forum project.
- 5. Now change to the Rules tab in the Software Analyzer Configurations wizard.
- 6. Select the Apache Tomcat Application Migration Rule set and click Set....
- In the Rule Set configuration dialog box, set the Target application server to WebSphere Application Server V8.5, the Source Java version to Java 1.4, and the Target Java version to Java 6, and click **OK**.
- 8. Click Apply and then click Analyze.

**Java rules:** For this scenario, we are interested only in rules specific to our application migration. However, you can select all the Java rules if you want. We found that for Easy JSP Forum, the remaining rules generated no errors and many suggestions to use preferred practices. These items are the ones that we would choose to implement if possible, as they are designed to improve performance and stability where possible.

The results of the analysis report no problems in either XML or JSP files and 31 results for the **Ensure that JNDI lookups have corresponding deployment descriptor entries** option. Investigating these results shows that they are all due to no deployment descriptor entry for the JNDI lookup on jdbc/easy. As the web.xml file that contains the resource references did not exist in the original application, you must generate this file and populate it with the required resource reference. To do this task, complete the following steps:

- Right-click the forum project and select Java EE Tools Generate → Deployment Descriptor Stub.
- Open the web.xml file that is created in the WebContent/WEB-INF folder of the forum project.
- 3. In the Source view, add the information from Example 9-15.

```
Example 9-15 The resource reference to add to the deployment descriptor
```

```
<resource-ref>
<res-ref-name>jdbc/easy</res-ref-name>
<res-type>javax.sql.DataSource</res-type>
<res-auth>Container</res-auth>
<res-sharing-scope>Shareable</res-sharing-scope>
</resource-ref>
```

These actions do not remove the results that are shown, but you now have the definition that you needed to check for, so no further action is required.

#### Creating a data source

In our example, we alter the application to use a data source to access the database, so we use the developer tools to create the data source.

To create the data source, complete the following steps:

- From the Servers View, expand the Liberty profile server and double-click the Server Configuration box. This action opens the server.xml file. If it opens in the Source view, switch it to the Design view by clicking the Design tab in the lower left of the view.
- Add JDBC support to the server's configuration by clicking the Feature Manager and then clicking Add... in the Feature Manager details window. Select jdbc-4.0 from the list of possible features and click OK.
- We are using the DB2 JDBC driver for our application. This application requires two driver files, db2jcc4.jar and db2\_license\_cu.jar, to be referenced. To refer to these files, complete the following steps:
  - a. Create a Fileset Service by right-clicking Server Configuration in the Configuration Structure column. When you create the Fileset Service, use the values that are shown in Table 9-4.

Parameter	Value
ID	DB2DriverFileSet
Base directory	Location of db2jcc4.jar and db2jcc_license.jar
Includes pattern	db2jcc4.jar and db2jcc_license_cu.jar

Table 9-4 Parameters for the Fileset Service

- b. Create a Shared Library by right-clicking Server Configuration in the Configuration Structure column. Set the ID to DB2DriverSharedLibrary, and add a reference to DB2DriverFileSet.
- c. Create a JDBC Driver by right-clicking **Server Configuration** in the Configuration Structure column. Set the ID field to DB2JDBCDriver, and from the Shared Libraries field, select **DB2DriverSharedLibrary** from the drop-down menu.
- 4. Create a data source by right-clicking **Server Configuration** in the Configuration Structure column. Provide an ID of ForumDS, a JNDI name of jdbc/easy, and set the JDBC Driver to DB2JDBCDriver using the drop-down menu.
- 5. Right-click the data source jdbc/easy and add a Properties for DB2 JCC element. Provide the details for this element. See Table 9-5 for the values in our example.

Parameter	Value
Database name	EASY
Server name	localhost
Port number	50000
User	db2admin
Password	your_password

Table 9-5 Parameters for the Properties for DB2 JCC

#### Deploying the application

There are two methods to deploy an application to a Liberty profile server. You can use the dropins folder or the apps folder. Both these mechanisms are acceptable in production. The dropins folder provides a deployment that does not require configuration in server.xml (application files are placed into the dropins folder in the root of the Liberty profile server), while the apps folder requires configuration in server.xml, but offers application bindings and classloader services. Both these mechanisms are available in development as well. When you use the developer tools, you deploy the application using the apps directory.

**Deploying Easy JPSP Forum:** The previous version of this book, *WebSphere Application Server V7: Competitive Migration Guide,* SG24-7870, provides instructions to deploy the Easy JSP Forum application to WebSphere Application Server V7.0. These steps are still accurate and should be used if you deploy the WebSphere Application Server V8.5 full profile.

In this case, the application is created as a project in Eclipse and all the necessary resources are already configured in the server. For this reason, the application is deployed through the developer tools.

To deploy the application, right-click **server1** in the Servers view, and select **Add and Remove**. From here, select the forum project and click **Add**. Click **Finish** and the application is deployed to the Liberty profile server. You can now start the server by right-clicking **server1** in the Servers view and selecting **Start**.

You can then access the application by going to the following URL:

http://localhost:9080/forum

#### Testing the application

Because we do not have an automated test for our example, we must test the application manually, following the same steps that we performed to test the application that is running in Tomcat. Again, we signed in using admin as the user name and password, and edited the members (such as changing the last name and email fields).

We created a forum and posted threads on it and replied to the same thread. The current admin profile was changed also. This simple procedure took us through the application with no errors. We checked the log files and did not find any errors or warnings. The results were the same, so we can say that the application was successfully migrated.

# 9.7 Summary

This chapter provided steps to migrate three applications from Apache Tomcat 7.0.27 to WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile. To assist with this task, we used the Application Migration Tool. The toolkit provides useful instructions for simple applications, and it shows an even greater benefit when migrating applications that use many features and configurations specific to Apache Tomcat 7.0.27. In these cases, using quick fix processes and issuing highlighting enables a faster migration and a reduction in the complexity of the task. In addition to using Application Migration Tool, we also provided manual steps to address specific issues where required.

We addressed a number of issues that users might see with their applications, such as a difference between an application's current working directory under different configuration and different servers. We found that some interesting issues were uncovered by our testing process, a situation that is likely to apply to all migrations. In a production environment, you would expect a migrated application to undergo a thorough testing process to ensure that the migration is complete.

# 10

# Application Framework migration

This chapter describes the migration of two sample applications, one written for Seam and the other for Spring, to WebSphere Application Server V8.5.

This chapter describes the following topics:

- Migrating a Seam Framework application
- Migrating a Spring Framework application

**Legal disclaimer:** IBM does not warrant or represent that the code provided is complete or up-to-date. IBM does not warrant, represent or imply reliability, serviceability, or function of the code. IBM is under no obligation to update content nor provide further support.

All code is provided "as is," with no warranties or guarantees whatsoever. IBM expressly disclaims to the fullest extent permitted by law all express, implied, statutory and other warranties, guarantees, or representations, including, without limitation, the warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, and non-infringement of proprietary and intellectual property rights. You understand and agree that you use these materials, information, products, software, programs, and services, at your own discretion and risk and that you will be solely responsible for any damages that may result, including loss of data or damage to your computer system.

In no event will IBM be liable to any party for any direct, indirect, incidental, special, exemplary or consequential damages of any type whatsoever related to or arising from use of the code found herein, without limitation, any lost profits, business interruption, lost savings, loss of programs or other data, even if IBM is expressly advised of the possibility of such damages. this exclusion and waiver of liability applies to all causes of action, whether based on contract, warranty, tort or any other legal theories.

*Third-party* software is licensed and distributed to you by the *third-party* distributors and/or respective copyright and other right holders under their terms and conditions. IBM makes no express or implied warranties or representations with respect to such *software* and provides no indemnity for such software. IBM grants no express or implied patent or other license with respect to *and* is not liable for any damages arising out of the use of *such software*.

# **10.1 Migrating a Seam Framework application**

Seam is an application framework for Enterprise Java. In this section, we migrate a Seam 2 application as an example. More information about Seam can be found at the following website:

#### http://seamframework.org/

Seam distribution contains a utility called *seam-gen*, which helps you set up a Seam project from scratch. The script generates the project structure, including the skeleton code. It also can generate a fully functional create, read, update, and delete type application with a schema as a data source. We use this ability to generate our own sample application using a database schema with a single table.

We chose to migrate this application for the following reasons:

- A project structure that is created with seam-gen is representative of a well-designed Seam application structure. seam-gen is often used to start many similar real-world applications.
- It is a simple and complete application, and is good for demonstrating and focusing on framework-specific constructs without getting in to too much repetitive work for various modules and components.
- It uses older JSF 1.2 while WebSphere Application Server 8.5 support JSF 2.0, so we can demonstrate its usage using third-party JSF implementations.
- It uses Hibernate as a JPA 1.0 provider, so we can demonstrate the configuration of third-party JPA providers.

# 10.1.1 Migration approach

In this migration exercise, we use IBM Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software as the target development and build environment. The seam-gen utility also generates an Eclipse project that uses an Ant based build, which can be imported into Eclipse and IBM Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software. Because this alternative is already provided, we demonstrate how we can use the build cycle of IBM Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software instead.

The migration is performed by completing the following steps:

- 1. Assume that DB2 is already installed. Create a simple database schema with a single table on DB2.
- 2. Use seam-gen to generate a Seam web application that does create, retrieve, update, and delete operations on this table.
- Produce EAR files for JBoss and Glassfish. Import the EAR file that is built for JBoss to IBM Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software to create the project structure. Import source files into projects that are created from source distribution.
- 4. Analyze and fix problems that are reported by the build environment and the Application Migration Tool (We used Application Migration Tool - JBoss AS to WebSphere for the Seam Framework application scenario and the Application Migration Tool - Oracle WebLogic to WebSphere for the Spring Framework application scenario).
- 5. Deploy and test the application in an integrated WebSphere Application Server V8.5 test environment.

#### **10.1.2 Installing the Seam Framework**

Download the JBoss Seam Framework distribution from the following website:

http://seamframework.org/Download

We used Version 2.2.2.Final in our environment. Extract the downloaded file to a suitable location. We used C:\jboss-seam-2.2.2.Final as the directory.

Seam depends on Apache Ant for operation. For installation instructions for Apache Ant, see 8.3.1, "Installing and configuring Apache Ant" on page 237.

#### 10.1.3 Preparing the database schema

During the lab, we used a fresh installation of DB2 Express-C 10.1, which can be downloaded from the following website:

http://www-01.ibm.com/software/data/db2/express/

Because the seam-gen utility reverse engineers the database schema, ensure that the table you create is the only one under the current schema. If you are using a pre-existing installation, switch to a new schema before you complete the following steps:

1. Click Start and select Programs → IBM DB2 → DB2Copy1 (default) → Command Line Processor.

2. Enter the information that is highlighted in bold in Example 10-1 into the interactive script. Replace the database's user name and password with the ones for your environment.

Example 10-1 Code snippet

```
(c) Copyright IBM Corporation 1993,2007
Command line processor for DB2 Client 10.1.0
You can issue database manager commands and SQL statements from the command
prompt. For example:
    db2 => connect to sample
    db2 => bind sample.bnd
For general help, type: ?.
For command help, type: ? command, where command can be
the first few keywords of a database manager command. For example:
? CATALOG DATABASE for help on the CATALOG DATABASE command
                   for help on all of the CATALOG commands.
? CATALOG
To exit db2 interactive mode, type QUIT at the command prompt. Outside
interactive mode, all commands must be prefixed with 'db2'.
To list the current command option settings, type LIST COMMAND OPTIONS.
For more detailed help, refer to the Online Reference Manual.
db2 => CREATE DATABASE TESTDB
DB20000I The CREATE DATABASE command completed successfully.
db2 => CONNECT TO TESTDB USER DB2ADMIN USING passwOrd
  Database Connection Information
Database server
                       = DB2/NT 10.1.0
SQL authorization ID = DB2ADMIN
Local database alias = TESTDB
db2 => CREATE TABLE DB2ADMIN.BOOK ( \
db2 (cont.) => ISBN VARCHAR(13) NOT NULL, \
db2 (cont.) => TITLE VARCHAR(100) NOT NULL, \
db2 (cont.) => AUTHOR VARCHAR(100) NOT NULL )
DB20000I The SQL command completed successfully.
db2 => ALTER TABLE DB2ADMIN.BOOK \
db2 (cont.) => ADD CONSTRAINT PRIM KEY PRIMARY KEY \
db2 (cont.) => (ISBN)
DB20000I The SQL command completed successfully.
db2 => quit
DB20000I The QUIT command completed successfully.
C:\IBM\SQLLIB\BIN>
```

3. Close the command line processor.

#### 10.1.4 Generating a Seam application using seam-gen

Next, create a Seam web application that performs create, retrieve, update, and delete operations on the table you created. Configure seam-gen for your environment by completing the following steps:

- 1. Open a command prompt and change the directory to the Seam installation folder. In our example, the folder is C:\jboss-seam-2.2.1.CR1.
- Enter seam setup and press Enter. This command begins an interactive script. The responses for our example are in bold in Example 10-2. Where you do not see a response, press Enter to accept the default answer for the question. Replace the database driver path, user name, and password with the ones for your environment.

Example 10-2 Seam setup command interactive output

```
c:\jboss-seam-2.2.2.Final>seam setup
SEAM_HOME: c:\jboss-seam-2.2.2.Final
Using seam-gen sources from: c:\jboss-seam-2.2.2.Final\seam-gen
Buildfile: c:\jboss-seam-2.2.2.Final\seam-gen\build.xml
init:
setup:
     [echo] Welcome to seam-gen 2.2.2.Final :-)
     [echo] Answer each question or hit ENTER to accept the default (in brackets
)
     [echo]
    [input] Enter the directory where you want the project to be created (should
 not contain spaces) [C:/Projects] [C:/Projects]
    [input] Enter your JBoss AS home directory [C:/Program Files/jboss-5.1.0.GA]
 [C:/Program Files/jboss-5.1.0.GA]
    [input] Enter your JBoss AS domain [default] [default]
    [input] Enter your GlassFish V2 or V3 home directory (Ignore if you aren't d
eploying to GlassFish) [C:/Program Files/glassfish-v2.1] [C:/Program Files/glass
fish-v2.1]
    [input] Enter your GlassFish domain (Ignore if you aren't deploying to Glass
Fish) [domain1] [domain1]
    [input] Enter the project name [myproject] [myproject]
     [echo] Accepted project name as: myproject
    [input] Do you want to use ICEfaces instead of RichFaces? [n] (y, [n])
    [input] skipping input as property icefaces.home.new has already been set.
    [input] Select a RichFaces skin [glassX] (blueSky, classic, darkX, deepMarin
e, DEFAULT, emeraldTown, [glassX], japanCherry, laguna, ruby, wine)
    [input] Is this project deployed as an EAR (with EJB components) or a WAR (w
ith no EJB support)? [war] (ear, [war])
ear
    [input] Enter the base package name for your Java classes [com.mydomain.mypr
oject] [com.mydomain.myproject]
    [input] Enter the Java package name for your session beans [com.mydomain.myp
roject.action] [com.mydomain.myproject.action]
```

[input] Enter the Java package name for your entity beans [com.mydomain.mypr oject.model] [com.mydomain.myproject.model]

[input] Enter the Java package name for your test cases [com.mydomain.myproj ect.test] [com.mydomain.myproject.test]

[input] What kind of database are you using? [hsql] ([hsql], mysql, derby, o
racle, postgres, mssql, db2, sybase, enterprisedb, h2)
db2

[input] Enter the filesystem path to the JDBC driver jar [] [] C:/IBM/SQLLIB/java/db2jcc.jar

[input] Enter the filesystem path to the license jar [] []

C:/IBM/SQLLIB/java/db2jcc\_license\_cu.jar

[input] Enter the Hibernate dialect for your database [org.hibernate.dialect .DB2Dialect] [org.hibernate.dialect.DB2Dialect]

[input] Enter the JDBC driver class for your database [com.ibm.db2.jcc.DB2Dr iver] [com.ibm.db2.jcc.DB2Driver]

[input] Enter the JDBC DataSource class for your database [com.ibm.db2.jcc.D B2SimpleDataSource] [com.ibm.db2.jcc.DB2SimpleDataSource]

[input] Enter the JDBC URL for your database [jdbc:db2:test] [jdbc:db2:test]

```
jdbc:db2://localhost:50000/TESTDB
```

[input] Enter the database username [sa] [sa] db2admin [input] Enter the database password [] [] passw0rd

```
.
[input] Enter the database schema name (Enter '-' to clear previous value) [
] []
db2admin
```

[input] Enter the database catalog name (Enter '-' to clear previous value)
[] []

[input] Are you working with tables that already exist in the database? [n] (y, [n])

[input] Do you want to recreate the database tables and execute import.sql e ach time you deploy? [n] (y, [n])

[propertyfile] Creating new property file: c:\jboss-seam-2.2.2.Final\seam-gen\bu ild.properties

[echo] Installing JDBC driver jar to JBoss AS

```
[copy] Copying 2 files to C:\Program Files\jboss-5.1.0.GA\server\default\li
b
```

#### init:

```
init-properties:
    [echo] C:/Program Files/jboss-5.1.0.GA
```

validate-workspace:

validate-project:

settings:

```
[echo] JBoss AS home: C:/Program Files/jboss-5.1.0.GA
[echo] GlassFish home: C:/Program Files/glassfish-v2.1
[echo] Project name: myproject
```

[echo] Project location: C:/Projects/myproject [echo] Project type: ear [echo] IceFaces: n [echo] Action package: com.mydomain.myproject.action [echo] Model package: com.mydomain.myproject.model [echo] Test package: com.mydomain.myproject.test [echo] JDBC driver class: com.ibm.db2.jcc.DB2Driver [echo] JDBC DataSource class: com.ibm.db2.jcc.DB2SimpleDataSource [echo] Hibernate dialect: org.hibernate.dialect.DB2Dialect [echo] JDBC URL: jdbc:db2://localhost:50000/TESTDB [echo] Database username: db2admin [echo] Database password: passwOrd [echo] [echo] Type 'seam create-project' to create the new project

BUILD SUCCESSFUL

- 3. Run **seam new-project** to generate a new project. You should see a BUILD SUCCESSFUL message.
- 4. Run **seam generate-entities** to generate the components for our database table. You should see a BUILD SUCCESSFUL message.
- 5. Run **seam deploy** to deploy the application to JBoss Application Server. You should see a BUILD SUCCESSFUL message.

Our example application is now packaged as an EAR file in C:\Projects\myproject\dist, which we defined as our project directory during script execution.

# 10.1.5 Importing the EAR file and source code to Rational Application Developer

To import the EAR file and the source code to Rational Application Developer, complete the following steps:

 Start the Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software by clicking Start → IBM Software Delivery Platform → IBM Rational Application Developer 8.5 → IBM Rational Application Developer.  Start the Import wizard by clicking File → Import. Expand the JavaEE node in the import source tree and select EAR file. See Figure 10-1.

💽 Import	
Select Import an external EAR file into an Enterprise Application project	Ľ
Select an import source:	
type filter text	
General     Goud Application     Code Coverage     Cv5     Dec Cv5     De	
? < Back Next > Finish	Cancel

Figure 10-1 EAR import wizard

3. In the Enterprise Application Import window, browse to the location of the EAR file that is generated by seam-gen, which can be found at

C:\Projects\myproject\dist\myproject.ear. See Figure 10-2. The location of this file is determined by the choices we made during the seam setup script execution. Click **Next**.

🗿 Import		
Enterprise A Import an Enter	pplication Import prise Application project based on selected resources.	ē.
EAR file:	C:\Projects\myproject\dist\myproject.ear	Browse
EAR project:	myproject	
Target runtime:	WebSphere Application Server v8.5 stub	New
?	< Back Next > Finish	Cancel

Figure 10-2 Importing myproject.ear

4. Click **Next** on the Utility JARs and Web Libraries window without selecting any libraries.

5. On the EAR Module and Utility JAR Projects window, clear the check box next to the jboss-seam.jar. See Figure 10-3. Click **Finish**.

💽 Import		_ 🗆 🗵
EAR Module and Utility Enter the new project name that second column of the table for ea	JAR Projects : will be created for the imported module file by selecting the dit. Unselected modules will be imported as JARs in the EAR.	ē.
Modules in EAR	New Project Name	
jboss-seam.jar	jboss-seam	
myproject.jar	myproject_EJB	
myproject.war	myproject_WEB	
Select New	Select All Deselect All	
?	< Back Next > Finish	Cancel

Figure 10-3 Selecting EAR Modules during import

 Import the source files to the project structure. Upon inspection, you see that the myProject\_EJB module imported the classes. Import the source files of these classes to the ejbModule folder and remove the class files from the project.

Figure 10-4 shows the module structure before and after the source code import.



Figure 10-4 EJB module structure before and after source code import

- 7. Click the **ejbModule** node in the myproject\_EJB module and select **File**  $\rightarrow$  **Import**.
- Click General → File System in the Import window. The File System Import window opens. Import the source code from two locations:
  - C:\Projects\myproject\src\hot
  - C:\Projects\myproject\src\main
- Click Browse and select the C:\Projects\myproject\src\hot folder that contains the source code files for the com.mydomain.myproject.action package. Select all source files, as shown in Figure 10-5. Click Finish.

O Import	_ 🗆 X
File system Import resources from the local file system.	
From directory:       C:\Projects\myproject\src\hot         Image: Complex c	Browse
Filter Types     Select All       Deselect All       Into folder:       myproject_EJB/ejbModule	Browse
Options Overwrite existing resources without warning Create complete folder structure Advanced >>	
Back Next > Finish	Cancel

Figure 10-5 Importing source files

- 10. Repeat step 9 for the C:\Projects\myproject\src\main folder, which contains the source code for the com.mydomain.myproject.model package.
- 11.Delete the packages under the ImportedClasses node by selecting them, clicking **Delete**, and confirming the deletion.

The project structure looks like the right pane of Figure 10-4 on page 322.

Analyzing the web module, we can see that there are no imported classes that we must replace with source files. Resources such as html and xhtml files, style sheets, and images are imported automatically during the EAR import.

## 10.1.6 Analyzing and fixing problems

The following sections describe the steps that are taken to analyze and fix migration problems.

#### Fixing compile time and runtime dependencies

In the right pane of Figure 10-4 on page 322, there are compile-time errors for several classes (flagged with red cross icons). When there are many libraries that can be reused by applications, you may use shared libraries rather than libraries in packaged applications. This situation reduces the packaged size of the application, speeds up deployment, eases maintenance of libraries, and helps conserve server resources. We use shared libraries on this migration exercise.

To fix the compile time and runtime dependencies, complete the following steps:

- 1. Create a folder to contain the libraries. We chose C:\sharedlibseam. We refer to this location as <shared\_lib\_dir>.
- 2. As shown in the left pane of Figure 10-6, our EAR file contains 16 libraries that can be moved to a shared library. Select all of the libraries.



Figure 10-6 Before and after libraries in EAR moved to a shared library

- 3. Copy these libraries by right-clicking and selecting Copy.
- 4. Paste the copied libraries in to <shared\_lib\_dir>.
- 5. Delete the selected libraries from EAR module by right-clicking and selecting **Delete**. The result is the project structure that is shown in the right pane of Figure 10-6.

We do not move myproject.war and myproject.ear. These files are refreshed as the corresponding module projects are built.

There are more dependencies. These dependencies are the libraries that are shipped with JBoss Application Server, which is a natural target for most Seam applications, so they are not included in the application. Because these libraries are not part of the WebSphere Application Server distribution, we must include them. These libraries are also included in our generated project, so we can copy them from our project folder.

For our project, the additional dependencies in Table 10-1 must be copied to <shared\_lib\_dir> from C:\Projects\myproject\lib.

ומטוב וט-ו טוומובע עבטבוועבוונובא נט טב נטטובע	Table 10-1	Shared dependencies	to be copied
--	------------	---------------------	--------------

antlr.jar	antlr-runtime.jar	bsh.jar
cglib-nodep.jar	commons-collections.jar	concurrent.jar
dom4j.jar	gwt-servlet.jar	hibernate-annotations. jar
hibernate-commons- annotations.jar	hibernate-core.jar	hibernate-entitymanager .jar
hibernate-validator.jar	javassist.jar	jboss-common-core.jar
jboss-seam-flex.jar	jsf-api.jar	jsf-impl.jar
log4j.jar	slf4j-api.jar	slf4j-log4j12.jar

- Click the myproject application module. Right-click and select Java EE → Open WebSphere Application Server Deployment to open the WebSphere Application Server Deployment window.
- 7. Scroll down to the Shared Library section. Expand the section and click Add.
- 8. Enter the Name and Description fields. We used SeamSharedLibs as the shared library name.
- 9. Click **Browse** on the Class Path section of the window. A file selection dialog box is displayed (Figure 10-7). Select **<shared\_lib\_folder>** and click **OK**.

🗿 Add Librai	ry Entry	×
Name:	SeamSharedLibs	
Description:		
Class path:	C:\sharedlibseam	Browse
		Add
		Edit
		Remove
Native path:		Browse
		Add
		Edit
		Remove
	OK	Cancel

Figure 10-7 Shared library properties

We must modify the application class loading mechanism because we are using a third-party persistence provider. The hibernate-entitymanager.jar file and its dependencies serve this purpose.

We also use a third-party JSF implementation. WebSphere Application Server supports JSF 2.0, but our application is built with JSF 1.2. Therefore, we put the JSF implementation libraries in to the shared library, as we already added jsf-api.jar and jsf-impl.jar. More information about JSF implementation configuration can be found at the following web page:

http://www14.software.ibm.com/webapp/wsbroker/redirect?version=phil&product=was
-nd-mp&topic=twebjsf

- 10.Scroll down to the Application section and change the Classloader mode to PARENT\_LAST.
- 11. Press Ctrl+s to save your changes.
- 12. While the shared library resolves the runtime dependencies, the myproject\_EJB module also has compile-time dependencies on the libraries we moved to the shared library. To resolve the compile-time dependencies, select the myproject\_EJB module, right -click, and select Build Path → Configure Build Path.
- Select the Libraries tab in the Java Build Path window. Click Add External JARs. A file selection dialog box is displayed.
- 14.Navigate to <shared\_lib\_folder> and select the following libraries to add to build path:
  - jboss-seam.jar
  - hibernate-validator.jar
- 15. Click **OK** to continue. The class path looks like Figure 10-8.

Properties for myproject_EJB		_ 🗆 X
type filter text	Java Build Path	← + ⇒ + ▼
<ul> <li>Resource</li> <li>Builders</li> <li>Code Coverage</li> <li>Default Package</li> <li>Deployment Assembly</li> <li>EJB Deployment</li> <li>Java Build Path</li> <li>Java Code Style</li> <li>Java Code Style</li> <li>Java Compiler</li> <li>Java Editor</li> <li>Java Editor</li> <li>Javadoc Location</li> <li>JDBC Connections</li> <li>Uliks</li> <li>Project Facets</li> <li>Refactoring History</li> <li>Run/Debug Settings</li> <li>Server</li> <li>Service Policies</li> <li>Targeted Runtimes</li> <li>Task Tags</li> <li>TPT JUnit</li> <li>Validation</li> <li>XDoclet</li> </ul>	Source       Projects       Libraries       Order and I         JARs and class folders on the build path:         Image: Source       ibbs-seam.jar - C:\sharedlibseam         Image: Source       ibbs-seam.jar - C:\sharedlibseam         Image: Source       ibbs-seam.jar - C:\sharedlibseam         Image: Source       Image: Source         Image: Source       Image: Source	Export Add JARs Add External JARs Add Variable Add Library Add Library Add Class Folder Add External Class Folder Edit Remove Migrate JAR File
?	ļ	OK Cancel

Figure 10-8 EJB module class path

16.Click **Project**  $\rightarrow$  **Clean** to rebuild the project. No compile-time errors remain.

# Checking the project using the Application Migration Tool - JBoss AS to WebSphere

To run the Application Migration Tool for our project, complete the following steps:

- Click the myproject application module. Right-click and select Software Analyzer → Software Analyzer Configurations. The Software Analyzer Configurations window opens. In the left pane, right-click Software Analyzer → New.
- 2. Our focus here is on Framework migration, the rules for which are included in the server-specific rule set, so we can select any server. Select the rule set for JBoss migration, as it is one of the platforms that the EAR file is built for. Click the **Rules** tab. Select **JBoss Application Migration** in the drop-down menu. As you can see at Figure 10-9, all the Framework migration rules are automatically selected.



Figure 10-9 Framework migration rules

- 3. Click Set. The rule set configuration dialog box opens.
- Select WebSphere Application Server V8.5 as the target application server, and Java 6 for the Source and Target Java version. Click OK. The respective rules become selected in the Analysis Rules and Domains area.
- 5. Click **Analyze**. After the analysis is complete, the Software Analyzer Results view is displayed. Inside the Software Analyzer Results view, you can see a tab for each domain of analysis. In our case, the tabs are Class-path Review, XML File Review, JSP Review, and Java Code Review.

 Expand the XML File Review section and the results in this section. The Application Migration Tool detects Hibernate as a persistence provider, and the Seam framework (Figure 10-10).



Figure 10-10 XML File Review

- 7. A JBoss specific file is detected. Remove the jboss-app.xml file by right-clicking **myprojecy/META-INF/jboss-app.xml** and then selecting **Delete**.
- 8. Switching to the **Java Code Review** tab (Figure 10-11), we see a list of files to review. Book.java, our persistent object, and AuthenticationBean, our cole Seam Named object, are correctly marked for review.



Figure 10-11 Java Code Review

9. The Class-Path Review highlights several classpath issues that can be quick fixed (Figure 10-12).



Figure 10-12 ClassPath review

 Expand the Class-Path Review section and the results in this section. Right-click one of the result lines and click Quick Fix All. You may also preview changes that are performed through quick fixes (Figure 10-13).

🕝 Manifest Structure Compare		
🖂 🔤 Manifest		
Class-Path		
🔓 Manifest Compare 💌	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	42 8
C /myproject_EJB/ejbModule/META-INF/MANIFEST.MF	C /myproject_EJB/ejbModule/META-INF/MANIFEST.MF	
Manifest-Version: 1.0	Manifest-Version: 1.0	
Class-Path: myproject.jar	Ant-Version: Apache Ant 1.7.0	
Ant-Version: Apache Ant 1.7.0	Created-By: 2.6 (IBM Corporation)	
Created-By: 2.6 (IBM Corporation)		

Figure 10-13 Previewing a quick fix

#### Fixing the Seam configuration

Configuring Seam for a WebSphere JNDI name space is documented with several alternatives in the Seam documentation at:

http://docs.jboss.org/seam/snapshot/en-US/html/websphere.html

For our project, we use strategy 1. We add an @JndiName annotation to session beans, create a seam-specific properties file (the content of which is specified in the Seam documentation), change the JNDI matching pattern in components.xml, and add an EJB reference for LocalEJBSynchronizations.

To accomplish these tasks, complete the following steps:

- Annotate the session beans with the @JndiName annotation. Our single session bean is AuthenticatorBean at myproject\_EJB/ejbModule/ com.mydomain.myproject.action.AuthenticatorBean.java. Open this file in the editor.
- 2. Add the following line between the @Name annotation and the class declaration line:

@JndiName("ejblocal:com.mydomain.myproject.action.Authenticator")

**Class name:** JndiName uses the name of the localinterface class instead of bean class name.

- This annotation requires the org.jboss.seam.annotations.JndiName class to be added to imports. Use a quick fix on the annotation by pressing Ctrl+1 on the @JndiName annotation and clicking the Import JndiName option.
- 4. Open the myproject\_WEB/WebContent/WEB-INF/components.xml file in the editor.

**Replace** <core:init debug="@debug@" jndi-pattern="@jndiPattern@"/> with <core:init debug="false" jndi-pattern="java:comp/env/#{ejbName}"/>.

5. Create a file named seam-jndi.properties at myproject\_WEB/Java Resources/src. The contents of this file are described in the Seam documentation. Copy the contents that are specified by the Seam documentation to the generated file and save your changes.

**Properties file:** The Seam documentation states that the seam-jndi.properties file is created at WEB-INF/classes/seam-jndi.properties in the web module. Because this folder is not visible in Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software, use the src folder, because non-Java resources in this folder are copied to the classes folder during the build.

- 6. Open the myproject\_WEB/WebContent/WEB-INF/web.xml file in the editor. Switch to the Source tab for easier editing.
- 7. Add the snippet that is shown in Example 10-3 inside the web-app element as the last element and save your changes.

Example 10-3 Code snippet

```
<ejb-local-ref>
   <description></description>
   <ejb-ref-name>EjbSynchronizations</ejb-ref-name>
   <ejb-ref-type>Session</ejb-ref-type>
   <local-home></local-home>
   <local>org.jboss.seam.transaction.LocalEjbSynchronizations</local>
   <ejb-link>EjbSynchronizations</ejb-link>
</ejb-local-ref>
```

#### Fixing the persistence configuration

Seam can create a persistence unit by using only its name instead of using its JNDI name to look it up. This method is simpler than fixing the persistence unit JNDI configuration. To use this feature, complete the following steps:

 Replace the <!-- persistence:managed-persistence-context name="entityManager" auto-create="true"

```
persistence-unit-jndi-name="@puJndiName@"/--> snippet in this file with
<persistence:entity-manager-factory name="entityManagerFactory"
persistence-unit-name="myproject" />
<persistence:managed-persistence-context name="entityManager"
auto-create="true" entity-manager-factory="#{entityManagerFactory}" />.
```

Our sample application uses Hibernate as JPA 1.0 persistence provider. We included the Hibernate libraries in our shared library, which is a necessary step in configuring third-party JPA providers for WebSphere. More information about configuring third-party JPA providers can be found at:

http://www14.software.ibm.com/webapp/wsbroker/redirect?version=phil&product=was
-nd-mp&topic=tejb\_jpa3rdparty

2. To enable the WebSphere transaction manager lookup, add the following property to the persistence.xml file:

```
<propery name="hibernate.transaction.manager_lookup_class"
value="org.hibernate.transaction.WebSphereExtendedJTATransactionLookup" />
```

#### Fixing the RichFaces configuration

The version of RichFaces bundled with the seam-gen utility depends on JSF 1.2, while WebSphere Application Server V8.5 is configured with JSF 2.0.To use the older implementation, we include JSF implementation libraries in our shared library configuration. More information about configuring JSF implementations can be found at:

http://www14.software.ibm.com/webapp/wsbroker/redirect?version=phil&product=was-nd
-mp&topic=twebjsf

To initialize the Faces context, you must add a corresponding listener configuration to the web.xml file:

```
<listener>
```

```
<listener-class>com.sun.faces.config.ConfigureListener</listener-class>
</listener>
```

#### Creating the data source

As seen in persistence.xml, the persistence configuration depends upon the existence of a data source with the myprojectDatasource JNDI name. Creating this data source for the test environment can be done in Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software. Making configuration changes on a normal WebSphere Application Server installation through the administrative console is similar.

To create the data source, complete the following steps:

- Select the myproject application module and right-click it. Select Java EE → Open WebSphere Application Server Deployment.
- Scroll down to the Authentication section. Click Add near the JAAS Authentication list subsection. The Add JAAS Authentication Entry dialog box is displayed.
- Enter db2admin for the alias, user ID, and description fields, and passw0rd for the password field. Click OK. A new authentication alias is listed in the JAAS Authentication list.
- 4. Scroll up to the Data Sources section and click **Add** near the JDBC provider list subsection.
- 5. Select **IBM DB2** as the database type and **DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider** as the JDBC provider type in the Create JDBC Provider window. Click **Next**.
- 6. Enter DB2 JDBC Provider in the name field of the JDBC Provider Details window.
- 7. Select the entries in the classpath section and click **Remove**.

- 8. Click **Add External JARs**. A file selection dialog box is displayed. Navigate to the C:\IBM\SQLLIB\java folder and select the following JARs and click **OK** to add them:
  - db2jcc.jar
  - db2jcc\_license\_cu.jar

The JDBC provider settings window (Figure 10-14) opens. Click Finish.

💽 Create JDBC Provider		
Create JDBC Provide	r	
Select the type of JDBC prov	ider to create.	
Name:	DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider	
Description:	DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider	
Implementation class name:	com.ibm.db2.jcc.DB2ConnectionPoolDataSource	
Class path:	C:\IBM\SQLLIB\java\db2jcc.jar	Add External JARs
	C:\IBM\SQLLIB\java\db2jcc_license_cu.jar	Add Path
		Edit
I		Remove
Native path:	\${DB2UNIVERSAL_JDBC_DRIVER_NATIVEPATH}	Add External JARs
		Add Path
		Edit
		Remove
?	< Back Next > Fi	nish Cancel

Figure 10-14 JDBC provider settings

 The new JDBC provider is listed in the JDBC providers list. Click this line to select DB2 JDBC Provider, and then click Add in the data sources subsection.
10.Select **DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider** in the Create Data Source window (Figure 10-15). Click **Next**. The Data Source details window opens.

🗿 Create Data So	urce			
Create Data So	ource			
Select the type of a	lata source to c	reate.		
Select the type of	JDBC provider:			
User-defined	JDBC Provider			<b>_</b>
0 DB2 Using IBN	1 JCC Driver			
DB2 Universal	JDBC Driver Pro	ovider		
DB2 for zOS L	ocal JDBC Provi	der (RRS)		
📃 👤 Cloudscape N	etwork Server L	Jsing Universal J	DBC Driver	•
Select the data sou Version 5.0 Version 4.0	urce type: data source data source			
?	< Back	Next >	Finish	Cancel

Figure 10-15 Selecting provider for data source

11.In the JNDI Name field, enter myprojectDatasource.

12. In the Container-managed authentication alias and Component-managed authentication alias fields, select the db2admin authentication alias that we created (Figure 10-16). Click **Next**. The Create Resource Properties window opens.

Create Data Source Select the type of data source to create.		
Na <u>m</u> e:	myprojectDatasource	
<u>J</u> NDI name:	myprojectDatasource	
Description:	minVer null - maxVer null - DB2 Universal Driver Datasource	*
<u>C</u> ategory:		
Statement cac <u>h</u> e size:	10	
Data source helper class name:	com.ibm.websphere.rsadapter.DB2UniversalDataStoreHelper	<b>_</b>
Connection timeout:	180	
Maximum connections:	10	
Minimum connections:	1	
<u>R</u> eap time:	180	
Unused timeout:	1800	
Ared timeout:	0	
<u>P</u> urge policy:	EntirePool	•
Component-managed authentication alias:	db2admin	•
Container-managed authentication alias:	db2admin	•
🔽 Use this data source in container mana	, ged persistence (CMP)	_
* Required field.		
?	< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > <u>Finish</u>	Cancel

Figure 10-16 Data source details

13. In the Create Resource Properties window (Figure 10-17), select the **databaseName** Resource Property. In the value field for this property, enter TESTDB. Select the **serverName** property. In the value field for this property, enter localhost. Click **Finish**.

Create Reso Create the resou	purce Properties ource properties for this data source.	
Resource Propert	rties:	0-
Name	Description	▲
databaseNa	lame adminRequired=true - This is a required property. T	
📑 driverType	adminRequired=true - The JDBC connectivity-type o	
🔚 serverName	e adminRequired=true - The TCP/IP address or host n	
🔚 portNumber	er adminRequired=true - The TCP/IP port number wher	
escription 🔚	The description of this datasource.	
🔓 traceLevel	Specifies the level of trace, determined by a bitwise	-
Name:	databaseName	
Type:	iava.lang.String	
Required	Vec	
Kequireu.	163	
<u>V</u> alue:	TESTDB	
Description:	: adminRequired=true - This is a required property. This is an actual database name, and its	not the locally catalogue
?	< Back Next > Eir	iish Cancel

Figure 10-17 Resource properties for data source

14. The Data Sources section of the WebSphere Application Server Deployment window now looks like Figure 10-18. Press Ctrl+s to save your changes.

- Data Sauraa				
				J
Allows the installed applications to access data from	n databases.			
JDBC provider list:				
Name		Implementation Class Name		Add
Derby JDBC Provider (XA)		org.apache.derby.jdbc.EmbeddedXADataSource		
DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider		com.ibm.db2.jcc.DB2ConnectionPoolDataSource		Edit
				Demove
<u> </u>				Kelliove
Data source defined in the IDBC provider selected a	above			
		1	1-	
Name		JNDI Name	Туре	Add
📒 myprojectDatasource		myprojectDatasource	V5	
				Edit
				Domouro
•		·	۱.	Remove
Resource properties defined in the data source sele	cted above:			
Name	Value		Туре 🔺	Add
🔓 databaseName	TESTDB		java.lang.Stri	
🔓 driverType	4		java.lang.Inte	Edit
🕞 serverName	localbost		iava.lang.Stri	Demove
<b>     </b>				Keniove

Figure 10-18 Resource properties for a data source

### Fixing the persistence configuration

The web module deployment descriptor, by generation, contains a persistence-unit-ref to the persistence unit definition at the EJB module. The indirect naming scheme that is used in the persistence-unit-name element of this reference does not work with WebSphere. Because of this situation, move persistence.xml to the web module and use the jar-file element inside persistence.xml to reference beans at the EJB module. Also, configure the Hibernate properties for WebSphere by completing the following steps:

- Select the persistence.xml and orm.xml files in the myprojectEJB/ejbModule/META-INF directory.
- 2. Right-click and select Move.
- In the destination area, select the myProject\_WEB/WebContent/META-inf folder and click OK.
- 4. Select myproject\_Web, right-click, and select Properties → Java EE module dependencies.

5. Select the myproject\_EJB check box (Figure 10-19) and click OK to continue.

Properties for myproject_WE	B I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I
type filter text	Java EE Module Dependencies 🔶 🔹 👻 💌
Resource BeanInfo Path Builders Code Coverage Crystal Reports File Versions Default Package Java Build Path Java Code Style Java Compiler Java Editor	J2EE Modules       Web Libraries         J2EE Modules       Web Libraries         This property page lets you add Manifest classpath dependencies to other Java EE modules or JARs contained within the same Enterprise Application. It also supports the selection of class folders whose contents will be added to the root of this module.         Enterprise application project name:       myproject         Available dependent JARs:       References to EJB JARs with EJB Client JARs
Java EE Module Dependencies     Javadoc Location     JavaScript     JavaScript     JoBC Connections     JSP Fragment     Project Facets     Project References     Refactoring History     Run/Debug Settings	JAR/Module     Project     Up       JAR/Module     Project_EJB     Down       Select All     Deselect All
Server     Service Policies     Target Device Settings     Targeted Runtimes     Task Tags     TFTP JUnit Test     Service Validation     Web Content Settings     Web Project Settings     Web Project Settings	Manifest Class-Path (does not include contributions from classpath entries):
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	Restore Defaults     Apply       OK     Cancel

Figure 10-19 Web module dependencies

- 6. Open the copied persistence.xml file in the editor. Switch to the **Source** tab for faster editing.
- 7. Add the following snippet to persistence.xml, beneath the <jta-data-source> element:

<jar-file>myproject.jar</jar-file>

8. Remove the following line from persistence.xml:

```
<property name="jboss.entity.manager.factory.jndi.name"
value="java:/myprojectEntityManagerFactory"/>
```

9. Add the following line inside the <properties> element in persistence.xml:

```
<property name="hibernate.transaction.manager_lookup_class"
value="org.hibernate.transaction.WebSphereExtendedJTATransactionLookup" />
```

- 10. Press Ctrl+s to save your changes.
- 11.Fix the persistence unit reference in the web module. Open myproject\_WEB/WebContent/WEB-INF/web.xml in the editor. Switch to the **Source** tab.
- 12.Replace the line

```
<persistence-unit-name>../myproject.jar#myproject</persistence-unit-name> with
<persistence-unit-name>myproject</persistence-unit-name>.
```

### Building and running the application on an integrated test environment

The migration is complete and the application can be run on WebSphere Application Server V8.5. You can check how the migrated application works by using an integrated WebSphere Application Server V8.5 test environment.

To build, deploy, and run the application, complete the following steps:

- 1. Click the myproject\_WEB\WebContent\index.html file. Right-click and select **Run As**  $\rightarrow$  **Run on server**. The Run on server dialog box is displayed.
- 2. Keep the default settings, and click Finish.

After the application is deployed to the test environment, an embedded web browser is displayed in the editor pane, presenting the entry page of your seam-gen application.

3. Test the application by creating, updating, deleting, and listing entities. Use admin for the user name with an empty password to log in.

### 10.1.7 Summary

While we migrate our sample seam-gen generated application, we demonstrated the following concepts:

- A source migration to Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software as a build and test environment
- Using the Application Migration Tool
- Using shared libraries for managing dependencies

The main points to highlight during this migration are as follows:

- Differences in default JNDI bindings require rework on JNDI lookups. Seam frameworks require a fair amount of configuration to work with WebSphere default JNDI bindings.
- Libraries that ship with JBoss Application Server distributions and not with WebSphere Application Server create more runtime dependencies that must be corrected.
- Using Hibernate for persistence requires a transaction strategy configuration specific to WebSphere.
- ► Using a third-party JPA provider requires changes to the classloading configuration.
- Using an old JSF implementation requires changes in the classloading configuration and the addition of the corresponding listener to web module configuration.

### **10.2 Migrating a Spring Framework application**

To demonstrate the Spring framework migration, we use an application that is generated by Spring Roo, which is a rapid application development tool that uses many open source Java components with the Spring modules. More information about Spring framework and Spring Roo may be found at:

- http://www.springsource.org/
- http://www.springsource.org/spring-roo

We generate a simple application using a simple data model. This data model contains four different entities with relationships of different cardinalities. For the purposes of this sample, an "IBMRedBook" consists of "Chapters", each of which has a primary "Owner" and a number of "Participants".

We chose to migrate this application for the following reasons:

- A project structure that is created with Spring Roo is representative of a well-designed Spring application structure.
- It is a simple and complete application that is good for demonstrating and focusing on framework-specific constructs without getting into too much repetitive work for various modules and components.
- It uses PrimeFaces on JSF 2.1 support, while WebSphere Application Server V8.5 supports JSF 2.0, so we can demonstrate third-party JSF implementations.
- It uses Hibernate as a JPA2 provider, so we can demonstrate third-party JPA providers.
- ▶ It uses Spring 3.1.1.

### 10.2.1 Migration approach

In this migration exercise, we use IBM Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software as the build environment.

The migration is performed by completing the following steps:

- 1. Install Spring Roo.
- 2. Install Apache Derby.
- 3. Generate a sample application and import it in to Rational Application Developer.
- 4. Check the configuration files with the Application Migration Tool.
- 5. Analyze and fix problems that are reported by the build environment and Application Migration Tool.
- 6. Deploy and test the application in an integrated WebSphere Application Server V8.5 test environment.

### 10.2.2 Installing Spring Roo

Download the Spring Framework distribution from the following website:

http://www.springsource.org/download/community?project=Spring%2520Roo

We use Version 1.2.2.RELEASE in our environment, which is the latest version at the time of the writing of this book. Extract the downloaded file to a suitable location. We used C:\spring-roo-1.2.2.RELEASE as our example directory.

Define an environment variable R00\_H0ME that points to the installation directory, and add %R00\_H0ME%/bin to your class path.

Spring depends on Apache Ant and Apache Maven for operation. For installation instructions for Apache Ant and Apache Maven, see 8.3.1, "Installing and configuring Apache Ant" on page 237.

### 10.2.3 Installing Apache Derby DB

Download Apache Derby DB distribution from the following website:

http://db.apache.org/derby/derby\_downloads.html

We use Version 10.8.2.2 in our environment, which is the latest version at the time of the writing of this book. Extract the downloaded file to a suitable location. We use C:\db-derby-10.8.2.2-bin as the directory.

### 10.2.4 Generating a sample application using Spring Roo

To generate the sample application, complete the following steps:

- 1. Create a directory for your project. We use C:\sample.
- 2. Open a command prompt and change the directory to the folder you created.
- Create a text file with the contents shown in Example 10-4. We use the name sample.roo for this file.

In Example 10-4, you might notice several choices that we made, such as using Hibernate as the JPA provider, which is backed up by a Derby database, and JSF for the user interface. The --fetch EAGER directives in the set types field definitions are introduced as an issue (described at <a href="https://jira.springsource.org/browse/R00-2870">https://jira.springsource.org/browse/R00-2870</a>), and the proposed solution works in our example.

Example 10-4 Roo script file for generating a sample application

```
project --topLevelPackage test.ibmredbookproject
jpa setup --provider HIBERNATE --database DERBY CLIENT
entity jpa --class ~.domain.Participant
field string --fieldName name --notNull --sizeMin 2
entity jpa --class ~.domain.Owner
field string --fieldName name --notNull --sizeMin 2
entity jpa --class ~.domain.Chapter
field string --fieldName name --notNull --sizeMin 2
field set --fieldName participants --type ~.domain.Participant --fetch EAGER
field reference --fieldName owner --type ~.domain.Owner
entity jpa --class ~.domain.IBMRedBook
field string --fieldName name --notNull --sizeMin 2
field number --fieldName pages --type java.lang.Integer
field date --fieldName publishDate --type java.util.Date
field set --fieldName chapters --type ~.domain.Chapter --fetch EAGER
web jsf setup
web jsf all --package test.ibmredbookproject.ui
```

- 4. Enter **roo** and press Enter. You see the welcome messages as an interactive session begins.
- 5. At the roo prompt, enter **script** --**file sample.roo** and press Enter. You see lines that report how components are being created and updated.
- 6. After the script execution ends, enter exit to terminate the interactive session.
- 7. The source code is generated and ready to be built, but while we validated the application, we noticed the issue described at http://forum.springsource.org/showthread.php?124150-JSF-OneToMany-validation-is sues and noticed that the proposed solution works for our sample.

To implement this fix, for all classes that can be retrieved as a set with a result of a one-to-may relationship (in our case, IBMRedBook, Chapter, and Participant), open the source file at C:\sample\src\main\java\test\ibmredbookproject\domain folder in your project folder, and override the hashCode and equals methods, as shown in Example 10-5. The example code is for the IBMRedBook class. You may append the same block of code to all three classes just by changing the class name in the equals method. Be careful to establish only the equality and hashCode methods on the name fields of these classes.

Example 10-5 Overriding hashCode and equals methods

```
00verride
public int hashCode() {
   return (name == null) ? 0 : name.hashCode();
}
00verride
public boolean equals(Object obj) {
   if (this == obj)
      return true;
   if (obj == null)
      return false;
   if (getClass() != obj.getClass())
      return false:
   IBMRedBook other = (IBMRedBook) obj;
   if (name == null) {
      if (other.name != null)
        return false;
   } else if (!name.equals(other.name))
      return false:
   return true;
}
```

8. Edit src\main\resources\META-INF\spring\database.properties and add a user name and password for the Derby database by inserting the following lines:

```
database.username=derbyuser
database.password=derbyuser
```

- Before you build the project, make sure that the database is running, because the Maven build process involves running automated tests, some of which require a connection to the database. To start the database, complete the following steps:
  - a. Open a new command prompt and change the directory to C:\db-derby-10.8.2.2-bin\lib.
  - b. Enter java -jar derbyrun.jar server start and press Enter.
  - c. Leave the comment prompt open for the rest of the exercise.
- 10. To build the generated source code, enter **mvn install** at the command prompt in the project directory and press Enter.
- 11..Verify the application at the Jetty server by entering mvn jetty:run-exploded and pressing Enter. After the necessary libraries are automatically downloaded, you may check the application at http://localhost:8080/ibmredbookproject/ and try creating, listing, or modifying Chapters and IBMRedBooks. At the time of the writing of this book, dialog components were not being properly handled and there were some outstanding issues with using PrimeFaces modal dialogs in Internet Explorer Version 8.

## **10.2.5** Importing the EAR file and source code to Rational Application Developer

To import the WAR file and source code to Rational Application Developer, complete the following steps:

- Start Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software by clicking Start → IBM Software Delivery Platform → IBM Rational Application Developer 8.5 → IBM Rational Application Developer.
- Start the Import wizard by clicking File → Import. Expand the Web node in the import source tree and select WAR file. See Figure 10-20.

O Import	_ <b>D</b> ×
Select Import an external WAR file into a Web Project	è
Select an import source:	
type filter text	
<ul> <li>Cloud Application</li> <li>Code Coverage</li> <li>CVS</li> <li>Dava EE</li> <li>Modeling</li> <li>Code Coverage</li> <li>Plug-in Development</li> <li>Profiling</li> <li>Profiling</li> <li>Profiling</li> <li>Service Component Architecture 1.0</li> <li>SIP</li> <li>Team</li> <li>Team</li> <li>Team</li> <li>Team</li> <li>Web</li> <li>Web</li> <li>Web services</li> </ul>	
Rext > Finish	Cancel

Figure 10-20 WAR import wizard

3. In the Enterprise Application Import window, browse to the location of the WAR file that is generated by Spring Roo, which can be found at

C:\sample\target\ibmredbookproject-0.1.0.BUILD-SNAPSHOT.war. See Figure 10-21. Click **Next**.

🗿 Import		_ 🗆 🗙
WAR Import Import a WAR fi	ile from the file system	
WAR file:	C:\sample\target\ibmredbookproject-0.1.0.BUILD-SNAPSHOT.war	Browse
Web project:	ibmredbookproject-0.1.0.BUILD-SNAPSHOT	
Target runtime:	WebSphere Application Server v8.5 stub	N <u>e</u> w
EAR membersh	iip t to an EAR	
EAR project na	me: ibmredbookproject-0.1.0.BUILD-SNAPSHOTEAR	Project
?	< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > <u>Finish</u>	Cancel

Figure 10-21 Importing a sample application WAR file

4. Click **Finish** on the Utility JARs and Web Libraries window without selecting any libraries.

### **10.2.6 Analyzing and fixing problems**

The following sections describe the steps that are taken to analyze and fix migration problems.

### Fixing compile time and runtime dependencies

Because we are using third-party JSF and JPA implementations, we load libraries for these implementations from an isolated shared library classloader. Also, when there are many libraries that can be reused by applications, we may use shared libraries rather than libraries in packaged applications. This setup helps reduce the packaged size of the application, speeds up deployment, eases maintenance of libraries, and helps conserve server resources. We use shared libraries in this migration exercise.

To fix compile time and runtime dependencies, complete the following steps:

1. Create a folder to contain the libraries. We choose C:\sharedLibsRoo. We refer to this location as <shared\_lib\_dir>.

- 2. The WAR file contains numerous libraries, including libraries for Hibernate and Spring, under the WebContent/WEB-INF/1ib node. Move these libraries to a shared library. Select all of the libraries by pressing and holding the Ctrl key.
- 3. Copy these libraries to the clipboard by right-clicking and selecting **Copy**. Paste the copied libraries in to <shared\_lib\_dir>.
- 4. Delete the selected libraries from the EAR module by selecting **Delete**.
- 5. Delete the following JAR files from <shared\_lib\_dir>, because classes contained in these libraries are provided by WebSphere Application Server:
  - hibernate-jpa-2.0-api-1.0.1.Final.jar
  - jta-1.1.jar
  - validation-api-1.0.0.GA.jar
- Click the myproject application module. Right-click and select Java EE → Open WebSphere Application Server Deployment to open the WebSphere Application Server Deployment window.
- 7. Scroll down to Shared Library section. Expand the section and click Add.
- 8. Complete the Name and Description fields. We used SharedLibsRoo as the shared library name.
- Click Browse on the Class path section of the window. A file selection dialog box is displayed (Figure 10-22). Using the dialog box, select <shared\_lib\_folder> and click OK.

💽 Add Libra	ry Entry	×
<u>N</u> ame:	SharedLibsRoo	
Description:	SharedLibsRoo	
<u>⊂</u> lass path:	C:\sharedLibsRoo	Browse
		<u>A</u> dd
		<u>E</u> dit
E .		<u>R</u> emove
Native <u>p</u> ath:		Bro <u>w</u> se
		A <u>d</u> d
		Edi <u>t</u> ,
		Remove
	ОК	Cancel

Figure 10-22 Shared library properties

You must modify the application class loading mechanism because you use a third-party persistence provider. The hibernate-entitymanager-3.6.9.Final.jar file and its dependencies that we added serve this purpose.

We are also using a third-party JSF implementation. WebSphere Application Server supports JSF 2.0, but our application is built with JSF 2.1. Therefore, we add the JSF implementation libraries to the shared library, as we added jsf-api-2.1.2.jar and jsf-impl-2.1.2.jar in the previous section. More information about the JSF implementation configuration can be found at the following website:

http://www14.software.ibm.com/webapp/wsbroker/redirect?version=phil&product=was
-nd-mp&topic=twebjsf

- 10.Scroll down to the Application section and change the Classloader mode to PARENT\_LAST.
- 11. Press Ctrl+s to save your changes.

### Checking the project using the Application Migration Tool - WebLogic to WebSphere

To run the Application Migration Tool - WebLogic to WebSphere on your project, complete the following steps:

- Click the myproject application module. Right-click and select Software Analyzer → Software Analyzer Configurations. The Software Analyzer Configurations window opens. In the left pane, right-click and select Software Analyzer → New.
- 2. Our focus is on Framework migration, the rules for which are included in a server-specific rule set, so we can select any server. Let us select the rule set for WebLogic Application Migration, as it is one of the platforms that the EAR file was built for. Click the **Rules** tab. Select **WebLogic Application Migration** in the drop-down menu. As you can see in Figure 10-23, all the Framework migration rules are automatically selected.

Software Analyzer Configurations				
Create, manage, and run cr Select a range of inputs from the sco	<b>onfigurations</b> pe tab and at least one rule from the rules tab to create an analysis configur. 	ation.	3	
Image: Software Analyzer         Image: So	Name: New_configuration	▼ Set Import Export		
Filter matched 2 of 2 items		Apply Revert		
(?)		Analyze Close		

Figure 10-23 Framework migration rules

- 3. Click Set. The rule set configuration dialog box opens.
- Select WebSphere Application Server V8.5 as the target application server and Java 6 for the Source and Target Java version. Click OK. The respective rules become selected in the Analysis Rules and Domains area.

- 5. Click **Analyze**. After the analysis is complete, the Software Analyzer Results view is displayed. Inside the Software Analyzer Results view, you can see a tab for each domain of analysis. In our case, the tabs are named Class-path Review, XML File Review, JSP Review, and Java Code Review.
- 6. Expand the XML file review section and the results in this section. In Figure 10-24, Application Migration Tool detected the usage of Hibernate as a persistence provider, and Spring framework usage, and shows their respective configuration files. Also, as a part of Spring preferred practices rules, you are reminded to check the configuration of LocalContainerEntityManagerFactoryBean Spring Framework configuration element.



Figure 10-24 XML File review

### Building and running the application on an integrated test environment

The migration is complete and the application can be run on WebSphere Application Server V8.5. You can check how the migrated application works by using an integrated WebSphere Application Server V8.5 test environment.

To build, deploy, and run the application, complete the following steps:

- Click the WebContent\index.html file in the web module. Right-click and select Run As → Run on server. The Run on server dialog box is displayed.
- 2. Keep the default settings, and press Finish.

After the application is deployed to test environment, an embedded web browser is displayed in the editor pane, presenting the entry page of our seam-gen application.

3. Test the application by creating, updating, deleting, and listing entities. Use admin for the user name with an empty password to log in.

You may notice the following exception during the start:

ERROR org.hibernate.too.hbm2dll.SchemaExport - schema export unsuccessful java.lang.UnsupportedOperationException: The user must supply a JDBC connection

This exception occurs because while the application is being started, persistence units are initialized before the application's modules are initialized. Because the Spring framework is initialized within the web module of the application, the database definition and connection pooling properties that are defined in the Spring configuration are not yet available. As the persistence unit is initialized, Hibernate tries to make sure that the tables for the managed entities exist, but it cannot find a connection to do so.

You may safely ignore this error because the database and schema were created during the automated testing part of the build process, so you do not need to create it again during the application start. Another solution is to define a data source in persistence.xml instead of a Spring configured connection pool, as we demonstrate when migrating Hibernate to OpenJPA.

### Using a data source instead of Spring managed connection pooling

Spring Roo, by default, generates applications so that database connections are managed by a Spring managed connection pool that uses an Apache DBCP project.

Even though it is possible to configure Spring Roo according to our choices of data source and persistence provider, we demonstrate the steps manually for clarity.

If you are using a similar application and prefer to use a data source that is managed by WebSphere Application Server itself instead of DBCP, complete the following steps:

- Define a data source that points to your database. Select the myproject application, module, right-click it, and select Java EE → Open WebSphere Application Server Deployment.
- 2. Scroll down to the Authentication section. Click **Add** near the JAAS Authentication list subsection. The Add JAAS Authentication Entry dialog box is displayed.
- Enter derbyuser for the alias, user ID, and description fields, and derbyuser for the password field. Click **OK**. A new authentication alias is listed in the JAAS Authentication list.
- 4. Scroll up to the Data Sources section and click **Add** near the JDBC provider list subsection.
- Select Derby as the database type and Derby Network Server Using Derby Client as the JDBC provider type in the Create JDBC Provider window. Click Next.
- 6. Enter Derby Network Server Using Derby Client in the name field of the JDBC Provider Details window.
- 7. Select the entries in the classpath section and click **Remove**.
- 8. Click Add External JARs. A file selection dialog box is displayed. Navigate to the C:\db-derby-10.8.2.2-bin\lib folder, select the following JAR files, and click OK to add it:

derbyclient.jar

The JDBC provider settings window (Figure 10-25) opens. Click Finish.

OModify a JDBC Provider		
Modify JDBC Provide Edit the settings of the JDBC	e <b>r</b> Provider.	Q
Name: Description: Implementation class name:	Serby Network Server Using Derby Client Derby Network Server Using Derby Client org.apache.derby.jdbc.ClientConnectionPoolDataSource	<b>T</b>
Class path:	C:\db-derby-10.8.2.2-bin\lib\derbyclient.jar	Add External JARs Add Path Edit Remove
Native path:		Add External JARs Add Path Edit Remove
(?)	< Back Next >	Finish Cancel

Figure 10-25 JDBC provider settings

 The new JDBC provider is listed in the JDBC providers list. Click this line to select DB2 JDBC Provider, and then click Add in the data sources subsection. 10.Select **Derby Network Server Using Derby Client** in the Create Data Source window (Figure 10-26). Click **Next**. The Data Source details window opens.

💽 Create Data Source	
Create Data Source	
Select the type of data source to create.	
	0-
Select the type of JDBC provider:	
User-defined JDBC Provider Derby Network Server Using Derby Client	
Select the data source type:	
C Version 4.0 data source	
Back Next > Finish	Cancel

Figure 10-26 Selecting a provider for a data source

11. In the JNDI Name field, enter jdbc/testds.

12. In the Container-managed authentication alias and Component-managed authentication alias fields, select the **derbyuser** authentication alias that you created before (Figure 10-27). Click **Next**. The Create Resource Properties window opens.

Create Data Source		
Select the type of data source to create.		
Name:	Data source 1	
JNDI name:	jdbc/testds	
Description:	minVer 6.1 - maxVer null - New Network Server JDBC Datasource that uses Derby Network Client. This Datasource type is only configurable in version 6.1 and later nodes	A V
Category:		
Statement cache size:	10	
Data source helper class name:	com.ibm.websphere.rsadapter.DerbyNetworkServerDataStoreHelper	•
Connection timeout:	180	
Maximum connections:	10	
Minimum connections:	1	
Reap time:	180	
Unused timeout:	1800	
Ared timeout:	<u>ا</u> م	_
Purge policy:	EntirePool	•
Component-managed authentication alias:	derbyuser	•
Container-managed authentication alias:	derbyuser	•
🔽 Use this data source in container mana	ged persistence (CMP)	
* Required field.		
?	< Back Next > Finish Cance	3

Figure 10-27 Data Source details

13. In the Create Resource Properties window (Figure 10-17 on page 335), select the databaseName Resource Property. In the value field for this property, enter ibmredbookproject. Select the serverName property. In the value field for this property, enter localhost. Click Finish.

Create Resou Create the resour	r <b>ce Properties</b> e properties for this data source.		
Resource Properti	s:		
Name	Description	<b>•</b>	
📙 databaseNar	adminRequired=true - This is a required property. T		
📑 dataSourceN	me Name for XADataSource. Not used by the data sour		
escription 🗄	Description of the Data Source. Not used by the Dat		
🖶 serverName	Server hosting the Derby Server.		
📑 portNumber	The port number the Derby network Server is listeni		
🛙 晴 securityMech	n Specifies a security mechanism for client access to th	<u> </u>	
Name:	atabaseName		
Type:	ava.lang.String		
Required	oc		
roquirou.			
Value:	pizzashop		
Description: adminRequired=true - This is a required property. This property must be set and it identifies which database to ac			
?	< Back	lext > Finish Cancel	

Figure 10-28 Resource properties for data source

- 14. Press Ctrl+s to save your changes.
- 15.Open applicationContext.xml in the Java Resources/src/META\_INF/spring folder of the web module. Switch to the **Source** tab of the XML editor.
- 16.Comment out the existing bean definition C:\db-derby-10.8.2.2-bin\lib for the 'dataSource' ID.
- 17.Add the following bean definition:

```
<jee:jndi-lookup
id="testDatasource"
jndi-name="jdbc/testds"
cache="true"
expected-type="javax.sql.DataSource" />
```

- 18.Change the 'dataSource' property of the entityManagerFactory bean from <property name="dataSource" ref="dataSource" /> to <property name="dataSource" ref="testDatasource" />.
- 19. Press Ctrl+s to save your changes.
- 20.Publish your changes to the test server. Select the test server from the Servers view, right-click, and select **Publish**.
- 21. Test the application.

The sample application is configured to use a data source that is defined at the application server instead of the Spring managed Apache DBCP connection pool.

#### Using OpenJPA instead of Hibernate as the persistence provider

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 uses OpenJPA as the default JPA provider. To use the default JPA provider with our sample application, complete the following steps:

- Expand the web module and open Java Resources/src/META-INF/persistence.xml. Switch to the Source tab.
- Modify the provider element to point to OpenJPA by replacing <provider>org.hibernate.ejb.HibernatePersistence</provider> with <provider>org.apache.openjpa.persistence.PersistenceProviderImpl</provider>.
- 3. Add a non-jta-data source by adding the following line under the provider element:

<non-jta-data-source>jdbc/testds</non-jta-data-source>

4. Remove all Hibernate specific properties and add their OpenJPA equivalents as follows:

```
<property name ="openjpa.jdbc.DBDictionary" value"derby" />
<property name ="openjpa.RuntimeUnenhancedClasses" value="supported" />
<property name ="openjpa.jdbc.SynchronizeMappings" value="buildSchema" />
```

- 5. Open the applicationContext.xml at Java Resources/src/META\_INF/spring folder of the web module. Switch to the **Source** tab of the XML editor.
- 6. Remove the dataSource property of the entityManagerFactory bean.
- Press Ctrl+s to save your changes.
- 8. Publish your changes to the test server. Select the test server from servers view, right-click, and select **Publish**.
- 9. Test the application.

The sample application is configured to use the built-in OpenJPA provider instead of Hibernate.

### 10.2.7 Summary

While we migrated our sample Spring Roo generated application, we demonstrated the following concepts:

- Using Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software as a build and test environment
- Using WebSphere Application Server Migration Tool
- Using shared libraries for managing dependencies

The main points to highlight during this migration are:

- Applications may contain libraries that provide classes that are defined by Java EE specifications, so they are already provided by WebSphere Application Server V8.5. These libraries must be removed from the application before deployment.
- ► Using a third-party JPA provider requires changes to the classloading configuration.
- Using a third-party JSF implementation requires changes in the classloading configuration.
- Database connection pooling and persistence providers may easily be migrated to their WebSphere provided counterparts.

For detailed preferred practices when you develop Spring and Hibernate applications for a WebSphere Application Server environment, go to:

- http://www.ibm.com/developerworks/websphere/techjournal/0609\_alcott/0609\_alcott.h tml
- http://www14.software.ibm.com/webapp/wsbroker/redirect?version=phil&product=was-n d-mp&topic=cspr intro

## Part 4

## Migrating from earlier versions of WebSphere Application Server

This part describes how to migrate applications that are written for earlier versions of WebSphere Application Server (starting with Version 5.1) to later versions of WebSphere Application Server. We show you how you can use the Application Migration Tool - WebSphere Version to Version in your migrations.

# 11

## Installation and configuration of the Application Migration Tool -WebSphere Version to Version

This chapter provides information for installing the Application Migration Tool - WebSphere Version to Version, which guides you while you migrate your applications to IBM WebSphere Application Server V8.5. We explain the steps to be completed whether you are using Eclipse Marketplace, command-line installation, and Rational Application Developer V8.5.

This chapter describes the following topics:

- Application Migration Tool WebSphere Version to Version overview
- Installing Application Migration Tool on Eclipse

## **11.1 Application Migration Tool - WebSphere Version to Version overview**

The Application Migration Tool - WebSphere Version to Version (Application Migration Tool) is part of the IBM WebSphere Application Server Migration Toolkit. This toolkit is part of an overall migration strategy. The Application Migration Tool uses its scanning capabilities to look for specific constructs that changed between versions of WebSphere Application Server that can affect compilation and application server runtime behaviors. The tool provides a way to review problematic code, detailed help on the issue, and in some cases, makes automatic fixes to the code so that the application can run on IBM WebSphere Application Server Versions 7, 8, or 8.5.

There are a number of issues that affect the code migration and development steps when you migrate to newer WebSphere Application Server releases. The migration process can involve modifying Java source code, JavaServer Pages (JSP), and deployment descriptors. These changes include:

- Changes to the Java Runtime Environment (JRE) encountered in Java SE 5, 6, and 7
- Removal of previously deprecated features
- Behavioral changes in the product APIs
- ► Changes resulting from Java Enterprise Edition (Java EE) specification clarifications
- Deprecated features

The migration process can involve modifying Java source code, JavaServer Pages (JSP), and deployment descriptors. The Application Migration Tool helps perform these types of code changes. The Application Migration Tool scans for a number of known issues in applications that are being migrated from WebSphere Application Server Versions 5.1, 6.0, 6.1, or 7.0 to WebSphere Application Server Versions 7.0, 8.0, or 8.5. Where possible, a quick fix is provided to change the application code to address the changes between versions.

For WebSphere Application Server version migration, the tool supports migration from:

- WebSphere Application Server Version 5.1
- WebSphere Application Server Version 6.0
- WebSphere Application Server Version 6.1
- WebSphere Application Server Version 7.0
- WebSphere Application Server Version 8.0

to:

- WebSphere Application Server Version 7.0
- WebSphere Application Server Version 8.0
- WebSphere Application Server Version 8.5

### 11.1.1 Application Migration Tool V3.5

Application Migration Tool adds new rules to help migrate applications, including:

- ▶ New Java and XML rules to migrate to WebSphere Application Server Version 8.5
- ▶ New Java SE 7 rules to flag Java 7 compatibility changes if you choose to use Java 7
- ► A new dynamic rule set dialog box, which simplifies rule selection and ease of use
- New depreciation rules

### 11.1.2 WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile

WebSphere Application Server V8.5 includes a new Liberty profile server that provides a highly composable, rapid starting, and dynamic application server runtime environment. The Application Migration Tool can be used concurrently with the WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Liberty profile Developer Tools to run applications in Liberty profile environments.

The Application Migration Tool is compatible with the IBM WebSphere Application Server Versions 8.5, 8.0, and 7.0 Developer Tools, so that you can migrate, develop, deploy, and test within a single lightweight Eclipse Integrated Development Environment (IDE).

For an overview of the migration process and Application Migration Tool, see Chapter 4, "Installation and configuration of the Application Migration Tools" on page 89.

### **11.2 Installing Application Migration Tool on Eclipse**

The Application Migration Tool - WebSphere Version to Version can be installed as described in Chapter 4, "Installation and configuration of the Application Migration Tools" on page 89. Here we show you a step by step installation using Eclipse Marketplace and the command-line interface (CLI).

**Tip:** Uninstall Versions 1.x, 2.0, or 3.5 Beta of Application Migration Tool before you install Version 3.5. Versions 2.1, 3.0, and 3.1 can be upgraded to Version 3.5.

### **11.2.1** Installing Application Migration Tool using Eclipse Marketplace

To install the Application Migration Tool using Eclipse Marketplace, complete the following steps:

- 1. Click Help  $\rightarrow$  Eclipse Marketplace.
- 2. In the Search tab, Enter WebSphere in the search box and click Go.

3. From the search results window (Figure 11-1), click the **Install** button next to the section that includes IBM WebSphere Application Server Migration Toolkit.

🗑 Eclipse Marketplace					
Eclipse M Select soli	Eclipse Marketplace Select solutions to install. Press Finish to proceed with installation.				
Press the	Press the information button to see a detailed overview and a link to more information.				
Search	Recent Popular Installed				
Find: wet	All Markets  All Categories	✓ 60			
IBM WebSphere eXtreme Scale V8.5 Liberty Profile Developer Tools ①					
	This tooling allow WebSphere eXtreme Scale user to develop and configure WebSphere eXtreme Scale on WebSphere Application Server 8.5 Liberty Profile				
	by IBM, Commercial - Free	Install			
	IBM WebSphere Application Server Migration Toolkit	i			
	The IBM® WebSphere® Application Server Migration Toolkit is a suite of tools and knowledge collections tha enables your organization to quickly and	t 🗏			
	by IBM, Commercial - Free	Install			
A	IBM WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Developer Tools	í			
	*V8.5* IBM WebSphere® Application Server V8.5 Developer Tools provides a development environment for and deploying Java EE, OSGi and Web 2.0 applications	building			
	by IBM, Commercial - Free	Install			
A	IBM WebSphere Application Server V8.0 Developer Tools	í			
	*V8.5* IBM WebSphere® Application Server V8.0 Developer Tools provides a development environment for and deploying Java EE, OSGi and Web 2.0 applications	building			
	by IBM, Commercial - Free	Install			
A	IBM WebSphere Application Server V7.0 Developer Tools	í			
	*V8.5* IBM WebSphere® Application Server V7.0 Developer Tools provides a development environment for and deploying Java EE, and Web 2.0 applications to	building			
	by IBM, Commercial - Free	Install			
Switch Marketplace catalog					
?	< Back Next > Finish	Cancel			

Figure 11-1 Eclipse Marketplace

4. Select the **Application Migration Tool** check box, which selects both the main feature and the other included features, as shown in Figure 11-2.

Clipse Marketplace				
Confirm Selected Features				
V R IBM WebSphere Application Server Migration Toolkit http://public.dhe.ibm.com/software/websphere/migtoolkit/v2v/     V A pplication Migration Tool - Common Feature				
<ul> <li>✓ I Application Migration Tool - JRE Feature</li> <li>✓ I Application Migration Tool - WebSphere Version to Version</li> </ul>				
r Details				

Figure 11-2 Select the features

- 5. Accept the installation license and start the installation.
- 6. When the installation completes, restart Eclipse.

### 11.2.2 Installing Application Migration Tool using the CLI

The Migration Toolkit features can be installed using the Eclipse command-line installation facility. Example 11-1 shows the installation of Application Migration Tool - WebSphere Version to Version using the command line.

```
Example 11-1 Installation
```

```
C:\Program Files\IBM\SDP\eclipsec.exe
-application org.eclipse.equinox.p2.director
-metadataRepository
jar:file:C:/<amtDownloadDir>/Application_Migration_Tool_WebSphere_Version_to_Versi
on_vn.n.n.zip!/
-artifactRepository
jar:file:C:/<amtDownloadDir>/Application_Migration_Tool_WebSphere_Version_to_Versi
on_vn.n.n.zip!/
-installIU com.ibm.ws.appconversion_feature.was2was.feature.group
-nosplash
```

The corresponding uninstall command is shown in Example 11-2.

```
Example 11-2 Uninstall
```

```
C:\Program Files\IBM\SDP\eclipsec.exe
-application org.eclipse.equinox.p2.director
-uninstallIU com.ibm.ws.appconversion_feature.was2was.feature.group
-nosplash
```

### **11.2.3 Installing Application Migration Tool using Rational Application Developer Version 8.5**

This section describes the steps to install and implement the Application Migration Tool using Rational Application Developer V8.5. Complete the following steps:

- Download the latest version of the Application Migration Tool WebSphere Version to Version feature from the developerWorks site at http://www.ibm.com/developerworks/websphere/downloads/migration\_toolkit.html and save it locally.
- 2. From the Rational Application Developer V8.5 menu bar, click Help  $\rightarrow$  Install New Software.
- 3. In the Install window, click Add.
- 4. In the Add Site window, enter the following information (Figure 11-3):
  - Name: Enter an appropriate name for the tool, for example, Application Migration Tool
     Version to Version.
  - Location: Enter the location of the compressed file that you downloaded, for example, C:\Application Migration Tool WebSphere Version to Version v3.5.0.zip.

🖲 Install			
Available Software Select a site or enter the location of a site.			
Work with: type or select a site Add Find more software by working with the <u>"Available Software Sites"</u> preferences.			
type filter text			
Image: There is no site select       Add Repository         Name:       WebSphere Application Migration Tool       Local         Location:       jar:file:/C:/Application_Migration_Tool_WebSphere_\       Archive         Select All       Deselect All       OK       Cancel			
✓ Show only the latest versions of available software       ☐ Hide items that are already installed         ✓ Group items by category       What is <u>already installed</u> ?         ☐ Show only software applicable to target environment         ✓ Contact all update sites during install to find required software			
Cancel			

Figure 11-3 Install the Migration Toolkit using Rational Application Developer V8.5

5. In the Install window, select the plug-in that you want to install (Figure 11-4). Click Next.

🗢 Install				
Available Software Check the items that you wish to install.				
Work with: WebSphere Application Migration Tool - jar:file:/C:/Application Fir	n_Migration_Tool_WebSphere_Version_to_Version_v3.5 💙 Add			
type filter text				
ION Application Migration Tools     Application Migration Tool - Common Feature     Application Migration Tool - JRE Feature     Application Migration Tool - WebSphere Version to Version	3.5.0.v20120427_1433 3.5.0.v20120427_1433 3.5.0.v20120427_1433			
Select All Deselect All 3 items selected				
<ul> <li>Show only the latest versions of available software</li> <li>Group items by category</li> <li>Show only software applicable to target environment</li> <li>Contact all update sites during install to find required software</li> </ul>	Hide items that are already installed What is <u>already installed</u> ?			
?	< Back Next > Finish Cancel			

Figure 11-4 Available Software window

- 6. Accept the license agreement and click **Finish** to begin the installation.
- 7. After the installation is completed, click **Restart Now** to restart Rational Application Developer.

# 12

# Migrating from earlier versions of WebSphere Application Server

This chapter describes migrating applications from earlier versions of WebSphere Application Server, particularly from Version 6.1, Version 7.0, or Version 8.0 to Version 8.5.

This chapter describes the following topics:

- Concepts
- Plants by WebSphere sample application migration
- Migration of Plants By WebSphere
- Probability Distribution Sample
- Web services Axis 2 stock quote

### 12.1 Concepts

For most applications, migrating from one version of the WebSphere Application Server to a later version is straightforward and occurs when the version of the application server that is used to host the application is upgraded. However, that upgrade of the installed application server is only a small part of the overall version to version migration effort.

### 12.1.1 The overall migration process

Any migration effort, whether it is a competitive migration or a version to version migration, should have a formal project plan. Figure 12-1 depicts the overall migration process.



Figure 12-1 Migration process

The overall migration process has several components:

- Assessment
- Planning
- Skills
- Runtime environment
- Development environment
- Test, production, and review

### Assessment

Assessment is the first step of migration planning and is important, as it identifies all factors that have an impact on the migration plan. It is requirements gathering based on each individual company's situation. It has the following steps:

- Identify the stakeholders and identify a core migration team (especially in the case of large migration projects).
- Identify the education requirements for both developers and administrators. Hardware requirements should be assessed during this phase and any possible upgrade should be considered. A hardware upgrade should be planned for production systems and any systems that are used for development. A possible hardware upgrade could be 32-bit systems to 64-bit systems.
- Identify the level of WebSphere Application Server to migrate to. The factors that affect this decision are requirements for any specific Java EE and Java SE version, any requirements of third-party applications or other WebSphere products and any architectural or compatibility changes in WebSphere Application Server. During this step, the vendor applications should be assessed for readiness to execute the version of WebSphere Application Server to which migration is being planned. The application should be assessed for the topology for downtime tolerance and failover support. Then, the application should be assessed for Java EE specification changes and JRE changes.
- Review the testing practices to determine if there is adequate coverage. The amount of automated testing is also important to ensure repeatable success.

### Planning

A migration plan should be built that takes each of the assessment results into account. It has the following steps:

- ► Acquire and plan for upgrading hardware requirements.
- Upgrade any prerequisite software, such as the operating system and web server levels.
- Address your education needs.
- Identify early adopters of the migrated application, so that the lessons learned may be applied to further iterations with other teams. While you work with the early adopters, pilot projects that can be used to drive the migration process should be identified.
- Create an application rollout strategy. From the information is collected so far, build an execution timeline, taking the availability requirements, the maintenance window, and lockdown periods into consideration.
- Include and practice a rollback plan before you attempt the migration of production systems. The WebSphere Application Server configuration migration runtime tools and techniques provide a good rollback plan by not destroying the old WebSphere Application Server environment before you install the new WebSphere Application Server environment. This situation enhances the ease of supporting a rollback plan.

### Skills

Various techniques can be used for education, including formal classes and online education. The aspects of education that should be considered are new development tooling, changes in WebSphere Application Server administration model, changes in the new version of WebSphere Application Server, and new standards, such as Java EE.

### **Runtime environment**

The migration of the runtime environment covers the migration of the application server's configuration. We touch on aspects of this part of the migration process. In addition, the runtime environment migration is covered in more detail in *WebSphere Application Server V7 Migration Guide*, REDP-4635.

Most organizations have more than one runtime environment, including development test, system test, performance, and pre-production environments. For the migration period, you need parallel test environments in most if not all of the test environments so that you can maintain applications that are not migrated, but also to support testing for the new version. It is also important to use some of these test systems to test your migration plan, especially those systems that are the closest to representing the production environment.

### **Development environment**

A development environment or application migration is one of the most time-consuming parts of the version to version process.

Moving to the next version of WebSphere Application Server may require a change in integrated development environment (IDE). Iteration can be useful in this transition as well.

There is usually no need to upgrade applications to the latest J2EE specification level supported by the version of WebSphere Application Server that you use. Support is also provided to run applications that are written to these earlier level J2EE specifications.

There might be no development that is required to change existing applications, but this situation is not always the case. If changes are required, it is important to try and keep the changes minimal, and make only those changes that are required to get the application migrated and running on the new version. After a successful and stable migration to the WebSphere Application Server, it is safe to use the new features and functions of the latest version. Also, deprecation should be addressed at some point in time.

### Test, production, and review

After the application and runtime environments are initially migrated, the proposed migration must move through the standard test cycle and be put into production. This test cycle should ideally be performed using a set of standard regression tests that are used whenever an application is modified for maintenance or for business upgrade. Automating these tests is a preferred practice.

Another important aspect is to monitor the application's performance. Because of the differences in WebSphere Application Server and JDK versions, ensure that the application performance is not degraded. Have a rollback plan for the production environment.

After this task is accomplished, you are ready for the final step of migration of the production environment.

After the migration is complete, review the migration experience to examine what went correct, what went wrong, and what lessons can be learned. You can then iteratively improve your migration experience with this knowledge and adjustments.
# 12.1.2 Ease of migration

Most applications migrate between versions of the WebSphere Application Server without encountering any problems. Any changes between different versions of the application are now minimized to reduce the set of applications that encounter problems. The more versions that you migrate between can increase the possible number of incompatibilities.

## 12.1.3 Known issues

There is a set of known issues that might cause problems when migrating applications between different versions of the application server. They are included in the Application Migration Tool to provide a programmatic way to identify the required changes in your applications. IBM also maintains a full list of the issues as part of the IBM Migration Knowledge Collection, available at:

http://www-1.ibm.com/support/docview.wss?rs=180&uid=swg27008724

The following section describes the major development and WebSphere API changes in WebSphere Application Server V8.5, WebSphere Application Server V8, WebSphere Application Server V7, and WebSphere Application Server V6.1.

#### Major changes in Version 8.5

This section describes major known issues in Version 8.5 that should be considered during application migration.

#### Moving to the Java 7 run time

The following section lists the changes as a result of moving to the Java 7 run time:

- ► AWT:
  - The MouseEvent.getButton() method may return values outside of the 0 3 range in the plan. Previously, the MouseEvent.getButton() method returned a value 0 - 3 when the user clicked a button or used the scroll wheel. To accommodate newer models of mice with two scroll wheels, or four and five buttons, the method now returns a value from 0 to the number of buttons.
  - Invoking Windows.setBackground may result in an UnsupportedOperationException exception. Applications that apply a non-opaque background color to their frames might fail when the application is run on a system that does not support translucency effects.
  - Toolkit.getPrintJob(Frame, String, Properties) now throws NullPointerException. Before this release, when you invoke Toolkit.getPrintJob(Frame, String, Properties) in a headless environment, a HeadlessException is thrown instead of the specified NullPointerException.
  - Various Toolkit methods now throw HeadlessException. For example, Toolkit.isFrameStateSupported(int), and Toolkit.loadSystemColors(int[]), now throw a HeadlessException when used in a headless environment
  - The sun.awt.exception.handler system property is replaced with a Thread.UncaughtExceptionHandler class.
- Globalization
  - There is a separation of User Locale and User Interface Locale. The default locale can be independently set for two types of uses: the format setting is used for formatting resources, and the display setting is used in menus and dialogs. The new Locale.getDefault(Locale.Category) method takes a Locale.Category parameter.

- The UTF-8 implementation is updated so that Corrigendum adheres to Unicode 3.0.1.
   Previously, there were 5 byte and 6 byte forms of UTF-8 sequences that were allowed.
   These forms are now rejected.
- ► 10

The java.io.File.setReadOnly and setWriteable methods have a new behavior. There is no longer a need to set the DOS read-only attribute on directories. This situation means that these methods fail and return false, if the file is a directory. To preserve the relationship with canWrite, the canWrite method returns true if the file is a directory.

JDBC

New JDBC methods are introduced, including new methods in Interfaces. There are new methods to support JDBC 4.1. These methods include methods added to the java.sql.Connection, java.sql.Driver, javax.sql.CommonDatasource, and java.sql.Statement interfaces.

- JAXP
  - The XSLTProcessorApplet class was removed. The XSLTProcessorApplet class is an application-level convenience class that had various problems and was removed.
  - JAX-WS Server throws a SOAP Fault when it encounters a DTD. SOAP Message Construct, which is the XML infoset of a SOAP message, must not contain a document type declaration (DTD) information item.
- ► Language
  - Previously, ThreadGroup.setMaxPriority did not behave as specified if the passed-in value was less than Thread.MIN\_PRIORITY; it resets the input value to Thread.MIN\_PRIORITY. The specification states that a value less than Thread.MIN\_PRIORITY is ignored. The ThreadGroup.setMaxPriority method now behaves as specified.
  - java.lang.Character.isLowerCase/isUpperCase methods are updated to comply with the specified Unicode definition.
  - The TypeVisitor interface is updated. To model the language changes in this release, several updates were made to javax.lang.model.\*, including adding a method to the javax.lang.model.type.TypeVisitor interface.
  - Do not define methods as final on java.lang.Throwable. This setting affects classes that extend Throwable. Methods addSuppressed and getSuppressed are added.
- Networking

A server connection shuts down when you attempt to read data when the HTTP Response Code is -1. The HTTP protocol handler closes the connection to a server that sends a response without a valid HTTP status line. When this action occurs, any attempt to read data on that connection results in an IOException.

Text

The java.text.BreakIterator.isBoundary(int) method now behaves as specified. The method now returns false, as specified, when the offset is out of bounds, rather than throwing an IllegalArgumentException.

- Utilities
  - The new sort behavior for Arrays and Collections might throw an llegalArgumentException, if it detects a Comparable that violates the Comparable contract.

- Inserting an invalid element through constructor or puts methods in to a TreeMap or TreeSet throws a NullPointerException. Previously, it was possible to insert invalid null elements and elements not implementing the Comparable interface in to an empty TreeMap or TreeSet. Additional elements cause the expected NullPointerException or ClassCastException. Most other operations upon collection would also fail.
- Formatter.format() now throws FormatFlagsConversionMismatchException when the "#" flag is specified for conversion "s" and the following argument is not a Formattable instance (including the special case "null").

#### JPA changes

Here are the JPA changes:

- Change in the JPA cascade strategy: There is a behavior change for entity relationships that use cascade types PERSIST, MERGE, and ALL. The previous release checks the database for the existence of the related Entity before it persists the relationship to that Entity. This action resulted in an extra Select being sent to the database. In the current release, code is added so that when you cascade a persist to a related Entity without a persistence state, the persist (insert) happens without first checking the database. This action might result in an EntityExistsException if the related Entity exists in the database. To revert this behavior to the previous release, set the value of the openjpa.Compatibility property CheckDatabaseForCascadePersistToDetachedEntity to true.
- ► JPA MetaModel code generation that concerns ListAttribute changed. In previous releases, the MetaModel implementation generated a ListAttribute for every array. This behavior is correct if the array is annotated as a PersistentCollection, but not correct for unannotated arrays (for example, byte[], char[]). This behavior is corrected so that arrays that are not stored as PersistentCollections use a SingularAttribute instead of a ListAttribute. The behavior can be reverted by setting the Compatibility property </br/>
  <UseListAttributeForArrays to true in persistence.xml to the property name="openjpa.Compatibility" value="UseListAttributeForArrays=true".

# Major changes in Version 8.0

This section describes major known issues in Version 8.0 that should be considered during application migration.

### Moving to Java EE 6

WebSphere Application Server V8.0 conforms to Java EE 6, and the migration of applications should consider changes in Java EE 6 when you migrate to V8.0.

#### EJB changes

Table 12-1 describes the EJB changes that must be considered.

Interface	Detail	Old behavior	New behavior
EJB	EJBs in web modules.	Ignored	Now processed. This action might result in latent errors.
@ ApplicationException	In EJB 3.1, inherit is a new keyword and defaults to true.	inherit=false	inherit=true. Can impact the subclassing exceptions behavior.

#### Table 12-1 EJB changes

#### JAX-WS changes

Table 12-2 describes the JAX-WS changes that must be considered.

Table 12-2	JAX-WS changes
------------	----------------

Interface	Detail	Old behavior	New behavior
JAX-WS client	Some calls that result in local exceptions are caused by an invalid host or port.	WebServiceException is thrown on the invoked method with an empty message.	The Handlers handleFault message is called with a SOAPFaultException.
JAX-WS client	Handling of Policy:Addressing in WSDL.	Ignored.	Processed.
SOAPMessage	There is getSOAPHeader and getSOAPBody behavior if there are no headers present.	No error.	Throws a SOAPException.

**JAX\_RPC:** JAX\_RPC is deprecated in Java EE 6 and stabilized by WebSphere Application Server.

#### JCA enhancements

Table 12-3 describes the JCA enhancements that must be considered.

Table 12-3 JCA enhancements

Interface	Detail	Old behavior	New behavior
SQL exception error code	Paused data sources have no unique return code.	Always returned 0	2147117569

#### JPA changes

Table 12-4 describes the JPA changes that must be considered.

Table 12-4 JPA changes

Interface	Detail	Old behavior	New behavior
EntityManager	The refresh() method passes a null.	No error	An IllegalArgument exception is thrown.
detach(Objectentity)	A new method on numerous APIs, JPA 1.x has a similar method: <t> T detach(<t> pc).</t></t>	<t> T detach(<t> pc)</t></t>	Change from <t> T detach(<t> pc) to the new <t> T detachCopy(<t> pc).</t></t></t></t>

#### JSF changes

Here are the JSF changes:

- The default JSF implementation is changed from SUN RI to MyFaces. MyFaces is at JSF Version 2.0. SUN RI is left at JSF Version 1.2 and is used only for compatibility with earlier versions. If you want to take advantage of JSF 2.0 features, you must rewrite your JSPs to use Facelets.
- More exceptions are passed on in JSF 2.0 that would not have surfaced in JSF 1.2.

#### JSP changes

Table 12-5 describes the JSP changes that must be considered.

Interface	Detail	Old behavior	New behavior
JSP-Property-Groups	The is-xml and page-encoding configuration options should apply only to those JSPs that match the URL pattern.	Matching JSPs AND their included JSPs	Matching JSPs only

#### OSGi changes

Table 12-6 describes the OSGi changes that must be considered.

Table 12-6 OSGi changes

Interface	Detail	Old behavior	New behavior
Composite bundles (.cba)	Scope of bundles that are packaged within composites	Public visibility outside of the composite	Private visibility within the composite

#### SIP changes

Table 12-7 describes the SIP changes that must be considered.

Table 12-7 SIP changes

Interface	Detail	Old behavior	New behavior
SIPFactory	The createRequest and createAddress(String sipAddress) with URI as input or return parameters should be enclosed within brackets ("<>").	Brackets ignored	Brackets are handled correctly

#### WebSphere removals

Here are the features that are removed from WebSphere Application Server V8.5:

- Apache SOAP implementation is removed and standard WebServices support can be used instead.
- com.ibm.websphere.ant.tasks.StopServer.setHost (java.lang.String host).

- com.ibm.websphere.rsadapter.WSConnectJDBCDataStoreHelper.
- com.ibm.websphere.servlet.error.ServletErrorReport.getCause( ).

#### Major changes in Version 7.0

This section describes major known issues in Version 7.0 that should be considered during application migration.

#### Moving to JRE 6

The following section describes the impact of moving to JRE 6:

- Applications using the new language features and JRE 6 can be deployed only to WebSphere Application Server V7.0 nodes. When you compile applications, you can specify '-source' and '-target' modes for earlier JRE targets. For example, '-source 1.4', and 'target 1.4'.
- Java Serialization is not compatible across JRE 1.4 and earlier releases. Force UUIDs as a preferred practice.
- Any new features in Java that result in new classes can cause ambiguous references if these new classes match ones that are defined in your program.

For more information, see the Java SE 6 website at:

#### http://java.sun.com/javase/6/

#### JRE 6 source compatibility

JRE 6 is generally upwards source-compatible with JRE 5 except for some minimal factors:

- Some APIs in the sun.\* packages have changed. These APIs are not intended for use by developers. Developers importing from sun.\* packages do so at their own risk.
- In some cases, javac can now reject previously accepted yet incorrect programs. For example:
  - javac correctly rejects invalid casts.
  - EJB business methods that are not declared as public.
  - FilterMapping that is mapped to a non-existing servlet.
- Debug and Profiler interfaces have changed. The Java virtual machine Debug Interface (JVMDI) is removed, and the Java virtual machine Profiler Interface (JVMPI) is disabled.
- Non-class files are moved from rt.jar in Java SE 6. Java applications that specify
   -Xbootclasspath:<path to rt.jar> and request any resource files fail, because these resources are now in a different JAR file called resources.jar.
- Miscellaneous API changes:
  - The Duration and XMLGregorianCalendar equals() methods now return false for a null parameter.
  - java.beans.EventHandler enforces valid arguments.

For a complete list of factors, see:

#### http://java.sun.com/javase/6/webnotes/compatibility.html

#### Moving to Java Platform, Enterprise Edition 5

The following section describes some specification changes that must be considered when you migrate to Java Platform, Enterprise Edition 5. This section focuses on those interfaces in Version 7.0 that are upgraded to JEE5 with no alternative to using the older support in J2E 1.4.

For example:

- ► JSP is upgraded to 2.1 from 2.0.
- ► EJB is upgraded to 3.0, but EJB 2.1 applications still run at 2.1.

For complete details about specification level options, see:

http://publib.boulder.ibm.com/infocenter/wasinfo/v7r0/index.jsp?topic=/com.ibm.web sphere.base.doc/info/aes/ae/rovr\_specs.html

#### Some JSP 2.1 changes

Some of the JSP 2.1 changes are listed here:

- New reserved character: The character sequence '#{' is now reserved by JSP. So if '#{' is used in the template text or as a literal in an attribute value for a 1.2-based taglib, the sequence must be escaped.
- Resource injection can cause some JSPs to no longer compile. Large JSPs may now be over the 64 K limit because of new Resource injection support. This support can be turned off by setting the JSP attribute "disableResourceInjection" to true in ibm-ext-web.xmi in Version 7.0.0.11 and later.
- Redefining taglibs in a current scope is no longer supported. To allow the taglib definition, set the JSP attribute '<jsp-attribute name="allowTaglibPrefixRedefinition" value="true"/>' or set a webcontainer custom property for the server to 'com.ibm.wsspi.jsp.allowtaglibprefixredefinition=true'. This custom property affects all applications on the server.
- A tag library directive that defines a prefix must occur before that prefix is used in a custom tag. To use a prefix before, set a webcontainer custom property for the server to 'com.ibm.wsspi.jsp.allowtaglibprefixusebeforedefinition=true'. This custom property affects all applications on the server.
- Multiple occurrences of properties in the jsp:output element is no longer supported. To support this configuration, set a webcontainer custom property for the server to 'com.ibm.wsspi.jsp.allowjspoutputelementmismatch=true'. This custom property affects all applications on the server.

#### Differences from the V 6.1 feature pack

This section explains major differences between V6.1 and V7.0 feature packs.

#### EJB 3.0 Feature Pack for v6.1

Here are some of the differences:

- EJB 3.0 binding file errors: Some applications might not start on WebSphere Application Server V7.0 because uniqueness checks are now performed on names that are used in the EJB 3.0 bindings file.
- Using runtime JAR files implicitly: When Enterprise beans (EJB) applications are deployed, a runtime ClassNotFoundException exception might be thrown because the class path entry Java archive (JAR) file is not exported or published and uses one or more runtime JAR files. This message is only a warning.
- WebSphere Application Server V7.0 *does not* support the use of bean managed persistence (BMP) and container managed persistence (CMP) entity beans in EJB 3.0-level modules. BMP entity beans are supported in the Feature Pack for EJB 3.0.

#### WebServices Feature Pack for V6.1

Here are some of the differences:

- In WebSphere Application Server V7.0, JAX-WS annotations are supported only in modules whose version is Java<sup>™</sup> EE 5 or later.
- In WebSphere Application Server V7.0, JAXB is provided as part of JRE 6. The factory implementation is different in Version 7.0 than in Version 6.1.

#### Both WebServices and EJB Feature packs

To preserve compatibility with Version 6.1 Feature Packs, you must enable one of the following properties to request scanning during application installation and server startup:

- ► UseWSFEP61ScanPolicy property for Feature Pack for Web Services
- UseEJB61FEPScanPolicy property for Feature Pack for EJB 3.0

#### JSF 1.2 Impacts

This section describes the JSF 1.2 differences:

- There are some fixes to resolve some previous problems with content-interweaving between JSF and non-JSF tags.
- ViewHandler extenders are affected. Some custom scripting and some third-party packages must support JSF 1.2, for example, "Tiles". Other examples may be Tomahawk, Trinidad, IceFaces, Facelets, and so on.
- ► JSF Portlets report higher memory consumption, resulting in larger sessions.
- For JSF 1.0 applications, remove the JSF 1.0 JAR files (jsf-impl.jar and jsf-api.jar) that Rational Application Developer puts in to the application. JSF is now part of the Java EE stack and is a first class technology in the run time.

#### Scanning for annotations

JEE5 introduces support for annotations. This support requires a new step to scan Java annotations during application installation, which can take a significant amount of time. A web module includes both the classes that are packaged directly within the WAR file (under the WEB-INF/classes directory) and classes that are packaged in JAR files within the WAR file.

Applications can be optimized directly by marking modules as JEE5 level when they contain Java Platform, Enterprise Edition 5 content. If the module is known to have no annotations, the "metadata-complete" flag can be used to optimize the scan. Also, the application can be restructured to place utility JAR files, which are known to contain no annotations information, in to shared libraries or the root directory of the EAR file. These files are not scanned for annotations.

For more information, see:

http://publib.boulder.ibm.com/infocenter/wasinfo/v7r0/index.jsp?topic=/com.ibm.web sphere.nd.doc/info/ae/ae/urun\_rapp\_metadata\_lockdd.html

Configurable filtering can be used in WebSphere Application Server V7.0.0.5 and later versions to identify which modules or Java packages to ignore for annotations processing.

For more information, see:

http://www.ibm.com/support/docview.wss?uid=swg1PK87053

With annotations, more file types are processed as part of the scanning, for example, encrypted compressed files that used to be ignored before WebSphere Application Server V7.0. Some problems can be avoided in WebSphere Application Server v7.0.0.7 by completing the following steps:

- Log in to the administrative console of the Deployment Server and click Application servers → <deployment server name> → Java and Process Management → Process Definition → Control → Java Virtual Machine → Custom Properties. Add com.ibm.websphere.application.migration.disabled to the list of custom properties, with its value set to true, and save the configuration.
- 2. Navigate to the <profile\_home>/properties/wsadmin.properties file, edit it, and add com.ibm.websphere.application.migration.disabled=true.

For more information, see:

http://www-01.ibm.com/support/docview.wss?uid=swg1PK92880

#### WebSphere API migration details

The following section provides details about removed features:

- Derby Network Server Provider, using the Universal JDBC driver, is removed. Derby Network Server using the Derby Client can be used instead.
- Support for the DB2 CLI-based Type 2 JDBC Driver and the DB2 CLI-based Type 2 JDBC Driver (XA) is removed, and DB2 Universal JDBC Driver should be used instead.
- WebSphere Connect JDBC driver, Microsoft® SQL Server 2000 Driver for JDBC, and WebSphere SequeLink JDBC driver for Microsoft SQL Server are removed. You can use DataDirect Connect JDBC driver or Microsoft SQL Server 2005 JDBC driver. You can use the WebSphereConnectJDBCDriverConversion command to convert data sources from the WebSphere Connect JDBC driver.
- ► The Integrated Cryptographic Services Facility (ICSF) authentication mechanism is removed. You can use the Lightweight Third-Party Authentication (LTPA) mechanism.

Table 12-8 describes the support for security custom properties.

Old property	New property	
com.ibm.security.SAF.unauthenticatedId	com.ibm.security.SAF.unauthenticated	
com.ibm.security.SAF.useEJBROLEAuthz	com.ibm.security.SAF.authorization	
com.ibm.security.SAF.useEJBROLEDelegation	com.ibm.security.SAF.delegation	

Table 12-8Support for security custom properties

Here are some interfaces that are removed:

- All classes in the com.ibm.websphere.servlet.filter package, including ChainedRequest, ChainedResponse, ChainerServlet, and ServletChain, are removed. You can use javax.servlet.filter classes.
- ► The Web Services Gateway customization API is removed. You can replace the existing filters with a combination of JAX-RPC handlers and service integration bus mediations.

Table 12-9 depicts the miscellaneous classes that are removed.

Old class	New class
com.ibm.websphere.servlet.session.UserT ransactionWrapper	Store a UserTransaction directly into the HTTP session.
com.ibm.websphere.rsadapter.DataDirectD	com.ibm.websphere.rsadapter.ConnectJDBCDat
ataStoreHelper	aStoreHelper.
com.ibm.websphere.rsadapter.MSSQLDataSt	com.ibm.websphere.rsadapter.MicrosoftSQLDa
oreHelper	taStoreHelper.

Table 12-9 Miscellaneous classes that are removed

#### Major issues in Version 6.1

This section describes the major known issues in V6.1 that should be considered during application migration.

#### Moving to JRE 5

Here are the major considerations for moving to JRE 5:

Applications using the new language features and JRE 5 can be deployed only to WebSphere Application Server V6.1 nodes. When you compile applications, you can specify '-source' and '-target' modes for earlier JDK targets. For example, '-source 1.4', and

'target 1.4'.

- Serialization is not compatible across JRE 1.4 and earlier releases.
- Any new features in Java that result in new classes can cause ambiguous references, if these new classes match ones that are defined in your program.

#### JRE 5 source compatibility

The following section lists major considerations for JRE 5 source compatibility:

- JRE 5 is generally upwards source-compatible with JRE 1.4.2, except for some APIs in the sun.\* packages that changed. These APIs are not intended for use by developers. Developers importing from sun.\* packages do so *at their own risk*.
- A variable that is named 'enum' is now a language keyword and some IBM WebServices generated code may include "enum" as package names. If the application is using enum, it no longer compiles under JDK 5 unless "-source 1.4" is specified on the javac command.
- Most source code that uses genericized classes, constructors, methods, and fields continue to compile in JDK 5, though some do not.
- There might be errors when you import java.net.Proxy.\*, java.lang.reflect.\*, or java.utils.Queue classes, because new classes that exist in Java 2 Platform, Standard Edition (J2SE) Version 5 conflict with other package names, such as javax.jms.Queue. When a class name is referenced, provide all of the necessary information, including the base name with the corresponding extension names to resolve the problem.
- ► For changes in JAXP, see:

http://java.sun.com/j2se/1.5.0/docs/guide/xml/jaxp/JAXPCompatibility 150.html

► In JDBC 5.0, comparing a java.sql.Timestamp to a java.util.Date by invoking compareTo on the time stamp results in a ClassCastException.

- The BigDecimal toString() method behaves differently than in earlier versions. J2SE 5.0 added toPlainString() to BigDecimal, which behaves exactly like the toString() method in earlier versions.
- Direct use of private implementations of XML and XSL parsers is discouraged. Existing classloader support to use an application class path can be used instead of a Java virtual machine bootstrap class path.

#### JRE 5 VerboseGC output

The GC output format varies depending on the garbage collection policy that is used. Table 12-10 provides the links MustGather information.

Title	Description	URL
MustGather: Analyzing Verbose GC Output for -Xgcpolicy:gencon	Format of verbose GC output from the gencon GC policy	<pre>http://www-01.ibm.com/support/ docview.wss?uid=swg21222486</pre>
MustGather: Analyzing	Format of verbose GC	http://www-01.ibm.com/support/
Verbose GC Output for	output from	docview.wss?rs=727&uid=swg2122
-Xgcpolicy:optavgpaue	optavgpause GC policy	2459
MustGather: Analyzing	Format of verbose GC	<pre>http://www-01.ibm.com/support/</pre>
Verbose GC Output for -	output from optthruput GC	docview.wss?rs=727&uid=swg2122
Xgcpolicy:optthruput	policy	2443

Table 12-10 MustGather table

#### JRE 5 and JSSE 2

The com.ibm.net.ssl package is deprecated since JDK V1.4 and is removed in WebSphere Application Server V6.1. It is replaced with the javax.net.ssl package. Classes that are related to creating and configuration secure socket factories, such as KeyManager, TrustManager, X509KeyManager, and X509TrustManager, are affected. For further details, go to <a href="http://www.ibm.com/developerworks/java/jdk/security/50/">http://www.ibm.com/developerworks/java/jdk/security/50/</a> and search for "IBMJSSE2 Guide" and samples.

#### JDK 5 feature usage and JSPs

As the default runtime compiler setting for JSPs is JDK 1.3, JSPs using any JDK 1.5 specific code receive an error during compilation. There are two solutions:

- ► Specify the JDK source level when you install the application.
- ► From Rational Application Developer, go to the Web Extension tab. From the JSP Attributes table, add "jdkSourceLevel jdkSourceLevel" as the name and 1.5 as the value. These actions add an entry to Web Project/WEB-INF/ibm-web-ext.xmi, for example <jspAttributes xmi:id="JSPAttribute 1"name="jdkSourceLevel" value="15"/>.

#### WebSphere removed APIs

Common Connector Framework (CCF) is deprecated since Version 5.1. Use Java2Connectors(J2C) instead. WebSphere Application Server V6.1 dropped Cloudscape V5.1 and replaced it with Cloudscape V10.1. This change could impact the JDBC driver configuration, which must be modified, and because the Cloudscape DBs are not compatible, they must also be migrated.

Mozilla Rhino JavaScript and JDOM are removed from WebSphere Application Server V6.1. Also, the security property com.ibm.websphere.security.CustomRegistry is removed. Use com.ibm.websphere.security.UserRegistry instead. For more information, see:

http://publib.boulder.ibm.com/infocenter/wasinfo/v6r1/topic/com.ibm.websphere.nd.d
oc/info/ae/ae/rmig\_deprecationlist.html

#### Changes in EJB setRollbackOnly()

Consider two EJBs, EJB1 and EJB2, that are hosted in the same WebSphere Application Server. EJB1:method1 and EJB2:method2 have Container Managed Transactions and are defined with a transaction attribute of 'TX\_REQUIRED'. An HTTP request invokes EJB1:method1 outside of any transaction (The Enterprise JavaBeans Container for EJB1 creates a transaction) and EJB1:method1 invokes EJB2:method2. (EJB2:method2 runs under the same transaction). When EJB2:method2 invokes setRollbackOnly(), EJB2:method2 returns normally and the HTTP request receives a RemoteException org.omg.CORBA.TRANSACTION\_ROLLEDBACK. However, in WebSphere Application Server V6.0 and earlier, the HTTP request receives the business result of EJB1:method1, not a RemoteException. In each case, the transaction is rolled back, but in WebSphere Application Server V6.1, the HTTP request does not receive the business results returned by EJB1:method1.

#### JNI on Solaris 10 x86\_64

WebSphere Application Server V6.0 on Solaris/x86\_64 is built as a 32-bit application (32-bit Java and 32-bit JNI). Customers might have their own applications, which rely on JNI that is not part of WebSphere Application Server, for example, a special database driver. To run in this environment, the JNI must be 32-bit. WebSphere Application Server V6.1 on Solaris/x86\_64 is built as a 64-bit application (64-bit Java and 64-bit JNI). If there are applications on Version 6.0 that use 32-bit JNI that are not part of WebSphere Application Server, those applications cannot be used in WebSphere Application Server V6.1. 32-bit JNI cannot be loaded by a 64-bit JVM. Either JNI should be rebuilt to be 64-bit, or you should contact the vendor of that JNI to obtain a 64-bit version.

For more information, see:

http://www-1.ibm.com/support/docview.wss?uid=swg2700752

# 12.2 Plants by WebSphere sample application migration

The Plants by WebSphere application is an application that is available with the WebSphere Application Server samples gallery. As the name suggests, the application demonstrates several Java Platform, Enterprise Edition functions using an online store that specializes in selling plants, trees, and accessories.

Using the Plants by WebSphere storefront, customers can open accounts, browse for items to purchase, view product details, and place orders. The Plants by WebSphere application uses container-managed persistence (CMP), container-managed relationships (CMR), stateless session beans, a stateful session bean, JSP pages, and servlets.

This application is only intended to showcase the capabilities of WebSphere Application Server itself. Nevertheless, it is useful in many testing and development scenarios. The source code of Plants by WebSphere is distributed with WebSphere Application Server, and, as such, you can modify it as you want. Plant by WebSphere is included with WebSphere Application Server in all versions greater than 5.0. Although this chapter's instructions can be applied to several versions of WebSphere Application Server, this chapter assumes an installation of WebSphere Application Server V6.1 and, therefore, the provided directory paths and application commands may be incorrect if used with earlier versions.

The directory location of the source is <WAS\_DIR>\samples\bin\PlantsByWebSphere. The code can be modified in any development environment. However, it may be more convenient to take advantage of the functionality that is provided by an IDE that supports J2EE applications.

For example, Eclipse V3.2 and later with the WebSphere Application Server Developer Tools work well because you can import the source code easily while you offer seamless integration with WebSphere Application Server. Further information about this environment can be found at the Eclipse Foundation Webtools website or WebSphere developer tools website. To download the tool, go to:

https://www.ibm.com/developerworks/mydeveloperworks/blogs/wasdev/entry/download\_wd
t?lang=en

## 12.2.1 Overview of the application

The Plants by WebSphere Sample incorporates the following technologies:

- Container-managed persistence (CMP) entity beans
- Bean-managed persistence (BMP) entity beans
- Stateless session beans
- Stateful session beans
- Servlets
- JavaServer Pages (JSP) files and HTML
- Container-managed relationships (CMR)
- ► Java 2, Enterprise Edition (J2EE) security
- ► Java API for XML-based remote procedure call (JAX-RPC)

The Plants by WebSphere application is supported through a series of JSP pages and HTML pages. These pages communicate with the following servlets: AccountServlet, ShoppingServlet, ImageServlet, and AdminServlet. The servlets use the various enterprise bean business methods, which in turn access data from the database as needed. In general, stateless session beans are used to interface with the entity beans, to reduce the number of transactions.

#### Figure 12-2 illustrates the high-level architecture of the application.



Figure 12-2 Plants by WebSphere application high-level architecture

#### Servlets

This section provides information about the servlets that are used in the Plants by WebSphere application.

ShoppingServlet

The ShoppingServlet servlet processes most of the interactions between the browser and the enterprise beans. This interaction includes inventory, shopping cart, and order functions. Selecting a shopping category to browse uses a Catalog session bean, which is used to find and display all of the relevant Inventory objects. Displaying the details of an item can also be done by using a Catalog session bean to obtain information from an Inventory CMP entity bean.

Adding an item to the shopping cart creates a ShoppingCart stateful session bean. A Catalog session bean obtains the Inventory data, and places the item in the ShoppingCart bean. Viewing and updating the shopping cart is done using the ShoppingCart stateful session bean. After you enter billing and shipping information, the ShoppingCart bean creates an Order CMP entity bean. Upon completing the checkout procedure, a Mailer stateless session bean is created to send a confirmation email, using the JavaMail API.

ImageServlet

The ImageServlet servlet obtains and places product images into the database. The servlet obtains images from the JSP pages and the HTML pages from the database and serves back to the browser through the HTTP response.

AdminServlet

The AdminServlet servlet processes the requests from a user (browser) for inventory back orders, database repopulation, and supplier configuration. During a customer checkout procedure, the inventory quantity is checked. When the inventory quantity reaches a minimum threshold, the Inventory bean creates a BackOrder CMP entity bean. An administrator can process this back order in the Plants by WebSphere administrative pages.

When processing requests from the supplierconfig.jsp page, the AdminServlet servlet creates a Suppliers stateless session bean, which is used to pass requests to a Supplier CMP 2.0 bean. The Supplier configuration information includes name, address, phone, and a web service web address. The backorder requests are sent to the Supplier through a web service that is at this web address.

When it processes repopulation requests from the help.jsp page, the AdminServlet servlet creates a bean-managed persistence (BMP) bean called ResetDB. This bean deletes all database tables and repopulates the tables with initial data values from the pbw.properties properties file.

#### Enterprise beans

This section provides information about the enterprise beans that are used in Plants by WebSphere application.

Catalog

Catalog is a stateless session bean. It is the primary access to the Inventory container-managed persistence entity bean (CMP). Stateless session beans generally access entity bean data, while limiting the number of transactions used. The Catalog session bean has business methods to obtain information from one or more Inventory beans. Methods exist to add and remove an Inventory item. The Catalog session bean also has methods to modify existing Inventory beans.

Customer

Customer is a 2.0 CMP entity bean. It contains and manages the account data that is needed for a customer. The Customer entity bean has methods for creating, finding, and updating customer information, and verifying a password and getting fields in the Customer entity bean.

Inventory

Inventory is a 2.0 CMP entity bean. This entity bean contains and manages inventory item data. Methods are available for finding, creating, getting, and setting data fields.

Login

Login is a stateless session bean. This session bean interfaces with the Customer CMP entity bean to create and update customer accounts.

Mailer

Mailer is a stateless session bean. This session bean creates and sends an order confirmation email using the JavaMail API.

Order

Order is a CMP entity bean. This session bean contains and manages order data. Methods are available for finding, creating, and getting data fields.

OrderItem

OrderItem is a CMP entity bean. This entity bean contains and manages a single order item. Methods are available for finding, creating, and getting data fields.

► ReportGenerator

ReportGenerator is a stateless session bean. This session bean generates reports that are based on information that is found in orders. The ReportGenerator session bean interfaces with the Order CMP entity bean. The reports consist of top-selling items for a set date range, and top-selling postal codes for a set date range.

ShoppingCart

ShoppingCart is a stateful session bean. This session bean maintains a list of inventory items to purchase throughout the HTTP session. The ShoppingCart session bean has business methods to add, remove, and update inventory items. The ShoppingCart session bean also has a method to create an Order CMP entity bean when the customer is ready to complete a purchase.

BackOrder

BackOrder is a CMP entity bean. This entity bean contains and manages inventory backorder data. Methods are available for finding, creating, and getting data fields.

BackOrderStock

BackOrderStock is a stateless session bean. This session interfaces with the BackOrder CMP bean to create and process inventory backorder items.

Supplier

Supplier is a CMP entity bean. This entity bean contains and manages supplier configuration data. Methods are available for finding, creating, and getting data fields.

Suppliers

Suppliers is a stateless session bean. This session interfaces with the Supplier CMP bean to create and process Supplier configuration information.

ResetDB

ResetDB is a BMP entity bean. This entity bean deletes all rows in the database tables.

#### 12.2.2 Modifying and rebuilding the Plants by WebSphere sample

The sample applications that are shipped with WebSphere Application Server V 6.1 are available in the following directories. Make sure that the samples are installed as part of the WebSphere Application Server V6.1 installation.

- <profile\_root>samples/src/PlantsByWebSphere: Contains the Sample source code for the Plants by WebSphere sample.
- ofile\_root>/samples/lib/PlantsByWebSphere: Contains the Web archive (WAR) files, Java archive (JAR) files, and the final PlantsByWebSphere.ear file for the Plants by WebSphere sample.
- <profile\_root>/samples/javadoc/PlantsByWebSphere: Contains the Javadoc documentation that is generated when the Plants by WebSphere sample builds.
- <profile\_root>/samples/bin/PlantsByWebSphere: Contains a wsadmin jacl script to configure and install the PlantsByWebSphere sample application.

**z/OS customers:** The source code tree for samples is not provided on the z/OS platform because sample applications are not built on the z/OS platform.

The Plants by WebSphere sample is installed with WebSphere Application Server if samples are chosen to be installed during product installation. You do not have to build the Plants by WebSphere sample before you use it. The following sections describe the steps to rebuild the sample, along with more information for modifications.

**Modified sample:** The Plants By WebSphere sample from WebSphere Application Server Version 6.1 is modified to suit the purpose of demonstrating the migration process. You can download the application with this minor modification by following the instructions in Appendix B, "Additional material" on page 435.

#### Running the sample build script

To run the Sample build script, which rebuilds the sample, complete the following steps:

- 1. Open a command prompt.
- At the command line, change the directory to the <profile\_root>/samples/src/PlantsByWebSphere directory.
- 3. Run the Sample build script by running the command that is shown in Example 12-1.

Example 12-1 Command to build the sample application

On Windows development platforms, type the following command: <profile root>\samples\bin\PlantsByWebSphere\buildplantsby.bat

On UNIX and Linux development platforms, type the following command: <profile\_root>/samples/bin/PlantsByWebSphere/buildplantsby.sh

The sample is now built.

Build process: During the build process, only class files that have changes are rebuilt.

# 12.2.3 Removing and reinstalling the PlantsByWebSphere.ear file

By default, the Plants by WebSphere sample installs in to the profile\_root/installedApps/<host name> directory, where <host name> is the name of the host where your application is installed. Reinstall the sample by completing the following steps:

- 1. Stop the application server.
- 2. Remove the Plants by WebSphere Sample EAR file by running the commands that are illustrated in the following examples.

Example 12-2 illustrates the commands run on a Windows operating system.

```
Example 12-2 Command to uninstall the PlantsByWebSphere sample application on Windows
```

Example 12-3 illustrates the commands run on a Linux operating system.

```
Example 12-3 Command to uninstall the PlantsByWebSphere sample application on Linux
```

wsadmin.sh -conntype none -c "\\$AdminApp uninstall PlantsByWebSphere"

- 3. Reinstall the Plants by WebSphere sample by completing the following steps:
  - a. Change the directory to the profile\_root/samples/lib/PlantsByWebSphere directory.
  - b. Locate the PlantsByWebSphere.ear file.
  - c. Run the commands that are illustrated in following examples.

Example 12-4 illustrates the command to install the Plants By WebSphere sample application on a Windows operating system.

Example 12-4 Command to install the PlantsByWebSphere sample application on Windows

where <node> is the name of node on which to install the Sample.

Example 12-5 illustrates the command to install the Plants By WebSphere sample application on Linux operating system.

Example 12-5 Command to install the PlantsByWebSphere sample application on Linux

- 4. Start the application server.
- 5. Run the application by accessing the following URL:

http://localhost:9081/PlantsByWebSphere

Where:

- localhost should be replaced by the host name or IP address of the system on which WebSphere Application Server is up and running.
- 9081 should be replaced by the port number on which the application is running.

The rebuilt PlantsByWebsphere.ear file is now deployed to your WebSphere Application Server.

#### 12.2.4 Installing Plants By WebSphere from the administrative console

This section describes the installation procedure to install the Plants By WebSphere sample application using the administrative console.

Complete the following steps:

- 1. Log in to AdminConsole and browse to **Applications**  $\rightarrow$  **Install New Application**.
- 2. Browse to the location where the rebuilt PlantsByWebsphere.ear file is.
- 3. Provide the application name, location, and other details (Figure 12-3).

Enterprise Applications	
Install New Application	2 🗉
Specify options for installing ent	erprise applications and modules.
→ Step 1: Select installation options	Select installation options
Char 0 Mar	Specify the various options that are available to prepare and install your application.
modules to servers	Precompile JavaServer Pages files
<u>Step 3</u> Summary	Directory to install application \$(APP_INSTALL_ROOT)/:
	✓ Distribute application
	Use Binary Configuration
	Deploy enterprise beans
	Application name PlantsByWebSphere
	Create MBeans for resources
	Enable class reloading
	Reload interval in seconds
	Deploy Web services
	Validate Input off/warn/fail warn 💙
	Process embedded configuration

Figure 12-3 Step 1: Select installation options

#### 4. Map the Application Modules to the target Application Server (Figure 12-4).

il New Application				2	- He
ecify options for installi	na enterp	rise applications and	modules.		
<u>Step 1</u> Select	Map m	odules to servers			
Step 2: Map modules to servers <u>Step 3</u> Summary	on options         fap         fap         to servers         Summary    Specify targets such as application servers or clusters of application server or dispersed among several application servers. Also, specify the Web server as targets that serve as routers for requests to this application. The plug-in configuration file (plug)in-figs.rml) for each Web server is generated, based on the applications that are routed through. Clusters and Servers: WebSphere:cell=testNode01Cell,node=testNode01,server=server1 Apply				
	Select	Module	URI	Server	
		PlantsByWebSphere EJB Module	PlantsByWebSphereEJB.jar,META- INF/ejb-jar.×ml	WebSphere:cell=testNode01Cell,node=testNode01,server=server1	
		PlantsByWebSphere Web Application	PlantsByWebSphere.war,WEB- INF/web.×ml	WebSphere:cell=testNode01Cell,node=testNode01,server=server1	
		PlantsByWebSphere Sample Gallery Web Application	PlantsGallery.war,WEB- INF/web.xml	WebSphere:cell=testNode01Cell,node=testNode01,server=server1	

Figure 12-4 Step 2: Map modules to servers

5. Review the summary and finish the installation.

#### Optional configuration of email resources

To send an order confirmation email, you must configure a mail session for the Plants by WebSphere sample. If you do not want to send an order confirmation email, skip this section.

To configure mail resources, complete the following steps:

- 1. In the administrative console, click Resource → Mail Providers → (set scope to Node <node>) → Built-in Mail Provider → Mail Sessions.
- 2. Click New to create a mail session.
- 3. Enter PlantsByWebSphere mail session in the Name field.
- 4. Enter mail/PlantsByWebSphere in the JNDI Name field.
- 5. Enter a value, such as yourcompany.com, in the Mail Transport Host field.
- 6. Enter a value, such as userid@yourcompany.com in the Mail From field.
- 7. Click OK.
- 8. Click Save at the top of the main pane in the administrative console.
- 9. Click Save in the Save to Master Configuration window.

10.Restart WebSphere Application Server so that all configuration changes are applied.

Mail resources for the Plants by WebSphere sample are now configured.

#### Locating the database tables

The database tables for this sample are CUSTOMER, INVENTORY, ORDERINFO, ORDERITEM, IDGENERATOR, BACKORDER, and SUPPLIER. These tables are found in the PLANTSDB database. The PLANTSDB database is in the PlantsByWebSphere.ear file, and is in the

profile\_root/installedApps/cellname/PlantsByWebSphere.ear/Database/PLANTSDB directory, where cellname is the name of the cell where your application is installed.

#### 12.2.5 Running the sample application

Start the application and access Plans By WebSphere by going to the following URL:

http://localhost:9081/PlantsByWebSphere

Where:

- localhost should be replaced by the host name or IP address of the system on which WebSphere Application Server is up and running
- 9081 should be replaced by the port number on which the application is running.

The main index page opens (Figure 12-5).

PLANTS B	Y WEBSPHERE				
Flowers	Fruits & Vegetables Trees	Accessories			HOME : SHOPPING CART : LOGIN : HEI
		Gan Of Su They all st with the righ	°dens mmer <sup>art</sup> nowers	and we've got them all	
Tins			Specials		
Preserve extr closed, or sea from the bags basement.	a grass seed by keeping it dry. Tap I them into plastic bags. Be sure to s. Store all seed in a cool, dry area	e boxes and bags remove extra air such as a garage or	Bonsai Tree \$30.00 each	Red Delicious Strawberries \$3.50 (50 seeds)	Tulips \$17.00 (10 bulbs)
Powered by IBM WebS e-business softw	phere'	Flow Horr	ers : Fruits & Vegetables : Tree e : Shopping Cart : My Accoun	as : Accessories t : Login : Help	

Figure 12-5 Index page of Plants By WebSphere sample

A unique email address and password for the Plants by WebSphere sample can be created by clicking **Register** on the Login window (Figure 12-6).

PLANTS B	Y WEBSPHERE			
Flowers	Fruits & Vegetables	Trees	Accessories	HOME : SHOPPING CART : LOGIN : HELP
Home Login ( If you are e-mail add	or Register a returning custome ress and password b	er and pre	eviously set up	o an account, please enter your
E-mail add Password: Sign in If you are	a New customer yo	u can <u>rec</u>	jister for your	own account here.
Powered by	phere'			Flowers : Fruits & Vegetables : Trees : Accessories Home : Shopping Cart : My Account : Login : Help

Figure 12-6 Login/Registration page of Plants By WebSphere sample

Once logged in to the account, the customer can start shopping and can add items into the shopping cart (Figure 12-7).

Shopping Cart						
Here are the items you have selected. To recalculate your total after changing the quantity of an item, select the 'Recalculate' button. To remove an item from your cart, enter "0" as the quantity. Select 'Checkout Now' to begin the checkout process.						
ITEM # ITEM DES	SCRIPTION	PACKAGING		QUANTITY	PRICE	SUBTOTAL
T0003 Bonsai		0.5 gallon ma	ature tree	1	\$30.00	\$30.00
				Ord	er Subto	tal:\$30.00
Continue Shopping	Recalculate	Checkout Now				

Figure 12-7 Shopping cart of Plants By WebSphere

After the required items are added to the shopping cart, the customer can proceed to check out by providing the billing and shipping information. A message is shown with the order number and expected date of arrival for the items purchased.

# 12.3 Migration of Plants By WebSphere

This section provides detailed information about the process of migrating the Plants By WebSphere sample application using the WebSphere Application Migration Toolkit - WebSphere Version to Version migration.

# 12.3.1 Exporting PlantsByWebSphere.ear and importing it into Eclipse for analysis

This section describes details about exporting the PlantsByWebsphere.ear file and importing it in to Eclipse.

#### Exporting the PlantsByWebSphere.ear file

Complete the following steps:

- 1. Log in to the Administration Console and browse to Enterprise Application.
- 2. Select the PlantsByWebSphere application.

3. Click **Export** and download the PlantsByWebSphere.ear file (Figure 12-8).



Figure 12-8 Exporting the PlantsByWebSphere.ear file from the WebSphere Application Server administration console

 Optionally, you can also get the EAR file from <profile\_root>/samples/lib/PlantsByWebSphere>.

#### Importing the PlantsByWebSphere.ear file

Start the migration of the Plants By WebSphere application by importing the EAR file with the source code into Eclipse Java EE IDE.

**Note:** The Application Migration Tool requires the presence of the source code to perform Java code analysis.

Complete the following steps:

 From the Eclipse Java EE Enterprise Explorer perspective, click File → Import → EAR File (within Java EE) and click Next. You import an Enterprise Application project that is based on the selected resources, as illustrated in Figure 12-9.

Import	
Select Import an external EAR file into an Enterprise Application project	Ľ
Select an import source:	
type filter text	
<ul> <li>➢ General</li> <li>➢ CVS</li> <li>➢ EB</li> <li>➢ Install</li> <li>➢ Java EE</li> <li>☑ App Client JAR file</li> <li>☑ EAR file</li> <li>☑ ARA file</li> <li>☑ Shared EAR file</li> <li>➢ Plag-in Development</li> <li>➢ Remote Systems</li> <li>➢ Run/Debug</li> <li>➢ Tasks</li> <li>➢ Team</li> </ul>	
? < Back Next > Finish	Cancel

Figure 12-9 Importing the EAR file

2. Click **Browse** and select the PlantsByWebSphere.ear file. In our example, it is in C:\test\PlantsByWebSphere.ear (Figure 12-10).

🔘 Import			
Enterprise App Import an Enter	lication Import prise Application project based on selected resources.		ē,
EAR file:	C:\test\PlantsByWebSphere.ear	•	Browse
EAR project:	PlantsByWebSphere	•	
Target runtime:	<none></none>	•	New
?	< Back Next > Finish		Cancel

Figure 12-10 Select the EAR file to import

3. In the Ear Module and Utility JAR Projects window, make sure that all three modules are selected (Figure 12-11) and click **Finish**.

Mark Import	
EAR Module and Utility JAR Pr	ojects
Enter the new project name that w second column of the table for ed	ill be created for the imported module file by selecting the it. Unselected modules will be imported as JARs in the EAR.
Modules in EAR	New Project Name
DlantsByWebSphere war	Plants WebSphere
PlantsByWebSphereFIB.iar	PlantsByWebSphereFIB
PlantsGallery.war	PlantsGallery
Select New	Select All Deselect All
٢	

Figure 12-11 EAR modules and Utility JAR projects during application import

# 12.3.2 Configuring and running the Application Migration Tool - WebSphere Version to Version

In this section, we configure the Application Migration Tool analysis capabilities to scan the WebSphere Application Server V6.1 Plants By WebSphere application and provide input about what must be fixed in the application before it can run on WebSphere Application Server V8.5.

The Application Migration Tool must be set up to look for Java 6 or Java 7 code-related issues. However, it can also be run to do a complete Java code review. The tool provides quick fixes, where available, for issues it flags as violations of the migration rules.

**Quick fixes:** The tool does not provide quick fix for every possible scenario. Whenever a rule violation occurs and there is no quick fix available, the rule icon includes a light bulb icon and the Quick Fix option is not available in the context menu.

Complete the following steps:

1. Select **Analysis** from the **Run** menu to display the Application Migration Tool main configuration dialog box (Figure 12-12).

Software Analyzer Configuratio	Software Analyzer Configurations				
Create, manage, and run con	figurations	<u>þ</u> 3			
Image: Software Analyzer         Image: Software Analyzer	Configure launch settings from this dialog: Press the 'New' button to create a configuration of the selected type. Press the 'Duplicate' button to copy the selected configuration. Press the 'Delete' button to remove the selected configuration. Press the 'Filter' button to configure filtering options. Edit or view an existing configuration by selecting it. Configure launch perspective settings from the <u>'Perspectives'</u> preference page.				
•	Analyze	Close			

Figure 12-12 Software Analyzer configuration

- 2. Right-click the **Software Analyzer** and select **New** option to create a New\_configuration under Software Analyzer. You can also highlight Software Analyzer and click the New icon on the toolbar (the first icon with the"+" sign). The right side changes to show the explanation of the basic configuration options available.
- 3. In the Name field, enter PlantsVersiontoVersion as the name of the configuration.

4. In the Scope tab, leave the **Analyze entire workspace** radio button selected (Figure 12-13).

Software Analyzer Configuration	ons	x
Create, manage, and run con Select a range of inputs from the	figurations e scope tab and at least one rule from the rules tab to create an analysis configuration.	-53
Image: Software Analyzer         Image: Software Analyzer         Image: Software Analyzer         Image: Software Analyzer         Image: Software Analyzer	Name: PlantsVersiontoVersion   Scope Rules  Analyze entire workspace  Analyze a resource working set	
	Analyze selected projects	E
	□ @ PlantsByWebSphere         □ @ PlantsByWebSphereEAR         □ @ PlantsByWebSphereEJB	Revert
Filter matched 2 of 2 items	Analyze	Close

Figure 12-13 Setting up a new Software Analyzer configuration

5. Click the **Rules** tab.

6. Select **WebSphere Application Server Version Migration** from the Rules Sets drop-down menu, and click **Set** (Figure 12-14).

Software Analyzer Configuratio	ns 🛛 🕅 🕅
Create, manage, and run conf Select a range of inputs from the	figurations scope tab and at least one rule from the rules tab to create an analysis configuration.
Image: Software Analyzer         Image: S	Name:       PlantsVersiontoVersion
Filter matched 2 of 2 items	Apply Revert
?	Analyze Close

Figure 12-14 Setting rules for the Software Analyzer configuration

 You see the Rule set configuration dialog box (Figure 12-15). Set the Source application server to WebSphere Application Server V6.1 and the Target application Server to WebSphere Application Server V8.5. Source Java Version. The Target Java Version category may be selected, as depicted in Figure 12-15. Click OK.

**Rules:** The default is that no rules are selected until the user selects the ones that are of interest and clicks **Set**. After the configuration is set, it can be reused.

Rule set configuration	23
WebSphere Application Ser	ver Migration Tool rule selection details
Source application server:	WebSphere Application Server V6.1 🔹
Target application server:	WebSphere Application Server V8.5 👻
Source Java version:	Java 5 👻
Target Java version:	Java 7 🔹
	OK Cancel

Figure 12-15 Rule set configuration dialog box

8. The Application Migration Tool is now configured and the rules are set. You can run the analysis against the Plants By WebSphere sample. You can expand any of the analysis domains to see which rules are selected (Figure 12-16).

Software Analyzer Configuration	ins III III III III III III III III III I
Create, manage, and run con Select a range of inputs from the	figurations scope tab and at least one rule from the rules tab to create an analysis configuration.
Image: Software Analyzer         Image: S	Name:       PlantsVersiontoVersion
Filter matched 2 of 2 items	Apply Revert
?	Analyze Close

Figure 12-16 A ready Software Analyzer configuration

- 9. Click **Analyze** to analyze all the projects in the workspace. The Software Analyzer view is opened at the bottom of the window. It contains three tabs. Each tab corresponds to one of the analysis domains selected, based on the Rule Set selection that was made earlier.
  - The Java Code Review tab lists Java code-related issues.
  - The XML File Review tab lists issues with deployment descriptors.
  - The JSP Code Review tab lists issues that are found in JSP files, commonly associated with web projects.

The result of the analysis is shown in Figure 12-17.

🖹 Markers 🔲 Properties 🖗 Servers 簲 Data Source Explorer 🔂 S	Snippets 된 Software Analyzer Results 🛛	- 8
	XML File Review Java Code Review JSP Code Review	
설생 PlantsVersiontoVersion (12/07/06 17:03:19) [124 results in 12		
	😫 WebSphere version migration [123 results in 226ms]	
< •		

Figure 12-17 Software Analyzer results

10.Click the Java Code Review tab.

As you can see, the Application Migration Tool detects a compatibility issue between Java versions (Figure 12-18).

XML File Review Java Code Review JSP Code Review		
	‡⊧ []	b   🕟
Java SE version migration [1 result in 26ms]		
Java SE o compatibility impacts [1 result in 10ms] A II Check for Duration and XMI Gregorian Calendar equals() method compatibility [1 result in 9ms]		
MailerBean.java:88 Check for Duration and XMLGregorianCalendar equals() method compatibility	y	

Figure 12-18 Java Code Review

#### 11. Click the XML File Review tab.

The tool scanned the XML files in the project and flagged the potential problems with deployment descriptors by category/rule violation. You can expand each of the rules to see the files in question and which project to which they belong (Figure 12-19).



Figure 12-19 XML File Review

You can right-click any of the flagged files under a specific rule to see a list of available options in the menu. For example, under the Java Code Review tab, expand the Java SE Version Migration and right-click any of the files in the list. Then, select **View Results**. The Java file in question is opened and the cursor is at the code problem line.

# 12.3.3 Fixing errors that are reported by Application Migration Tool.

This section describes the procedure to fix the issues reported by the Application Migration Tool.

### Fixing the errors reported under the Java Code Review tab

Expanding the Java Code Review section shows the details of the Java SE 6 compatibility impact results. Right-clicking individual results gives access to options, such as viewing the source code where the problem occurred or correcting the problem with a provided fix.

To fix the errors reported under the Java Code Review tab, complete the following steps:

- 1. Right-click a result and select View result.
- 2. An editor opens that shows the source file that triggered the rule. The cause of the problem is highlighted, and a rule violation icon is shown in the left margin of the editor. (Figure 12-20).



Figure 12-20 View Java Code Review results

The code in question here is shown in Example 12-6.

Example 12-6	Java code to be analy	/zed
--------------	-----------------------	------

Duration d = df.newDuration(duration); Duration zero = df.newDuration(0); if (!d.<u>equals</u>(zero))

This rule flags the use of the equals (Object param) method on

javax.xml.datatype.Duration or javax.xml.datatype.XMLGregorianCalendar. Java 6 now returns false if the parameter passed is null. It used to throw a NullPointerException in earlier versions of Java. Check the application logic to see if the code must be tested for false instead of NullPointerException.

In Example 12-7, the super.equals(someObject) call is flagged.

Example 12-7 Usage of the equals method of Duration class leading to a flag

```
public MyClass extends Duration{
  private void doX(){
  boolean b = super.equals(someObject);
}
```

}

In Example 12-8, the c.equals(someObject) call is flagged.

Example 12-8 Usage of equals method of Duration class leading to a flag

```
public MyClass {
  private void doX(){
  XMLGregorianCalendar c = getCalendar();
  boolean b = c.equals(someObject);
}
```

Because the code does not require a fix, ignoring the result and rerunning the analysis results in clearing the Java Code Review results (Figure 12-21).

XML File Review	Java Code Review	JSP Code Review	
			学 🕒 🕼
👌 Java SE	version migration [0	results in 23ms]	

Figure 12-21 Clean Java Code Review results

## Fixing the errors reported under the XML File Review tab

Based on the reported results, you should avoid using the deprecated method level access intent for entity beans. This rule flags the configuration of method level access intent for entity beans. Method level access intent was deprecated because it might run into data access problems, such as a deadlock. To fix reconfigure entity beans to, use bean level access intent, as shown in Figure 12-22.



Figure 12-22 Fixing XML file review results

# 12.3.4 Other migration problems not detected by Application Migration Tool

While Application Migration Tool detects many migration problems, there are a few classes of migration problems that are currently not detected by the tools:

- Migration problems in applications that are originally written for versions of WebSphere Application Server before Version 5.1
- Migration problems in Java code that is included as snippets inside of JSPs
- Migration problems in Java code where the migration problem is hidden by the use of Java reflection

If you suspect that an application being migrated has code that falls into any of these categories, you must put in place a plan to manage the risks of undetected migration problems, for example, by putting in place a manual code review plan for the affected application or application parts.

The Plants By WebSphere application actually has such a problem in one of its JSP files. The error.jsp file has a section of Java code, as shown in Example 12-9, that uses Java reflection to invoke the getStackTrace method on the ServletErrorReport class that is provided by the WebSphere Application Server. This method was modified in WebSphere Application Server V5.1 to avoid a conflict that is caused by a change in Java 1.4 to the Throwable class. This particular change falls into all three of the categories of potential application migration problems that are not detected by the application migration tools.

Example 12-9 A snippet from the error.jsp file included in the PlantsByWebSphere

```
//Using reflection here so that if the class com.ibm.websphere.servlet.error.ServletErrorReport
            //does not exist at compile time there will not be a problem
            //if this class does not exist we will juse use the attributes specified by Servlet
2.2
            Class myClass = Class.forName("com.ibm.websphere.servlet.error.ServletErrorReport");
           Method myMethod = myClass.getMethod("getErrorCode", null);
            Object o = myMethod.invoke(myReport, null);
            status code = ((Integer) o).intValue();
           myMethod = myClass.getMethod("getMessage", null);
            o = myMethod.invoke(myReport, null);
           message = (java.lang.String) o;
           myMethod = myClass.getMethod("getStackTrace", null);
            o = myMethod.invoke(myReport, null);
            exception info = (java.lang.String) o;
            needInfo = 0;
           method = "Using attribute of type com.ibm.websphere.servlet.error.ServletErrorReport
to get information.";
```

The fix for the problem is straightforward: Change the reference to getStackTrace to the replacement method getStackTraceAsString.

**Other undetectable problems:** Other problems that are not detected by the toolkit are documented at:

http://www-01.ibm.com/support/docview.wss?rs=180&uid=swg27008724

# 12.3.5 Exporting the fixed Plants By WebSphere application and running the application on WebSphere Application Server V8.5

This section describes the steps to export the migrated PlantsByWebSphere. Complete the following steps:

- 1. From Eclipse IDE, right-click the **PlantsByWebSphereEAR** project from the Enterprise Explorer perspective.
- 2. Select Export
- 3. Choose the directory you to want export the PlantsByWebSphere.ear file to and save the application.
- 4. Start the WebSphere Application Server V 8.5 server.
- Log in to the Administration Console and browse to Applications → Install New Application.

- 6. Browse to the location where the rebuilt PlantsByWebsphere.ear file is.
- 7. Provide the Application name, location, and other details.
- 8. Map the Application Modules to the target application server.
- 9. Review the summary and save the configuration.
- 10.Start the application and access PlansByWebSphere at:

http://localhost:9081/PlantsByWebSphere/

For a detailed step by step procedure for installing the PlantsByWebSphere.ear file on WebSphere Application Server and running it, see 12.2.4, "Installing Plants By WebSphere from the administrative console" on page 386 and 12.2.5, "Running the sample application" on page 388.

# 12.4 Probability Distribution Sample

The Probability Distribution Sample is a small JSF application that you can use to do some simple experiments with various random number distributions. The application uses the JSF Widget Library (JWL) that is provided as part of Rational Application Developer. This library is only supported for JSF pages that are built using the JavaServer Pages (JSP) technology. The most recent versions of this library (Version 3.1.6 or higher) are compatible with the JSF 2.0 specification and run on WebSphere Application Server V8.0 and V8. However, when we enhance the application to take advantage of the new JSF 2.0 functionality, we must address the deprecation of this library.

**Downloading sample applications**: For details about how to download the sample applications that are used in this chapter, see Appendix B, "Additional material" on page 435.

### 12.4.1 Importing the application into Rational Application Developer V8.5

Use Rational Application Developer to install the application into both versions (Version 6.1 and Version 8.5) of the WebSphere Application Server. To start the migration process, import the application into the Rational Application Developer workspace by completing the following steps:

- 1. Click File  $\rightarrow$  Import..., click Java EE  $\rightarrow$  EAR File, and click Next.
- 2. Click **Browse** and select the blackswan2.ear file.
- As the file name of the EAR file is the same as the name of the WAR file that is included in the EAR file, Rational Application Developer warns us that there is a name clash in the project names. To resolve this clash, change the name of the EAR project to blackswan2ear.
- 4. Because you are installing the imported EAR file in to WebSphere Application Server Version 6.1, set up that run time now by clicking New.... On the "New Server Runtime Environment" wizard, select WebSphere Application Server 6.1 and click Next. Click Browse, select the installation directory for WebSphere Application Server Version 6.1, and click Finish.
- 5. Back in the Enterprise Application Import wizard, click Finish.
#### 12.4.2 Installing the application on WebSphere Application Server V6.1

You can now install the application directly on to your WebSphere Application Server Version 6.1 server from Rational Application Developer. You must add the server to Rational Application Developer and then run the application on that server. To do this task (assuming that you already created an application server profile on WebSphere Application Server V6.1), complete the following steps:

- 1. Right-click in the Servers view in Rational Application Developer and select New  $\rightarrow$  Server.
- 2. Select WebSphere Application Server V6.1 and click Next.
- Select the name of the profile you want to use (we used the default of AppSrv01), provide the admin user ID and password if security is enabled on your server, and then click Next.
- 4. As we want to run the blackswan2 application on this server, select the **blackswan2ear** project, click **Add**, and then click **Finish**.

#### 12.4.3 Testing the application on WebSphere Application Server V6.1

After the server is defined in Rational Application Developer and the application is installed, you can test the application. Complete the following steps:

- Expand the BlackSwan2 project and right-click index.html (found in the WebContent folder). Select Run As → Run On Server.
- 2. Check that WebSphere Application Server V6.1 is selected and then click Finish.
- 3. If the application server is not started, Rational Application Developer starts the server, then the application, and then the index.html page of the application. Now you can test the functionality of the application by selecting the distribution and entering a sample size. When you click **Submit**, the relevant distribution is samples and a graph of the samples that are collected is displayed.

## 12.4.4 Running the Application Migration Tool - WebSphere Version to Version

The Application Migration Tool - WebSphere Version to Version can be used to identify potential migration problems. To do that task for the probability distribution sample, complete the following steps:

- 1. Right-click the stock\_quote\_example\_axis2 project and select Software Analyzer → Software Analyzer Configurations....
- 2. Click New launch configuration.
- 3. Click the **Rules** tab and then use the Rule Sets: drop-down menu to select the **WebSphere Application Server Version Migration** rule set and click **Set...**.

4. In the Rule set configuration window, set the Source application server to "WebSphere Application Server V6.1" and the Target application server to "WebSphere Application Server V8.5" (Figure 12-23) and click OK.

Software Analyzer Configurations				
Create, manage, and run configurations Select a range of inputs from the scope tab and at least one rule from the rules tab to create an analysis configuration.				
	Name: v2v migration 6.1 to 8.5			
type filter text	Scope 🔁 Rules			
Software Analyze     Software Analyze     New_configur	Rule Sets: WebSphere Application Server Version Migration 💌 Set	npo		
	Anabusic Domains and Pules                • Rule set configuration                 • WebSphere Application Server Migration Tool rule selection details                 • Source application server:                 • Target application server:                 • WebSphere Application server:                 • WebSphere Application Server V6.1	≡		
Filter matched 2 of 2 items	Source Java version: Java 5 Target Java version: Java 6 OK Cancel Analyze C	t ose		

Figure 12-23 Configuring the Application Migration Toolkit for the Probability Distribution Sample application

5. Click Analyze to run the analysis.

For this application, three potential problems are reported:

- Two instances of "Avoid using the deprecated reload attribute of the IBM deployment descriptor extensions." occur.
- One instance of "Check for a behavior change in JavaServer Faces (JSF) Applications." occurs.

#### 12.4.5 Resolving the reported migration problems

Resolving the reported migration problems is an important step in the application migration process. Although fixing the problems does not ensure that the application works after migration, any problems that are identified by the Application Migration Tool are problems that caused applications to stop working in later versions of the application server.

#### Resolving the deprecated reload attributes

Fixing the two instances of the "Avoid using the deprecated reload attribute of the IBM deployment descriptor extensions" error is straightforward. Double-clicking each entry takes you to the XML attribute that is detected as a potential problem. After you examine the attributes "reloadInterval" and "reloadingEnabled" in our example, we determine that these attributes are not needed by the application and can be removed (the attributes were initially added by Rational Application Developer when the application was first created).

#### Checking for a behavior change in JSF applications

The remaining problem is the "Check for a behavior change in JavaServer Faces (JSF) Applications" result. This problem is telling you to review the application's use of JSF to confirm that it can run on a JSF 2.0 run time. This error requires that you review the JSF usage, which includes checking any libraries that are being used by the application to confirm whether they can run on JSF 2.0 or not.

In the case of our application, it is using the JWL provided by Rational Application Developer. After we review the material at the JavaServer Faces Migration in the WebSphere Application Server v8.5 Information Center at

http://www14.software.ibm.com/webapp/wsbroker/redirect?version=phil&product=was-nd -mp&topic=cweb\_jsfmigrate, we must check whether the version of the JWL that the application is using is supported. The JWL is provided as a set of JAR files that are placed in the WEB-INF/lib directory of the web content. The version number of JWL is available inside the manifest of the jsf-ibm.jar file. To view this version number, complete the following steps:

- 1. Right-click the JAR file and click Export....
- 2. Expand General, select File System, and then click Next.
- 3. Enter a temporary directory in the "To directory:" entry field and click Finish.
- 4. On a command line, with that temporary directory as the current directory, enter the following command:

jar -xvf jsf-ibm.jar META-INF/MANIFEST.MF

We assume that you have a JDK on the path. If that is not the case, then you can use the jar.exe from the JDK included in your WebSphere Application Server installation).

5. After the file is extracted from the JAR file, you can examine the manifest.mf file using an editor. The version number is specified on the line that starts with Implementation-Version:. The contents of the manifest.mf file from the Probability Distribution Sample is shown in Example 12-10.

Example 12-10 The manifest.mf file for the jsf-ibm.jar in the Probability Distribution Sample

```
Manifest-Version: 1.0
Ant-Version: Apache Ant 1.8.2
Created-By: IBM Corporation
Specification-Title: JavaServer Faces
Implementation-Title: JSF Widget Library (JWL) - Base
Implementation-Version: JWL v3_1_13
Implementation-Vendor: IBM
Build-Version: 20120425.1128
Build-Date: April 25 2012
Copyright-Info: Copyright (c) 2003,2008, International Business Machines
Corporation. All Rights Reserved.
```

The version of the JWL used in the Probability Distribution Sample is Version 3.1.13, which supports running on a JSF 2.0 run time. If the version is earlier than Version 3.1.6, you must replace the version of the JWL used in the application with the latest version of JWL provided with Rational Application Developer V8.5.

As you verified that the application work with JSF 2.0, you can return to the Software Analyzer results page and right-click the **Check for a behavior change in JavaServer Faces (JSF) Applications** problem and click **Ignore Result** to remove this entry from the Software Analyzer results.

## 12.4.6 Preparing the application in Rational Application Developer for installation on WebSphere Application Server V8.5

Rational Application Developer supports deployment of the same application to multiple run times. However, to support this deployment, the correct set of project facets are required on the projects that make up the application. Our application is targeted for WebSphere Application Server Version 6.1 only, and we must modify the set of project facets and targeted run times to support deployment on Version 8.5. To do this task, complete the following steps:

- 1. Right-click the BlackSwan2 project and select Preferences.
- 2. Select the Project Facets view in the list of properties.
- Clear the WebSphere Web (Extended) facet and click Apply. This facet adds support in the deployment descriptor editor for the WebSphere extensions to the deployment descriptor.
- 4. Select the Targeted Runtimes view in the list of properties.
- 5. If "WebSphere Application Server v8.5" is not shown on the list of run times, click **New...** and complete the following steps (we assume that you already have an application server profile that is defined on your WebSphere Application Server V8.5 installation):
  - Select WebSphere Application Server v8.5 in the list on run times on the New Server Runtime Environment wizard and click Next.
  - b. Click **Browse...** and select the root directory of your WebSphere Application Server V8.5 installation and then click **Finish**.
- 6. Select the **WebSphere Application Server V8.5** check box in the list of Targeted Runtimes and then click **OK**.

These steps must be repeated for the blackswan2ear project.

#### 12.4.7 Installing the application on WebSphere Application Server V8.5

As with the installation of WebSphere Application Server V6.1, you define a Version 8.5 server and add the application to it. To do so, complete the following steps:

- 1. Right-click in the Servers view in Rational Application Developer and select  $\textbf{New} \rightarrow \textbf{Server}.$
- 2. Select WebSphere Application Server V8.5 and click Next.
- Select the name of the profile you want to use (we used the default of AppSrv01) and provide the admin user ID and password if security is enabled on your server and then click Next.
- 4. As we want to run the blackswan2 application on this server, select the **blackswan2ear** project, click **Add**, and then **Finish**.

#### 12.4.8 Testing the application on WebSphere Application Server V8.5

After the server is defined in Rational Application Developer and the application is installed, you can test the application by completing the following steps:

- 1. Expand the **BlackSwan2** project, right-click the index.html file (found in the WebContent folder), and select **Run As** → **Run On Server**.
- 2. Check that WebSphere Application Server V8.5 is selected and click Finish.
- 3. If the application server is not started, Rational Application Developer starts the server, then the application, and then the index.html page of the application. From here, the functionality of the application can be tested by selecting the distribution and entering a sample size. When Submit is clicked, the relevant distribution is samples and a graph of the samples that are collected is displayed.

#### 12.4.9 Options for upgrading the application after migration

After the Probability Distribution Sample is migrated, you have many options to modify it.

#### Leaving the application unchanged

One option is to either leave the application unchanged or, at least, to limit the changes to the application to those changes that do not require the removal of the JWL library.

This option is a viable one for applications that do not need major enhancement or modification for the foreseeable future.

#### Restricting application changes to the changes supported by JWL

The JSF Widget Library is supported on JSF 2.0 if the restrictions for its use are respected. The main restriction is that the application cannot use the Facelets web template system. In general, this restriction is not too onerous for this application. You typically use Facelets in a new JSF 2.0 application, but you would not typically mix Facelets with non-Facelets JSF code in the same application. So, you can maintain and enhance the application.

#### Removing the dependency on the JSF Widget Library

JWL is deprecated and does not support all of the functionality of JSF 2.0 (in particular, any JSF 2.0 application that uses Facelets cannot also use the JSF Widget Library). If you intend to update the application to use features that are added in JSF 2.0, you must remove the JSF Widget Library and replace it with a different widget library that provides similar functionality. In our case, we use the JSF Widget Library to draw a bar chart of the number of occurrences of each value that was found in the set of samples that are drawn from the probability distribution that is sampled.

At the time of the writing of this book, there is no single alternative to the JSF Widget Library, but several third-party JSF widget libraries include charting components. We would need to evaluate these alternatives and replace our bar chart with a chart from one of those alternatives or write our own JSF component to perform the charting capability.

#### 12.5 Web services Axis 2 stock quote

The third application that we migrate is a web services application that is based on the Axis 2 web services engine. Web services is a technology that allows applications to be invoked using internet standards and protocols. The applications are divided into multiple tiers, typically at least two: client and server. These two pieces communicate using XML messages that are defined by the SOAP 1.1 or 1.2 protocols.

WebSphere Application Server V6.1 provides support for the JAX-RPC and JAX-WS protocols and provides more features, such as a UDDI registry and extensions to the SOAP protocol known as WSIF.

The WebSphere Application Server also supports several more protocols that build on top of the basic web services protocol, such as WS-Notification and WS-ReliableMessaging.

All of these functions are provided by the web services engine that is provided by the application server. However, in some circumstances you must use a third-party web services engine, such as Axis 2. For example, if you want to deploy applications that use a single run time across various application servers, such as WebSphere Application Server, JBoss, and WebLogic, you would use a third-party engine.

IBM supports the enablement of third-party JAX-WS run times to run on WebSphere Application Server and ensures the successful deployment of applications that use such run times. However, IBM does not provide support for resolving JAR file conflict problems or any problem that a stack trace indicates is in the third-party code. In addition, using a third-party web services engine prevents the application server from recognizing that web services provided by the third-party engine are, in fact, web services, and therefore prevents the use of application level policy sets, such as WS-Security, WS-RM, and WS-Transactions policy sets, and also prevents the use of WSDM or the use of JNDI lookups to retrieve JAX-WS Services or Port Instances

#### 12.5.1 Overview

This section shows an example of an application that uses a third-party web services engine, specifically the Axis 2 web services engine. The application is simple (in fact, it provides just two web services), but demonstrates the potential problems of migrating such an application.

The application provides a stock quote service that a client can use to discover stock prices by providing the symbol of the required stock price as input. You use the Axis Object Model (AXIOM) to allow arbitrary pieces of XML to be passed and returned in the body of the web services messages. In this example, a simple Plain Old Java Object (POJO) could be used as the implementation of the web service together with a suitable definition of the web service. The developer of this particular application chose to use the AXIOM style for the web service.

#### 12.5.2 Installation on WebSphere Application Server V6.1

The StockQuoteAxis2Example application is provided as a WAR file that includes the Axis 2 run time and the StockQuote web service. The web service is provided as a WAR file within the services directory of the WAR file. In our example, we install the application through the application console of WebSphere Application Server V6.1 by completing the following steps:

- 1. Click **Install New Application** in the list of tasks in the left pane.
- 2. Click Browse... and select the WAR file.

3. Enter "stockquote" in the context root field (Figure 12-24).

Preparing for the application installation ? –
Specify the EAR, WAR, JAR, or SAR module to upload and install.
Path to the new application
O Local file system
Full path D:\redbook\axis2\stock_c Browse
O Remote file system
Full path Browse
Context root stockquote Used only for standalone Web modules (.war files) and SIP modules (.sar files)
<ul> <li>How do you want to install the application?</li> <li>Prompt me only when additional information is required.</li> <li>Show me all installation options and parameters.</li> </ul>
Next Cancel

Figure 12-24 Installing the Axis 2 application on WebSphere Application Server V6.1

- 4. Click Next.
- 5. On "Step 1. Select installation options", click Next.
- 6. On "Step 2. Map modules to servers", click Next.
- 7. On "Step 3. Map virtual hosts for Web modules", click Next.
- 8. On "Step 4. Map context roots for Web Modules", click Next.
- 9. On "Step 5. Summary", click Finish.
- 10. After the application installation process is complete, click **Save** to save the server configuration changes to the master configuration.

Now that the application is installed, it must be started so that it can be tested. To do so, complete the following steps:

11. Click Enterprise Applications in the list of tasks in the left pane.

12.Select the entry for the "stock\_quote\_example\_axis2\_war" and click Start.

#### 12.5.3 Testing on WebSphere Application Server V6.1

To test that the web services are operational, invoke the test client program that is provided by the application. As the client program needs the axis2 JAR files on the classpath, download the axis2 binary distribution from http://axis.apache.org/axis2/java/core/download.cgi and extract the downloaded compressed file. We then imported the client test program into Eclipse and updated the projects classpath with the JAR files in the lib directory of the downloaded axis2 distribution.

For applications with well-defined web services, the generic service client or the web services explorer that is provided in the WebSphere Developer Tools (and in Rational Application Developer) could be used to directly interact with the web service. The stock quote application uses AXIOM and relies on the ability of the axis2 web services engine to generate a definition of the web service that is based on the signature of the implementation. However, this action generates a definition that is not suitable for use by either of these test clients, so you cannot use these test clients. Fortunately, the application provides a set of tests using JUnit that you can use to test the function of the web service.

The first stage of the testing is to validate that the axis2 web services engine used by the application is installed correctly. The engine is provided as a web application and the developers of the engine provide a set of web pages to validate and examine the status of the engine. We can use these pages to check that the basic installation of the engine is successful.

To do this validation, use a web browser to navigate to the home page of the web services engine. On our test system, that page is at http://localhost:9082/stockquote (the port number depends on WC\_defaulthost port that is defined on the profile of the application). This action displays the home page of the axis2 web service engine. We clicked the **Validate** link to run the validation checks provided by the axis2 engine. Finally, we navigate to the "Services" page to verify that our StockQuote service is available.

The next stage is to test the actual web service. This action requires actual web services requests to be generated and submitted to the web service. In our case, we use an existing set of JUnit tests to verify the functionality of the application. To do so, complete the following steps:

- 1. Start Eclipse and click **File**  $\rightarrow$  **Import...**.
- 2. Select Existing Projects into Workspace and then Next.
- 3. Select Archive and click Browse....
- 4. Locate the compressed file that contains the StockQuoteClient UnitTest and click Finish.
- After the StockQuoteClientSideUnitTest project is created, right-click the project and select Build Path → Configure Build Path.
- 6. Click the **Libraries** tab and then click **Add External Jars**. Select all of the JAR files in the 1 ib directory of the axis2 binary distribution. Click **OK**.
- 7. The StockQuoteClientSideUnitTest might need to be updated to give the correct endpoint for the web service. To do this task, complete the following steps:
  - a. Expand the **StockQuoteClient** project and then the **src** folder. After you expand the stock project, double-click the StockQuoteClient.java file.
  - b. Update the STOCK\_SERVICE\_EPR constant to have the URL of the endpoint. Most likely, you must update the port number to match the port number of your WebSphere Application Server V6.1 server.

In our example, we use

http://localhost:9082/stockquote/services/StockQuoteService based on the port number of our server and the context root that is provided when the application was installed on the application server.

- 8. After the StoickQuoteClient is compiled with no errors by Eclipse, you can run the test program. To do so, complete the following steps:
  - a. Expand the **StockQuoteClient** project and then the **src** folder. After you expand the stock project, right-click the StockQuoteClient class.
  - b. Click **Run As**  $\rightarrow$  **JUnit Test**.

The JUnit tests all complete with a green bar showing that the web service successfully passed the set of tests.

#### 12.5.4 Importing the source of the application into Eclipse

The Stock Quote is provided as a WAR file that includes the axis2 run time. To import this file into Eclipse, complete the following steps:

- 1. Click File  $\rightarrow$  Import..., click Web  $\rightarrow$  WAR file, and then click Next.
- 2. Click Browse and locate the WAR file.
- Change the target run time to "WebSphere Application Server v8.5". If you have not created a target run time for a server that is running on WebSphere Application Server V8.5, you can create one. To do so, complete the following steps:
  - a. Click New....
  - a. Open the IBM folder, select **WebSphere Application Server V8.5**, and then click **Next**.
  - b. Click **Browse...** and locate the root directory of your WebSphere Application Server V8.5 installation. Click **Finish** to return to the WAR Import wizard.
- 4. Clear the Add project to an EAR check box if that option is selected.
- 5. Click Finish.

## 12.5.5 Running the Application Migration Tool - WebSphere Version to Version

As with all application migration in our example, we run the Application Migration Tool to identify potential migration problems with the code of the application. To do this task, we create and run a new Software Analyzer configuration. (We assume that the tool is installed.)

Complete the following steps:

- 1. Right-click the stock\_quote\_example\_axis2 project and select Software Analyzer → Software Analyzer Configurations....
- 2. Click New launch.
- 3. Click the **Rules** tab and then use the Rule Sets: drop-down menu to select the WebSphere Application Server Version Migration rule set. Click **Set...**.

 In the Rule set configuration window, set the Source application server to "WebSphere Application Server V6.1" and the Target application server to "WebSphere Application Server V8.5", as shown in Figure 12-25. Click OK.

Software Analyzer Configurations				
Create, manage, and run configurations				
Select a range of inputs from the scope tab and at least one rule from the rules tab to create an analysis configuration.				
Image:         v2v 6.1 to 8.5				
type filter text	Scope B Rules			
😑 😼 Software Analyzer	Rule Sets: WebSphere Application Server Version Migration 💌 Set Imp			
v2v 6.1 to 8.5	Analysis Domains and Rules			
	Rule set configuration			
	WebSphere Application Server Migration Tool rule selection details			
	Source application server: WebSphere Application Server V6.1			
	Target application server: WebSphere Application Server V8.5			
	Source Java version: Java 5			
	Target Java version: Java 6			
Filter matched 3 of 3 items	OK Cancel Revert			
?	Analyze Close			

Figure 12-25 Configuring the Application Migration Toolkit for the Stock Quote Axis2 application

5. Click **Analyze** to analyze the workspace for potential migration problems.

The analysis reports that no problems are detected. However, Version 3.5 of the Application Migration Toolkit does not check for third-party web services engines, such as axis2, and does not report that some small changes are needed to the configuration of that engine to successfully run the application in WebSphere Application Server V8.5.

#### 12.5.6 Preparing to install on WebSphere Application Server V8.5

To install an application that uses the axis2 web services engine on WebSphere Application V8.5, some changes are needed to that application.

#### Updating the axis2.xml file to specify EnableChildFirstClassLoading

Starting with Version 1.5.5 of the axis2 web services engine, a new parameter is added to the axis2 configuration. This parameter controls how class loaders created by the axis2 web service engine behave. In order for the axis2 web service engine to operate correctly in WebSphere Application Server V.5, this parameter must be changed from the default of false to true. To do this task, expand the stock\_quote\_example\_axis2 project and locate the axis2.xml file in the WEB-INF/conf folder of WebContent. Update the EnableChildFirstClassLoading property to true, as shown in Example 12-11.

Example 12-11 The EnableChildFirstClassLoading property in the axis2.xml file

<parametername="EnableChildFirstClassLoading">false</parameter>

#### Disabling web services annotation scanning for the application

By default, WebSphere Application Server performs annotation scanning for all installed applications to determine what web services are provided by those applications. When you use a third-party web services engine, this scanning is unnecessary and can cause problems. To disable the annotation scanning for this application, update the MANIFEST.MF file for the application's WAR file to add the DisableIBMJAXWSEngine property, as shown in Example 12-12.

Example 12-12 The META-INF/MANIFEST.MF file in the WebContent of stock\_quote\_example\_axis2 project

```
Manifest-Version: 1.0
DisableIBMJAXWSEngine: true
Archiver-Version: Plexus Archiver
Created-By: Apache Maven
Built-By: sagara
Build-Jdk: 1.6.0 22
```

**Disabling annotation scanning:** As an alternative to modifying the META-INF/MANIFEST.MF file, you can turn off annotation scanning for the entire WebSphere Application Server instance by setting a JVM property through the administration console. To do this task, click **Application Server**  $\rightarrow$  **Server**  $\rightarrow$  **Process Definition**  $\rightarrow$  **Java Virtual Machine** and then add the following line to the Generic JVM arguments field:

-Dcom.ibm.websphere.webservices

#### Exporting the WAR file that is ready for installation on Version 8.5

As the application is packaged as a simple WAR file, it cannot be directly installed on the application server from Eclipse. It must be exported as a WAR file. To do this task, complete the following steps:

- 1. Right-click the stock\_quote\_example\_axis2 project and click Export....
- Provide a file name for the exported WAR file. Do not specify the same name and location as the original WAR file that is installed onto WebSphere Application Server Version 6.1 so that you still have the original WAR file if you need to reimport the application into Eclipse. In our example, we call the file stock\_quote\_example\_axis2\_85.war.
- 3. Click Finish.

#### 12.5.7 Installing on WebSphere Application Server V8.5

In our example, we install the application onto WebSphere Application Server V8.5 using its administration console:

- 1. Click New Application in the list of tasks in the left pane.
- 2. Click the New Enterprise Application link.
- 3. Click Browse... and select the WAR file.
- 4. Click Next.
- 5. Click **Next** on the "How do you want to install the application?" window.
- 6. On "Step 1. Select installation options", click Next.
- 7. On "Step 2. Map modules to servers", click Next.
- 8. On "Step 3. Map virtual hosts for Web modules", click Next.
- On "Step 4. Map context roots for Web Modules", enter /stockquote for the context root (this entry matches the context root that we specified when installing on V6.1) and then click Next.
- 10.On "Step 5. Summary", click Finish.
- 11. After the application installation process is complete, click **Save** to save the server configuration changes to the master configuration.

## 12.5.8 Configuring WebSphere Application Server V8.5 to support the application

To resolve conflicts between the axis2 web services engine and the code that is used internally by the WebSphere Application Server V8.5 run time, we must configure the application using the axis2 web service engine to parent last class loading strategy. For more information, see 3.1.2, "Classloader related problems" on page 58.

To update the configuration of the application, complete the following steps:

- 1. Click **WebSphere Enterprise Applications** in the list of tasks in the left pane (you might need to expand **Application Types** to find this task).
- 2. Click the stock\_quote\_example\_axis2\_85\_war, then Manage Modules, and Apache-Axis2.

3. Use the Class loader order drop-down menu to select **Classes loaded with local class loader first (parent last)**, as shown in Figure 12-26, and then click **OK**.

ployment-specific information for a web module and ses	nodule in the application. This page contains sion management settings.
General Properties	Additional Properties
<ul> <li>* URI</li> <li>stock_quote_example_axis2_85.war</li> <li>Alternate deployment descriptor</li> <li>* Starting weight         <ul> <li>10000</li> <li>* Class loader order</li> <li>Classes loaded with local class loader first (parent la</li> </ul> </li> <li>Apply OK Reset Cancel</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>View Module Class Loader</li> <li><u>Custom properties</u></li> <li><u>Target specific application</u> <u>status</u></li> <li><u>View Deployment</u> <u>Descriptor</u></li> <li><u>Session Management</u></li> <li>st) </li> </ul>

Figure 12-26 Selecting the "parent last" option for class loader order

#### 12.5.9 Testing the application on WebSphere Application Server V8.5

Now that the application is installed and configured, it must be started so that it can be tested. To do this task, complete the following steps:

- 1. Click **WebSphere Enterprise Applications** in the list of tasks in the left pane (you might need to expand **Application Types** to find this task).
- 2. Select the entry for stock\_quote\_example\_axis2\_85\_war and click Start.

After the application is started, you can reuse the StockQuoteClientSideUnitTest to test the application that is running on WebSphere Application Server V8.5. As with testing the application on Version 6.1, the test case must be updated to provide the URL of the HTTP endpoint of the web service. To do this task, complete the following steps:

- 1. Expand the **StockQuoteClient** project and then the **src** folder. After you expand the project, double-click the StockQuoteClient.java file.
- 2. The STOCK\_SERVICE\_EPR constant must be updated to give the URL of the endpoint. Most likely, you must update the port number to match the one of your WebSphere Application Server Version 8.5 server.

In our example, we use

http://localhost:9083/stockquote/services/StockQuoteService, based on the port number of our Version 8.5 server and the context root that is provided when the application was installed on that application server.

The JUnit tests all complete with a green bar showing that the web service successfully passed the set of tests included.

## 12.5.10 Summary of migrating the Web services Axis 2 stock quote application

Normally, migrating applications between versions of the Application Server is straightforward, but some applications, such as the ones using a third-party web services engine, can be more complicated. This section has shown that, with some care, migration of such applications is still easy to achieve.





## **Appendixes**

© Copyright IBM Corp. 2012. All rights reserved.

# Α

## **Migration questionnaires**

This appendix contains sets of questions that you can use to build your own questionnaire that is based on the unique challenges you foresee. It is not intended to be a final questionnaire, but a base from which you can learn how migration questionnaires are built. Other specific questionnaires might be required (such as SOA and Web 2.0 questionnaires). For more information, see 2.5.2, "Getting help" on page 53.

This appendix describes the following topics:

- Business requirements
- General information
- Application architecture
- ► Code
- Development migration questionnaire
- Runtime migration questionnaire
- Testing migration questionnaire

#### **Business requirements**

Business requirements questions are as follows:

- 1. What is motivating the business to make this change?
- 2. Is the application business critical?
- 3. What is the target version of WebSphere Application Server?
- 4. What other WebSphere products are involved in this migration?
- WebSphere Portal Server and WebSphere Edge Server possible are examples.
- 5. By what date must this application migration be complete?
- 6. What is the risk to the business if the change cannot be implemented by that date?
- 7. What is the risk to the business when the application is not running?
- 8. Is this migration part of a new application release/version?
- 9. Describe any important milestones for the migration. Include dates for development, QA, and so on.
- 10. How do you describe a successful migration?

#### **General information**

General information questions are as follows:

- 1. What is the name of the application?
- 2. What URL is used to access the application?
- 3. What is the current version of the application?
- 4. What is the audience for the application: internal, external, or both?
- 5. What is the primary function of the application?
- 6. What services does this application provide?
- 7. Who are the users of the application?
- 8. Describe any upgrades that are considered part of this migration?

These upgrades might include such things as platform infrastructure (OS or related stack components) or exploitation of features that are provided by Java EE.

- 9. Can the migration be partitioned?
- 10.Can the application be divided into smaller pieces that can individually be migrated?
  - Staged migration of the database, JSP, EJB, and so on, enables incremental migration, providing greater opportunity for quality control and isolation of unexpected problems.
- 11. How frequently do you schedule an independent review of your application code?

#### Application architecture

General application architecture questions are as follows:

- Does the application architecture conform to the Model 2 architecture that is prescribed by Java EE?
- 2. Describe the application's use of established design patterns.

3. Does the application, for example, employ well-known patterns such as Facade, Command, Strategy, or Proxy?

#### Dependencies

Dependency questions are as follows:

1. Are there dependency cycles between packages?

A dependency cycle results when two or more types are involved in a cycle of references that binds them tightly to each other. Dependency cycles are not always bad. Cycles are often wanted between two or more types. Dependency cycles become a problem, however, when they exist between packages or modules. The danger is that they introduce a tight coupling between those packages or modules, which makes the code generally more unreliable and difficult to change. The point of this question is to understand if any such cycles exist between packages.

2. Are there dependency cycles between Java EE modules?

A common dependency cycle between Java EE modules involves an EJB module that makes reference to helper classes in a Java utility module that, in turn, makes references back to the EJB module. Such helper classes are typically used as convenience methods for finding EJB homes, for example.

3. Describe any classloading dependencies in the application.

Class loading issues and dependencies to libraries are common in older Java EE-style applications. The earlier versions of the specifications did not state clearly how the class loading must happen and how the library classes must be accessed.

#### Persistence

There is one question that is related to persistence:

1. How is persistence of application data implemented?

This question is concerned with understanding how application data is made persistent. Typically, application data is stored in a database and a layer in the application is responsible for moving that data from the database into Java objects and back again. Persistence might be implemented using EJB CMP entity beans, a third-party product such as TopLink for Java, or a custom implementation of a Data Access Object (DAO) pattern. It might also be implemented in an *ad hoc* fashion using JDBC statements throughout the application code.

#### National language

National language questions are as follows:

- 1. What national languages are supported by the application?
- 2. How is language determined by the application?

The application might use the language attribute from the HTTP Request Header, or perhaps profile information that is provided by a user using a combination of cookies and HTTP session data.

3. How is language data stored by the application?

#### Code

This section has questions that are related to code. Approximate answers suffice for these questions. However, accurate answers yield more accurate results

#### Java

Java questions are as follows:

1. How many custom classes are defined in the application?

A custom class is one that was created by your development team. Do not include classes that are part of the standard Java libraries, middleware, or third-party supplied libraries. Also, do not include classes that are generated by the container to support your application in run time.

- 2. How many custom classes in the application are declared as abstract?
- 3. How many custom interfaces are in the application?

A custom interface is one that was created by your development team. Do not include interfaces that are part of the standard Java libraries, middleware, or third-party supplied libraries.

4. How many lines of code are in the application?

Provide an indication of useful lines of code (exclude comment lines from this value).

#### EJB usage

EJB usage questions are as follows:

- 1. What version of the EJB specification is used?
- 2. Do all the enterprise beans in the application conform strictly to this version of the specification?
- 3. How many Stateless Session beans are in the application?
- 4. How many Stateful Session beans are in the application?
- 5. How many CMP Entity beans are in the application?
- 6. How many BMP Entity beans are in the application?
- 7. How many Message Driven beans are in the application?

#### Servlets and JSPs

Servlets and JSP questions are as follows:

- What version of the JSP specification is used?
- 2. Do all the JSP files in the application conform strictly to this version of the specification?
- 3. How many JSPs files are in the application?
- 4. Do your JSP files contain Java code?

List the third-party tag libraries (taglibs) used by the application. Include version numbers if possible.

- 5. Describe any custom tag libraries (taglibs) you constructed for the application.
- 6. What version of the servlet specification is used?

- 7. Do all the servlets in the application conform strictly to this version of the specification?
- 8. How many servlets are in the application?
- 9. Approximately how much data is maintained in the HttpSession?

This information can be difficult to estimate, especially if the size of the session data varies widely. One possible way to get an accurate measure of a session at a particular moment in time is to build a servlet that uses an ObjectWriteStream to dump the contents of the HttpSession to a file. The size of the file is a good approximation (though not a precise measure of the session size.

10. Are all objects that are stored in the HttpSession serializable?

The application server uses serialization to pass data between servers (JVMs). An object is serializable if it implements the java.io.Serializable interface.

Answer Yes to this question only if all objects are serializable, which includes objects that are indirectly included in the HttpSession through references from other objects.

11.Describe any issues that might prevent sharing data your application stores in the HttpSession across servers in a cluster.

#### Web services

Web services questions are as follows:

1. Enumerate the external web services your application accesses.

By *external*, we mean external to the application, which includes any web services that are hosted by other applications regardless of the language or platform they are running on. If possible, provide a description of each web service that is used and note any potential issues that you are aware of that might affect the migration.

2. Enumerate the internal web services your application accesses.

An *internal* web service is one that is part of your application. Your application might, for example, use a web service to implement the Facade pattern between your servlet and EJB layers.

3. Enumerate the web services your application implements.

For this answer, list the web services that your application provides for internal or external clients. If possible, provide a description of the function that each web service provides.

 Are the web services implemented by your application WS-I compliant? If so, indicate the WS-I version.

#### **Database access**

Database access questions are as follows:

- 1. What version of the JDBC specification is used?
- 2. Does the usage of JDBC conform strictly to this version of the specification?
- 3. How many distinct JDBC queries does the application make?
- 4. What database managers are used by the application?
- 5. Do the JDBC queries use vendor-specific SQL extensions?
- 6. Does the application make direct use of DriverManager?
- 7. Does the application use J2EE connection pooling through data sources?
- 8. Describe any third-party connection pooling mechanisms in use.
- 9. Does the application make use, for example, of Oracle Connection Pooling?
- 10. Are all JDBC connections explicitly closed?

11. Are all JDBC statements explicitly closed?

12. Are all JDBC resources closed inside finally clauses?

Code that is contained in a finally block of an exception handler runs (whether an exception occurs or not). By closing these shared resources in a finally clause, you ensure that these resources can be kept available.

#### JMS

JMS questions are as follows:

- 1. What version of the JMS specification is used?
- 2. Does the usage of JMS conform strictly to this version of the specification?
- 3. How many queues does the application use?
- 4. How many topics does the application use?
- What data is passed through JMS?
   For example, "plain text", "XML", or "serialized objects"
- 6. Does the application write to JMS queues?
- 7. Does the application read from JMS?
- 8. Does the application do blocking reads from JMS?
- 9. Does the application do blocking reads from JMS in Session or Entity beans?

#### **JNDI** naming

JNDI naming questions are as follows:

- 1. Does the application use JNDI to access resources other than EJB Homes?
- Do the application's deployment descriptors contain local JNDI resource references? JNDI resource references sections are in web.xml and ejb-jar.xml.
- 3. Describe a typical JNDI access from the application. Provide a code snippet if possible.
- 4. Are all JNDI resources (InitialContexts) closed inside finally clauses?

Code that is contained in a finally block of an exception handler runs (whether an exception occurs or not). By closing these shared resources in a finally clause, you ensure that these resources can be kept available.

#### Application trace and logging

Application trace and logging questions are as follows:

1. What technology is used by the application to provide logging?

The application might use, for example, a third-party product, such as Log4J. Alternatively, the application might write messages to standard out (System.out).

2. Is logging used consistently throughout the application?

#### Struts

If the application does not use Struts, skip this section. Struts questions are as follows:

- 1. What version of Struts is used?
- 2. How many custom ActionForms are in the application?
- 3. How many custom ActionHandlers are in the application?
- 4. Describe any modifications that you made to Struts.
- 5. Struts is an open source framework and is customized by organizations to provide extended functionality. If you extended Struts, describe that extension.

#### Transactions

Transactions questions are as follows:

- 1. Are transactions managed implicitly or explicitly?
- 2. Does the application require two-phase commits (2PC)?
- 3. What transactional systems does the application interact with?

#### Threads

This section is concerned with the application's direct manipulation of threads. This section is not concerned with threads managed by the application server.

Thread questions are as follows:

- 1. Does the application create threads?
- Does the application create daemon threads?
- 3. Does the application explicitly stop threads using the stop() method?
- 4. List any third-party thread pool libraries that are used by the application. Include version numbers if possible.
- 5. Describe any custom thread pool libraries that are used by the application.
- 6. Describe how the application usesthreads.

This question is concerned with how your application makes explicit use of threads. For example, does your application create threads to perform work in parallel, or to provide timeouts for various services? If it is the latter, indicate what services the threads are providing timeouts for.

#### Sockets

Skip this section if your application does not make direct use of sockets. This section is concerned with sockets created and used directly by your application; it is not concerned with sockets managed by the application server.

Socket questions are as follows:

- 1. Describe how the application makes direct use of sockets.
- 2. Does your application create any daemon sockets?
- 3. Does your application use secure sockets (SSL)?

XML questions are as follows:

- 1. What XML libraries does the application use? Include version information.
- 2. What XSLT libraries does the application use? Include version information.

#### **Development migration questionnaire**

The following questions are related to the development environment for the migration.

#### Workstation configuration

Workstation configuration questions are as follows:

- 1. What hardware is used?
- 2. What operating system and version is used?
- 3. How much RAM is installed?

#### Integrated development environment

Integrated development environment questions are as follows:

- 1. What Java integrated development environments (IDE) are used?
- 2. What source code management (SCM) tool is in use?
- 3. How are source directories organized?
- 4. What tools are used for unit testing?
- 5. What other tools do you use as part of your development process?
- 6. Will WebSphere development tools be adopted as part of this migration effort?
- 7. Which development tools are adopted as part of this migration?
  - WebSphere Studio Application Developer
  - WebSphere Studio Application Developer Integration Edition
  - Rational Application Developer
  - Other

#### **Development test configuration**

Development test configuration questions are as follows:

- 1. Is dedicated development test hardware available for the development teams?
- 2. What hardware is used?
- 3. What operating system and version is used?
- 4. How much RAM is installed?
- 5. What application server and version is used for development testing?
- 6. What other software is used for development testing?

#### Software development skills

Software development skills questions are as follows:

- 1. How many software developers form the team that built the application?
- 2. How many of your developers have architect-level skills?
- 3. How many developers are available to do the migration?

XML

- 4. How familiar are your developers with Java EE?
  - They are experts with a comprehensive knowledge of Java EE.
  - They are familiar with the various technologies that make up Java EE (such as servlets and EJBs).
  - They are not at all familiar with Java EE.
- 5. Do your developers have any experience using Eclipse for software development?
- 6. Do your developers have experience using WebSphere Studio for software development?
- 7. Are there specific education requirements for the development team?

#### **Development methodology**

Development methodology questions are as follows:

- 1. What development methodology is used?
- 2. How long is a typical development cycle?
- 3. How frequently are internal releases of the application delivered?

These deliveries include releases for internal testing or user acceptance testing.

- 4. How frequently are external releases of the application delivered?
- 5. How often are new versions of application delivered into the production environment?

#### **Build and packaging**

Build and packaging questions are as follows:

1. What tools are used to build the application?

Examples: Apache Ant (Ant), make, or none. Provide version information if possible.

- 2. In what form are packaged applications delivered to the runtime environment? Are applications packaged as EAR, WAR, or JAR files? Or are they delivered in another form?
- 3. How are packaged applications delivered to the runtime environment?
- 4. What mechanisms are in place to deliver the application to the runtime environment? Is the packaged application delivered through FTP, or by another transport mechanism?
- 5. What process is followed to deliver the application?
- 6. How is static content packaged and delivered to the runtime environment?
- 7. Are installation and configuration scripts included with the packaged application?

#### Ant

Skip this section if you do not use Ant for builds.

- 1. What version of Ant is used?
- Does your build process use one or many Ant scripts?
  - One
  - Many
- 3. What optional Ant tasks do you use as part of your build?

#### **Runtime migration questionnaire**

The following questions are runtime migration-related.

#### General

General questions are as follows:

- 1. Will the existing runtime infrastructure be migrated?
- 2. Will you support the existing runtime infrastructure after the migration?

Answer Yes if you expect to migrate only your current applications and leave them running on the current infrastructure.

3. Does your runtime infrastructure include a dedicated pre-production staging environment?

Your pre-production environment might be called the Quality Assurance environment. Regardless of the given name, this environment is used to test the overall quality of your environment and applications before you move those applications into the production environment.

4. Does your runtime infrastructure include a dedicated performance testing environment?

Describe the separate runtime environments (production, pre-production, system test, development test, performance test, and so on) that are included in your runtime infrastructure.

#### **Current hardware**

Questions about the current hardware are as follows:

1. Describe the hardware that is used to run your current application server.

If your environment is heterogeneous, describe each hardware configuration. Indicate the quantity of each configuration. Also, indicate the operating system and version in use.

2. How many production machines currently host the production application?

Describe any additional hardware that is used in the production environment. Include all the details from firewalls, IP sprayers, web servers, clustering manager, database servers, firewall, intrusion detection systems, and so on. Indicate software in use (if any) on these systems, including operating system and version.

- 3. Describe how the configuration of the pre-production environment differs from the configuration of the production environment.
- 4. Is the pre-production environment configured with a similar complexity, but at a smaller scale? Are there key elements that are missing from the pre-production environment?
- 5. Describe the hardware that you plan to use to run the migrated applications.

If your environment is heterogeneous, describe each hardware configuration. Indicate the quantity of each configuration. Also, indicate the operating system and version in use.

6. How many production machines are used to host the production application?

Describe any additional hardware that is used in the production environment. Include all the details from firewalls, IP sprayers, web servers, clustering manager, databases, firewall, intrusion detection systems, and so on. Indicate software in use (if any) on these systems, including operating system and version.

#### Software

Questions about software are as follows:

- 1. Which version of Java Runtime Environment (JRE) do your production hosts use?
- 2. Provide the name of the provider of the JRE, which might be Sun, IBM, or another JRE vendor.
- 3. Describe other software that is installed and used on the same production hardware as the application servers.
- 4. Describe the infrastructure of the host bridge network if the application employs the connection services to host systems (for example, CICS).

#### **HTTP Server**

HTTP Server questions are as follows:

- 1. What HTTP Server is used?
- Is the HTTP Server configured to provide affinity to a particular application server instance?
- 3. How many servers host the web servers?

IBM WebSphere Application Server can work with almost all web servers in the market today. It is important to understand how the current web server is being used and what is the impact if WebSphere Application Server continues to use the same web server during the production switch.

- 4. Describe any other services that are provided by the HTTP server, which includes services beyond serving static content and fronting for the application server. Does your HTTP server, for example, provide additional functionality using CGI/Perl?
- 5. Describe the infrastructure for secure network propagation.
- 6. Enabling HTTPS on the web server is one way of doing it from the browser to the web server end. Enterprises also use hardware accelerators to improve the speed of the SSL encryption and the decryption process. If so, how does it integrate with the web server?
- 7. Is the communication from the HTTP server plug-in to the application server secure in the current environment?

#### **Network edge**

Network edge questions are as follows:

- 1. What load balancing technologies are used?
- 2. Is the load balancer configured to provide affinity to a particular HTTP server instance?
- 3. Describe how failover is provided for your load balancer.

#### Availability

Availability questions are as follows:

- 1. Describe any existing service level agreements that are concerned with the availability of the applications, which determines the availability and the amount of flexibility to switch to a WebSphere Application Server run time.
- 2. Describe how clustering is provided in the current environment. Explain your clustering environment.
- 3. Describe the process for the production release rollout of an application?

If the process differs for various applications, describe each of the processes.

4. What is the current backup strategy when a node or server fails or breaks down? Explain in detail your failover strategy.

#### **Rollout issues**

Questions about rollout issues are as follows:

- 1. Will old applications need to coexist with migrated applications?
- 2. Does the migration include all the applications on the production server? If not, is there a plan to migrate those applications as well?

Co-existence is important, especially when migrating common frameworks and application development models into a new platform. There can be application dependencies that must o be maintained when moved into the new platform.

3. Are there any other software updates scheduled to be done to the production machines during the migration process?

Migration of the production environment is an important task and mitigation of risk is key during the migration. Hardware and software updates are only preferred when they are required as part of the migration. They should be decoupled to keep the variables to a minimum.

#### Administration

Administration questions are as follows:

- 1. How many administrators do you have to support the production environment?
- 2. Do you have dedicated administrators for your production infrastructure?
- Describe the skill level and experience of the administrators of the production environment.
- 4. How do you deploy the applications?
- 5. Do the production administrators use deployment scripts to accomplish this task? Does it involve custom scripting? Explain the process.
- 6. Describe any custom scripts that are used for administering the application servers.
- Do you use any custom scripts for administering the current setup? If so, what are they used for?
- 8. Is the production environment set up to take care of log rotation and file system maintenance?

9. Log files can become large and consume the available space within the production host. Is there a procedure or a process in place to handle file system maintenance?

#### Security

Security questions are as follows:

- 1. How important is security in your production runtime infrastructure?
  - Critical
  - Very important
  - Important
  - Not important
- 2. Describe how internal security of the application server is managed.

There are several roles applicable within the production environment, including root administrator, machine maintenance operator, application deployer, and developer. Explain how access to the application server hardware and software is managed regarding these roles.

- 3. How are internal security policies enforced?
- 4. How are users authenticated?
- 5. How are user authorizations managed?
- 6. Describe your use of application-specific services for user authentication and authorization.
- 7. Describe your use of custom services for user authentication and authorization.
- 8. Describe any third-party security mechanisms in use, which might include products such as Netegrity SiteMinder.
- 9. Describe how your production run time provides (or participates) in a single sign-on solution. Describe any network security measures in place.
- 10. Are firewalls positioned between tiers in your configuration? If so, how and where are they configured?

#### **Testing migration questionnaire**

The following questions are for the testing environment.

#### Hardware

Questions about the hardware that is used are as follows:

- 1. Is dedicated hardware available specifically for user acceptance testing?
- 2. Is dedicated hardware available specifically for quality assurance testing?
- 3. Is dedicated hardware available specifically for performance testing?
- 4. Describe how the testing hardware is different in configuration from the production hardware.

#### **Practices and tools**

Questions about the practices and tools that are used are as follows:

- 1. What testing is done and when?
- 2. What is the typical length of the regression test cycle?
- 3. How frequently do applications undergo regression testing?
- 4. What is the typical length of the user acceptance test cycle?
- 5. How frequently do applications undergo user acceptance testing?
- 6. Is user acceptance testing required as part of this migration effort?
- 7. What is the typical length of the quality assurance test cycle?
- 8. How frequently do applications undergo quality assurance testing?
- 9. Describe the testing stages that an application is taken through when you move it from the development environment into production.
- 10. How do you test applications for compliance with the J2EE specification?
- 11.Do you have an established set of application development preferred practices? These practices include coding standards, code maintenance, and performance preferred practices.
- 12. How are application development preferred practices enforced?
- 13. What tools do you use to unit test your application code?
- 14. What tools do you use to function test your application code?
- 15. What tools do you use to regression test your application code?
- 16. What tools do you use to performance test your application code?
- 17. Does the testing procedure contain any harness whose code is dependent on the source platform?

## Β

## **Additional material**

This book refers to additional material that can be downloaded from the Internet as described in the following sections.

#### Locating the web material

The web material that is associated with this book is available in softcopy on the Internet from the IBM Redbooks web server. Point your web browser at:

ftp://www.redbooks.ibm.com/redbooks/SG248048

Alternatively, you can go to the IBM Redbooks website at:

ibm.com/redbooks

Select the **Additional materials** and open the directory that corresponds with the IBM Redbooks form number, SG24-8048.

#### Using the web material

The additional web material that accompanies this book includes the following files:

File name	Description
WebLogic_migration.zip	Configuration and application files that are used in Chapter 6, "Migrating from Oracle WebLogic" on page 127
OracleAS_migration.zip	Configuration and application files that are used in Chapter 7, "Migrating from Oracle Application Server" on page 221

Tomcat_migration.zip	Configuration and application files that are used in Chapter 9, "Migrating from Apache Tomcat" on page 273
WASV2V_migration.zip	Configuration and application files that are used in Chapter 11, "Installation and configuration of the Application Migration Tool - WebSphere Version to Version" on page 357

#### System requirements for downloading the web material

The web material requires the following system configuration:

Hard disk space:20 MB minimumOperating system:Linux or Windows

#### Downloading and extracting the web material

Create a subdirectory (folder) on your workstation, and extract the contents of the web material compressed file into this folder.

### **Related publications**

The publications that are listed in this section are considered suitable for a more detailed discussion of the topics that are covered in this book.

#### **IBM Redbooks**

The following IBM Redbooks publications provide more information about the topic in this document. Some publications referenced in this list might be available in softcopy only.

- Experience JEE Using Rational Application Developer V7.5, SG24-7827
- Getting Started with WebSphere Application Server Feature Pack for Service Component Architecture, REDP-4633
- Oracle to DB2 Conversion Guide: Compatibility Made Easy, SG24-7736
- Rational Application Developer for WebSphere Software V8 Programming Guide, SG24-7835
- WebSphere Application Server V6.1: Classloader Problem Determination, REDP-4307
- WebSphere Application Server V7: Competitive Migration Guide, SG24-7870
- WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Concepts, Planning, and Design Guide, SG24-8022

You can search for, view, download, or order these documents and other Redbooks, Redpapers, Web Docs, draft and more materials, at the following website:

ibm.com/redbooks

#### Other publications

This publication is also relevant as a further information source:

▶ Migrating a Microsoft Access 2000 Database to IBM DB2 Universal Database 7.2

#### **Online resources**

These websites are also relevant as further information sources:

- Apache Tomcat 7.0.27 download website http://tomcat.apache.org/download-70.cgi
- Apache Tomcat 7.0.27: Instructions for installing, configuring, and managing http://tomcat.apache.org/tomcat-7.0-doc/index.html
- Hibernate Validator distribution download page http://www.hibernate.org/subprojects/validator/download
- IBM developerWorks article on typesafe queries on JPA 2.0 http://www.ibm.com/developerworks/java/library/j-typesafejpa

- IBM Education Assistant IBM WebSphere Application Server Migration Toolkit V3.5 http://publib.boulder.ibm.com/infocenter/ieduasst/v1r1m0/topic/com.ibm.iea.wasm t/wasmt/3.5/0verview.html
- IBM Passport Advantage

http://www-01.ibm.com/software/support/probsub.html

- IBM WebSphere Developer Services How to raise a PMR http://www.ibm.com/isv/tech/remoteEmail/entryForm.jsp
- Java EE specification

http://www.oracle.com/java

- Java Specification Request (JSR) 286 compliant portlets http://jcp.org/en/jsr/detail?id=286
- JBoss download website http://www.jboss.org/jbossas/downloads/
- Online information about the Migration Toolkit http://www.ibm.com/developerworks/websphere/downloads/migtoolkit/index.html
- OSGi applications

http://www.osgi.org/About/WhatIsOSGi

- Oracle Java Application Verification Kit (AVK) http://java.sun.com/j2ee/verified/avk enterprise.html
- Oracle WebLogic Server 10.3.6 installation instructions http://www.oracle.com/technology/software/products/ias/htdocs/wls main.html
- Quickstarts distribution download page

```
http://download.jboss.org/jbossas/7.1/jboss-as-7.1.1.CR2/jboss-as-quickstarts-7
.1.1.CR2-dist.zip
```

Shrinkwrap library

http://www.jboss.org/shrinkwrap

SLF4J distribution download page

http://www.slf4j.org/download.html

Spring Framework introduction

http://www14.software.ibm.com/webapp/wsbroker/redirect?version=phil&product=was
-nd-mp&topic=cspr\_intro

Using Spring and Hibernate with WebSphere Application Server article

http://www.ibm.com/developerworks/websphere/techjournal/0609\_alcott/0609\_alcott
.html

- WebSphere Application Server—Base V8.5 http://www.ibm.com/software/webservers/appserv/was/
- WebSphere Application Server—Express V8.5 http://www.ibm.com/software/webservers/appserv/express/
- WebSphere Application Server for Developers V8.5 http://www.ibm.com/software/webservers/appserv/developer/index.html

- WebSphere Application Server Information Center http://publib.boulder.ibm.com/infocenter/iisinfsv/v8r5/index.jsp
- WebSphere Application Server Network Deployment V8.5 http://www.ibm.com/software/webservers/appserv/was/network/
- WebSphere Application Server for z/OS V8.5 http://www.ibm.com/software/webservers/appserv/zos\_os390/

### **Help from IBM**

IBM Support and downloads **ibm.com**/support IBM Global Services **ibm.com**/services


WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Migration Guide

IBM

Redbooks

## WebSphere Application Server V8.5 Migration Guide



Review case studies for competitive and version migrations

Learn about the migration strategy and planning

Become proficient with the Application Migration Toolkit This IBM Redbooks publication helps you plan and execute the migration of J2EE applications that are developed for Oracle WebLogic Server, Oracle Application Server, JBoss, and Apache Tomcat, so that they run on IBM WebSphere Application Server V8.5. In addition, this book covers migration from earlier versions of WebSphere Application Server to WebSphere Application Server V8.5.

This book provides detailed information to plan migrations, suggested approaches for developing portable applications, and migrating working examples for each of the platforms from which we migrated in our examples. The primary tool that is used in the migration scenarios that are covered in this book is the IBM WebSphere Application Server Migration Toolkit V3.5.

It is not our intention to provide a feature-by-feature comparison of these application servers versus WebSphere Application Server, but to produce practical technical advice for developers who must migrate applications from these vendors to WebSphere Application Server V8.5.

This publication is an update of *WebSphere Application Server V7: Competitive Migration Guide*, SG24-7870.

The book is intended as a migration guide for IT specialists who are working on migrating applications that are written for other application servers or earlier versions of WebSphere Application Server to WebSphere Application Server V8.5.

## INTERNATIONAL TECHNICAL SUPPORT ORGANIZATION

## BUILDING TECHNICAL INFORMATION BASED ON PRACTICAL EXPERIENCE

IBM Redbooks are developed by the IBM International Technical Support Organization. Experts from IBM, Customers and Partners from around the world create timely technical information based on realistic scenarios. Specific recommendations are provided to help you implement IT solutions more effectively in your environment.

For more information: ibm.com/redbooks

SG24-8048-00

ISBN 0738437247